
 
 
 

Overview and Scrutiny 
Management Board 

 

Agenda 
 
 
 

 

Date:      Monday, 18 October 2021 
Time:      2.00 pm 
Venue:   The Chamber - City Hall, College Green, 
Bristol, BS1 5TR 
 
Distribution: 
 
Councillors: Carla Denyer (Chair), Mark Bradshaw (Vice-Chair), Martin Fodor, Geoff Gollop, Tim Kent, 
Brenda Massey, Graham Morris, Steve Pearce and David Wilcox 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Issued by: Lucy Fleming, Democratic Services 
City Hall, PO Box 3399, Bristol, BS3 9FS 
E-mail: democratic.services@bristol.gov.uk 
Date: Friday, 8 October 2021 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Public Document Pack

mailto:democratic.services@bristol.gov.uk


 

Overview and Scrutiny Management Board – Agenda 

 

 

Agenda 
 

1. Welcome, Introductions and Safety Information   

 (Pages 4 - 6) 

2. Apologies for absence.   

  

3. Declarations of Interest   

To note any declarations of interest from the Councillors.  They are asked to 
indicate the relevant agenda item, the nature of the interest and in particular 
whether it is a disclosable pecuniary interest.  
 
Any declarations of interest made at the meeting which is not on the register of 
interests should be notified to the Monitoring Officer for inclusion. 
 

 

 

4. Minutes of the previous meeting.   

To agree the minutes of the meetings on 12 July and 20 September as a correct 
record. 
 

(Pages 7 - 15) 

 

5. Chair's Business   

To note any announcements from the Chair 
 

 

6. Public Forum   

Up to 30 minutes is allowed for this item  
 
Any member of the public or Councillor may participate in Public Forum.  The 
detailed arrangements for so doing are set out in the Public Information Sheet at 
the back of this agenda.  Public Forum items should be emailed to 
democratic.services@bristol.gov.uk and please note that the following deadlines 
will apply in relation to this meeting:- 
 
Questions - Written questions must be received 3 clear working days prior to the 
meeting.  For this meeting, this means that your question(s) must be received in 
this office at the latest by 5pm, Tuesday 12 October. 
 
Petitions and Statements - Petitions and statements must be received on the 
working day prior to the meeting.  For this meeting this means that your 
submission must be received in this office at the latest by 12 noon, Friday 15 
October. 

 

mailto:democratic.services@bristol.gov.uk


 

Overview and Scrutiny Management Board – Agenda 

 

 

 

7. Corporate Strategy   

 (Pages 16 - 181) 

8. Corporate Performance Report Q1   

 (Pages 182 - 201) 

9. Corporate Risk Report Q1   

 (Pages 202 - 235) 

10. Work Programme   

To note the work programme. 
 

(Pages 236 - 242) 

 

11. Mayor's Forward Plan - Standing Item   

 (Pages 243 - 268) 

12. Minutes from the WECA Overview and Scrutiny Committee - 
for information (standing item)  

 

 (Pages 269 - 273) 
 
 



www.bristol.gov.uk  

 

 

Public Information Sheet 
 

Inspection of Papers - Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985 

 
You can find papers for all our meetings on our website at www.bristol.gov.uk. 
 

Changes to how we hold public meetings 

 
Following changes to government rules, public meetings including Cabinet, Full Council, regulatory 
meetings (where planning and licensing decisions are made) and scrutiny will now be held at City Hall. 
 

COVID-19 Precautions at City Hall (from July 2021) 

 
When attending a meeting at City Hall, COVID-19 precautions will be taken, and where possible we 
will:  

 Have clear signage inviting you to check in to the venue using the NHS COVID-19 app or record 
your contact details for track and trace purposes. 

 Provide public access that enables social distancing of one metre to be maintained  
 Promote and encourage wearing of face coverings when walking to and from the meeting 
 Promote good hand hygiene: washing and disinfecting hands frequently 
 Maintain an enhanced cleaning regime and continue with good ventilation 

 

COVID-19 Safety Measures for Attendance at Council Meetings (from July 2021) 

 
To manage the risk of catching or passing on COVID-19, it is strongly recommended that any person 
age 16 or over attending a council meeting should follow the above guidance but also include the 
following:  
 

 Show certification of a negative NHS COVID-19 lateral flow (rapid) test result:  taken in the 48 
hours prior to attending. This can be demonstrated via a text message or email from NHS Test 
and Trace.   

 An NHS COVID-19 Pass which confirms double COVID-19 vaccination received at least 2 weeks 
prior to attending the event via the NHS App. A vaccination card is not sufficient.  

 Proof of COVID-19 status through demonstrating natural immunity (a positive NHS PCR test in 
the last 180 days) via their NHS COVID-19 pass on the NHS App.    

 Visitors from outside the UK will need to provide proof of a negative lateral flow (rapid) test 
taken 48 hours prior to attendance, demonstrated via a text message or email.   

Reception staff may ask to see this on the day of the meeting. 
 
No one should attend a Bristol City Council event or venue if they:  

 are required to self-isolate from another country 

 are suffering from symptoms of COVID-19   

 have tested positive for COVID-19 and are requested to self–isolate  

Page 4

Agenda Item 1

http://www.bristol.gov.uk/


www.bristol.gov.uk  

 

 

Members of the press and public who wish to attend City Hall are advised that you may be asked to 
watch the meeting on a screen in another room due to the maximum occupancy of the venue. 
 

Other formats and languages and assistance for those with hearing impairment  

Other o check with and  
You can get committee papers in other formats (e.g. large print, audio tape, braille etc) or in 
community languages by contacting the Democratic Services Officer.  Please give as much notice as 
possible.  We cannot guarantee re-formatting or translation of papers before the date of a particular 
meeting. 
 
Committee rooms are fitted with induction loops to assist people with hearing impairment.  If you 
require any assistance with this please speak to the Democratic Services Officer. 
 

Public Forum 

 
Members of the public may make a written statement ask a question or present a petition to most 
meetings.  Your statement or question will be sent to the Committee Members and will be published 
on the Council’s website before the meeting.  Please send it to democratic.services@bristol.gov.uk.   
 

The following requirements apply: 

 The statement is received no later than 12.00 noon on the working day before the meeting and is 
about a matter which is the responsibility of the committee concerned.  

 The question is received no later than 5pm three clear working days before the meeting.   

 
Any statement submitted should be no longer than one side of A4 paper. If the statement is longer 
than this, then for reasons of cost, it may be that only the first sheet will be copied and made available 
at the meeting. For copyright reasons, we are unable to reproduce or publish newspaper or magazine 
articles that may be attached to statements. 
 
By participating in public forum business, we will assume that you have consented to your name and 
the details of your submission being recorded and circulated to the Committee and published within 
the minutes. Your statement or question will also be made available to the public via publication on 
the Council’s website and may be provided upon request in response to Freedom of Information Act 
requests in the future. 
 
We will try to remove personal and identifiable information.  However, because of time constraints we 
cannot guarantee this, and you may therefore wish to consider if your statement contains information 
that you would prefer not to be in the public domain.  Other committee papers may be placed on the 
council’s website and information within them may be searchable on the internet. 
 

  

Page 5

mailto:democratic.services@bristol.gov.uk


www.bristol.gov.uk  

 

 

During the meeting: 

 Public Forum is normally one of the first items on the agenda, although statements and petitions 
that relate to specific items on the agenda may be taken just before the item concerned.  

 There will be no debate on statements or petitions. 

 The Chair will call each submission in turn. When you are invited to speak, please make sure that 
your presentation focuses on the key issues that you would like Members to consider. This will 
have the greatest impact. 

 Your time allocation may have to be strictly limited if there are a lot of submissions. This may be as 
short as one minute. 

 If there are a large number of submissions on one matter a representative may be requested to 
speak on the groups behalf. 

 If you do not attend or speak at the meeting at which your public forum submission is being taken 
your statement will be noted by Members. 

 Under our security arrangements, please note that members of the public (and bags) may be 
searched. This may apply in the interests of helping to ensure a safe meeting environment for all 
attending.   

 As part of the drive to reduce single-use plastics in council-owned buildings, please bring your own 
water bottle in order to fill up from the water dispenser. 

 
For further information about procedure rules please refer to our Constitution 
https://www.bristol.gov.uk/how-council-decisions-are-made/constitution  

 

Webcasting/ Recording of meetings  

 
Members of the public attending meetings or taking part in Public forum are advised that all Full 
Council and Cabinet meetings and some other committee meetings are now filmed for live or 
subsequent broadcast via the council's webcasting pages. The whole of the meeting is filmed (except 
where there are confidential or exempt items).  If you ask a question or make a representation, then 
you are likely to be filmed and will be deemed to have given your consent to this.  If you do not wish to 
be filmed you need to make yourself known to the webcasting staff.  However, the Openness of Local 
Government Bodies Regulations 2014 now means that persons attending meetings may take 
photographs, film and audio record the proceedings and report on the meeting  (Oral commentary is 
not permitted during the meeting as it would be disruptive). Members of the public should therefore 
be aware that they may be filmed by others attending and that is not within the council’s control. 
 
The privacy notice for Democratic Services can be viewed at www.bristol.gov.uk/about-our-
website/privacy-and-processing-notices-for-resource-services  

Page 6

https://www.bristol.gov.uk/how-council-decisions-are-made/constitution
http://www.bristol.public-i.tv/site/
http://www.bristol.gov.uk/about-our-website/privacy-and-processing-notices-for-resource-services
http://www.bristol.gov.uk/about-our-website/privacy-and-processing-notices-for-resource-services


 

 
 
 

Bristol City Council 
Minutes of the Overview and Scrutiny  
Management Board 

 

 
12 July 2021 at 5.00 pm 

 
 
 

Members Present:- 
Councillors: Carla Denyer (Chair), Mark Bradshaw (Vice-Chair), Martin Fodor, Tim Kent, Brenda Massey, 
Graham Morris, Steve Pearce and David Wilcox 
 

 

1 Welcome, Introductions and Safety Information 
 

The Chair welcomed all attendees to the meeting.  

 

2 Apologies for absence 
 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Gollop. Councillor Weston substituted for Councillor 
Gollop. 

 

3 Declarations of Interest 
 

The following non-pecuniary interests were declared;  

Agenda item 7 - Councillor Kent declared he was a former Director of Hartcliffe Community Park. 

Agenda item 14 - Councillor Bradshaw declared he was a Council appointed Non-Executive Director of 
Bristol Holding Limited and Bristol Heat Networks Limited; Councillor Bradshaw declared he intended to 
resign once a successor was found. 

 

4 Annual Business Report 
 

OSMB Members agreed the recommendations as set out below: 

Public Document Pack

Page 7

Agenda Item 4



 

democractic.services@bristol.gov.uk 

 

 

Resolved: That; 

The Membership of the Board for 2021/2022 be noted; and  

The Scrutiny Terms of Reference be noted; and 

Responsibility for scrutiny of the budget be delegated to the Resources Scrutiny Commission; and 

The dates of future Mayoral Question Time sessions be agreed in September; and  

The dates and times for meetings for the remainder of the 21/22 Municipal Year be confirmed at the 

Overview and Scrutiny Management Board (OSMB) meeting to be held in September; and  

The Call In Sub Committee be 6 (non-executive) Members, the proportionality being 2 Labour, 2 Green, 1 

Conservative and 1 Liberal Democrat; and 

The Chair of each Call In Sub Committee rotate, and for 21/22 the following order be; Labour, 
Conservative, Green, Lib Dem, Labour, Green. 
 

5 Minutes of the previous meeting 
 

Resolved; That the minutes of the meeting on 5th March be approved as a correct record. 

 

6 Chair's Business 
 

There was none. 

 

7 Public Forum 
 

Public Forum questions and statements were published prior to the meeting and can be viewed here. 

Statements 1 & 5: Christina Biggs presented two public forum statements; of tendered bus services (on 

behalf of David Redgewell) and on the Clean Air Zone. 

Katrina Billings presented a public forum statement on the Clean Air Zone. 

Dr Suzanne Audrey and Peter Finch were not in attendance so statements 2 and 6 were not presented. 

Joanna booth was not in attendance but question 1 can be viewed in the public forum pack as above. 

Resolved; That the public forum be noted. 
 

8 Clean Air Zone 
 

The Head of City Transport presented the Clean Air Zone (CAZ) item. 

Page 8

https://democracy.bristol.gov.uk/documents/b28041/Public%20Forum%2012th-Jul-2021%2017.00%20Overview%20and%20Scrutiny%20Management%20Board.pdf?T=9


 

democractic.services@bristol.gov.uk 

 

 

The Chair noted that the Full Business Case (FBC) originally submitted in February 2021 had been 

adjusted and asked for clarification about the primary reason for delay.  In response, the Head of City 

Transport advised that incorporation of better mitigation for low income residents and businesses was a 

key element, as well as the Joint Air Quality Unit’s (JAQU) request that the Council meet the legal 

compliance targets whilst implementing sustainable transport options to continue improvements. 

Members asked if there was any substantial harm to health due to the delay of the CAZ and it was 

confirmed that this hadn’t been fully assessed to date but there was a significant decrease in emissions in 

the city centre due to road changes following Covid-19 that were not in the original CAZ proposals, for 

example the closure of Bristol Bridge. 

Members went on to consider modal shift and the Head of City Transport advised that the Council had 

submitted a number of suggestions for sustainable transport options, but most were not deliverable in time 

for meeting legal compliance.  Furthermore, lots of initiatives were already being funded as part of existing 

schemes. 

The impact of wood burning on climate change was discussed and the Climate Change Service Manager 

confirmed that this was a separate project to the CAZ; the primary focus was nitrogen dioxide pollution as 

opposed to the burning of fossil fuels.  

Members queried the arrangements for CAZ charges for those visiting hospital and were advised that this 

group of people were likely to be exempt.  

A Member asked about the cost of establishing the number plate recognition system and was advised that 

the total was not yet known but details could be provided in due course.  

There was concern around the impact of traffic in neighbourhoods adjacent to the CAZ and Members 

were advised that there would be a general reduction in traffic overall but mitigation around ‘rat running’ 

would be difficult before the CAZ was introduced as affected areas were difficult to predict. It was 

confirmed that an application for funding to enable relevant monitoring had been submitted.  

In response to a query from a Member, the Head of City Transport advised that the focus would be on 

moving residents over to electric vehicles rather than other forms of sustainable transport as this was the 

simplest way to meet compliance before the legal deadline. Members asked when detail would be 

published on when grants/loans that would become available and how people could apply but it was 

advised that this was not yet confirmed although it was expected to be at some point in autumn 2021.  

Members asked about the improvement of transport links and were advised that local transport authorities 

were working on a bus improvement plan and the West of England Combined Authority (WECA) would be 

submitting a strategy in October 2021. 

Members noted that the Public Forum statements around the CAZ raised some very important points that 

should be considered at Cabinet specifically around the impact of the delay on resident’s health. 

Resolved; That the Clean Air Zone Public Forum Statements received at the meeting be referred to 
Cabinet meeting on 13th July 2021 alongside a statement from the Board setting out the concerns about 
the delay of the CAZ. 
 

9 Consultation and Engagement Strategy 

Page 9



 

democractic.services@bristol.gov.uk 

 

 

 

The Consultation and Engagement Officer presented the Consultation and Engagement Strategy. 

The Chief Executive noted that there was communication with participants on how their feedback had 

influenced the decisions and proposals that had been made.  

Members queried how the Deliberative Democracy Panel had been created and were advised that 

extensive selection criteria had been used to identify 60 residents who were representative, although it 

was noted that ward wasn’t the only criteria used.  

There was a conversation around engaging with specific community/faith groups and supporting 

communities that struggled with accessing online consultations. Also, around cross promoting 

consultations, for example, in the annual Council Tax bills booklet and other Council printed letters to 

reach citizens that were not digitally connected, and it was noted that this would be looked into. 

Members suggested that the standard be set to 12 weeks for all consultation periods to allow more time 

for promoting citizen engagement. It was noted that local community newspapers would be a good way to 

increase engagement, but these were often published quarterly. The Consultation and Engagement 

Officer advised that data showed lack of engagement in the middle period of consultations and the need to 

balance impacts of delay. The suggestion was welcomed for longer consultation periods and engagement 

with local community newspapers. This would be considered in the future and the Consultation and 

Engagement Officer would gather information on contacts for local community newspapers. 

Resolved; That the update be noted. 
 

10 Performance Report Q4 2020-21 
 

The Strategic Intelligence and Performance Manager presented the Performance Report 20-21 Q4 item. 

A Member highlighted the unspent apprenticeship levy.  In response, the Chief Executive advised that 
extensive work was already underway to encourage the uptake of apprenticeships which would include 
manager briefings on the increased breadth of courses available.  

A Member asked how the Council’s performance indicators were set and the Strategic Intelligence and 
Performance Manager advised that these were set by Heads of Service and Directors, following review 
with Cabinet Members where relevant. 

The Chair noted that performance would be reviewed in more detail at a future OSMB meeting to allow 
more discussion time and that Performance training will be delivered to Scrutiny Members with Centre for 
Governance and Scrutiny (CfGS) ahead of the meeting. 

Resolved; That the update be noted, and additional consideration be given to the approach to scrutiny of 
performance at the September Work Programme setting session (see item 11).  

 

11 Work Programme 
 

The Chair confirmed that the OSMB Lead Members had agreed to set a short term work programme for 

each Commission over the summer period, with a full work programme setting session to take place in 

Page 10



 

democractic.services@bristol.gov.uk 

 

 

September 21. Members confirmed their intention for the Work Programme setting event to take place in a 

conference style format with all Scrutiny Members, Cabinet and senior officers all invited to attend.  

The Head of Democratic Engagement advised that the Communities Scrutiny Commission’s programme 

over the summer was yet to be finalised and Members confirmed this would be approved by OSMB 

outside of the meeting.  Members agreed to the other proposals for the short term work programme as set 

out in Appendix X to the report.  

Resolved; That the Work Programme in Appendix A be approved, subject to details of the Communities 
Scrutiny Commission which would be agreed outside of the meeting. 
 

12 Mayor's Forward Plan (Standing Item) 
 

The update was noted. 

 

13 Minutes from the WECA Overview and Scrutiny Committee - for information (Standing 
Item) 

 

The minutes were noted.  

 

14 Exclusion of Press and Public 
 

The Chair advised that the discussion was expected to take place in public but reserved the right to move 
into exempt session if matters of commercial sensitivity arose. 

There was no exempt session as no commercially sensitive information was discussed. 

 

 

15 City Leap 
 

The Head of City Leap presented the report.  

The Executive Director for Growth & Regeneration advised that; 

 The Council was the shareholder and would have 50% ownership of the City Leap initiative. 

 The Mayor had delegated responsibility for City Leap to the Deputy Mayor for Finance, 
Governance and Performance.  

 A report would go to Cabinet in early 2022 once a preferred bidder had been confirmed and 
suggested that additional Scrutiny should take place shortly before. 

Members expressed concerns that the Chair of OSMB was the only Member outside of the Executive that 
would receive information on City Leap.  It was agreed that consideration would be given to sharing the 

Page 11



 

democractic.services@bristol.gov.uk 

 

 

previous exempt papers on City Leap with the Chair and new cohort of OSMB Members.  A suggestion 
was made regarding the establishment of a subgroup of OSMB to review matters relating to City Leap 
although it was noted that this would present significant legal challenges whilst the procurement exercise 
was still live.  In view of this it was agreed that the matter be decided in advance of the Scrutiny Work 
Programme setting event in September. 

There was a conversation around engaging with community energy groups and the Head of City Leap 
advised that this would be a significant part of the project forming one of the 6 key objectives.  

The Executive Director for Growth & Regeneration advised that it would be difficult to comment on how 
the 2030 decarbonisation targets would be met until the bids had been evaluated. Also, that this would be 
a long term partnership between the Council and the private sector to accelerate green energy 
investments in Bristol and help achieve the net zero carbon ambition. Members queried the main areas of 
risk and was advised that whilst the project was expected to proceed as planned, issues would arise if a 
suitable partner was not identified.  

Members expressed the importance of robust contract management and asked what reassurance could 
be given on this.  They went on to ask for details of the expectations for private owners to contribute to the 
cost of decarbonisation work in blocks of flats. It was advised that this would be subject to the acceptance 
criteria so there would be no expectation on individual contributions. 

The Head of City Leap advised that an initial feasibility study had been carried out to assess the potential 
for generating energy from waste plants in Avonmouth, Whilst the cost was potentially prohibitive, the 
study had been shared with bidders who could decide if they wanted to invest. 

Cllr Morris left the meeting at 8:07pm. 

Members suggested that scrutiny of City Leap should start in early 2022 given that the report would go to 
Cabinet in February 2022.  

Resolved; 

That consideration be given to; 

The schedule of future scrutiny of City Leap; the establishment of a City Leap Sub Group and the sharing 
of previous exempt City Leap reports with the Chair and Members of the Board  

 

16 Return to Open Session 
 
This agenda item was not required. 
 
 
 
 
 
CHAIR  __________________ 
 
 
 

Page 12



 

 
 
 

Bristol City Council 
Minutes of the Overview and Scrutiny 

Management Board 

 

 
20 September 2021 at 1.00 pm 

 
 
 

Members Present:- 
Councillors: Carla Denyer (Chair), Mark Bradshaw (Vice-Chair), Martin Fodor, Geoff Gollop, Tim Kent, 
Brenda Massey, Graham Morris, Steve Pearce and Sarah Classick 
 
Officers in Attendance:- 
Lucy Fleming (Head of Democratic Engagement), Johanna Holmes (Policy Advisor - Scrutiny), Dan Berlin 
(Scrutiny Advisor) and Amy Rodwell (Scrutiny Advisor) 
 
 

1 Welcome, Introductions and Safety Information 
 
The Chair welcomed all attendees to the meeting. 
 

2 Apologies for absence. 
 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Wilcox. Councillor Classick substituted for Councillor 
Wilcox. 
 

3 Declarations of Interest 
 
The following non-pecuniary interests were declared: 
 

Agenda item 6 – Cllr Bradshaw declared that he was no longer Non-Executive Director of Bristol Holding 
Limited and Bristol Heat Networks Limited. 
 
Agenda item 6 – Cllr Pearce declared that he was appointed Director of Bristol Waste Company Limited. 
 

4 Chair's Business 
 
There was none. 
 

Public Document Pack

Page 13



 

democractic.services@bristol.gov.uk 

 

 

5 Public Forum 
 
A statement was submitted by David Redgewell regarding bus and rail services. David was not in 
attendance to present the statement. 
 
Resolved; That the public forum be noted. 
 

6 Work Programme 21/22 
 
It was noted that consideration had been given to the Scrutiny Work Programme for 21/22 during the 
Workshop that had taken place on the morning of Monday 20th September.  
 

It was noted that the Work Programme would be an evolving document subject to outcomes of Scrutiny 
Member briefings and additional items that may arise throughout the year. 
 
The Chair of the Communities Scrutiny Commission noted that a sub-group to the commission had been 
formed which would look at Tree Management. 
 
The Chair of the Resources Scrutiny Commission noted that there were discussions in the workshop 
around capital spend and the budget which had not been included on the draft Work Programme and 
advised that the Commission would like to add the item for discussion at their third meeting. 
 
The Chair of the People Scrutiny Commission queried the approach to Scrutiny of the Dedicated Schools 
Grant, noting that it would be considered by the Resources Scrutiny Commission’s Finance Task Group, 
but that People Scrutiny may also wish to be included in this.  It was agreed that the respective Chairs 
would liaise to agree the best approach.  
 
It was noted that the next Overview and Scrutiny Management Board meeting would take place on 
Monday 18th October 2021. The provisional agenda included the Corporate Strategy; Corporate 
Performance Report Q1 and Risk Report Q1.    
 
The Chair noted that an Overview & Scrutiny Management Board meeting would take place in week 
commencing 7th February 2022 and the Council owned companies would be on the agenda to align with 
the business planning.   It was noted that the Chair was an observer of the Shareholder Group and 
confirmed that the approved minutes of those meetings would be shared with Members of the Overview 
& Scrutiny Management Board when they were available.  
 
Members discussed scrutiny of decarbonisation and suggested that a sub-group of OSMB would be the 
best way to review this cross-cutting area.  It was agreed this would be discussed further by the OSMB 
Leads, with further recommendations about the approach brought forward to the next OSMB meeting.   
  

Page 14



 

democractic.services@bristol.gov.uk 

 

 

Regarding other items for the OSMB work programme, Members requested that the forthcoming Trans 
Equalities Policy be added; and that consideration be given by the OSMB Leads to the approach to 
scrutiny of the Companies, City Leap and also commercialisation.  
 
Regarding the Forward Plan, The Chair reminded Members that the Overview & Scrutiny Management 
Board submitted a statement asking for the publication of additional details to Cabinet on 14th 
September. It was agreed that a progress update would be requested. 
 
Resolved that; 
The Scrutiny Work Programme 21/22 be approved.  
 
 
 
 
Meeting ended at 1.55 pm 
 
CHAIR  __________________ 
 
 
 
 

Page 15



Overview and Scrutiny Management Board – Draft Corporate Strategy 2022 - 2027 

 

  Overview & Scrutiny  
Management Board  

 
18 October 2021 

 

Report of: Tim Borrett, Director of Policy, Strategy and Partnerships 
 
Title: Draft Corporate Strategy 2022-2027  
 
Ward: Citywide 
 
Member Presenting Report:  Councillor Craig Cheney, Deputy Mayor 
 
 
 
 
 

Recommendation 
 
To consider and provide comment on the final draft of the Corporate Strategy 2022-2027 as part of pre-decision 
scrutiny.  
 
To consider the results of a public consultation process and the report of a cross-party Member working group 
which was engaged throughout development of the Corporate Strategy 
 
Summary 
The Council has chosen to update its Corporate Strategy, taking account of the changing circumstances faced by 
the authority, particularly considering the 2021 local elections and updated priorities of the administration, and 
the Covid-19 pandemic, its impact and the need to plan ahead for recovery and renewal. 
 
The significant issues in the report are: 
 
The draft Corporate Strategy will be presented to Cabinet on 02 November 2021 and Full Council on 07 December 
2021, making this pre-decision Scrutiny meeting Members’ final opportunity to comment upon the draft. 
 
A cross-party Members’ working group met five times and has discussed in depth the content of the Corporate 
Strategy, and provided detailed input. This input has made significant impact on the final strategy. The report of 
this input is detailed in Appendix B. 
 
A public consultation on an earlier draft of the Corporate Strategy received 707 responses and showed broad 
support for its strategic direction. A full report on the consultation will be made available to Scrutiny and 
appended to this report from Friday 15 October 2021. 
 

Page 16

Agenda Item 7



Overview and Scrutiny Management Board – Draft Corporate Strategy 2022 - 2027 

 
Context 

1. The Corporate Strategy is the Council’s top-level strategy document, setting out its overarching vision, 
values and priorities for the Council over a five-year term. It is the basis upon which decisions about 
future business plans and performance framework are made. 

 
2. In preparing a refreshed Corporate Strategy, an extensive evidence base has been reviewed, 

with particular reference to the views of citizens (Quality of Life; Citizens Assembly), political priorities 
(all local political manifestos), key local and regional strategies, and key corporate governance products 
including the Corporate Risk Register. Activities, outputs, outcomes and measures were analysed by 
theme and used as the basis of workshops to determine top-level goals. This led to an iterative process 
of drafting and refining priorities by theme. 

3. The Corporate Strategy is developed around five cross-cutting principles, called ‘Building Blocks’ in the 
document, which influence how the Council plans and operates. These are Development and Delivery; 
Equality and Inclusion; Resilience; Environmental Sustainability; and World Class Employment.   

4. Priorities have been identified under seven themes, six of which are aligned to the structure of the city’s 
long-term (to 2050) One City Plan and one which is focused on the Council’s ways of working. 

5. The strategy considers how the council can contribute to delivery of the United Nations’ Sustainable 
Development Goals (SDGs). These are a framework for the major global challenges of economic, 
environmental and social sustainability, which every country in the world has agreed to deliver by 2030. 
They are a set of 17 interconnected goals, with 169 targets beneath them. They are mapped throughout 
the priorities in the strategy. 

6. As a ‘refreshed’ strategy contributing to long-term outcomes, it continues from the Corporate Strategy 
2018-2023 and shares an ongoing vision and values. 

 

Policy 
7. The Council’s constitution provides that the Corporate Strategy will require Full Council approval before 

it can be adopted. The results of consultation and the requirements of the Equality Act 2010, should be 
taken in to consideration when making a decision. Full Council will be assisted by the information in the 
consultation report and the Equalities Impact Assessment, and the input from Overview and Scrutiny 
Management Board (OSMB) and its Member Working Group for the Corporate Strategy. 

 

Consultation 
 
Internal 

8. Mayor and Cabinet, Corporate Leadership Board, Councillors’ Internal Working Group for the Corporate 
Strategy 2022 – 2027 (a task and finish sub-group of OSMB), Directors, Heads of Service, Managers’ 
Sounding Board, Staff Led Groups, Youth Mayors / Youth Council. 
 

9. A report from the Councillors’ Internal Working Group for the Corporate Strategy 2022 – 2027, which 
was formed to help include the perspective of elected Members and encourage co-design of the 
strategy, is included at Appendix B. It outlines specific parts of the strategy that have been influenced by 
the work of the group. 

 
External 

10. A public consultation took place from 13 August to 16 September, with the results influencing a range 
of changes to the draft. In total 707 responses were received, over 200 more than when the council last 
consulted on a draft Corporate Strategy in 2017. A full report on this consultation is available at 

Page 17



Overview and Scrutiny Management Board – Draft Corporate Strategy 2022 - 2027 

 
Appendix C. Meetings were offered to key anchor partners in the city, and were held with University of 
Bristol, University of the West of England, Avon and Somerset Police, Youth Work Strategy Partnership 
and City of Bristol College. These primarily focused on alignment of strategies on shared challenges, 
such as climate change. 
 

11. The public consultation asked respondents views on how important each of the five Building Blocks and 
32 Priorities were on a 5-point scale (Not at all important to Very high importance) and provided free 
text space for further comments.  
 

12. Response rates were overrepresented from more affluent areas of the city compared to deprived areas 
and people aged over 35, respondents aged 34 and under were significantly underrepresented. 
Respondent rates of disabled people were double the population rate of Bristol disabled residents. 
Most respondents were White British, the response rates for White British, White Irish and White Other 
groups were slightly higher than population rates, whereas response rates for Black, Asian and Minority 
Ethnic groups were significantly underrepresented compared to population rates. 
 

13. There was general agreement with the Building Blocks, where all received higher than 50% ratings as 
high importance or very high importance. 25/32 priorities received more than 60% ratings as high or 
very high importance, generally the lower rated priorities fall under the Development Organisation 
theme, relating to internal management of BCC. 
 

14. Following public consultation and further consideration of the iterative Equality Impact Assessment, key 
changes include: 
 

 Renaming “Sustainability” building block to “Environmental Sustainability” – emphasising that the 
Climate and Ecological emergencies will cut across the organisation’s future goals and plans. 
Protecting green spaces, prioritising the environment and climate change feature most amongst 
free text responses. 

 Renaming “A Development Organisation” theme to “Effective Development Organisation” to better 
match the aims of the Priorities in this section. 

 Renaming HC2 “Healthy Homes” priority to “Lower Carbon Homes” clarifying the original main 
intention of the Priority. 

 Renaming ENV3 “Waste Reduction” to “Cleaner Bristol” and incorporating sustainable lifestyles and 
environmental needs in to city design and built environment considerations as well as the original 
focus on reduction in waste. 

 ES1 Regeneration – Updates to ensure an emphasis on values-led regeneration that is of benefit to 
residents and communities taking a place-based approach to regeneration, promoting inclusive and 
sustainable growth.  

 HC1 Housing Supply – Introducing additional aims around standards in the Private Rented Sector 
and bringing empty properties back in to use. 

 HC4 Homelessness – Ensuring target to end rough sleeping by 2024 is aligned to national 
government. 

 Moving HCW4 “Disability” priority from Health, Care and Wellbeing to Homes and Communities 
theme – emphasising the social model of disability rather than a deficit medical model, and 
updating descriptive text to better convey this. 

 Adding explicit reference to carers and socio-economic deprivation under “Equality and Inclusion” 
Building Block to match commitments in the Council’s Equality and Inclusion Policy to consider 
these in the same way as the nine Protected Characteristics under the Equality Act 2010. 

 Adding multiple references to align the strategic and civic intentions of the city’s universities and 
Further Education sector with the Council’s – in CYP3 “Equity In Education”; ES1 “Regeneration”; 
ES2 “Access to Employment”; ES3 “Good Growth”; EO1 “One City” 

 Updating Environment and Sustainability Theme introduction to give equal prominence to the 

Page 18



Overview and Scrutiny Management Board – Draft Corporate Strategy 2022 - 2027 

 
Ecological as well as Climate Emergency. 

 Multiple updates relating predominantly to gender equality in response to a submission from the 
Bristol Women’s Commission. 

 Updating explanations about measuring performance and outcomes; using high-level insight 
statements whilst a more detailed accompanying Performance Framework is developed. 

 

Proposal 
15. Overview and Scrutiny Management Board is asked to consider and provide comment on the final draft 

of the Corporate Strategy 2022-2027 as part of pre-decision scrutiny. In doing so it is asked to consider 
the results of a public consultation process and the report of its Member Working Group which was 
engaged throughout development of the Corporate Strategy. 

 
Appendices: 

 Appendix A - Draft Corporate Strategy 2022 – 2027 

 Appendix B - Report of the Member Working Group on the Corporate Strategy 2022 – 2027 

 Appendix C - Corporate Strategy Consultation Report summary slides [full report to follow Friday 15 
October] 

 Appendix D – Change Log and full post-consultation tracked changes 

 Appendix E – Equality Impact Assessment 

 
 
LOCAL GOVERNMENT (ACCESS TO INFORMATION) ACT 1985 
Background Papers: 
Corporate Strategy 2018 – 2023: 3e7d7377-ed1f-5d67-c6ab-af49b7159a5e (bristol.gov.uk) 
 

 

Page 19

https://www.bristol.gov.uk/documents/20182/33620/Bristol+City+Council+Corporate+Strategy+2018+to+2023.pdf/3e7d7377-ed1f-5d67-c6ab-af49b7159a5e


Corporate Strategy
2022–2027

Version 7/10/2021

Page 20



Bristol City Council  Corporate Strategy 2022–2027

1

Contents

Foreword	 2

Our	Role	–	driving	a	city	of	hope	and	aspiration	 3

Our	Challenges	 4

Our	Corporate	Strategy	–	at	a	glance	 7

Our	Vision	 8

Our	Values	and	Behaviours	 9

Our	Building	Blocks	 10

Our	Strategic	Themes	and	Priorities	 12

Sustainable	Development	Goals	 14

Theme 1:	Children	and	Young	People	 15

Child	Friendly	City	 	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	 16

Supported	to	Thrive	 	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	 17

Equity	in	Education	 	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	 18

Intergenerational	Equality 		 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 19

Theme 2:	Economy	and	Skills		 20

Regeneration	 		 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 21

Access	to	Employment		 	 	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	 22

Good	Growth			 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 23

Childcare			 	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	 25

Digital	Inclusion				 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 26

Theme 3:	Environment	and	Sustainability		 27

Carbon	Neutral	 	 	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	 28

Ecological	Recovery				 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 29

Cleaner	Bristol		 	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	 30

Climate	Resilience			 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 32

Global	Leadership	 		 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 33

Theme 4:	Health,	Care	and	Wellbeing		 34

Transforming	Care 		 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 35

Mental	Health	and	Wellbeing		 		 		 		 		 		 		 		 	 36

Poverty		 	 	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	 38

Theme 5:	Homes	and	Communities		 40

Housing	Supply			 	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	 41

Lower	Carbon	Homes			 	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	 42

Homelessness		 		 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 43

Disability 		 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 45

Community	Participation			 	 	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	 46

Theme 6:	Transport	and	Connectivity		 47

Connectivity	 	 	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	 48

Improved	Bus	Services		 	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	 49

Safe	and	Active	Travel	 	 	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	 49

Physical	Infrastructure		 	 	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	 51

Theme 7:	Effective	Development	Organisation	52

One	City	 	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	 53

One	Council			 	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	 54

Employer	of	Choice				 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 55

Data	Driven	 		 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 56

Good	Governance		 	 	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	 57

Estate	Review			 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 58

Glossary	 59

Page 21



Bristol City Council  Corporate Strategy 2022–2027

2

Foreword
We all want to feel included, we all need hope 
and we all aspire to something. I believe this 
to be a fundamental truth, and my focus is 
on making sure that the city council plays a 
leading role in enabling this to be everyone’s real 
experience of life in Bristol.

With our raw materials of 42 square miles of land, 
c.460,000 people (from over 187 countries, speaking 
91 languages and practising 45 religions) and a 
pre-pandemic £15bn annual economy, Bristol was 
one of few cities to make a net-contribution to the 
Treasury pre-pandemic, offering sectors of high 
growth and opportunity, two leading universities, 
incredible culture and world-class aerospace. 
Among the challenges we face is are long-standing 
inequalities in healthy life expectancy, a growing 
population (scheduled to grow by almost 100,000 
residents by 2050), more than 15,000 people are on 
our waiting list for housing, and over 70,000 of our 
residents living in areas that are among the 10% 
most deprived in England.

During the past five years we have made significant 
progress towards making Bristol a city of hope 
and aspiration, one where everybody can share in 
its success. But we are only part way along a very 
difficult journey. Looking ahead, we know that the 
human cost of the COVID-19 pandemic will be felt 
keenly in our communities, both in terms of loss 
and in the stark inequalities it has further exposed. 
Its financial cost is likely to lead to a long and 
protracted restructuring of the UK economy, the 
impact of which will be felt for many years to come.

Meanwhile the threat of climate change and 
ecological deterioration requires decisive action 
and fundamental changes in how countries, cities 
and communities live and work. It also means we 
need to be better prepared to adapt to the impacts 
of climate change, from environmental issues like 
floods to socio-economic ones like mass migration.

The better we work together to tackle our city’s 
challenges, the greater the likelihood that we 
can recover, renew and create firm foundations 
for a healthier, more inclusive and sustainable 
future. The complex challenges we face can only 
be solved through working collaboratively and the 
responsibility is not the council’s alone. 

Over the past five years I have brought together 
a wide range of partners to work with a One City 
approach, creating a shared vision and a plan of 
goals and actions for the city up to 2050. This 
Corporate Strategy is closely linked to that One 
City Plan, describing the council’s priorities and 
contributions to the city’s long-term aims.

In this strategy we are choosing to grapple with 
the complexity of the real issues facing us, being 
bold and setting aspirational targets that challenge 
us to make a difference, whether by doing things 
directly ourselves or trying to influence change on 
a wider scale. It presents very real challenge to us, 
our partners and national and international systems 
of government, governance and economy to make 
positive changes, tackle complex, ingrained and long-
term structural issues and work towards a values-led 
vision rooted in fairness and opportunity for all.

For the council’s part, we need to keep delivering 
good quality services and continuing our journey to 
become an organisation which is better at enabling 
and developing others. We must set an excellent 
example as an employer, create more efficient 
systems and processes, work better together, 
empower and enable others to act, and, in some 
cases, withdraw and get out of the way.

Everyone will be included in this city’s success and 
will have a home where they can achieve their 
aspirations, regardless of their background or 
where they grew up. It will not be easy, but Bristol 
can bounce back from the pandemic and rise to 
its challenges, supported and enabled by a council 
that is the right size for the job and is no longer 
seen as a collection of services, but as an effective 
development organisation that allows everyone 
to thrive.

Marvin Rees 
Mayor of Bristol

Page 22



Informing and 
contributing to 

each other

One City Plan 
Partners

Each with their own 
strategies

Working together 
with partners 
throughout

Bristol City Council  Corporate Strategy 2022–2027

3

Our	Role	–	driving	a	city	of	hope	
and	aspiration
We recognise that we are one organisation in a 

hugely complicated system, where everyone has 

a role to play. Because of this we are a partner in 

the long-term One City Plan for Bristol. This plan to 

2050 gives us a shared vision and goals, co-created 

by many different partners and covering almost 

every aspect of life in Bristol. This strategy sets out 

our contribution to the city as part of the One City 

Plan and is our main strategic document. It informs 

everything the council does and how we plan for 

the future.

Council and partners all work together equally to deliver shared 
outcomes for the city

One 
City 
Plan

One City Plan 
Partners Informing and 

contributing to 
each other

Each with their own 
strategies

Working together 
with partners 
throughout

Corporate Strategy 2022–2027

Policy and Strategy Framework Workforce Plan Policy and Strategy Framework

Business Plan
An annual corporate Business Plan based on Corporate Strategy themes, showing more detailed delivery 

activity and measures every year.

Service Plans Team Plans
Plans made by each council department and teams showing their own activities which should 

contribute to achieving the Business Plan, with objectives for all colleagues linked to this.

Individual objectives

V
is

io
n

, v
al

u
es

 a
n

d 
b

eh
av

io
u

rs

W
e m

easu
re ou

r 
ou

tcom
es an

d review
 

ou
r p

lan
s accordin

gly

Our daily work

Page 23



Bristol City Council  Corporate Strategy 2022–2027

4

Our	Challenges
The impact of COVID-19 Health and wellbeing

Education and skills

Page 24



Bristol City Council  Corporate Strategy 2022–2027

5

Sustainability and environment

Culture and creativity

Economy and housing

Communities

Page 25



Bristol City Council  Corporate Strategy 2022–2027

6

Population projections

If	pre-pandemic	trends	continue,	the	
total	population	of	Bristol	is	projected	
to	increase	by	69,300	people	over	the	
25	year	period	(2018-2043)	to	reach	a	
total	population	of	532,700	by	2043 		
This	is	a	projected	increase	of	15%	
which	is	higher	than	the	projection	
for	England	of	10%	and	the	highest	
percentage	increase	of	the	other	eight	
English	Core	Cities 

Source:	ONS	2018-based	Sub-national	
Population	Projections

Subnational	population	projections	for	
England	-	Office	for	National	Statistics

Bristol	projected	
population	change	

2018–2043

2018 

463,400 
(estimate)

2043 

532,700 
(projection)

Bristol	projected	population	change	
2018–2043	by	age	group

Children 

+9,900

Working age 

+46,900

Older people 

+12,500

Deprivation 2019

Bristol	continues	to	have	deprivation	‘hot	
spots’	that	are	amongst	some	of	the	
most	deprived	areas	in	the	country	yet	
are	adjacent	to	some	of	the	least	
deprived	areas	in	the	country 

Bristol	has	41	areas	in	the	most	
deprived	10%	in	England 

In	2019,	15%	of	Bristol	residents	
–	70,800	people	–	live	in	these	areas,	
including	19,000	children	and	7,800	
older	people 

The	10	most	deprived	neighbourhoods	in	Bristol	are	all	
in	the	South	Bristol	areas	of	Hartcliffe,	Whitchurch	Park	
and	Knowle	West 	

Source:	English	Indices	of	Deprivation	2019 	Ministry	
of	Housing,	Communities	and	Local	Government	by	
Oxford	Consultants	for	Social	Inclusion	(OCSI) 

English	indices	of	deprivation	2019	–	www gov uk

Index of Multiple Deprivation 2019

Most	deprived	10%	in	England

Most	deprived	10–20%	in	England

Most	deprived	20–30%	in	England

Page 26

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationprojections/bulletins/subnationalpopulationprojectionsforengland/2018based
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationprojections/bulletins/subnationalpopulationprojectionsforengland/2018based
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/english-indices-of-deprivation-2019


Our	Corporate	Strategy	–	at	a	glance

Vision 								We	play	a	leading	role	in	driving	an	inclusive,	sustainable	and	healthy	city	of	hope	and	
	aspiration,	one	where	everyone	can	share	in	its	success 	

Building Blocks
We have chosen five 

principles that we call our 

‘building blocks’. These 

affect all our priorities and 

influence everything we do.

Development  
and Delivery

Develop people, places and 
partnerships to improve 
outcomes. Deliver quality 
public services while releasing 
the expertise and resources 
of empowered communities, 
individuals, community groups 
and city partners to help shape 
and deliver city priorities.

 
Equality and Inclusion

Pro-actively and intentionally 
improve equality and inclusion 
across the city by designing it 
into everything we do. Work 
to make sure that everyone in 
Bristol feels they belong, has a 
voice and an equal opportunity 
to succeed and thrive.

 
Resilience 

Build Bristol’s city resilience 
through early intervention, 
minimising our contribution to 
future environmental, economic 
or social shocks and stresses. 
Build our ability to cope by 
learning from our past, taking 
a preventative approach and 
planning for long-term outcomes 
that support resilience.

Environmental 
Sustainability 

Tackle the Climate and 
Ecological Emergencies 
while inclusively growing the 
economy, maximising our 
positive environmental impacts 
and avoiding or mitigating 
negative ones wherever 
possible. Build our climate and 
ecological resilience.

World class 
employment 

Role model, influence and 
promote the highest levels 
and standards of employment. 
Work with partners to drive 
for workforces that reflect the 
population, and workplaces 
that are healthy and inclusive, 
offering opportunities to 
progress and offering a Living 
Wage as standard.

Themes
To make sure we are 
clear about how we 
spend our time, effort 
and money, we have 
the following strategic 
themes and priorities. 
These express the major 
issues that we believe 
are most important in 
achieving our vision.

Children and 
Young People 
A city where every 
child belongs and every 
child gets the best 
start in life, whatever 
circumstances they 
were born in to. 
 

Economy and 
Skills 
Economic growth that 
builds inclusive and 
resilient communities, 
decarbonises the city 
and offers equity of 
opportunity. 
 

Environment and 
Sustainability
Decarbonise the city, 
support the recovery of 
nature and lead a just 
transition to a low-
carbon future. 
 
 

Health, Care and 
Wellbeing 
Tackle health 
inequalities to 
help people stay 
healthier and happier 
throughout their lives. 
 
 

Homes and 
Communities 
Healthy, resilient 
and inclusive 
neighbourhoods with 
fair access to decent, 
affordable homes. 
 
 

Transport and 
Connectivity 
A more efficient, 
sustainable and 
inclusive connection 
of people to people, 
people to jobs and 
people to opportunity. 
 

Effective 
Development 
Organisation 
From city government to 
city governance: creating 
a focussed council that 
empowers individuals, 
communities and partners 
to flourish and lead.

Values and 
Behaviours We are 

Dedicated
We are 

Curious
We show 
Respect

We take 
Ownership

We are 
Collaborative

7

Bristol	City	Council		Corporate	Strategy	2022–2027

P
age 27



Bristol City Council  Corporate Strategy 2022–2027

8

Our	Vision

We	play	a	leading	role	in	driving	an	inclusive,	
sustainable	and	healthy	city	of	hope	and	aspiration,	

one	where	everyone	can	share	in	its	success 
We are committed to building a better Bristol 
that includes everyone in the city’s success. We 
are here to support the economic, social and 
environmental wellbeing of Bristol alongside 
many other local, regional and national 
organisations. In fact, we all have a role to play.

In recent years we have developed closer working 

relationships with a wider variety of partners 

across the city and region, recognising that no 

organisation alone can make the kind of major 

changes needed to create a truly inclusive, 

sustainable and healthy city. Together we have 

created a long-term vision until 2050 and a shared 

set of goals in the One City Plan.

Our vision aligns closely to this, and our Corporate 

Strategy focuses more on the council’s own 

contribution and ways of working: the elements 

of the city-wide plan where we deliver actions 

ourselves or play a leading role in bringing partners 

and communities together.

Bristol has always been a city of contrasts: a diverse, 

culturally vibrant and economically successful 

city, yet with 15% of its citizens living in some of 

the most deprived areas in England. Our annual 

Quality of Life Survey1 indicates that inequality and 

deprivation continue to affect people’s experience 

in almost every element measured by the survey. 

The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic has further 

reinforced these entrenched inequalities. Health, 

wealth and wellbeing are intimately connected; 

those already disadvantaged have been hit hardest. 

We serve a population that is likely to have 

increased by over 40,0002 in the past decade. The 

Office for National Statistics’ most recent official 

projections predict population growth of 13,6003 

over the coming five years. Along with the projected 

impact on people’s health and wealth inequality 

this creates a huge challenge, especially considering 

existing gaps in healthy life expectancy.

We do not yet know the full scale of the pandemic’s 

impact or the longer-term implications for the 

Government’s funding of local government and 

cities. However, we know we will need to effectively 

balance our budget, be resilient to shocks, manage 

external risks, manage changes and increased 

service demand, all within a limited funding 

envelope which is more uncertain than ever. 

Alongside the need to recover and renew post-

pandemic are major challenges facing cities across 

the world, including climate change, ecological 

deterioration, mass migration and economic 

uncertainty. There are also local challenges where 

we and others have not done well enough in the 

past, and it is important we don’t lose sight of 

delivering strong local services that contribute to 

tackling inequality across the city in all its forms.

Doing so will help improve people’s quality of life 

and have a beneficial impact on our mental and 

physical health, along with the council’s financial 

bottom line. Whatever our challenges, there is still 

room for hope and aspiration.

1:  The Quality of Life Report shows 50 headline measures of the lived experiences for people in Bristol, including how these changed and how 
experiences differ in the most deprived areas (available from: The quality of life in Bristol)

2:  Projection based on the Office for National Statistics’ (ONS) estimates, to be confirmed upon publication of the 2021 Census during 2022

3:  ONS 2018 National population projections (available from: National population projections: 2018-based – Office for National Statistics)
Page 28

https://www.bristol.gov.uk/statistics-census-information/the-quality-of-life-in-bristol
https://www.bristol.gov.uk/statistics-census-information/the-quality-of-life-in-bristol


Bristol City Council  Corporate Strategy 2022–2027

9

Our	Values	and	Behaviours
How we achieve our vision is as important to us as the vision itself. We are defined by how we behave 
and what we do, so we must be driven by clear values and behaviours. We must challenge ourselves 
and each other to demonstrate these in our work and acknowledge and learn if we fall short.

Our 
Values and 
Behaviours

We are

Dedicated
We strive to make a difference

	● We are clear about what we are 
here to do

	● We are enabling and work with 
citizens, partners and stakeholders 
to make things happen for Bristol

	● We are committed to wellbeing  
and create a workplace that 
everyone can enjoy

We take

Ownership
 We accept personal accountability

	● We are trustworthy and take 
responsibility for how we act

	● We persevere and ask for help  
if we need it

	● We are given opportunities  
to lead and help others do  
the same

We are

Collaborative
We come together to reach shared goals

	● We take personal and collective 
responsibility for finding the answers

	● We ask for other perspectives and 
respect different opinions

	● We make connections and take 
opportunities to work together

We are

Curious
We ask questions and explore 
possibilities

	● We believe that there are always 
opportunities to do things better

	● We are bold and not afraid to try 
new things

	● We take time to ask questions and 
learn from what we have done

We show

Respect
We treat each other fairly

	● We are caring and gracious
	● We treat each other with dignity 

and stand against discrimination, 
bullying and harassment 

	● We include each other and  
value difference

Page 29



Bristol City Council  Corporate Strategy 2022–2027

10

Our	Building	Blocks
We have chosen five principles that we call our ‘building blocks’. These affect all our priorities 
and influence everything we do. They are what is most important to us and are chosen based on 
evidenced needs and our organisational values. We reflect these building blocks across our strategy.

They are not used as ‘buzzwords’ – they have a specific meaning that makes a real difference to what 
we do, why we do it and how we do it. 

Development and Delivery 

Develop people, places and partnerships to improve outcomes. Deliver 
quality public services while releasing the expertise and resources of 
empowered communities, individuals, community groups and city 
partners to help shape and deliver city priorities.

Not everything revolves around the council or is within our power, which is why we are working more closely with 
partners on our shared One City Plan. This spans many different sectors and gives us a shared long-term vision 
to 2050. This building block is about the council doing well at delivering the services it must deliver, while taking 
action to develop and tap into the capacity of individuals, communities, and organisations who can and want 
to contribute. This can help them achieve what they would like to, without relying only on the council’s direct 
contribution or delivery. When it is done well this is a ‘win-win’ – it empowers people and helps them achieve 
better outcomes, while the council can focus increasingly limited resources on those who need it most.

Equality and Inclusion

Pro-actively and intentionally improve equality and inclusion across 
the city by designing it into everything we do. Work to make sure 
that everyone in Bristol feels they belong, has a voice and an equal 
opportunity to succeed and thrive. 

Promoting equality, diversity and inclusion, and addressing inequalities are at the heart of our values. Inclusion 
does not happen by accident; it is something that needs to be carefully planned. It is about valuing people’s 
differences, creating an environment where everyone feels welcome and heard, and making sure people are 
not excluded from opportunity in all its forms. We will consider everyone’s needs and take action to include 
everyone in the city as we make new plans or take decisions. We recognise that many issues affect individuals 
and groups differently, and require specific solutions. Whether it’s safety on our streets for women and girls, 
inclusion in schools for children with Special Educational Needs and Disability, inequalities in work faced by 
racially minoritised communities, we will work to fix issues with any systems, processes or actions that cause 
inequalities for individuals or between different groups of people.

Throughout the development of this strategy, we have designed priorities which help us advance equality 
of opportunity, foster good relations between people who share a relevant protected characteristic1 
and those who do not share it, and eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation. As well as 
our firm commitment to the Public Sector Equality Duty, our aspirations go further to include people 
in care, refugees and migrants, people with caring responsibilities and the inequalities resulting from 
socio-economic disadvantage.

1:  Protected characteristics are the nine characteristics protected under the Equality Act 2010. They are: age, disability, gender reassignment, 
marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex, and sexual orientation.

Page 30



Bristol City Council  Corporate Strategy 2022–2027

11

Resilience 

Build Bristol’s city resilience through early intervention, minimising our 
contribution to future environmental, economic or social shocks and stresses. 
Build our ability to cope by learning from our past, taking a preventative 
approach and planning for long-term outcomes that support resilience. 

Life can throw all sorts of things at us, and resilience is about being ready to prevent, mitigate or withstand this 
and being able to adapt – sometimes very quickly – to any given situation. A ‘shock’ is something sudden and 
unexpected, for example a flood, a pandemic or a terrorist attack. A ‘stress’ is something chronic and lasting, 
putting the city under pressure over time. Examples would include health inequality, transport congestion and 
long-term economic downturns. Places can build resilience by doing things in certain ways. Resilient cities are 
those which work together across different sectors, plan and prepare for risks, help everyone play an active role 
in the city, design their various systems to be flexible and take time to measure and reflect on success or failure, 
based on a deep understanding of the city and its communities.

Environmental Sustainability

Tackle the Climate and Ecological Emergencies while inclusively growing 
the economy, maximising our positive environmental impacts and 
avoiding or mitigating negative ones wherever possible. Build our 
climate and ecological resilience. 

Changes to the environment and its effects are among the biggest challenges faced globally, requiring action 
from all of us. Bristol was the first UK city to declare a Climate Emergency and has also declared an Ecological 
Emergency. This building block recognises that our impact on the environment and climate – and the impact 
of changes to them on us – cuts across all our work. Often there are tensions in how traditional economic 
growth impacts the environment and climate change, and we are committed to inclusive, sustainable growth 
that considers issues such as air quality, carbon emissions, the effects on nature, and our use of energy and 
resources. Done well, growth can support and create decent jobs, including in the green economy and low 
carbon sectors, while also achieving social objectives such as tackling poverty and increasing social inclusion. 

World class employment 

Role model, influence and promote the highest levels and standards of 
employment. Work with partners to drive for workforces that reflect 
the population, and workplaces that are healthy and inclusive, offering 
opportunities to progress and a Real Living Wage as standard. 

We recognise that many inequalities faced by communities in Bristol are caused by poverty and socio-economic 
disadvantage, which are often the result of there being fewer employment opportunities or poor-quality 
employment. In Bristol, 15% of people live in some of the most deprived areas in the country, a fact often 
disguised by the city’s overall strong economic performance. Because of this, we have made commitments in 
our Equality and Inclusion Policy to consider not only protected characteristics, but also inequalities resulting 
from socio-economic disadvantage when we make plans and take decisions.

While the council does not hold all the cards on the issue of employment, it can set an example as an 
employer and use its relationships, influence, policies, plans and limited direct powers to make a positive 
difference and challenge bad practice. We are committed to doing this and challenging the city to strive for 
employment excellence. Page 31



Bristol City Council  Corporate Strategy 2022–2027

12

Our	Strategic	Themes	and	Priorities
To make sure we are clear about how we 
spend our time, effort and money, we have the 
following strategic themes and priorities. These 
express the major issues that we believe are 
most important in achieving our vision. 

Our priorities are chosen based on a wide 

range of evidence. This includes existing local, 

regional and national plans and strategies, 

political commitments of the elected Mayor and 

councillors, technical data-based evidence, our past 

performance, and – vitally – the views of Bristol 

citizens shared in the annual Quality of Life survey, 

discussion with the Youth Council, and our Citizens’ 

Assembly on the future of the city.

This Corporate Strategy is our most broad strategic 

document, so the priorities are top-level aims. They 

inform more detailed action planning published 

every April in the council’s Business Plan. Success 

will be measured through a fully redesigned 

Performance Framework, which will be co-produced 

with a range of internal and external stakeholders 

in time for the publication of our first aligned 

Business Plan in April 2022. This will include 

measures of success such as headline measures or 

milestones for city-wide outcomes with long-term 

targets by Theme, as well as progress against the 

detailed Priorities within Themes. 

Much of our work involves meeting our statutory 

and regulatory obligations which are set out in 

legislation. Whether or not these are specifically 

mentioned, it can be taken as read that we will 

make sure that we meet all these legal obligations.

Themes
Children and Young People 
A city where every child belongs and every child gets 
the best start in life, whatever circumstances they 
were born in to. 

Economy and Skills 
Economic growth that builds inclusive and resilient 
communities, decarbonises the city and offers 
equity of opportunity. 

Environment and Sustainability
Decarbonise the city, support the recovery of nature 
and lead a just transition to a low-carbon future. 

Health, Care and Wellbeing 
Tackle health inequalities to help people stay 
healthier and happier throughout their lives. 

Homes and Communities 
Healthy, resilient and inclusive neighbourhoods 
with fair access to decent, affordable homes. 

Transport and Connectivity 
A more efficient, sustainable and inclusive 
connection of people to people, people to jobs and 
people to opportunity. 

Effective Development Organisation 
From city government to city governance: creating 
a focussed council that empowers individuals, 
communities and partners to flourish and lead. 

Page 32



Bristol City Council  Corporate Strategy 2022–2027

13

Our Priorities explained
In the coming pages we set out our detailed priorities under each of our themes. Each priority helps 

deliver our overall vision, and also the UN Sustainable Development Goals. Each has been influenced 

by one or more of the five building blocks set out on pages 10–11. 

Against each priority you will see icons that show which SDGs it helps deliver, and which building 

blocks have influenced the priority. 

Example:

Reference number

Priority name

Summary

 Building Blocks   Building Blocks 

Priority detail...

UN Sustainable Development Goals

Delivering	as	One Council	

We aim to work in a more joined-up way across the council, so our priorities 

are not meant to reflect our departmental structure or other ways we organise 

our business. To highlight this, a selection of case studies linked to priorities are 

included to help bring them to life and show how we can – and do – deliver on our 

priorities across a variety of teams and services. 

Delivering	as	One City	

No single organisation has all the answers, and these stories highlight 

where we have worked with a variety of city partners on a shared aim or 

project. These show our cross-sector One City Approach in action. 

Page 33



Bristol City Council  Corporate Strategy 2022–2027

14

Sustainable	Development	Goals
The United Nations Sustainable Development 

Goals (SDGs) are a framework for the major global 

challenges of economic, environmental and 

social sustainability, which every country in the 

world has agreed to deliver by 2030. They are a 

set of 17 interconnected goals, with 169 targets 

beneath them.

Bristol is committed to delivering the SDGs locally 

and is the only UK city to have conducted a Voluntary 

Local Review1 to monitor progress against the goals. 

Every priority in this strategy has been created to 

contribute to achieving the SDGs.

For more information about the SDGs and their 

targets, please visit the UN website. 

1:  Available from: SDGs – Bristol One City

SDG 1 – No poverty: End poverty in all its 

forms, everywhere.

SD2 – Zero hunger: End hunger, achieve 
food security and improved nutrition and 
promote sustainable procurement.

SD3 – Good health and wellbeing: Ensure 
healthy lives and promote wellbeing for 
all, at all ages.

SDG 4 – Quality education: Ensure 
inclusive and equitable quality 
education and promote lifelong learning 
opportunities for all.

SDG 5 – Gender equality: Achieve gender 
equality and empower all women and 
girls.

SDG 6 – Clean water and sanitation: 
Ensure availability and sustainable 
management of water and sanitation for 
all.

SDG 7 – Affordable and clean energy: 
Ensure access to affordable, reliable, 
sustainable and modern energy for all.

SDG 8 – Decent work and economic 
growth: Promote sustained, inclusive and 
sustainable economic growth, full and 
productive employment and decent work 
for all.

SDG 9 – Industry, innovation and 
infrastructure: Build resilient 
infrastructure, promote inclusive and 
sustainable industrialisation and foster 
innovation.

SDG 10 – Reduced inequalities: Reduce 
inequality within and among countries.

SDG 11 – Sustainable cities and 
communities: Make cities and human 
settlements inclusive, safe, resilient and 
sustainable.

SDG 12 – Responsible consumption: 
Ensure sustainable consumption and 
production patterns.

SDG 13 – Climate action: Take urgent 
action to combat climate change and its 
impacts.

SDG 14 – Life below water: Conserve 
and sustainably use the oceans, seas 
and marine resources for sustainable 
development.

SDG 15 – Life on land: Protect, restore 
and promote sustainable use of 
terrestrial ecosystems, sustainably 
manage forests, combat desertification, 
and halt and reverse land degradation 
and halt biodiversity loss.

SDG 16 – Peace, justice and strong 
institutions: Promote peaceful and 
inclusive societies for sustainable 
development, provide access to justice for 
all and build effective, accountable and 
inclusive institutions at all levels.

SDG 17 – Partnership for the goals: 
Strengthen the means of implementation 
and revitalise the global partnership for 
sustainable development.

Page 34

http://sdgs.un.org/goals
http://www.bristolonecity.com/sdgs/


Bristol City Council  Corporate Strategy 2022–2027

15

Theme 1:	Children	and	Young	People
A city where every child belongs and every child gets the best start in life, whatever 
circumstances they were born in to. 

We have made a commitment to our children, 
set out in our 2018 Children’s Charter, which is 
aligned with the principles of the United Nations 
Convention on the Rights of the Child. 

Our ambitions for the city’s children include having 

a healthy and happy life, being safe, having access 

to an education that develops their potential, the 

opportunity to influence decisions in the city and 

growing up with a sense of belonging and pride. 

Children are the future of the city, and we have 

to help them thrive and become actively engaged 

citizens who will take on the city’s future vision and 

direction. Bristol is vibrant and thriving, however, 

not all children have equal experiences of living 

in and growing up in Bristol. We know that some 

communities and age groups have been impacted 

more by the COVID-19 pandemic. Inequalities 

have been amplified and if we are to mitigate the 

adverse impact of this across our communities and 

build back better within a generation, we must 

put children and young people at the heart of our 

recovery and invest in them and their families. 

In the face of the COVID-19 pandemic, many 

children and young people have proven to be 

resilient, flexible, and dynamic. However, a report 

by the Education Endowment Foundation1, 

indicated that a decade of progress to reduce 

the gap between disadvantaged and non-

disadvantaged children was wiped out by the 

first national lockdown. We cannot afford to fail 

our city’s greatest and most creative resource. In 

2021 we launched our Belonging Strategy2, aimed 

at reducing inequality and building inclusion so 

that all our children and young people can grow 

up in a city where they can be nurtured, develop a 

confident sense of self and identity, and equitably 

benefit from all that Bristol has to offer.

What might success look like?

We are developing a detailed new framework of 
measures to support this Corporate Strategy, to be 
published in April 2022. This will help us measure if 
and how things are changing for the better. Among 
the outcomes we’re working towards are:  

	● Children and young people feel they can identify 
with and belong equally to the city and their 
communities. 

	● Educational and employment opportunities are 
more equal for children and young people across 
the city; with better support and outcomes 
for children and young people with special 
educational needs and disabilities.  

	● Children and young people are safer from harm 
and violence.  

	● Children and young people to be able to voice 
their views, be actively engaged in civic life and 
empowered to be involved in decision making.  

	● Overall, children and young people will be able to 
live physically and mentally healthier lives.

1: Available from: Best evidence on impact of COVID-19 on pupil attainment | Education Endowment Foundation | EEF

2: Not yet published; subject to formal approval

Page 35

https://dmscdn.vuelio.co.uk/publicitem/2111e8b7-07be-47c4-a0f9-af7abbcd3743
https://www.unicef.org/child-rights-convention
https://www.unicef.org/child-rights-convention
https://educationendowmentfoundation.org.uk/eef-support-for-schools/covid-19-resources/best-evidence-on-impact-of-school-closures-on-the-attainment-gap/?utm_source=site&utm_medium=search&utm_campaign=site_search&search_term=covid-19%20report


Bristol City Council  Corporate Strategy 2022–2027

16

Our Children and Young People Priorities for 2022 – 2027 are: 

CYP1 

Child Friendly City

Children and young people are supported by the city, their 
community and the council to have the best possible start in life. 
They can reach their full potential and are kept safe from and 
supported to overcome violence, abuse and other adverse childhood 
experiences, whatever the circumstances of their birth. 

 Development and Delivery   Equality and Inclusion   Resilience 

Community and social connectedness are essential to good health and wellbeing. To develop well, 

children and young people need to be listened to, loved, supported, and cared for within a family and 

by the communities around them. They need to have opportunities to learn, to play, be active, and build 

loving relationships to develop their personal and social skills. They need to see themselves in the world 

around them and feel able to express themselves and their views. Whilst we already formally engage 

young people in decision making and co-production through groups such as Bristol Youth Council, 

Youth Mayors, the Listening Partnership, Young Carers Voice and the Shadow Safeguarding Board, 

our Belonging Strategy represents an ethos of giving voice and power to young people, embracing an 

inclusive approach across the city for all children.

Helping families isn’t just about the children’s services that the council delivers, but also how we design 

our neighbourhoods and build communities to be safe for children, have access to play and green 

spaces, or areas for young people to enjoy safely. Working with partners, we will help families to create 

a home which is safe, protects, nourishes and nurtures. Together with partners we will work to create 

safer learning and educational settings, which are free from all forms of abuse or harassment.

There are many factors that affect the start in life that children have and can compound the effect of 

adversities they experience as they grow up. We are embedding trauma-informed approaches to help 

recognise children that may be at greater risk of violence and harm and understand adverse childhood 

experiences (ACES) that have potential to negatively affect their health and life outcomes. These 

approaches will build on strengths to help repair and restore relationships for children and families 

that have experienced trauma. For children and young people who we need to take care of as their 

Corporate Parent1, we will ensure the same standard of care as any good parent, which means we will 

have high aspirations and will be strong advocates for them.

1:   See Bristol Corporate Parenting Strategy 2021–2023
Page 36

https://www.bristol.gov.uk/documents/20182/34768/Bristol+Corporate+Parenting+Strategy
https://www.bristol.gov.uk/documents/20182/34768/Bristol+Corporate+Parenting+Strategy


Bristol City Council  Corporate Strategy 2022–2027

17

CYP2 

Supported to thrive

Children, young people, parents and carers have access to and 
benefit from lifelong services – such as family hubs, parenting and 
community learning courses and youth zones – that support them 
to thrive. 

 Development and Delivery   Equality and Inclusion   Resilience 

The emotional and physical family environment has a huge impact on children’s lives and development. 

Parents are a child’s first educator and advocate. Families have the potential to nurture a child’s sense 

of belonging, providing a secure base from which to navigate the transition through adolescence into 

adulthood, but they need the means by which to do so. An affordable, safe and secure home, access to 

education, training and employment, health care, play and green spaces are all crucial if our children 

and families are to thrive. We believe that children, young people, parents and carers should all have 

access to and benefit from investment in lifelong services to support them in this. Children should have 

their needs recognised at the earliest point in a system that collaborates to help them thrive.

Through the development of Family Hubs, we will ensure that services are joined up, easily accessible 

and make sense for families, with universal services providing a straightforward and non-stigmatising 

‘gateway’ into targeted support for those who need it. Embedding trauma-informed approaches across 

council services and partner services will provide an emphasis on the relationships and connections 

children have with their families, teachers, professionals, community and city. Children and families 

will benefit from inclusive and cohesive support networks that develop around them. We are also 

committed to developing a Youth Zone in the south of the city which will offer world class, everyday 

provision to support young people through an expansive offer of leisure and support. Our vision for 

this is that it will be fully inclusive and will work alongside the web of local support that already exists 

across our communities.

Page 37



Bristol City Council  Corporate Strategy 2022–2027

18

CYP3 

Equity in education

Help improve educational outcomes, value diversity, and reduce 
educational inequality at all stages of education. Work with 
education providers to become an inclusive, zero-exclusion city, 
making sure high quality specialist provision is effectively targeted. 
Ensure that the system can meet the needs of COVID-19 recovery and 
provides children and young people with the academic, social and 
emotional development they need. 

 Development and Delivery   Equality and Inclusion   Resilience  

For many children and young people in Bristol, education represents a positive and happy experience 
where they do well, progress into further or higher education and / or move into the workplace. 
For some, however, this is not the case and turning things around for our most disadvantaged and 
vulnerable learners represents our greatest challenge in education. Even before COVID-19, educational 
outcomes for children and young people in Bristol needed to improve. There was a large difference 
between disadvantaged and non-disadvantaged children in ‘Attainment 8’ scores at the end of Key 
Stage 41. Absence rates in Bristol secondary schools were 6.4% and 15.4% in special schools and 
Bristol’s fixed term exclusion rate stood at 7.4% across all phases with a rate of 24.4% in special 
schools. Nationally, vulnerable groups of children are more likely to be excluded, and their outcomes 
are poorer2. They are less likely to achieve good passes in GCSEs, more likely to not be in education, 
employment and training, and at higher risk of becoming a victim or perpetrator of crime. In line with 
our Belonging Strategy, some schools in Bristol are adopting trauma-informed approaches to improve 
early interventions and reduce exclusions, acknowledging that a young person’s behaviour or reactions 
might be related to the childhood adversities they are experiencing3.

Bristol’s two world-leading universities and many of its further education providers are also working 
to address educational disadvantage in the city, supporting prospective local students from under-
represented backgrounds through initiatives like proactive admissions policies, specialist scholarship 
offers, and new alternative entry routes into degree programmes. We will continue to collaborate with 
partners across this system to maximise opportunities for all.

Recognising that the education and support for children with Special Educational Needs and Disability 
(SEND) has not been good enough, we have been on a significant improvement journey, ensuring 
we are commissioning local specialist education provision to meet the needs of children with SEND. 
Over the course of this Corporate Strategy, we expect our SEND provision to continue improving, 
co-designing appropriate support with children and families to meet their needs. We want to create the 
right conditions that will enable more young people with SEND and from disadvantaged backgrounds 
to enter further education, employment, or training. 

Supporting children and young people to experience an inclusive education that meets their academic, 

health, social and emotional needs is a crucial step to entering employment and becoming economically 

active within the city, which supports their lifelong wellbeing. Our ambition is that children and young 
people have access to an education that develops their potential both in what they learn and who they 
become, so that they have skills for life and work. Additionally, an education that is inclusive and values 
diversity, provides opportunities where they learn from each other and benefit from understanding 
their different experiences.

1: See Bristol Key Facts 2021
2:  See The Timpson Review of School Exclusion: Government Response

3: For more information see Welcome to the Keeping Bristol Safe Partnership website. (bristolsafeguarding.org)

Page 38

https://www.bristol.gov.uk/documents/20182/32947/Bristol+Key+Facts+2021
The Timpson Review of School Exclusion: Government Response
https://bristolsafeguarding.org/policies-and-guidance/adverse-childhood-experiences-and-trauma-informed-practice-in-bristol/


Bristol City Council  Corporate Strategy 2022–2027

19

CYP4 

Intergenerational equality

Lead city-wide approaches to tackling the root causes of structural 
inequality, breaking cycles of disadvantage, poverty and trauma 
across generations to improve health and life opportunities.

 Development and Delivery   Equality and Inclusion 

Recognising that the environment and social conditions that children are born, live and grow up in 

will have an impact on their future, we want all children and young people to have equitable life 

opportunities regardless of how they identify or where they live. Children and families living and 

growing up in low-income households are most vulnerable to adversities and have least resources to 

overcome them. This leads to a lower chance of social mobility1, as well as increasing the likelihood of 

poorer early childhood development, lower educational attainment, employment and income, poorer 

health and lower life expectancy. The correlation of multiple adverse childhood experiences (ACEs)2, 

trauma, poverty and poorer life outcomes are well documented. They are complexly intertwined and 

improving outcomes for children and young people should be seen within the wider context of tackling 

societal inequalities. Our other priorities and ambitions for children and young people are hampered by 

the effects of child poverty and social inequality. We need to break the cycle within families for future 

generations and support building resilience in communities, families and children and young people 

who are at risk.

During the pandemic there has been a 125% increase in the use of food banks for children from 

2019 to 2021 and it has been said that 10 years of social mobility progress was wiped out by the first 

lockdown3. There are four wards in Bristol where more than a quarter of children live in relative low-

income households4 and three of the four worst performing areas in the country for young people going 

onto Higher Education are in South Bristol5. Poor experience of education and lack of qualifications 

is a common factor affecting our most marginalised communities, and can be impacted by sex, race, 

disability and other protected characteristics. This means we need to work with partners across the 

city to tackle entrenched societal and structural barriers that exist for many children and young people. 

While this is our most ambitious priority for children and young people it is important for the future of 

the city to build a nurturing, inclusive society where we reduce poverty and disadvantage that mean 

ill-health, fewer life opportunities and exclusion. We want all children and young people to experience 

Bristol as a city of sustainable opportunity and prosperity. 

1:  See State of the nation 2021: Social mobility and the pandemic (publishing.service.gov.uk)

2:  See Evidence-based early years intervention – Eleventh Report of Session 2017–19 (parliament.uk)

3:  Research findings by EEF (Available from: Best evidence on impact of COVID-19 on pupil attainment | Education Endowment Foundation | EEF

4:  Joint Strategic Needs Assessment Health and Wellbeing Profile 2021/22: Child poverty (bristol.gov.uk)

5: See Bristol Key Facts

Page 39

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1003977/State_of_the_nation_2021_-_Social_mobility_and_the_pandemic.pdf
https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201719/cmselect/cmsctech/506/506.pdf
https://www.bristol.gov.uk/documents/20182/3849453/JSNA+2019+-+Child+Poverty+%28Updated+Sep+19%29.pdf/fa34b92e-0ce0-38fb-9d0c-707ce6c7cd18
https://www.bristol.gov.uk/documents/20182/32947/Bristol+Key+Facts+2021


Bristol City Council  Corporate Strategy 2022–2027

20

Theme 2:	Economy	and	Skills	
Economic growth that builds inclusive and resilient communities, decarbonises the 
city and offers equity of opportunity. 

Bristol has created one of the most vibrant and 
successful economies in the UK, but one that has 
not distributed its wealth equally and may face 
medium-to-long-term harm from the impact of 
the COVID-19 pandemic. 

Nationally, among the Core Cities, Bristol has 
experienced sustained growth in both population 
and economic scale and has the highest 
productivity levels per capita, employment and 
qualification rates of the major cities. Within the 
West of England, Bristol is the primary economic 
centre with nearly half of all the jobs (44.8%) 
and enterprises (40.1%)1. We are internationally 
recognised for our strengths in innovative and high 
value industries, including advanced engineering, 
the low carbon sector, professional and financial 
services, and the digital and creative industries. Our 
hospitality and tourism sector, night-time economy 
and cultural offer attract people from all over the 
world, as do our universities, who have helped 
create one of the highest skilled workforces of any 
city in the UK. 

However, our city is also constrained by historic 
deficiencies such as, public transport capacity, 
a housing crisis that risks shutting out many of 
our essential and key workers, and persistent 
inequalities that mean 15% of our residents live in 
some of the most deprived areas in England. Low 
rates of Bristol young people attending university 
can affect their income and career progression 
later in life and people from deprived parts of the 
city and some demographic groups, including 
Black, Asian and minority ethnic communities, and 
women, have faced inequalities at work and in 
education.

The COVID-19 crisis has had an uneven effect on 
local businesses and sectors, and has also drawn 
attention to the economic and social importance 
of key social infrastructure including the voluntary, 
community, childcare and adult social care 
sectors among others. The recovery process is 
an opportunity to protect those areas of the 

economy vital to the future development of the city, 
accelerate investment in infrastructure – including 
social infrastructure – and skills that contribute to 
productivity and work with businesses to improve 
the quality of work. As businesses rebuild, there is 
also an opportunity to adapt and build resilience, 
resource efficiency and sustainability through 
digital skills, supply chains and procurement, 
as well as supporting local business growth. 
However, we are not aiming to take our economy 
back to where it was; instead, we aim for a more 
sustainable, carbon neutral, ecologically positive 
approach and a fair, inclusive, competitive economy 
that supports growth across all our communities 

for the benefit of local people.

What might success look like? 

We are developing a detailed new framework of 
measures to support this Corporate Strategy, to be 
published in April 2022. This will help us measure if 
and how things are changing for the better. Among 
the outcomes we’re working towards are: 

	● People can access jobs that pay at least the Real 
Living Wage as the norm, offer more security and 
fair working and employment conditions. They 
can access future development opportunities or 
career pathways when they need them through 
the course of their work life.  

	● The city economy has grown and developed in an 
inclusive, sustainable way and regeneration has 
provided sustained equitable access to jobs and 
careers for working-age residents from across 
the city who are able to work, with a focus on 
economically disadvantaged communities. 

	● People have better transport and digital 
connections to jobs and amenities 

	● Workforces across Bristol reflect the diversity of 
the city, and face fewer barriers to employment, 
including those from more deprived backgrounds.

1: See Bristol Key Facts
Page 40

https://www.bristol.gov.uk/documents/20182/32947/Bristol+Key+Facts+2021


Bristol City Council  Corporate Strategy 2022–2027

21

Our Economy and Skills Priorities for 2022–2027 are: 

ES1 

Regeneration  

Enable the growth, development and regeneration of the city in an 
inclusive, sustainable, healthy and resilient way. Attract investment, 
develop growth sectors to create and retain decent jobs, and improve 
access to opportunities afforded by  regeneration for disadvantaged 
areas and groups of people. Work to future-proof the city through 
sound spatial planning and progress the Temple Quarter Enterprise 
Zone as one of the UK’s largest regeneration projects.

 Development and Delivery   Equality and Inclusion   Resilience   Sustainability   World Class Employment 

We will focus on taking a place-based approach to regeneration, promoting inclusive and sustainable 
growth, ensuring provision for homes, jobs and quality places, improving connectivity, protecting 
waterways and green spaces, and concentrating on improving access to opportunity for communities 
experiencing long term deprivation. Identifying and delivering the physical, social and community 
infrastructure required to support growth, changing circumstances and the needs of COVID-19 recovery 
– such as supporting local businesses, high streets and the night-time economy – we will develop a full 
Regeneration Strategy for the city to help attract necessary investment and harness the regeneration 
benefits of growth to enable residents, businesses and communities to thrive, prosper and enjoy a high 
quality of life. 

As we work with partners to plan for the city’s infrastructure, housing and employment needs, we will 
promote high quality developments, public realm and place making to encourage inclusive, sustainable 
economic growth and investment in the city. This means, for example, not just seeking ‘more jobs, any 
jobs’ but the ‘right jobs that offer decent employment, help us grow the right employment sectors and 
don’t exclude local people’, supporting local employment, training and apprenticeships. 

A highlight of our regeneration plans for the next five years (and beyond) is the regeneration of 
Temple Quarter. This aims to transform a vast area close to significant areas of deprivation in the city, 
improving access from the south and east to Temple Meads station and the wider city centre. Job 
opportunities will be created for local people, as well as leisure spaces and a range of housing to meet 
local need. By 2041, the project aims to attract 22,000 new jobs, provide 10,000 homes and generate an 
economic boost of £1.6 billion per year to the city. If national investment is forthcoming, it is projected 
to create a cumulative job total of 8,500 and an economic boost worth £650m per year to our economy 
by the end of this Corporate Strategy (2028). The area is also expected to be home to a new University of 
Bristol Temple Quarter Enterprise Campus. This will create new educational and cultural opportunities 

for our city, engage local communities, and foster an inclusive talent pipeline in financial, technological 

and media sectors. It will seed development of an internationally significant Innovation District, offering 

research, innovation, and global industry partnerships in areas with local industrial strength; such 

as quantum technology, cyber security, data science, the creative industries, and zero carbon. This 

will drive wider regeneration efforts and help to future proof our local economy with inclusive and 

sustainable economic growth.
Page 41



Bristol City Council  Corporate Strategy 2022–2027

22

ES2 

Access to Employment  

Lead partners in developing skills and routes into employment that 
tackle structural inequality. Plan for how the economy will change 
in the future and support people to access good jobs whatever their 
formal level of qualification. This applies whether people are starting 
out, re-entering or migrating into the job market, or changing roles 
and needing new skills. 

 Development and Delivery   Equality and Inclusion   World Class Employment 

Employment is the route out of poverty and into improving health outcomes. For people who aren’t 

economically active, pathways into employment need to be person-centred, providing opportunities 

to build confidence and personal skills for entering the labour market as well as formal skills and 

qualifications. We will work with regional and local partners such as the West of England Combined 

Authority, colleges, and training providers to build skills and improve pathways to work for young 

people and groups disadvantaged in the labour market, creating opportunities for better employment. 

By improving access to employment, we will reduce poverty and inequality, increasing the city’s 

resilience and enhance the economic and social wellbeing of every community.

With our shared values around equality and inclusion, we will also work in close partnership with the 

city’s two leading universities, the University of Bristol (UoB) and the University of the West of England 

(UWE), to support their significant civic and economic contribution to the city. We will also work with 

key Further Education establishments such as City of Bristol College. Together we can collaborate 

to help widen access and participation in Higher and Further Education for under-represented 

groups, including those from disadvantaged parts of Bristol. We will continue to collaborate with the 

universities on their educational outreach activities, and to support their targeted apprenticeship and 

employment outreach programmes which promote job opportunities to a wider, more diverse city 

workforce. Working in this way we can help ensure that both skills development and employment 

opportunities have a strong mix of academic, technical and practical options available.

Alongside this we’ll work together and with other partners to help foster and grow strong, diverse 

employment sectors and opportunities in the city, not only focusing on graduate-level jobs but on the 

way that the research, innovation and entrepreneurial expertise of educational institutions can support 

the inclusive, sustainable growth of an economy which offers jobs and opportunities for all. 

Page 42



Bristol City Council  Corporate Strategy 2022–2027

23

ES3 

Good Growth 

Help create inclusive, sustainable and resilient economic growth, 
positively influencing wider economic systems. Work towards 
making Bristol a Real Living Wage city with access to decent jobs 
for all. Secure social value and community benefits from growth 
and development, while using our direct power as a funder and 
buyer to embed social value and tackle inequality. This includes 
co-developing the voluntary, community and social enterprise 
(VCSE) sector, cultural sector and community capacity. 

 Development and Delivery   Equality and Inclusion   Resilience   Sustainability   World Class Employment 

While being without work is linked to poorer health, employment is generally linked to positive health 

outcomes. However, jobs that are insecure, low-paid, stressful and/or dangerous make people ill1, so we 

need to ensure that economic growth is linked to provision of jobs that offer diverse opportunities, a 

Real Living Wage, greater security, high employment standards and inclusive personnel policies.

The economic impact of COVID-19 has been unequally distributed across our communities, and many 

who have been most negatively impacted are those who were already disadvantaged by the systemic 

inequality in our society. Yet, the need to address the economic impact of COVID-19 does not reduce 

the urgency of the climate and ecological emergencies declared in the city, and efforts to promote 

carbon neutrality, increase climate resilience and protect the natural environment remain key. We 

have collaborated as a city system on a One City Economic Recovery and Renewal Strategy, with clear 

priorities that are also aligned with those in the West of England Combined Authority’s Recovery Plan. 

Common strands include strengthening inclusion, helping people get back to work, rebuilding business, 

supporting an environmentally and economically sustainable recovery, and renewing our places. Our 

city is also part of the cross-border, pan-regional Western Gateway strategic economic partnership, and 

Bristol will continue to work with partners to progress opportunities for investment in sustainable and 

inclusive economic growth. 

We know that the city and its businesses would benefit from infrastructure that provides a strong 

foundation for a growing green economy. Endorsing carbon neutral goals and circular economy 

approaches across the city will enable good economic growth that is not at an environmental cost 

increasing consumption of scarcer resources2. We will lead city partners in attracting eco-innovative 

businesses, supporting their transition and adaptation to become more sustainable businesses and 

providing access to green economy jobs to a diverse group of citizens, indirectly addressing issues around 

innovation, inclusivity and inequality. For example, it is projected that investing 0.4% (£58m) of Bristol’s 

annual GVA to exploit energy efficiency and low carbon opportunities will result in 0.7% GVA (£102m) 

annual savings in the city’s energy bill, 2,000 jobs in the low carbon goods and services sector and wider 

social and economic benefits such as a decrease in fuel poverty and improved resource efficiency3. Bristol’s 

world-class universities are an integral part of the local innovation ecosystem, and we will work with 

them to nurture a supportive environment that attracts the best talent to Bristol, facilitates new forms of 

partnership between industry and academia, sparks new conversations and ideas, and joins-up Bristol’s 

existing strengths and innovation capabilities so that, collectively, they achieve global impact. We will 

continue supporting them to drive world leading innovation, inward investment, economic growth, and 

job creation across our city.

1: Build Back Fairer: The COVID-19 Marmot Review 2: One City Climate Strategy  (bristolonecity.com) 3: One City Climate Strategy
Page 43

https://www.health.org.uk/publications/build-back-fairer-the-covid-19-marmot-review
https://www.bristolonecity.com/wp-content/uploads/2020/02/one-city-climate-strategy.pdf
http://bristolonecity.com
https://www.bristolonecity.com/wp-content/uploads/2020/02/one-city-climate-strategy.pdf


Bristol City Council  Corporate Strategy 2022–2027

24

As a major organisation, around £1bn flows through or from us each year, and we spend around £300m 
each year on vital works, goods and services that the city needs. We have made good progress on using 
this ‘buying power’ for social good. We will continue to develop this to help keep money local, support 
our city’s economy and consider the social good done by our suppliers when we consider who to award 
contracts to. Other sectors in the city, such as the voluntary, community and social enterprise sector 
(VCSE), the cultural sector and communities themselves are rich sources of expertise and people dedicated 
to social good, so we will work more closely with them to help organisations develop and grow in ways 
that enable them to compete fairly with other potential suppliers for contracts. We will also work to 
support and invest appropriately in organisations and enterprises led by under-represented groups, 
helping cultivate more diversity in our supply chain. 

Delivering	as	One Council:	Cultural	Investment	Programme

Bristol’s artists and cultural organisations have 
a local and global reputation for creativity and 
imagination, with a strong social conscience 
and drive for social good.  

The council’s Cultural Investment and 
Programme (CIP) is the mechanism for 
providing grants and support to Bristol’s 
cultural organisations, festivals and events, 
artists and the citizens they work with. It is 
also one of the ways we support a cultural, 
community environment which is about listening, supporting, communicating and connecting 
to best meet the needs of the city and its citizens. With a vision to make culture accessible for 
all, the CIP is underpinned by aims which relate directly to the council’s priorities, particularly for 
inclusivity and growing a green and sustainable cultural economy. 

The programme has a three-strand structure (1-year, 2-year and 4-year support) designed to be 
a ladder into funding for less experienced applicants from across the city, with the potential for 
them to grow and apply for longer term and wider support as they develop.  

In an increasingly young and diverse city it is a priority for CIP to support and invest in 
organisations and enterprises that are led by, or benefit, under-represented groups, helping 
cultivate more diversity in the cultural sector. Over the next five years we will be taking a more 
participatory approach to decision making about cultural investment, involving more people in 
decisions to help maximise the reach and impact of CIP.

M
an

y M
in

ds: C
h

an
ge th

e Seen
 ©

 Jack O
fford

Page 44



Bristol City Council  Corporate Strategy 2022–2027

25

ES4 

Childcare  

Help parents and carers to access and stay in employment 
and / or education by developing a city-wide approach to 
increasing the availability of quality affordable community 
and workplace-based childcare. 

 Equality and Inclusion   World Class Employment 

Bristol has one of the highest average childcare costs in the country, making it difficult for many 
families to balance work and family life, and impacting the city economically. Provision of childcare is 
an important tool for the empowerment of women1; while women’s participation in the labour market 
is high, career progression or choice of employment type can be hampered by limitations in balancing 
work and childcare. Despite the introduction of 15–30 hours free childcare for eligible families, 
affordability of childcare is still a significant barrier for parents2. Only 35% of parents in Bristol feel able 
to afford the costs, and families with lower earnings face more difficulties with costs. Affordability is 
also a consideration for providers, who need to ensure their long-term viability. 

Affordable, flexible and good quality childcare – including from charitable and private providers – 
will provide parents – particularly women – with the opportunity to pursue a wider range of career 
development or studying opportunities  that potentially increase future earnings and provide children. 
It also supports child development enabling children to start school on a more equal footing between 

areas of higher and lower deprivation. 

1: Affordable Childcare Report

2: Childcare Sufficiency Assessment 2018
Page 45

https://www.bristolonecity.com/wp-content/uploads/2020/01/Affordable-Childcare-Report.pdf
http://www.bristol.gov.uk/documents/20182/33379/Bristol+City+Council+Childcare+Sufficiency+Assessment+2018+FINAL.pdf/23126dde-629a-ad61-34d6-bfe706a310a8


Bristol City Council  Corporate Strategy 2022–2027

26

ES5 

Digital Inclusion  

Work with partners to tackle digital poverty, helping make sure 
citizens and voluntary, community and social enterprise (VCSE)  
organisations have the equipment, internet access, skills and 
knowledge they need to access online opportunities effectively 
and safely.

 Equality and Inclusion 

The COVID-19 pandemic highlighted the growing digital divide that excludes people in an increasingly 

digital world, resulting in unequal access to social opportunities, training and work. With so much 

moving online during the pandemic, it is likely that parts of this new way of living will be set to stay. 

Tackling digital inclusion is now, more than ever, a significant priority if we are to make sure everyone 

can access basic services. Getting more people online who want to interact in this way will also create 

capacity in offline services, such as call centres and face-to-face support, to better serve people who 

need or prefer this option.

There is often a flawed assumption that the infrastructure is in place for connectivity, that everyone 

has access to technology, can afford to purchase it, can afford the data to get online and has the skills 

and confidence to use it effectively and safely. Our Quality of Life survey, however, suggests around 4% 

of households in the city do not have internet access at home, and this rises to 8% in our most deprived 

areas. Around 5% of people from deprived areas report not being able to afford a connection, whilst over 

20% report feeling restricted by broadband speed or reliability. People in deprived areas are less likely to 

feel comfortable using digital services, with 28% reporting a level of discomfort doing so compared to 

18% in less deprived parts of the city1.

National studies clearly show that digital skills and internet use are closely related to income and 

employment status, as well as age. We have already worked with Bristol Waste and other city partners 

to recycle and re-distribute over 3,000 former council laptops to help reduce digital poverty in the city. 

Moving forward we will work as a member of the One City Digital Board and regional partners to take a 

joined-up approach to improving digital connectivity and increasing the local provision of digital skills 

training and support. Together we will develop a holistic city strategy with a clear vision, structure and 

roadmap for connectivity in the city, so that everyone who wants to be online and use digital services 

can do so affordably and safely.

1: The quality of life in Bristol - bristol.gov.uk
Page 46

https://www.bristol.gov.uk/statistics-census-information/the-quality-of-life-in-bristol


Bristol City Council  Corporate Strategy 2022–2027

27

Theme 3:	Environment	and	Sustainability	
Decarbonise the city, support the recovery of nature and lead a just transition to 
a low-carbon future.

Bristol is committed to become carbon neutral, 
climate resilient and better for nature by 2030. 
To achieve this, over the 2020s we need to 
radically rethink how we live, work and invest in 
the city. We also need to prepare for the changing 
climate, which is having impacts on health, 
livelihoods, food security, raw materials, water 
supply and economic growth. The people and 
neighbourhoods most at risk are those already 
marginalised and disadvantaged. In Bristol, 
some of our most deprived wards are the most 
vulnerable to the impacts of climate change, such 
as increased flood risk and summer overheating.

As we work with partners to decarbonise Bristol 
and create a more circular economy, we must 
recognise that we cannot uniformly pass costs on 
to citizens. The transition to a low-carbon city needs 
meaningful national investment and support from 
the Government and investors. Many people cannot 
afford to buy a cleaner vehicle or upgrade their 
home, and as we make changes to how we live it is 
vital we do so in ways that don’t leave people behind 
or further marginalise them. The whole city system 
needs to take on the challenge and responsibility to 
act, from making the big changes in industries to 
providing decent employment that enables more 
people to do their bit.

We need similar urgency and collaboration in 
also tackling the ecological emergency facing the 
city. Working alongside partner we must radically 
transformation in the way we manage our city and 
the surrounding countryside if we’re to halt and 
reverse declines in wildlife and restore a healthy 
natural environment for people and wildlife. We 
are working together as a city to ensure that 30% of 
Bristol’s land is managed for the benefit of wildlife 
by 2030. We will create space for nature, and unite 
to find new, fair and inclusive ways to reduce and 
eliminate the threats to habitats and wildlife.

As we plan for the future and update old 
infrastructure, we will balance environmental and 
ecological needs with social and economic ones. 
These are not necessarily in competition with 
each other, and by working together with partners 
and citizens we can create places that are fit for a 
low-carbon, nature-friendly future while offering a 
better quality of life.

What might success look like?

We are developing a detailed new framework of 
measures to support this Corporate Strategy, to be 
published in April 2022. This will help us measure if 
and how things are changing for the better. Among 
the outcomes we’re working towards are: 

	● We have reduced and offset the total CO
2
 

emissions in Bristol to make us carbon neutral 
by 2030, 

	● We see a positive recovery in nature and 
biodiversity, 

	● We have measurably cleaner streets and produce 
less waste,  

	● We have major new investors creating clean 
economic growth and funding environmental 
and climate initiatives, 

	● People enjoy clean air, 

	● People with lower incomes aren’t unfairly 
disadvantaged by changes that are made.

Page 47



Bristol City Council  Corporate Strategy 2022–2027

28

Our Environment and Sustainability Priorities for 2022–2027 are:

ENV1 

Carbon Neutral 

Drive delivery of the One City Climate Strategy aim for 
the city to be carbon neutral for all emissions by 2030. 
Work to secure major external investment, including 
£1bn through the City Leap programme. Bring everyone 
with us in our just transition to a low-carbon future. 

 Resilience   Sustainability 

We all need to take urgent action to reduce our carbon emissions and to increase our resilience to climate 

change. For our part, we are committed to achieving carbon neutrality for our direct emissions and aims 

to do this by 2025 and we have endorsed the One City Climate Strategy. The achievement of our climate 

goals is being delivered through a wide range of projects and services across the council. In addition, we 

have approved a £4m Climate and Ecological Emergency Programme which will boost action to reduce 

emissions, build climate resilience and support city partners and citizens to act.

Becoming carbon-neutral as a council and across the city will require changes in national policy and action 

by government, the adoption of new technologies, and major investment from outside sources like the 

Government and private firms. We estimate that for Bristol to reach its 2030 goal, the capital cost relating 

to heat and transport infrastructure would be around £9bn, so our success is largely dependent on 

financial factors outside our direct control. 

However, where we can influence the system or make a direct difference we will do so. For example, our 

City Leap programme is a series of energy and infrastructure investment opportunities relating to heat 

networks, smart energy systems, energy efficiency for homes and commercial buildings, renewable energy 

and more. It will help to create jobs, maintain our economic competitiveness, de-carbonise the city and 

build strong partnerships. It provides an opportunity to deliver something truly transformative for Bristol, 

building a city-wide energy system that will protect the environment and improve the quality of life for 

the people of Bristol. We will continue work to develop this programme and form a joint venture with an 

external investment partner to take it forward.

Page 48



Bristol City Council  Corporate Strategy 2022–2027

29

Delivering as One Council:	The	Bottle	Yard	Studios	and	Bristol	Film	Office	

In 2020 The Bottle Yard Studios and Bristol Film Office 

established a ‘Green Team’ to support implementation of a 

range of de-carbonisation projects to buildings and processes, 

as well as to provide film and TV production teams with 

resources to work in more sustainable ways at the studios or 

when filming on location.  Projects include:

	● Aiming to insulate walls, roofs and ceilings and install low-

carbon heating in two studios, to result in carbon emission 

reductions of at least 60% 

	● Continuing replacement of existing lighting with LED 

	● Heat source pump and solar solutions survey to develop options 

	● Switching to a 100% renewable energy provider

	● On-location toolkits, providing information about green industry suppliers and waste solutions

	● Working with the council’s sustainability teams to communicate about Bristol’s clean air 

commitments with film and TV industry stakeholders

ENV2 

Ecological Recovery  

Drive delivery of the One City Ecological Emergency 
Strategy and the council’s own action plan. Increase space 
for nature, reduce the use of pesticides, make waterways 
cleaner and reduce everyone’s use of products that 
undermine the health of wildlife and wider ecosystems. 
Double the city’s tree canopy by 2045. 

 Resilience   Sustainability  

We are committed to making Bristol more ecologically resilient and wildlife rich by 2030. Building 

roads and other transport routes have all contributed to the destruction and fragmentation of wildlife 

habitats over many decades. We need to learn lessons from the past and as we accommodate new 

economic and social growth – for example by planning for new homes and creating better transport 

– we must put back lost habitats and wildlife corridors, guided by data on how to support nature 

recovery networks. 

The One City Ecological Emergency Strategy has been endorsed by the council and is committed to 

making sure that at least 30% of land in Bristol is managed for the benefit of wildlife by 2030, that 

the use of pesticides in Bristol is reduced by at least 50% by 2030, that 100% of Bristol’s waterways 

have water quality that supports healthy wildlife by 2030 and that people and businesses reduce 

consumption of products that undermine the health of wildlife and ecosystems around the world. 

Through both our core work and the additional funding allocated through the Climate and Ecological 

Emergency Programme, the council will deliver on our share of the priorities outlined in both the 

One City Climate and Ecological Emergency Strategies. Our key actions are set out in our Ecological 

Emergency Action Plan. Page 49



Bristol City Council  Corporate Strategy 2022–2027

30

ENV3 

Cleaner Bristol 

Create a cleaner city and become a national leader in reducing 
waste. Help the city reduce its consumption of products and 
transform its relationship with waste, increasing recycling, repair, 
reuse and sharing of goods. Use waste to create energy. 

 Sustainability 

Our annual Quality of Life Survey indicates that while satisfaction with both waste collection and 

recycling services has increased since 2019, there is still room to improve, and satisfaction was lower 

in more deprived parts of the city. The proportion of residents who thought street litter was a problem 

remains high city-wide (82%)1. 

Creating a pleasant environment – building on the aspirations of our Clean Streets programme – 

remains important to us, but waste is not only about cleanliness and improving the appearance of the 

city. The amount of waste we generate is an indicator of consumption, and we need to reduce this to 

meet many of our goals, from addressing climate change and supporting nature, through to improving 

public health and tackling poverty.

Our ambition is to design cleanliness in to the city with the policy, infrastructure and other choices we 

make. We need to incorporate sustainable lifestyles and environmental needs in the future design of 

the city, creating a built environment that is designed to reduce issues like waste, graffiti and other 

common blights.  

Over time, we need to transform the city’s relationship with waste, and we are developing a new Waste 

Strategy to support this transition. We aim to minimise the city’s demand on natural resources, prevent 

or minimise waste generation and maximise the repair, re-use, recycling and recovery of resources. 

As we do this, we can expect to see less waste needing to be collected or sent to landfill, and a higher 

recycling percentage of the waste that is still generated. We want our rates to be amongst the best 

across major UK cities. 

There are many practical actions we will take to support this. We will complete and open Hartcliffe Way 

recycling and re-use centre, reduce our large item collection fee and make it easier for people living in 

flats to recycle. We will increase the number of fly-tipping and litter enforcement officers and work with 

communities to reduce on-path and pavement clutter to help make neighbourhoods more accessible 

and enjoyable. 

1: The quality of life in Bristol - bristol.gov.uk
Page 50

https://www.bristol.gov.uk/statistics-census-information/the-quality-of-life-in-bristol


Bristol City Council  Corporate Strategy 2022–2027

31

Delivering	as	One Council:	Big	Tidy

Big Tidy delivered 4,320 hours of clearing and cleaning, cleared over seven miles of pathways, 

removed 90 tonnes of fly tip and waste and brought the sparkle back to 782 homes.

The project was launched in October 2019 with the aim of working intensively across 16 Bristol 

wards to deliver visible and measurable environmental improvements. The joint council and 

Bristol Waste Company team had the cleansing and engagement resources needed to make real 

improvements to areas, whilst making sure that:

	● Communities and businesses were engaged and involved, knowing about the work that was done
	● Environmental crime issues were enforced robustly
	● Performance was measured and learning captured and shared
	● The improvements made by the team were communicated to the city.

By the end of its first year, it had improved over 700 streets, removed over 3,000 pieces of graffiti, 

and issued more than 600 legal notices or warnings – working without pause during lockdown. Big 

Tidy was so well received that it was extended to cover the remaining Bristol wards in October 2020.

Between February to June 2021, the council’s Housing team funded a Big Tidy and grounds 

maintenance team to work with its housing officers to deliver significant improvements across 18 

high and low-rise blocks and the areas surrounding them. Over the four months, Big Tidy improved 

communal areas and green spaces, fixed broken fences and benches, improved bin stores, cleared 

heavily littered areas, removed detritus, weeds, dog fouling and graffiti, tackled abandoned vehicles, 

waste in gardens, and engaged with residents who had ideas about how they could improve where 

they lived.

Page 51

https://www.icloud.com/sharedalbum/#B0GJ0DiRHJPbBoU


Bristol City Council  Corporate Strategy 2022–2027

32

 ENV4 

Climate Resilience 

Minimise our contribution to future shocks and stresses, invest in 
infrastructure and systems that cool the city and help us adapt to 
the effects of climate change. Do this in ways that provide inclusive, 
sustainable economic growth. 

 Resilience   Sustainability 

Climate change is already happening, with recent decades being warmer, wetter and sunnier than the 

20th century1. While we will do all we can to tackle it, we must also accept the practical need to adapt 

to its effects. Doing this means investing in our existing and new infrastructure, making changes that 

provide new chances to re-design things to fit our current and future needs.

With extreme weather and flooding becoming more common, we need to make sure that our existing 

and new infrastructure is resilient to the impacts of climate change. New infrastructure needs to be 

prioritised, planned, designed, built and operated to account for the climate changes predicted to occur 

over coming decades, while existing infrastructure may need to be retrofitted, adapted or managed 

differently. Doing this provides chances to make facilities, roads, bridges and other infrastructure more 

accessible and sustainable, for example, by taking those opportunities to increase space for pedestrians, 

cyclists and people with mobility issues.

Climate-resilient infrastructure has the potential to improve the reliability of service provision, increase 

the operating life of our assets and contribute to a more sustainable economic recovery for the city. It 

can also make places nicer to live, work and visit, for example by designing them to be cooler, shaded 

and with better tree cover and other natural features that help us adapt to a changed climate.

1:  Royal Meteorological Society State of the UK Climate 2020 report (State of the UK Climate 2020 – International Journal of Climatology)
Page 52

https://rmets.onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1002/joc.7285


Bristol City Council  Corporate Strategy 2022–2027

33

ENV5 

Global Leadership 

Show global leadership in delivering the UN Sustainable 
Development Goals at a local level and developing best practice 
across international networks. Work with partners to advocate for 
a greater voice for cities within national and international decision-
making, including the UN, UK100 and C40. 

 Equality and Inclusion   Resilience   Sustainability 

The UN Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) provide a global framework for the interconnected 

challenges we face, including those related to poverty, inequality, climate, environmental degradation, 

prosperity, and peace and justice. They have been adopted by all UN member countries and are due 

to be achieved by 2030. As we seek to recover and renew following the COVID-19 pandemic we are 

conscious that cities are increasingly seen as important actors in the delivery of the SDGs. Former UN 

Secretary General Ban Ki Moon stated that “Cities are where the battle for sustainable development will 

be won or lost”. Bristol is recognised as a leader in how it has aligned its city planning and delivery to the 

SDGs, measured local progress and contributed to important international forums that influence other 

cities and governments. 

To take meaningful local action we need the right powers and financial investment. Our collaboration 

with other global cities and networks allows us to strengthen the voice of cities. This is vital in shaping 

the policy and finance solutions needed from national and international governments and the private 

sector to deliver on inclusive, sustainable growth.

Our strong global reputation gives us access to influential forums that have world leading expertise 

and links to funders. For example, the Mayor is a member of the global Mayor’s Migration Council, 

which has linked us to the C40 Cities Leadership Group, a network of mayors committed to urgent 

action on climate change, and large philanthropic organisations such as Open Society Foundations 

and Bloomberg Philanthropies. These links have helped inform our approach to tackling the climate 

emergency as well as our strategy for refugees and asylum seekers; recognising the skills, experiences, 

and the positive social and economic contribution newcomers can make to the city.

Page 53



Bristol City Council  Corporate Strategy 2022–2027

34

Theme 4:	Health,	Care	and	Wellbeing	
Tackling health inequalities to help people stay healthier and happier throughout 
their lives. 

There is clear evidence that social and economic 
inequalities lead to health inequalities1. 
Inequality of income, in housing conditions, 
education and schooling, and workplace 
conditions can all lead to persistent stress and 
poverty that result in lower levels of wellbeing 
and more ill-health along with challenges 
for carers. 

We will take a public health approach to tackling 

health inequalities, focusing on preventative and 

early intervention approaches that are person-

centred and rooted in communities. Working 

across the whole system to find opportunities to 

improve health and wellbeing, focusing on the 

factors that contribute to good health and helping 

people maximise their wellbeing, rather than only 

responding to ill-health. As part of this we will 

continue to take a ‘Health In All Policies’ approach, 

meaning whenever we develop a new policy on any 

given topic, we consider how we can pro-actively 

benefit people’s health and wellbeing.

The COVID-19 pandemic has had a huge impact on 

health, care and wellbeing in Bristol, both directly 

from the disease and indirectly from the restrictions 

to our freedoms and the effects on the economy 

and the care sector. It has reinforced existing health 

inequalities in Bristol, with a much greater impact 

being seen on older people, citizens living in more 

deprived areas, individual carers and people from 

Black, Asian or a minority ethnic backgrounds. Yet, 

the urgency of dealing with COVID-19 has also 

helped strengthen partnership working across 

the city and we want to continue to build on this 

to raise living standards and health outcomes for 

all, ensuring equity for the most marginalised in 

the city.

What might success look like? 

We are developing a detailed new framework of 
measures to support this Corporate Strategy, to be 
published in April 2022. This will help us measure if 
and how things are changing for the better. Among 
the outcomes we’re working towards are: 

	● We have reduced the health inequalities that 
depend on where in the city you live, people  
feel that their physical and mental wellbeing 
is as good as possible, and gaps in healthy life 
expectancy between affluent and deprived areas 
of the city will reduced.  

	● Where help is needed, people are supported in a 
way that meets their personal needs and can be 
accessed through their community. People will 
be more able to live independent, fulfilled lives 
including as they grow older, with less need for 
the kind of care services that remove people from 
their homes. 

	● Fewer people will be affected by their mental 
health in a way that causes self-harm, suicide or 
harmful behaviours.  

	● Health and care services will be integrated with 
community and voluntary partners to help 
communities in the way they want and the 
health and care system is co-created with citizens 
who are heard and empowered.  1:  Build Back Fairer: The COVID-19 Marmot Review

Page 54

https://www.health.org.uk/publications/build-back-fairer-the-covid-19-marmot-review


Bristol City Council  Corporate Strategy 2022–2027

35

Our Health, Care and Wellbeing Priorities for 2022–2027 are: 

HCW1 

Transforming Care

Work with partners to implement an Integrated Care System – 
transforming adult social care and joining up health, care, education, 
skills, and community activities. Support people to be as resilient 
and independent as possible; developing their assets to live fulfilling 
lives. When more support is needed, this will be person-centred, 
offering people choice and control. Co-create a system that takes a 
public health approach to achieve health and wellbeing equality for 
local people of all ages and backgrounds. Work together to attract 
and retain a suitable health and care workforce.

 Development and Delivery   Equality and Inclusion   Resilience   World Class Employment 

Integrated care services will be in place across England by 2022. Integrated care aims to give people the 

support they need, joining up services across local councils, the NHS and VCSE organisations. It removes 

the competitive environment between hospitals and family doctors, between physical and mental 

health, and between NHS and council services, which has meant that too many people experienced 

disjointed care. Co-designing services with the people and communities who use them will help 

people shape care in the way that is best for them and provide holistic support to improve health and 

well-being outcomes. The proportion of older people in the population is expected to increase by 40% 

between 2018 to 2043, increasing the demand on services such as Adult Social Care. Our Adult Social 

Care Transformation programme will help prepare for changing needs aligned with the Integrated Care 

System, enabling people to live independently for as long as possible within their local communities.  

Our ambition is to offer the right level of support to people that maximises their health, independence 

and wellbeing. There will be a focus on preventative measures and short term, early interventions 

that have been co-created with people and the VCSE sector providing holistic, person-centred support 

in an integrated health and social care system. Should longer term care be required, we will explore 

innovative approaches to ensure that people regain and retain independence as much as possible.

We will seek the views of those with lived experience and co-produce our services with people and 

community organisations, building on evidence and best practice. We will also align our social work 

operational teams to a three local area model (Bristol North and West, Bristol South and Bristol Inner 

Central and East) to ensure greater integration with health and community partners. We will also 

value and support our health and care workforce, developing a charter to improve pay, status, and 

treatment of care workers and enhance the flexibility of skills training to improve recruitment of care 

staff and allow for career progression. As well as recognising and supporting the contribution made by 

unpaid carers.

Page 55



Bristol City Council  Corporate Strategy 2022–2027

36

Delivering	as	One Council:	Bristol	Operations	Centre

Our state-of-the-art Operations Centre brings together some of Bristol’s critical support services. It 

houses our Emergency Control Centre, Traffic Control Centre and Community Safety (CCTV) Control 

Rooms together in a single space, operating 24 hours a day, 365 days a year.

While the centre is best known for managing traffic systems, tackling crime and providing support 

to major emergencies in the city, it is perhaps less known for its critical role in helping people stay 

safe and independent in their homes as they grow older.

The centre provides emergency response services for telecare and assistive technology users, 

monitoring home and personal alarms and responding to welfare needs of subscribers. This 

gives older and / or vulnerable people and their families peace of mind and helps people to stay 

independent and confident in their own homes. The service handles nearly 50,000 welfare and 

telecare calls each month, with specialist staff working around the clock to provide support. Since 

its launch in 2017 the service has gone from strength to strength and now supports nearly 17,000 

people nationwide. The service is accredited to the highest quality standard issued by the TSA, 

which is the accreditation body for telecare. Services like this one are vital in supporting our priority 

to transform Adult Social Care and enable more people to enjoy better wellbeing and independence 

as they get older.

HCW2 

Mental Health and Wellbeing  

Alongside partners, increase mental health support and training to 
help tackle the causes of poor mental health and wellbeing such as 
adverse childhood experiences and trauma. Co-develop community 
and cultural assets that reduce inequalities and help build 
resilience. Make sure there is better integration across local mental 
health systems, with improved services and outcomes. 

 Equality and Inclusion   Resilience 

The link between the adversities in life and poor mental health is well recognised and changing 

attitudes towards mental health has highlighted the need to address underlying trauma and root 

causes rather than symptoms of poor mental health and wellbeing1. The impact of the COVID-19 

pandemic has affected both physical and mental health and exacerbated existing mental health 

inequalities. Social distancing, and lockdown measures have created social isolation, loss of routine, 

reduced access to formal and informal support, and school closures have had significant negative 

impact on young people’s mental health and long-term prospects. For some households there has also 

been an increase in stressors such as financial loss, loss of employment, frustration, loneliness, fear of 

infection, worries about the future, or lack of access to support, further exacerbating mental health 

outcomes within the household.

1, 2:  Build Back Fairer: The COVID-19 Marmot Review

Page 56

https://www.health.org.uk/publications/build-back-fairer-the-covid-19-marmot-review


Bristol City Council  Corporate Strategy 2022–2027

37

We knew before the pandemic that children and adults living in households in the lowest 20% income 

bracket2 are two to three times more likely to develop mental health issues than those in the highest. 

Our ten-year Mental Health and Wellbeing programme, Thrive Bristol, focuses on prevention and 

promoting good mental health, reducing the stigma and discrimination associated with mental health 

needs, and increasing mental health understanding and literacy.  

Recently we have been working with NHS Bristol, North Somerset and South Gloucestershire 

Integrated Care System and other partners to redesign our Community Mental Health Services and 

embed recommendations of NHS England’s Advancing Mental Health Equalities Strategy. This will 

be implemented alongside Green Social Prescribing for communities experiencing significant health 

inequalities.

While ensuring that children and young people can access support at the right time when it is needed, 

schools are in a strong position to identify mental health and wellbeing needs early. They are supported 

by Thrive Bristol and a range of whole-school intervention programmes and resources available through 

Bristol Healthy Schools. There is therapeutic work available through Targeted Youth Support and Off 

the Record, Kooth and Creative Youth Network’s team of Wellbeing Practitioners. Additionally, our 

introduction of trauma informed practice will help children build resilience and manage trauma they 

may experience, providing a sense of control in their life without the need to use harmful methods 

of coping.

Delivering	as	One City:	Thrive	Bristol	supports	mental	health	in	schools

Thrive Bristol is our city’s 10-year programme to improve mental health and wellbeing. It is focusing 

on how different parts of our city – such as our communities, our places of education and work, 

and our homes, can keep us mentally healthy, recognising that as little as 10% of our population’s 

health and wellbeing can be linked to access to healthcare.

Our current focus is supporting all schools in Bristol to develop a ‘whole school approach’ to mental 

wellbeing – for the benefit of pupils and staff. This includes award schemes that provide clear 

criteria and support to help schools, and a toolkit to offer information on best practice for improving 

mental health and wellbeing, sharing what has worked well in other classrooms across Bristol.

The programme is also working with black, Asian and minority ethnic communities to better 

understand what a culturally informed approach to mental health looks like.

Thrive Bristol is led by partners from across the city through the Thrive Bristol Steering Group.

Page 57

https://www.thrivebristol.org.uk/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/publication/advancing-mental-health-equalities-strategy/
https://www.bristol.gov.uk/web/bristol-healthy-schools


Bristol City Council  Corporate Strategy 2022–2027

38

HCW3 

Poverty  

Tackle the root causes of poverty, reducing the impact of social and 
economic disadvantage on the health of different groups of people. 
Take action to help 10,000 households in Bristol suffering food 
insecurity, including access to culturally diverse, nutritional food and 
building on the success of Gold Sustainable Food City. 

 Development and Delivery   Equality and Inclusion   Resilience   World Class Employment 

Tackling the root causes of poverty is an ambitious priority for the council, however it is only in working 

with partners to address this systemic problem that we will be able to help people live happier and 

healthier lives. Poverty is complex and intertwined with many other priorities in our Corporate Strategy 

such as homelessness, fair access to housing, mental health, access to employment and transport, 

digital inclusion, and intergenerational equality for children. All of these priorities have seen significant 

negative impact from the COVID-19 pandemic linked to poverty and disadvantage. It is only by tackling 

poverty together with other priorities that we can make the difference on life and health outcomes for 

the most marginalised people and build a city where everyone can share in its success. Many groups 

which are often faced with inequalities and inequity are similarly disproportionately impacted by 

poverty, with those more likely to be living in poverty including disabled people and those from ethnic 

minority backgrounds, women, single parents and carers, among others.

Our most recent Quality of Life survey indicated that 13% of households in the most deprived areas of 

the city experienced ‘moderate or worse food insecurity’ and that the percentage of people living in 

these deprived areas who went to a food bank (or charity) in the last year rose significantly to 8% (from 

3% last year)1.  Inequalities in household income and access to food are just two of the many reasons 

why people experience food insecurity and diet-related ill-health. These factors all contribute to making 

it harder for people to eat a healthy, balanced diet in a food system where unhealthy food options are 

cheaper and readily accessible.

We are committed to tackling food insecurity. In June 2021 Bristol was officially awarded the status 

of Gold Sustainable Food City, recognising the positive work undertaken to make Bristol’s food system 

better for our people, our city, and the planet. Yet, achieving Gold is not the end of our journey. 

A resilient recovery from COVID-19 must include our local food economy, and we will continue to 

encourage local, ethical and sustainable sourcing, and champion the economic and social value of our 

independent food sector. A Food Equality Strategy and action plan is being co-produced with Feeding 

Bristol. This will identify key priorities and targeted actions to address food inequality in the city, as well 

as tying in with the broader poverty agenda. We are also working with partners including the Bristol 

Food Network to develop the One City Good Food Action Plan 2030 to create a more sustainable food 

system in the city.

1: Available from: The quality of life in Bristol – bristol.gov.uk Recommendations of the Citizens’ Assembly – Bristol – Citizen Space)
Page 58

https://www.bristol.gov.uk/documents/20182/33896/Bristol+Quality+of+Life+survey+2020+to+2021+report.pdf/40acbac5-6166-0413-3df7-65ffd1362829?t=1616171291250
https://www.goingforgoldbristol.co.uk/bristol-named-gold-sustainable-food-city/
https://bristol.citizenspace.com/ycof-1/recommendations-citizens-assembly/


Bristol City Council  Corporate Strategy 2022–2027

39

Delivering	as	One City:	Feeding	Bristol

In response to a city-wide pledge to see no child go hungry, Feeding Bristol was set up in 2017 to 

help combat food poverty and insecurity throughout our local communities. As One City, Bristol has 

a vast array of individuals and organisations helping to supply fresh produce to local families who 

need it. Feeding Bristol acts as an umbrella organisation for the city, providing a central point of 

contact for groups and individuals with the same aim. Together, Bristol has made a big step change 

towards achieving Sustainable Development Goal #2, Zero Hunger.

In response to the pandemic, Feeding Bristol uses a One City approach by working alongside 

over 150 community organisations, and other partners, to provide a coordinated response to the 

significant increases in food insecurity. They are also working in partnership with the council to 

develop a comprehensive Food Equality Strategy and Action Plan, that will guide Bristol to a fairer 

and more equitable food future. 

Despite the pandemic, Feeding Bristol was able to lead and deliver their Healthy Holiday 

programme, supporting several thousand of the most vulnerable children with both food and fun 

activities during Summer 2020. During 2021 it supported the council-led initiative Your Holiday Hub 

which provides children and young people, who usually receive free school meals during term time, 

with tasty and nutritious meals during the summer holidays.

Page 59



Bristol City Council  Corporate Strategy 2022–2027

40

Theme 5:	Homes	and	Communities	
Healthy, resilient and inclusive neighbourhoods with fair access to decent, affordable homes. 

Having a stable home and community to belong 
to are key to feeling positively connected to 
others and the city. We want all people to be 
able to experience a community that is safe 
and healthy, helps them be an engaged citizen, 
and lead a meaningful collective social and 
cultural life in the city. However, Bristol’s appeal 
as a desirable place to live and work has meant 
high house prices and high rents, making the 
city unaffordable for many. The average Bristol 
resident now needs almost nine times their 
annual salary in order to be able to buy a house 
and private sector rents have also risen by more 
than the national average since 2013/141. 

This means there are large and growing disparities 
and inequalities in having fair access to a decent 
home for many people in Bristol. The COVID-19 
pandemic has further highlighted and reinforced 
existing inequalities where more deprived areas of 
Bristol may be more polluted, have less green and 
healthy space or reduced access to other areas of 
the city for work opportunities and social activities. 
One of the recommendations from the recent 
Citizens’ Assembly was that we fundamentally 
‘re-imagine the places we live so that they are 
people centred’. Good urban design and policies 
on planning, the environment, housing, transport, 
health, community cohesion and culture and leisure 
can all contribute to making more inclusive and 
people-centred neighbourhoods. 

Bristol’s cultural and creative economy brings 
vibrancy and life into all communities across 
Bristol, it also contributes significantly to the city’s 
economy through commercial venues, film and 
TV production, festival and events, as well as an 
amazing hospitality offer for the city’s visitors and 
residents. COVID-19 has been devastating for the 
cultural and creative sectors, straining the creative 
economy but also removing the ability to express 
and celebrate who we are as individuals, a city and 
as communities. 

The city is rebuilding its thriving cultural and 
creative sector, so everyone has an equal chance 
to participate, enjoy cultural assets, understand 
the history that has shaped Bristol to the city it is 
today, ensuring a fair distribution of cultural capital. 
We will build on Bristol’s cultural offer to continue 
its reputation for inclusivity, sustainability, safety, 
vibrancy and sense of uniqueness. We will also 
invest in grassroots and professional sports clubs to 
increase resident participation in sport and physical 
activity in their everyday lives. Later in 2021 we will 
launch our ambitious Future Parks Programme to 
help shape the future of Bristol’s Parks and Green 
Spaces providing healthy outdoor spaces for all 
residents to enjoy across the city.

We know from our annual Quality of Life survey that 
residents want to feel safe in their communities2. 
Over the past 24 months the Keeping Bristol Safe 
Partnership has taken a city-wide approach to 
tackling harassment, hate crime and discrimination 
and has worked collaboratively with relevant 
agencies to provide a person-centred approach to 
safeguarding and promoting people’s welfare. We 
will continue to take a zero-tolerance approach 
to abuse or crime based on sex, disability, gender 
reassignment, race, age, religion or sexuality.

1:  Bristol Key Facts 2021; Joint Strategic Needs Assessment Health and Wellbeing Profile 2021/22, Housing (Available from: JSNA 2020 – 
Housing (bristol.gov.uk)) & Homelessness Prevention Services (Available from: JSNA 2021.22 – Homelessness (bristol.gov.uk))

2: The quality of life in Bristol – bristol.gov.uk
Page 60

https://bristol.citizenspace.com/ycof-1/recommendations-citizens-assembly/#:~:text=The%20assembly%20has%20produced%2017%20recommendations%20to%20take,for%20the%20environment.%20tackle%20health%20inequalities%20in%20Bristol.
https://www.bristol.gov.uk/statistics-census-information/the-quality-of-life-in-bristol
https://www.bristol.gov.uk/documents/20182/32947/Bristol+Key+Facts+2021
https://www.bristol.gov.uk/statistics-census-information/the-quality-of-life-in-bristol


Bristol City Council  Corporate Strategy 2022–2027

41

Domestic abuse has also been a particular focus. 
The recent Mayoral Commission on Domestic 
Abuse includes 35 recommendations that the city 
will take forward; moving us towards becoming a 
safer, kinder place where victims and survivors of 
domestic violence and abuse feel supported and 
empowered to move forward and build new lives. 

What might success look like? 

We are developing a detailed new framework of 
measures to support this Corporate Strategy, to be 
published in April 2022. This will help us measure if 
and how things are changing for the better. Among 
the outcomes we’re working towards are: 

	● More people are able to experience housing 
stability 

	● There is more equitable access to warm, healthy, 
affordable homes for all people in the city

	● People can live where they choose and are able to 
access jobs and amenities close to where they live 

	● Neighbourhoods and communities are safer, 
flourishing and designed to meet the needs of 
the people that live there

	● People have access to social and cultural 
experiences that reflect their own identity and 
life experiences

1: See the 2020 ”The population of Bristol” report

Our Homes and Communities Priorities for 2022–2027 are: 

HC1 

Housing Supply  

Ensure the affordability, availability, diversity and sustainability of 
housing for all. This includes accelerating home-building in the city 
to at least 2,000 homes each year, with at least 1,000 affordable, 
by 2024. Build and retain new social housing; review the system for 
allocating social housing; provide more supported and extra-care 
housing for those who need it; pursue a ‘living rent’ in the city; and 
ensure there are strong long-term plans for the council’s own housing 
stock and the use of land in the city.

 Equality and Inclusion   Resilience 

As the city grows1 there will be a need for more affordable housing and thoughtful use of land in the city. 

Homes and jobs will need to be better distributed and near to accessible public transport, and we will 

work to update the city’s Local Plan to consider issues such as land supply, where we earmark land for 

home-building and what types of housing development best reconcile the competing needs of a growing 

population and of our natural environment and wildlife.

Page 61

https://www.bristol.gov.uk/documents/20182/5134107/The+Mayoral+Commission+on+Domestic+Abuse+report.pdf/9f85d232-fbb0-b91a-4d19-e093ca9546b6?t=1615542794441
https://www.bristol.gov.uk/documents/20182/5134107/The+Mayoral+Commission+on+Domestic+Abuse+report.pdf/9f85d232-fbb0-b91a-4d19-e093ca9546b6?t=1615542794441
https://www.bristol.gov.uk/documents/20182/33904/Population+of+Bristol+September+2020.pdf/69aa0aa1-290a-ccf2-ec4f-13a7376b41a8


Bristol City Council  Corporate Strategy 2022–2027

42

We will review our 30-year plan for how we use our Housing Revenue Account to help meet housing 

need in the city and fulfil our obligations as a landlord of nearly 30,000 properties, including a new 

a prompt repairs promise. We know that technical definitions of ‘affordable’ don’t necessarily make 

housing affordable for many people, so we will work in many ways to address this – for example 

seeking to retain social housing stock and working with partners to advocate for the power to introduce 

private rent controls. We will also work to improve conditions in the private rented sector and make 

sure empty properties in that sector are brought back in to use, building on our success of ensuring 450 

were made available again in 2020.

As we work to support older and/or more vulnerable people to remain as independent as possible 

within their communities, we will provide more supported and extra-care housing, offering a range of 

care options and solutions that support people to live fulfilling lives in their communities.

HC2 

Lower carbon Homes  

Work to decarbonise housing while improving warmth and 
benefitting people’s health. This includes building innovative, 
low-carbon homes; retrofitting existing housing stock; promoting 
schemes for private homeowners and exploring innovative financing 
and modern methods of construction. 

  Resilience   Sustainability 

While building new homes across the city, it is vital we ensure we are building new housing in low 
carbon ways that help us meet our ecological and environmental ambitions for a sustainable economic 
recovery. Ensuring all people are able to efficiently heat their homes and reducing fuel poverty can 
reduce damp conditions and improve the health of occupants. As well as reducing carbon emissions, 
this enables everyone to live more sustainably. New homes will need to be built using low-carbon 
methods, however existing homes will require a range of schemes to help lower their carbon emissions. 
This was also a recommendation arising from the recent Citizens’ Assembly. These would need national 
government investment or legislation to support private homeowners, and we will work to ensure 
good local delivery and take-up of any such schemes that are forthcoming and that high quality local 
information and signposting is available. We will continue to deliver lower carbon neutral homes and 
ensure that investment and maintenance of existing council stock is carried out in a way that minimises 
the carbon footprint. Our aim is to be a national exemplar for utilising innovative and modern methods 
of construction delivering sustainable, affordable housing at pace.

With substantial external investment needed at a national level, we will join with others to campaign 
for government funding to enable all council homes to be retrofitted to help make them more energy 
efficient, reduce their carbon footprint and contribute to addressing the impact of climate change. 
Similarly we will press for substantial national commitments to supporting private homeowners with 
adaptations.

Page 62

https://bristol.citizenspace.com/ycof-1/recommendations-citizens-assembly/user_uploads/bd13941---bca-report_v4--print-.pdf


Bristol City Council  Corporate Strategy 2022–2027

43

Delivering	as	One City:	Hope	Rise1	

Hope Rise is an environmental and socially focused 
development, completed in 2020, which has delivered 
much needed council housing in St George for young 
people in need of affordable housing and those at 
risk of housing crisis. The scheme offers something 
truly innovative, a first for the city and of its kind in 
the UK. Firstly, it re-imagined existing land use by 
building homes above a carpark. Secondly, together 
with Bristol Housing Festival we partnered with YMCA 
to make sure support structures were in place for new 
residents. Hope Rise is a brilliant demonstration of 
how innovation can help solve the housing crisis while 
providing beautiful, low carbon homes.

This was the first time that council housing in Bristol had been allocated to ‘Community Builders’ 
(individuals recruited by the YMCA to a voluntary community-cohesion role) or allocated to 
individuals committed to the values of the development.

Relationships between individuals and organisations were critical to the success of this project. We 
built, own and manage the homes, and have worked with ZED PODS, YMCA, and Bristol Housing 
Festival to bring it to life. Other stakeholders included local residents, Michelmores, South West 
Procurement Alliance, Turley, Impact Modular, Commonweal Housing, UWE, Centre for Thriving 

Places and Upfest. 

HC3 

Homelessness  

Reduce and prevent homelessness and rough sleeping, tackling 
underlying causes. Reduce the number of households in temporary 
accommodation. Where people have high or complex needs, take 
a ‘Housing First’ approach to provide stable accommodation at the 
start of providing wider support. Help prevent homelessness by 
building and retaining social housing, supporting good mental and 
physical health, developing employment and skills opportunities, 
taking ethical approaches to debt collection and responding to the 
diverse needs of different people. 

 Development and Delivery   Equality and Inclusion   World Class Employment 

Bristol has experienced rising rates of homelessness and rough sleeping over the past decade, and while 
temporary measures taken during the COVID-19 pandemic, to house rough-sleepers and at a national 
level, to ban evictions and support furloughed workers, the end of these and the overall impact of the 
pandemic is likely to make more homeless in months and years to come. 

1: See more details at HOPE RISE — Bristol Housing Festival
Page 63

https://www.bristolhousingfestival.org.uk/projects/2021/3/23/innovation-in-practice-lessons-learnt-xnw2t


Bristol City Council  Corporate Strategy 2022–2027

44

Given the challenges we face around increasing homelessness, it is critical that we continue to 
put homelessness prevention at the heart of everything we do. We will find new ways of both 
understanding different people’s needs and addressing the complex factors that can lead to 
homelessness. Stable housing is intrinsically tied to how well people are able to focus on other needs 
or difficulties in their lives and participate within their communities. Our Housing First and Changing 
Futures schemes will continue to build on existing city partnerships that support people with multiple 
disadvantages such as homelessness, mental health needs, substance misuse issues, domestic abuse 
and being in the criminal justice system. 

As we work to systemically address the causes of homelessness and increase our supply of appropriate 
and affordable housing, we will reduce the numbers of people living in temporary accommodation, 
helping to improve their health and wellbeing. We will also do our part to create a city where no-one 
need sleep rough by 2024, in line with national and One City Plan goals.

Delivering	as	One Council:	Supported	‘Move-on	Accommodation’

Supported Move-on Accommodation provides an alternative form of temporary housing to what is 
usually used in the city, such as emergency accommodation, hostels and supported housing.

Over 40 new homes offer a semi-independent temporary housing option where someone 
recovering from homelessness can have their own personal space and begin to rebuild their lives.

Residents receive floating tenancy support from experienced teams from the council and St 
Mungo’s, to help build their confidence and skills to maintain a tenancy, before moving on to fully 
independent accommodation. This support is tailored to the individual and focuses on wellbeing, 
establishing or re-establishing social and family relationships, training and employment, and 
learning skills to help reduce the risk of becoming homeless again.

In 2021 we partnered with St Mungo’s and United Communities/Solon Housing to provide an initial 
46 properties, and we aim to add more houses to the programme during 2022. Each resident can 
stay in the property for up to three years so that are able to feel settled in their home and become 
part of the local community. Some people may only need the property for 6-12 months, others may 
stay for the whole three years. Once someone moves on from a supported move-on property, it is 
re-let to another person who is homeless or at risk of homelessness.

Page 64



Bristol City Council  Corporate Strategy 2022–2027

45

HC4 

Disability

Create improved approaches, founded upon Disability Equality, to 
enable and support Disabled people throughout their lives. These 
will be co-produced with Disabled people, including children and 
young people with special educational needs, and city partners. 

 Development and Delivery   Equality and Inclusion 

We recognise that as a council we have much to do to improve our practice and capacity in meeting 
the needs of all Disabled people including children and young people with special educational 
needs.  This has been recognised in several reviews in recent years, including an Ofsted and CQC 
inspection of the local area special educational needs and/or disabilities provision1, and Sir Stephen 
Bubb’s Building Rights report2 which focused on challenges faced by autistic people and people with 
learning difficulties. 

The council is committed to addressing the significant challenges experienced by all Disabled people. 
It will do this by following the Social Model of Disability. The Social Model recognises that people are 
Disabled by barriers in society, not by their impairment or difference, whether that impairment or 
difference is cognitive, mental, physical or sensory. 

We will adopt a co-production policy and process that will mean genuine and meaningful involvement 
of Disabled people in policy formulation and service development to make “Nothing about us without 
us” a reality. The new Disability Equality Commission will help further embed disability equality across 
the city by way of a co-produced disability equality strategy.

We will provide a faster and more efficient service of aids and adaptations to enable Disabled people 
and older people to remain independent in their own homes. Accessibility for Disabled people will also 
be considered throughout our work on Transport and Connectivity (see Theme 6), with particular care in 
designing more accessible public space enabling good access to transport options.

Our Special Educational Needs and Disability (SEND) improvement programme has improved the 
inclusion support offer for all educational settings and every step of our improvement journey is 
informed and shaped by the experiences, aspirations and ideas of children and young people with 
SEND and their families. We will embed effective and robust planning and review cycles for children 
and ensure fair and efficient funding of support provision for schools, particularly to meet needs at an 
earlier stage.

We will deliver an early intervention team to build relationships and support parents who have 
questions about how to support a child with emerging additional needs and we will work with the 
Healthier Together Children and Young People’s Board to improve joint commissioning and strategic 
planning arrangements for children with complex health, care and education needs, preventing the 
need for care or hospital treatment through integrated family, schools, health and community support. 
We will continue improvement work to make sure we can provide timely, good quality Education, 
Health and Care Plans where they are required. In our mainstream school settings, good autism practice 
is embedded within policies, environments and quality-first teaching as a result of Autism Education 
Trust Approved Training Provider status. 

All of the above will contribute to Bristol becoming a more inclusive and Autism aware place to live for 
all Disabled people including children and young people with special educational needs.

1: See the findings of the 2019 joint local area SEND inspection in City of Bristol (Ofsted and CQC inspection SEND report)

2: See the 2021 “Building Rights” report (Review of Bristol’s policies and actions for people with learning disabilities and autism)
Page 65

https://www.bristol.gov.uk/policies-plans-strategies/ofsted-and-cqc-inspection-send-report
https://www.bristol.gov.uk/documents/20182/5395291/Building_Rights.pdf/f8b0fe05-bdf0-de44-e14a-0f684e0a6f95?t=1623649850966


Bristol City Council  Corporate Strategy 2022–2027

46

 HC5 

Community Participation   

Make sure that more people can actively participate in 
their community and in the life of the city. Work to make 
neighbourhoods safer and more accessible, with good local 
amenities and strong cultural and social networks. Build the power 
of individuals, communities and partners to play a greater role 
in managing social, cultural and community assets. Enable and 
encourage civic, political and democratic participation. 

 Development and Delivery   Equality and Inclusion   Resilience 

As well as ensuring people have fair access to decent homes, the areas around homes need to be 

clean, safe, close to amenities, help promote health and enable people to belong. In line with a 

recommendation from our 2020 Citizens’ Assembly to re-imagine the places we live so that they are 

people centred, we want people to live in well-designed neighbourhoods where local high streets are 

thriving and supporting local economic wealth, people can work and play safely, have access to healthy 

green spaces and sports facilities. We want all people have social and cultural experiences that reflect 

their own identity and life. Evolving a shared narrative and understanding of the history that has 

shaped Bristol will strengthen the fabric of our communities and sense of belonging, unifying the city 

in recovery. 

We will build on existing community strengths and encourage the conditions that enable mutual 

support and connection for people to be involved in developing community assets and solving shared 

problems. By fostering a sense of community participation everyone can benefit from more resilient 

communities. Children and young people should continue be engaged through formal groups as 

well as community co-production activity, empowering their voice to in the city that they will grow 

up in. Through innovative approaches to democratic participation, such as citizen assemblies, we 

will continue to reach out to actively engage citizens in the political process and help people to feel 

they have a stake in future of their community and city. We will build further on projects such as the 

School Streets and the Community Toilet programme, as well as innovative approaches to developing 

parks, play areas, libraries and community hubs and facilities for people to share neighbourhood spaces 

in an accessible way. 

We are also making greater investments in community-based organisations and local infrastructure 

to strengthen the role of VCSE partners to build community capacity, support sustainability of their 

business models and equitable access to funding opportunities. Our £5.2m Bristol Impact Fund helps 

support VCSE organisations to develop their infrastructure, increase social value-based commissioning, 

improve resilience and support those suffering the greatest inequity in the city to thrive. Bristol’s VCSE 

sector not only played a vital role during the pandemic but is critical to aiding our recovery. The crisis of 

COVID-19 has shown that VCSE organisations and the public sector can deliver collaboratively. Aligning 

with the 2021 VCSE strategy – Designing A New Social Reality1 we will support communities to grow 

their own power and take action on local decisions as to what matters most to them.

1: VCSE Research — Black South West Network
Page 66

https://www.blacksouthwestnetwork.org/vcse-research


Bristol City Council  Corporate Strategy 2022–2027

47

Theme 6:	Transport	and	Connectivity	
A more efficient, sustainable and inclusive connection of people to people, people to 
jobs and people to opportunity.

We know that congestion, and its effect on 
air quality, is a major issue in Bristol and has 
an adverse impact on our inclusive economic 
growth. Inequality across the city exists in part 
due to a historic lack of good quality transport 
options available to reliably and affordably 
connect citizens to services, jobs, and each other.

People living in more deprived areas are those who 
encounter worse air pollution, a higher proportion 
of traffic injuries, and live closer to major roads 
which cut across their communities1. 

We have made progress in recent years. We 
have seen rising levels of public transport use in 
Bristol when other cities across the UK have been 
experiencing a decline2. We have worked with 
partners to keep delivering and improving the city’s 
bus rapid transit scheme – MetroBus – which has 
included improved bus prioritisation measures to 
prevent MetroBus and other buses getting caught 
up in general congestion to improve reliability. 
Bristol was also the first Cycling City in the UK, 
which brought in high levels of investment in 
cycling infrastructure and promotion. Bristol now 
has the highest proportion of people walking and 
cycling to work of any large city3. We want to build 
on this and make it easier for people to walk, cycle 
or use public transport. We want our transport 
options to be viable for all, taking into account 
the needs of different people including those with 
different access requirements, such as disabled 
citizens, older people, carers and those whose 
mobility may be impaired.

Our ambition is for Bristol to be a city of sustainable 
communities that combines housing, employment, 
retail, education, training and leisure functions, all 
linked by a strong public transport network. We 
know that both major infrastructure and changes 
in behaviour take time, but over the next five years 
we will make progress towards becoming a better 
connected city that enables people to move around 

efficiently, with increased transport options that 
are accessible to and inclusive of all. We will deliver 
an improved sustainable and resilient transport 
network that supports Bristol’s vibrant independent 
local centres and neighbourhoods and connects to 

an attractive and thriving city centre. 

What might success look like?

We are developing a detailed new framework of 
measures to support this Corporate Strategy, to be 
published in April 2022. This will help us measure if 
and how things are changing for the better. Among 
the outcomes we’re working towards are: 

	● The city has more public transport options which 
are well-used and liked.  

	● Our roads will be quieter and our air cleaner, with 
more people choosing to walk, cycle or use other 
forms of active transport,  

	● Fewer people suffer ill-health or die from 
conditions linked to air pollution or obesity  

	● There are better rates of employment as people 
can afford to access jobs, education and skills 
opportunities, and fewer people will report 
feeling socially isolated  

	● There will be fewer accidents and incidences of 
crime or anti-social behaviour in places like cycle 
paths, car parks or on public transport.

1:  See Bristol Transport Strategy; Joint Strategic Needs Assessment Health and Wellbeing Profile 2021/22; ”Promoting Healthy Urban Environments “ (Available 
from: JSNA 2020/21 - Promoting Healthy Urban Environments (bristol.gov.uk)

2: Available from: The quality of life in Bristol - bristol.gov.uk 3: See Bristol Key Facts 2021

Page 67

https://www.bristol.gov.uk/documents/20182/3641895/Bristol+Transport+Strategy+-+adopted+2019.pdf/383a996e-2219-dbbb-dc75-3a270bfce26c
https://www.bristol.gov.uk/statistics-census-information/the-quality-of-life-in-bristol
https://www.bristol.gov.uk/documents/20182/32947/Bristol+Key+Facts+2021


Bristol City Council  Corporate Strategy 2022–2027

48

Our Transport and Connectivity Priorities for 2022–2027 are: 

TC1 

Connectivity 

Improve physical and geographical connectivity to help include 
more people socially, educationally and economically. Drive progress 
on delivery of mass transit, tackle congestion and expand active 
travel infrastructure. Work in close partnership with the West of 
England Combined Authority to ensure progress on accessible public 
transport infrastructure, including additional Park and Ride facilities 
and pressing for mainline electrification. 

 Equality and Inclusion   Resilience   Sustainability 

The city has been experiencing the biggest investment in transport infrastructure in living memory, 

setting the scene for a future mass transit system. This investment includes the first three routes of a 

MetroBus Rapid Transport network, linking the city centre to the North Fringe and South Bristol. There 

has also been widespread investment in improved cycle lanes and other infrastructure to support 

people to cycle, walk or use other forms of ‘active travel’.

However, despite the progress made, our annual Quality of Life survey shows 70% of citizens still find 

congestion to be a problem locally, and transport related issues dominate the top ten list of comments 

made by people when asked how to improve the city1.

There are ambitious local and regional plans to improve transport connectivity across the city further. 

Cycle Ambition Fund programmes are helping to improve cycle infrastructure, and transport investment 

linked to the Temple Quarter Enterprise Zone will provide sustainable transport access to new jobs. 

The MetroWest suburban rail scheme seeks to reopen old and open new stations as well as increase 

the frequency of suburban rail services. This includes exploring new stations at Constable Road, Ashton 

Gate, St Anne’s and the stations already planned as part of MetroWest which include Portway, Ashley 

Down, Filton North and Henbury. 

Delivering this priority – including orbital travel as well as connections to the centre – will require 

continued collaborative working with our partners, citizens and stakeholders; the council cannot solve 

these problems alone and we know from our Citizens’ Assembly that people want to be involved and 

engaged in the planning and implementation of transport initiatives2. Bristol will continue to work 

closely with South Gloucestershire, Bath and North East Somerset, and North Somerset councils 

on the Joint Local Transport Plan, which covers the West of England region. With many transport 

responsibilities resting with the West of England Combined Authority, we will continue to work in close 

partnership and make the case for necessary investment to take forward the transport schemes and 

actions needed in Bristol. 

1: Available from: The quality of life in Bristol - bristol.gov.uk

2: Recommendation no. 11 from the Bristol Citizens’ Assembly
Page 68

https://travelwest.info/app/uploads/2020/05/JLTP4-Adopted-Joint-Local-Transport-Plan-4.pdf
https://www.bristol.gov.uk/statistics-census-information/the-quality-of-life-in-bristol
https://bristol.citizenspace.com/ycof-1/recommendations-citizens-assembly/


Bristol City Council  Corporate Strategy 2022–2027

49

TC2 

Improved Bus Services 

Enable inclusion through better bus services. Work with partners to 
double frequency, improve safety and reliability, offer free travel to 
young people, move to a zero-emission bus fleet and increase the 
number of routes so more places are served. 

 Equality and Inclusion   Resilience   Sustainability 

In recent years (up until the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic) more people have been using buses, 

and the bus system offers a more cost-effective, quick and efficient way to improve public transport 

services compared with investing in other infrastructure like local rail. Satisfaction with the local bus 

service has continued to rise year-on-year in our annual Quality of Life 2020 survey and now stands at a 

city average of 57%, meaning there is still room for improvement. Citizens living in more deprived parts 

of the city have lower satisfaction (55%), but this has risen significantly from 42% in 20191. The lowest 

satisfaction rates are seen towards the southern and western reaches of the city’s boundaries.

A comprehensive and reliable bus network delivered by cleaner vehicles will contribute to improving 

travel and air quality across the city. Working with partners, we will increase the number of cleaner, 

greener and more accessible buses, improve ticketing systems and double of peak hour frequency on 

core routes to improve access to wider employment and training opportunities. We also need to make 

sure that more remote or deprived parts of the city are not left disconnected or disadvantaged by poorer 

access to bus services, and we will work to make sure that there are more routes served, exploring 

options with partners to address common complaints, such as people wishing to take buses around the 

city without having to go via the centre and/or make multiple changes.

TC3 

Safe and Active Travel 

Support people to make positive changes in their travel behaviour 
so they can reduce car journeys, use cleaner vehicles and safely 
enjoy the health benefits of more active travel (such as walking and 
cycling) and cleaner air. Adapt transport infrastructure – such as 
increasing electric vehicle charging points – to support this change. 

 Equality and Inclusion   Sustainability 

We want an equitable transition that is affordable for all and doesn’t further marginalise and 

disadvantage as we move to a more environmentally sustainable city and economy. We will support 

people to make positive changes in their travel behaviour so they enjoy more active forms of travel and 

reduce unnecessary car journeys. Air pollution levels in Bristol exceed government standards and affect 

health, causing around 300 early deaths per year in the city2. 

1: Available from: The quality of life in Bristol - bristol.gov.uk

2:  Health Impacts of Air Pollution in Bristol

Page 69

https://www.bristol.gov.uk/statistics-census-information/the-quality-of-life-in-bristol
https://www.bristol.gov.uk/documents/20182/32675/Health+Impacts+of+Air+Pollution+in+Bristol+February+2017/4df2fce5-e2fc-4c22-b5c7-5e7a5ae56701#:~:text=The%20new%20results%20show%20that%20around%20300%20deaths,City%20of%20Bristol%20being%20attributable%20to%20air%20pollution


Bristol City Council  Corporate Strategy 2022–2027

50

Emissions from diesel vehicles are the dominant factor driving poor air quality1. Action is being taken, 

including developing and launching a Clean Air Zone in the centre of the city to help discourage high-

polluting vehicles and fund positive changes to mitigate the impact of traffic-related pollution. This will 

make sure we reach legal compliance for air quality levels as quickly as possible and in keeping with 

timescales required by the Government. A range of measures are being put in place to make the scheme 

as fair as possible and mitigate its impact on people from lower-income households.

However, exposure to poor air quality is not the only factor that can discourage walking, cycling and 

other forms of active or more sustainable travel. We must also improve the feeling of safety on public 

transport and our streets, and continue to reduce road collisions. Actual and perceived safety is still a 

big barrier to cycling in particular. Our ambition is to build a comprehensive cycle network accessible for 

all and segregated wherever possible, meaning free from motorised vehicles and to reduce conflict with 

pedestrians. This network aims to reduce barriers for all types of bikes including cargo bikes, bikes with 

trailers and adapted bikes for disabled cyclists.

In 2020 a Citizens’ Assembly for Bristol recommended making Bristol the best city internationally to 

travel around, by prioritising sustainable, safe, healthy, accessible alternatives to the car for all  Similarly, 

in our annual Quality of Life Survey in 2020 the top comment for improving quality of life was ‘reduce 

congestion/fewer cars’, with tackling air pollution and improving cycling facilities also in the top five2. 

This suggests that people are prepared to support a step-change in coming years to reduce the number 

of cars on our roads and actions to help support this aim will be considered as we plan for the future.

Delivering	as	One Council:	Safer	streets	around	schools

Bristol School Streets is a programme of short-

term daily street closures outside schools during 

drop-off and pick-up times. This improves both 

air quality and road safety, helping create a 

healthier, safer environment for children. Teams 

across our transport, education, public health, 

consultation teams and more are working 

together to support the programme.

As well reducing traffic, Bristol School Streets 

helps encourage more children and families to 

walk, scoot or cycle to school, providing extra health and wellbeing benefits.

During 2020 and 2021 we piloted School Streets at four schools in the city, with a further four 

planned for the academic year running in to 2022. The schemes are well received and parents 

around the city have asked us to go bigger, bolder and move more quickly. However, transport 

regulations and traffic flows are complicated – and as much as we would like to, we cannot 

implement schemes overnight.

We will continue to engage with schools, residents and the school communities to make sure that we 

get these schemes right and that wider communities feel included, listened to, and ultimately feel the 

benefit of schemes that work for everyone. Look out for more around Bristol from 2022 onwards.

1:   Bristol Transport Strategy

2: The quality of life in Bristol – bristol.gov.uk
Page 70

https://www.bristol.gov.uk/documents/20182/3641895/Bristol+Transport+Strategy+-+adopted+2019.pdf/383a996e-2219-dbbb-dc75-3a270bfce26c
https://www.bristol.gov.uk/statistics-census-information/the-quality-of-life-in-bristol


Bristol City Council  Corporate Strategy 2022–2027

51

TC4 

Physical Infrastructure  

Plan, prioritise and begin a refreshed and long-term (25-year+) 
programme of maintenance, repair and renewal of the city’s 
infrastructure, such as roads and bridges. This will help make sure 
that the city is safer, more climate-resilient, nature-friendly and able 
to grow its economy in an inclusive and sustainable way. 

 Equality and Inclusion   Resilience   Sustainability 

Bristol has a lot of older infrastructure, including major roads, bridges and flyovers, that is reaching the 

end of its operational life. In some cases, this could mean full replacement, and in others it will mean 

working on repairs and renewals. This is vital to make sure that the city is safe to travel around. In recent 

years we have seen several examples where this has caused issues, from the closing of the Chocolate Path, 

shoring up of Cumberland Road, to the complexity of the refurbishment of the Prince Street Bridge.

Part of building our resilience means having robust infrastructure. We have all seen what happens to 

traffic in rush hour when a single bridge or route closes, and stresses like this make us more vulnerable 

to the effects of climate change, extreme weather events or other issues that can disrupt or damage the 

fabric of our built environment.

With so many historic and older assets, we need to take a long-term approach to making sure they are 

safe and fit for our current and future purposes. This includes opportunities to rethink what we need 

and make infrastructure and its surroundings more accessible (including for disabled people and those 

with mobility issues), better for the environment and designed in ways that best supports inclusive, 

sustainable economic growth.

Of course, funding and investment is limited and projects involving older infrastructure can be 

extremely complex and unpredictable, often taking longer or costing more than anyone might have 

expected once work begins. Our approach will be risk-based, meaning it will be assessed on the threats 

and opportunities presented. This will always put people’s safety first, and will also consider issues such 

as financial cost, environmental impact, economic benefit and how critical the asset is to keep the city 

moving and working.

Page 71



Bristol City Council  Corporate Strategy 2022–2027

52

Theme 7:	Effective	Development	Organisation
From city government to city governance: creating a focussed council that empowers 
individuals, communities and partners to flourish and lead.

Being an effective development organisation 
means making substantial changes to our ways 
of working. In recent years we have worked hard 
to get a stronger grip on our governance and 
improve our approach to equality and inclusion. 
We have made good progress, but several 
challenges remain. 

The council is larger than most of its counterparts 

and not always more efficient or effective. We need 
to consider what the right size, shape and scale is 
for the city’s future needs, streamline processes and 
target our limited resources to those most in need 
given the financial pressure we face.

Throughout the COVID-19 pandemic we learned 
many lessons we can build on going forward. We 
demonstrated our ability to be adaptable, respond 
quickly and work in a joined-up, cohesive way for 
the benefit of citizens. We have strengthened 
partnerships in the city and united more closely 
around common goals. We have worked more 
closely and inclusively with our communities and 
more effectively with the voluntary, community and 
social enterprise sector (VCSE). We have changed 
our ways of working and embraced innovative 
technology at a pace we have never achieved 
before. We have been better able to identify 

non-essential activities and red-tape and can now 

make thoughtful decisions about if and why any of 

this needs to return.

What might success look like? 

We are developing a detailed new framework of 
measures to support this Corporate Strategy, to be 
published in April 2022. This will help us measure if 
and how things are changing for the better. Among 
the outcomes we’re working towards are: 

	● Strategy and practice across different 
organisations and sectors in the city are better 
aligned towards shared goals, with partners and 
communities feeling well placed lead in their 
own rights 

	● Our workforce and leadership is reflective of 
the diversity of the city we serve, and staff feel 
included and able to bring their whole self to work 

	● Citizens are more satisfied with the way we run 
things and enjoy easier access to services and 
consistently good customer service 

	● We offer externally-assured and audited good 
value for money, supported by appropriate 
governance that enables auditors to provide full 
assurance 

Page 72



Bristol City Council  Corporate Strategy 2022–2027

53

Our Development Organisation Priorities for 2022– 2027 are:

EDO1

One City

Use a One City Approach to take a collective, partnership-focused 
approach to city leadership. Enable strong civic participation and 
the join-up of activities by partners towards our common goals. 
Work to convene, build and exert regional, national and 
international influence to advocate for the city and attract 
appropriate investment.

 Development and Delivery   Equality and Inclusion   Resilience   Sustainability   World Class Employment 

The One City Approach brings together a huge range of public, private, voluntary and education sector 
partners within Bristol to work together on city challenges and set out long term ambitions for our city. 
It works to create change in the whole city system by facilitating participation and collective leadership 
between many different sectors and organisations. In doing so it brings clarity on what we’re trying 
to achieve together, creates extra resilience, creates new space to solve complex city challenges more 
efficiently, and increases the sustainability and scalability of new innovations. This aims to create better 
outcomes for the citizens of Bristol over the long term. The One City Approach is enabled by the City 
Office, a small managed hub hosted within the council and co-funded with partners, to support and 
co-ordinate city resources and assets.

However, the city alone cannot create all the change that Bristol needs. We rely on the right policies, 
strategies and investment from other sources too, whether it is from the Government, philanthropic 
organisations, private firms, international networks, the regional West of England Combined Authority 

or the pan-regional Western Gateway. We work to create a strong city voice and build relationships with 

important partners and networks, helping make sure Bristol can influence positive change in regional, 

national and international policy and that it makes a strong case for the appropriate powers and 

investment that it needs to flourish.

Bristol’s universities are key anchor partners in this work, and we aim to continuing strengthening 

ties in ways that benefit local people and help the city deliver the UN Sustainable Development Goals. 

This includes harnessing the benefit of their considerable research expertise to inform policy, and to 

co-create solutions that address challenges such as health and wellbeing inequalities, climate change 

and ecological deterioration. We will also draw on these key civic partnerships to help link citizens into 

decision making and planning processes in the city; and to ensure there is independent evaluation of 

city progress on the One City Approach.

Page 73



Bristol City Council  Corporate Strategy 2022–2027

54

Delivering	as	One City:	Responding	to	COVID-19

Since April 2020, the Mayor and the City Office have led weekly COVID-19 calls with a range of city 
leaders and Public Health experts, bringing together senior members of staff from 
across the public, private, voluntary and educational sectors, to share information, 
consider actions and discuss a shared approach to the challenges faced by the city in 
the face of the pandemic.

It was through this weekly contact that many leading organisations in the city and 
region were able to come together, make quick decisions relating to their organisations and, in 
some cases, make improvements to their response to the pandemic. For example, the City of Bristol 
College was able to link up with the higher education (UoB and UWE) and care sectors as part of the 
roll out of mass testing in the city, and Bristol City Council could quickly channel vital data through 
to thousands of businesses in the area when needed. The collaboration also resulted in different 
sector heads being able to identify potential issues work and together to help make the city safer. 

For example, First Bus and City of Bristol College worked on managing bus capacity during the 

academic year to ensure social distancing could be maintained on public transport.

EDO2

One Council

Make it easier to get things done as ‘One Council’ by adopting more 
consistent standardised and well-communicated procedures and 
processes, with corporate support services that are the right size for 
the needs of the organisation.

 Development and Delivery 

We have around 6,000 employees and invest over £1bn in the city each year. With this size and scale, we 

can sometimes operate as a collection of departments and services, rather than as a single, joined-up 
whole. This can lead to duplication of effort, and a lack of coordination and consistency. It can also make 
it harder to prioritise, resulting in taking on too many ambitious projects and priorities at once.

Our strategy relies on focused interventions and strong coordination of activities. We need to work more 

smartly and intentionally together as ‘One Council’. This will be a major organisational focus over the 

course of this refreshed Corporate Strategy and will make it easier for colleagues to get things done 

efficiently, safely and in line with our priorities.

Page 74



Bristol City Council  Corporate Strategy 2022–2027

55

EDO3 

 Employer of Choice  

Live our organisational values and show leadership on equality, 
diversity and inclusion across the council and city, becoming a 
recognised employer of choice. Make sure we have an inclusive, 
high-performing, and motivated workforce that is representative of 
the city we serve. Support people to learn, develop in their careers 
and maximise their wellbeing.

 Development and Delivery   Equality and Inclusion   World Class Employment 

Our colleagues are our greatest asset and if we want to achieve our ambitious vision and goals for the 

city, we need to make sure that our workforce and leadership truly reflects the diversity of the city and 

understands the different needs of different people and neighbourhoods. This diversity needs strong, 
culturally competent and values-led leadership. This will ensure inclusion within a culture where all staff 
are respected, heard and enabled to contribute as part of their current roles, while also developing their 
skills and careers. We will continue to remove any unfair barriers which staff may face, support them 
with improved digital tools and technology, and work to address the under-representation of some 
groups across all protected characteristics, care-leavers and those from socio-economically deprived 
backgrounds. We will make more progress in closing average pay gaps relating to gender, race, disability 
and sexual orientation. 

Our most recent staff survey in 2020 showed that 83% of respondents were clear about what the 

council is here to do, and its priorities; and 79% said they believe the council is committed to creating a 

diverse and inclusive environment. 71% said they would recommend Bristol City Council as a place to 

work. These are strong results that we are keen to build upon as we continue our journey towards being 

an inclusive, values-led employer which enables existing staff to develop and thrive while attracting and 

retaining top talent when we recruit.

We know that we are on a journey, and we have made real progress to improve organisational culture 
in recent years. We also know that many colleagues have had an incredibly challenging and sometimes 

traumatic time responding to the COVID-19 pandemic. Moving forward we will be working hard to 

support people’s resilience, including their mental and physical wellbeing.

Page 75



Bristol City Council  Corporate Strategy 2022–2027

56

EDO4 

Data Driven 

Improve our ethical and inclusive use of research, data, insights 
and information to become more data-driven and evidence-led in 
making decisions.

 Development and Delivery   Equality and Inclusion  

We own a wealth of information and data, and through an ongoing programme of digital 
transformation we are able to do more with it. We need to manage it securely, process it responsibly and 
use it ethically to improve services and outcomes. We need to bring people with us and ensure people 
know how, when, where and why we are using or sharing data about them.

Being ‘data driven’ does not mean removing human judgement. It means using new technologies 
and ways of working to make the best use of data, analyse it well and present it in ways that help us 
understand what has happened and why. It also helps us make well-informed decisions about what we 
should do.

Managers and other decision makers need up to date, interactive and easy to use insights, available 
to the right people at the right time. Our staff need secure access to the information they need, at 
any time, from anywhere. To allow this, information will be treated as a corporate asset rather than 

something owned within a single service. This means keeping our data in one place with secure and 

effective governance, monitoring, audit and quality assurance.

Delivering	as	One Council:	Better	data	helps	transform	Adult	Social	Care

Teams in the council’s Adult Social Care and Insight, 
Performance and Intelligence services have moved 
into delivering more data driven practice.

With significant, targeted investment, over the 
course of six months the team has radically 
increased their levels of business insight, gaining a 
better understanding of their activity and spend.

Now managers receive monthly reports on trends 
across all their long-term care services, with live 
same day data on over 5,400 service users. The 
data has been made available to all Adult Social 
Care staff (removing personal identifiable details) 
to enable them to explore and learn through viewing activity across the business by care service, 
primary support reason, client category, provider, age, ethnicity, location and team working with 
the service user. This supports good business management and a deeper understanding of what 

impacts events, such as COVID-19, have had on our most vulnerable people.

Page 76



Bristol City Council  Corporate Strategy 2022–2027

57

EDO5

Good Governance  

Make sure that we are financially competent and resilient, offering 
good value for money. Take safe but proportionate approaches 
to risk, performance, project and contract management. Enable 
effective democratic decision making and scrutiny.

 Development and Delivery   Resilience 

With over £1bn flowing through the council each year and a diverse range of services that can include 

matters of life and death, it is vital that everything we do keeps citizens and the council safe. We operate 

under strict legal duties, including the need to provide value for money, and we often need to make 

difficult decisions considering the realities we face.

Good governance means anticipating our impact and judging what changes and improvements we 

need to make to deal with any weaknesses. We must then do things differently as a result. In recent 

years the council has invited a range of external and internal scrutiny of its governance and made many 

improvements which have been independently assessed. However, the processes and systems we use 

are not always the most efficient and we can do more to join-up our discussions about the different 

parts of governance and performance.

We must keep a good financial grip and manage things effectively without making things too 

bureaucratic and unwieldy, because part of being resilient means being able to be fast, flexible and 

adaptable in what we do. Important factors in this are having clear roles and responsibilities about 

governance for all staff and councillors, looking to the future as we plan, being honest about what 

goes well and what doesn’t, making sure reality matches our perceptions and having strong external 

relationships. We also need effective councillor-led audit and scrutiny with a culture that is both 

challenging and robust, but also thoughtful and reflective. It needs to focus on the most important local 

issues at stages where it can add value to decision making. We must continue developing constructive 

relationships between officers, the Executive, scrutiny, and audit to ensure a meaningful and respectful 

dialogue contributes to sound decision making.

Page 77



Bristol City Council  Corporate Strategy 2022–2027

58

EDO6 

Estate Review 

Review our operational estate to ensure we have the right amount 
and right quality of workspaces. Make sure they are carbon neutral 
by 2025, as well as climate resilient. Explore the potential for greater 
presence in neighbourhoods alongside partners.

 Development and Delivery   Sustainability 

The purpose of the estate review is to ensure that service departments are adequately accommodated 

and to ensure that the future asset requirements for each service are identified and procured. We will, as 

part of the asset management process, develop a comprehensive approach to reduce the environmental 

impact of our estate.

Property assets are maintained and managed in accordance with corporate strategic priorities and 

standards and relevant property and health and safety legislation. The Estate Review is designed to 

enable the council to utilise its assets to deliver better, more efficient services to communities.

This also allows us to move out of leased premises and utilise our existing estate footprint to deliver 

services. Importantly, this also allows us to reconsider our approach to what is delivered at a ‘workplace’ 

as we change our approach to service delivery in response to COVID-19 and adopt new ways of working. 

This includes exploring new ways to join-up with partners and potentially co-locate local services.

Page 78



Bristol City Council  Corporate Strategy 2022–2027

59

Glossary
Adverse Childhood Experiences – defined as 

stressful events occurring in childhood such as:1  

	● domestic violence 
	● parental abandonment through separation or 

divorce 
	● a parent with a mental health condition  
	● being the victim of abuse (physical, sexual and 

/or emotional) 
	● being the victim of neglect (physical and 

emotional)  
	● a member of the household being in prison  
	● growing up in a household in which there 

are adults experiencing alcohol and drug use 

problems. 

Assistive technology – equipment or devices 

designed to improve a person’s capabilities 

and independence, often used by people with 

disabilities 

An asylum seeker is a person who has sought 

protection as a refugee, but whose claim for 

refugee status has not yet been assessed. 

Attainment 8 and Progress 8 became the lead 

Department for Education (DfE) measures of pupil 

performance in 2016, for pupils at the end of 

Key Stage 4 (age 16). Attainment 8 is a measure 

of overall GCSE performance across 8 subjects, 

including English and maths. 

Biodiversity – The variability among living 

organisms from all sources, including terrestrial, 

marine, and other aquatic ecosystems and the 

ecological complexes of which they are part; this 

includes diversity within species, between species, 

and of ecosystems. 

Carer is someone who provides support, unpaid, 

for a friend or family member who needs support 

owing to disability, illness, or for another reason 

such as an addiction.

Climate change adaptation – The process of 

adapting, either through reducing the impact of 

the climate hazard, or through reducing exposure 

or vulnerability, to the actual or expected climate 

and its effects. Climate resilient: Ability of human 

and non-human systems to withstand and respond 

to future changes in the earth’s climate, such as 

extreme weather temperatures, flooding, increased 

rainfall, etc.

Climate resilient by 2030 – In this strategy, we 

have used this term to mean being prepared and, 

adaptive planning, for a global temperature rise 

of up to 4.3OC by 2100 compared to pre-industrial 

levels.

Disability – The Equality Act 2010 defines disability 

as a physical or mental impairment that has a 

substantial and long-term negative effect on a 

person’s ability to do normal daily activities. Bristol 

City Council is committed to the Social Model of 

Disability which says that people are disabled 

by barriers in society not by their impairment or 

difference, whether that impairment or difference 

is physical, mental, or cognitive. Barriers can be 

physical, like buildings not having accessible toilets, 

or they can be caused by people’s attitudes, like 

assuming disabled people are unable to do certain 

things. 

Discrimination – ‘direct discrimination’ occurs if you 

treat someone less favourably because they have, 

or you think they have a protected characteristic – 

for example refusing to employ them or offer them 

a service which they would otherwise be able to 

receive. ‘Indirect discrimination’ is where a practice, 

policy or rule applies to everyone in the same way, 

but ends up having a disproportionately negative 

impact on some people – for example a dress 

code that restricts certain ethnic groups or faith 

communities more than others. 

1: Welcome to the Keeping Bristol Safe Partnership website. (bristolsafeguarding.org)
Page 79

https://bristolsafeguarding.org/policies-and-guidance/adverse-childhood-experiences-and-trauma-informed-practice-in-bristol/


Bristol City Council  Corporate Strategy 2022–2027

60

Diversity is about recognising the many ways in 

which people are different from each other and 

the impact these differences can have on the 

opportunities people have. These differences go 

beyond the Equality Act protected characteristics 

and include class and family background. 

Employment rate – The number in employment 

expressed as a percentage of everyone in that age 

group (in this case, all those of working age). 

Equality Act 2010 is the main UK law which 

protects people who may be discriminated in the 

workplace or in wider society. It replaced previous 

anti-discrimination laws with a single Act, making 

the law easier to understand and strengthening 

protection in some situations. For more information 

see Equality Act 2010: guidance (www.gov.uk).

Food poverty means that an individual or 

household is not able to obtain healthy, nutritious 

food, or can’t access the food they would like to 

eat. It often results in people eating poor diets, 

which can lead to heart disease, obesity, diabetes 

and cancer, as well as inadequate levels of many 

vitamins and minerals. 

Fuel poverty – Households that spend more than 

ten per cent of their income on fuel to maintain 

a satisfactory heating regime, as well as meeting 

their other fuel needs (lighting and appliances, 

cooking and water heating). 

Harassment is unwanted conduct related to a 

relevant protected characteristic, which has the 

purpose or effect of violating an individual’s dignity 

or creating an intimidating, hostile, degrading, 

humiliating or offensive environment for that 

individual. 

Hate crime is defined as: ‘Any criminal offence 

which is perceived by the victim or any other 

person, to be motivated by hostility or prejudice 

based on a person’s race or perceived race; 

religion or perceived religion; sexual orientation or 

perceived sexual orientation; disability or perceived 

disability and any crime motivated by hostility; 

prejudice against a person who is transgender or 

perceived to be transgender or gender or perceived 

gender’. We recognise there are six different types 

of hate crime: racial, religious, gender, disablist, 

transgender, and LGBT. 

Healthy Schools Programme – a programme for all 

Bristol schools that want to improve the health and 

wellbeing of their pupils, staff and local community. 

Mass transit system – this is a high frequency 

system able to transport large numbers of people 

quickly around the city without being affected by 

unexpected delays caused by congestion. 

Pay gap is the difference between the average 

hourly pay of two different groups of people, for 

example men and women, or groups from different 

ethnic backgrounds. 

Protected characteristics are the nine 

characteristics protected under the Equality Act 

2010. They are: age, disability, gender reassignment, 

marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and 

maternity, race, religion or belief, sex, and sexual 

orientation. 

Poverty is defined relative to the standards of living 

in a society at a specific time. People live in poverty 

when they are denied an income sufficient for their 

material needs and when these circumstances 

exclude them from taking part in activities that are 

an accepted part of daily life in that society, race, 

religion or belief, sex, and sexual orientation. 

Refugee is someone who ‘owing to a well-founded 

fear of being persecuted for reasons of race, 

religion, nationality, membership of a particular 

social group, or political opinion, is outside the 

country of his nationality, and is unable to or, 

owing to such fear, is unwilling to avail himself 

of the protection of that country…’ (1951 Refugee 

Convention). 

Social Value – the additional benefit to the 

community from a commissioning/procurement 

process over and above the direct purchasing of 

goods, services and outcomes.

Page 80

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/equality-act-2010-guidance


You can request alternative formats of this document by calling 0117 922 2848.

Designed by Bristol Design, Bristol City Council 2021 BD13910 (a)

Page 81



 

 

  
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

  Corporate Strategy 2022 - 2027 
 
 
 

Overview and Scrutiny Management Board – 18/10/2021 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 

Appendix B – Report of the Councillors’ 

Working Group on the Corporate Strategy 

2022 – 2027 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 82



 

Councillors’ Internal Working Group for the Corporate Strategy 2022 – 2027 
Report to Overview and Scrutiny Management Board 
 
Introduction 
In July 2021, an internal working group of councillors was formed to contribute to the development of 
a refreshed Corporate Strategy for Bristol City Council, giving the perspective of elected Members and 
participating in co-design activities. The group worked to provide a level of embedded and informal 
scrutiny within the process including reviewing evidence, discussing emerging drafts, reviewing 
consultation plans and interim consultation results, considering measurement of the strategy, and 
providing general support and challenge to the process. 
 
The Group met five times throughout July – September 2021, and its agendas are attached at 
Appendix A. 
 
Its members were nominated by Party Group Leaders, with available spaces matching committee 
entitlement for the 2021/22 year: 
 

 Councillor Carla Denyer, Chair of Overview and Scrutiny Management Board (Chair) 
[Green] 

 Councillor Amirah Cole [Labour] 

 Councillor Geoff Gollop [Conservative] 

 Councillor Katy Grant [Green] 

 Councillor Alex Hartley [Liberal Democrat] 

 Councillor Paula O’Rourke [Green] 

 Councillor Steve Pearce [Labour] 

 Councillor Mark Weston [Conservative] 
 
Meetings 
The Group met in virtual and hybrid format, with meetings taking place: 

 30 June 2021 

 14 July 2021 

 05 August 2021 

 25 August 2021 

 15 September 2021 
 
Key contributions to the Corporate Strategy 
The final draft Corporate Strategy has been directly influenced by feedback from this group, with 
notable contributions including: 
 

 To achieve carbon neutrality by 2030, higher and multi-faceted external investment is 
required beyond the £1bn already planned for as part of City Leap. This is now reflected in the 
final draft (ENV1). 

 Measures in building and urban design to cool the city are necessary to build climate 
resilience, and invest in infrastructure and systems which will protect us from climate change 
and shocks. This is now reflected in the commitment (ENV4).  

 The differences between climate resilience/adaptation and carbon reduction were explored a 
use of terms clarified and updated (ENV1, ENV4) 

 The ambitions around decarbonising homes, improving warmth and benefitting people's health 
should be expanded to encompass private housing and be better aligned to recommendations 
from the Citizens’ Assembly about financing and information. Promoting suitable schemes to 
private homeowners, such as around retrofitting, and carbon reduction measures is now 
incorporated (HC2). 

Page 83



 

 Ensuring that we maintain a policy ask for main line rail electrification as part our commitment 
to improve physical and geographical connectivity. This is now included (TC1).  

 Enabling effective and democratic decision-making and scrutiny as part of the Good 
Governance commitment (DO6). 

 Including outcome statements for the ‘Development Organisation’ theme, which is now 
included. 

 
Other internal groups that input into the Corporate Strategy during the drafting process were: Mayor 
and Cabinet, Corporate Leadership Board, Directors, Heads of Service, Managers’ Sounding Board, 
Staff Led Groups, Youth Mayors / Youth Council. 

 
 

Reflections on the draft Corporate Strategy and development process 
On behalf of the Group, the Chair notes: 

 

 There was broad support for the content of the Corporate Strategy from the group, and the 
evidence and engagement used to develop it appeared sound and robust. Its focus on equality, 
equity, population health and social justice was welcomed. The document also provides a 
suitable focus on the city’s needs in relation to recovery from COVID-19 as well as other 
pressing challenges including the climate and ecological emergencies. 

 

 Members supported the realignment of Themes to match the One City Plan; the introduction of 
Building Blocks; and the mapping these and the Sustainable Development Goals across 
intersecting priorities. 

 

 Some members felt that the high-level nature of the document made it “hard to disagree with” 
and had concerns about the ability to deliver its high aspirations, meaning that the next level of 
detail within the council’s planning framework would be vital. Members will see this in the 
forthcoming annual Business Plan 22/23. 

 

 The group welcomed the use of qualitative as well as quantitative evidence used to inform the 
strategy, including citizen comments from the annual Quality of Life survey and from Bristol’s 
first Citizens’ Assembly process; and political inputs across all manifestos from the recent local 
elections. 

 

 Members recognised that there are many competing priorities and acknowledged that all of 
them felt valid, but could create challenges in bringing sufficient dedicated focus from the 
council on key areas. 

 

 Some members felt that Equality and Inclusion were well threaded throughout the document, 
but sustainability less so. Views were expressed that a ‘gender’ lens might be usefully applied 
more in the strategy, as well as more emphasis on applying commitments to people with 
disabilities. Officers have sought to strengthen this in updates made following the public 
consultation, provided in the newer version to be presented to Overview and Scrutiny 
Management Board. 

 

 The merits of identifying specific equality groups and protected characteristics in relation to 
each Priority was discussed, and members acknowledged the intention of E&I as a ‘Building 
Block’ made this implicit across Priorities. It was acknowledged that ‘listing’ groups every time 
could feel tokenistic, and would increase risks of oversights or disparities as to who each 
Priority is ‘for’. Members appreciated that the majority of Priorities will include further 

Page 84



 

assessment of all equality and inclusion considerations as more detailed delivery plans are 
developed. 

 

 Members proposed that the document should incorporate actively the role of Bristol in 
building an effective regional presence through key relationships, such as Western Gateway, 
WECA, West of England and with national Government and include this as part of our 
commitments to building a ‘Development Organisation’. 

 

 Members provided considerable contributions to the language used throughout the document. 
This was useful for ensuring the final draft accurately reflects the council’s intentions. A view 
was expressed that the language was sometimes too ‘bullish’, and more could be done to 
acknowledge the issues the council faces. The use of plainer language was raised and the 
balance between this and the need for technical accuracy and ensuring staff/management 
understanding of the document was considered. Officers offered many revisions to simplify 
‘Priority’ descriptions and move closer to a making the document more accessible to lay-
people. 

 

 The consultation process was proportionate in terms of scale and cost, with Members able to 
contribute ideas for ways to promote it and encourage uptake. However, response levels were 
initially disappointing and whilst the final rate is in keeping with many consultations of a similar 
nature, the under-representation of some demographic groups and Wards should be carefully 
considered when interpreting results. 

 

 Members engaged with measuring performance and agreed with Officers that this needs 
further development work to create a strong performance framework in coming months, and 
that high-level ‘insight statements’ (summarising performance against a range of targets within 
each Theme) would be more suitable to include in the Corporate Strategy document than 
detailed Key Performance Indicators and targets. Member oversight of the performance 
framework and target setting was considered to be important going forwards. 

 

 Members welcomed the pro-activity of Officers in forming the working group and inviting 
cross-party collaboration and embedded scrutiny within the Corporate Strategy process. 

 
Councillor Carla Denyer 
Chair, Councillor’s Internal Working Group for the Corporate Strategy 2022 – 2027 
07/10/2021 
 
Officer Response 
We have been pleased to work closely with members as we updated our Corporate Strategy, and we 
found that this way of working brought fresh perspectives to the process and helped build a deeper 
mutual understanding about the Corporate Strategy, its purpose, and the many complexities involved 
in creating such a wide-ranging strategy. 
 
Officers have carefully considered the comments of the group throughout the process, and this has 
directly influenced many parts of the strategy. It has also provided useful input for us to consider in 
future, particularly as we work on detailed planning at a departmental level and do more work to 
create a new approach to measuring and managing performance against the Corporate Strategy. 
 
Throughout the process there has been a constructive, respectful and thoughtful engagement from 
the group, and this has helped us develop a stronger strategy and recognise where there is more 
work still to do. 
 
Tim Borrett 

Page 85



 

Director: Policy, Strategy and Partnerships 
07/10/2021 

Page 86



Corporate Strategy 2022-2027 consultation: 13 August to 26 September
Final results

www.bristol.gov.uk/corporatestrategy2021

P
age 87



Corporate Strategy 2022-2027 consultation
Final responses to 26 September

707 respondents

P
age 88



Responses by ward

3 to 7

8 to 12

13 to 16

17 to 21

22 to 26

27 to 31

Responses per 10,000 population

Contains OS data © Crown 
copyright [and database right] 

Source: Survey

Corporate Strategy 2022-2027

Central

Avonmouth & 

Lawrence 
Weston

Henbury & 

Brentry

Southmead

Westbury 

on Trym & 
Henleaze

Stoke 

Horfield

Lockleaze

Bishopston 

& Ashley 
Down

Redland

Clifton 

Down
Cotham

Clifton

Hotwells & 

Harbourside

Southville

Bedminster

Bishopsworth

Hartcliffe & 

Withywood

Hengrove & 

Whitchurch 
Park

Stockwood

Knowle

Filwood

Windmill 

Hill Brislington 

East

Brislington 

West

Lawrence 

Hill

St George 

Troopers 
Hill

St George 

Central

Hillfields

Eastville

Frome 

Vale

Ashley

Easton
St 

George 
West

P
age 89



Responses by deprivation

3 to 7

8 to 12

13 to 16

17 to 21

22 to 26

27 to 31

Responses per 10,000 population

Contains OS data © Crown 
copyright [and database right] 

Source: Survey

Corporate Strategy 2022-2027

Central

Avonmouth & 

Lawrence 
Weston

Henbury & 

Brentry

Southmead

Westbury 

on Trym & 
Henleaze

Stoke 

Horfield

Lockleaze

Bishopston 

& Ashley 
Down

Redland

Clifton 

Down
Cotham

Clifton

Hotwells & 

Harbourside

Southville

Bedminster

Bishopsworth

Hartcliffe & 

Withywood

Hengrove & 

Whitchurch 
Park

Stockwood

Knowle

Filwood

Windmill 

Hill Brislington 

East

Brislington 

West

Lawrence 

Hill

St George 

Troopers 
Hill

St George 

Central

Hillfields

Eastville

Frome 

Vale

Ashley

Easton
St 

George 
West

P
age 90



P
age 91



P
age 92



P
age 93



P
age 94



P
age 95



P
age 96



P
age 97



P
age 98



P
age 99



P
age 100



P
age 101



P
age 102



P
age 103



P
age 104



P
age 105



P
age 106



P
age 107



  
 

1 
 

Bristol City Council 

Corporate Strategy 2022 – 2027 
Version 1.1 Post-Consultation updates 

 
 
 
 
 
 
Draft Version – pre-OSMB 
7/10/2021 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 108



  
 

2 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 109



  
 

3 
 

Contents 
 
 
 
Foreword ................................................................................................................................................. 4 

Our Role – driving a city of hope and aspiration .................................................................................... 5 

Our Challenges ........................................................................................................................................ 6 

Our Corporate Strategy – at a glance ..................................................................................................... 9 

Our Vision .............................................................................................................................................. 10 

Our Values and Behaviours ................................................................................................................... 12 

Our Building Blocks ............................................................................................................................... 13 

Delivering the United Nations Sustainable Development Goals .......................................................... 16 

Our Strategic Themes and Priorities ..................................................................................................... 17 

Theme 1: Children and Young People ................................................................................................... 19 

Theme 2: Economy and Skills ................................................................................................................ 24 

Theme 3: Environment and Sustainability ............................................................................................ 31 

Theme 4: Health, Care and Wellbeing .................................................................................................. 37 

Theme 5: Homes and Communities ...................................................................................................... 43 

Theme 6: Transport and Connectivity .................................................................................................. 50 

Theme 7: Effective Development Organisation .................................................................................... 56 

Foreword ................................................................................................ Error! Bookmark not defined.4 

Our Role – driving a city of hope and aspiration ................................... Error! Bookmark not defined.5 

Our Challenges ....................................................................................... Error! Bookmark not defined.6 

Our Corporate Strategy – at a glance .................................................... Error! Bookmark not defined.9 

Our Vision ............................................................................................. Error! Bookmark not defined.10 

Our Values and Behaviours .................................................................. Error! Bookmark not defined.12 

Our Building Blocks .............................................................................. Error! Bookmark not defined.13 

Delivering the United Nations Sustainable Development Goals ......... Error! Bookmark not defined.16 

Our Strategic Themes and Priorities .................................................... Error! Bookmark not defined.17 

Theme 1: Children and Young People .................................................. Error! Bookmark not defined.19 

Theme 2: Economy and Skills ............................................................... Error! Bookmark not defined.23 

Theme 3: Environment and Sustainability ........................................... Error! Bookmark not defined.28 

Theme 4: Health, Care and Wellbeing ................................................. Error! Bookmark not defined.33 

Theme 5: Homes and Communities ..................................................... Error! Bookmark not defined.39 

Theme 6: Transport and Connectivity ................................................. Error! Bookmark not defined.44 

Theme 7: A Development Organisation ............................................... Error! Bookmark not defined.50 

Page 110



  
 

4 
 

 
Foreword 
 
We all want to feel included, we all need hope and we all aspire to something. I believe this to be a 
fundamental truth, and my focus is on making sure that the city council plays a leading role in 
enabling this to be everyone’s real experience of life in Bristol.  
 
With our raw materials of 42 square miles of land, c.460,000 people (from over 187 countries, 
speaking 91 languages and practising 45 religions) and a pre-pandemic £15bn annual economy, 
Bristol was one of few cities to make a net-contribution to the Treasury pre-pandemic, offering 
sectors of high growth and opportunity, two leading universities, incredible culture and world-class 
aerospace. Among the challenges we face is are long-standing inequalities in healthy life expectancy, 
a growing population (scheduled to grow by almost 100,000 residents by 2050), more than 15,000 
people are on our waiting list for housing, and over 70,000 of our residents living in areas that are 
among the 10% most deprived in England. 
 
During the past five years we have made significant progress towards making Bristol a city of hope 
and aspiration, one where everybody can share in its success. But we are only part way along a very 
difficult journey. Looking ahead, we know that the human cost of the COVID-19 pandemic will be felt 
keenly in our communities, both in terms of loss and in the stark inequalities it has further exposed. 
Its financial cost is likely to lead to a long and protracted restructuring of the UK economy, the 
impact of which will be felt for many years to come. 
 
Meanwhile the threat of climate change and ecological deterioration requires decisive action and 
fundamental changes in how countries, cities and communities live and work. It also means we need 
to be better prepared to adapt to the impacts of climate change, from environmental issues like 
floods to socio-economic ones like mass migration. 
 
Against this difficult backdrop, like most cities, Bristol continues to experience entrenched 
inequalities that affect people’s quality of life, their health and even their life expectancy. 
 
The better we work together to tackle our city’s challenges, the greater the likelihood that we can 
recover, renew and create firm foundations for a healthier, more inclusive and sustainable future. 
The complex challenges we face can only be solved through working collaboratively and the 
responsibility is not the council’s alone. Over the past five years I have brought together a wide 
range of partners to work with a One City approach, creating a shared vision and a plan of goals and 
actions for the city up to 2050. This Corporate Strategy is closely linked to that One City Plan, 
describing the council’s priorities and contributions to the city’s long-term aims. 
 
In the face of challenges which range from global to local, we must make a conscious choice about 
how the council responds. We could set a lower bar, focus only on local services directly in our 
control and make modest pledges. OrIn this strategy  we are could choosinge to grapple with the 
complexity of the real issues facing us, being bold and setting aspirational targets that challenge us 
to make a difference, whether by doing things directly ourselves or trying to influence change on a 
wider scale. 
 
I choose the latter. This strategy isn’t about just saying nice things; Iit presents is a very real 
challenge to us, our partners and national and international systems of government, governance and 
economy to make positive changes, tackle complex, ingrained and long-term structural issues and 
work towards a values-led vision rooted in fairness and opportunity for all. 
 

Commented [TB1]: Updated based on Mayoral steer. 

Page 111



  
 

5 
 

For the council’s part, we need to keep delivering good quality services and continuing our journey 
to become an organisation which is better at enabling and developing others. We must set an 
excellent example as an employer, create more efficient systems and processes, work better 
together, empower and enable others to act, and, in some cases, withdraw and get out of the way. 
 
Everyone will be included in this city’s success and will have a home where they can achieve their 
aspirations, regardless of their background or where they grew up. It will not be easy, but Bristol can 
bounce back from the pandemic and rise to its challenges, supported and enabled by a council that 
is the right size for the job and is no longer seen as a collection of services, but as an effective 
development organisation that allows everyone to thrive. 
 
Our Role – driving a city of hope and aspiration 
 
We recognise that we are one organisation in a hugely complicated system, where everyone has a 
role to play. Because of this we are a partner in the long-term One City Plan for Bristol. This plan to 
2050 gives us a shared vision and goals, co-created by many different partners and covering almost 
every aspect of life in Bristol. 
 
This strategy sets out our contribution to the city as part of the One City Plan and is our main 
strategic document. It informs everything the council does and how we plan for the future. 
 
 
[Strategic framework graphic] 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 112



  
 

6 
 

Our Challenges 
 
 
 

 
 
 

Page 113



  
 

7 
 

 
 
 

Page 114



  
 

8 
 

 

 

Page 115



  
 

9 
 

Our Corporate Strategy – at a glance 
 
Vision 
“We play a leading role in driving an inclusive, sustainable and healthy city of hope and aspiration, 
one where everyone can share in its success.” 
 
Building Blocks 

 Equality and Inclusion: Pro-actively and intentionally improve equality and inclusion across 
the city by designing it into everything we do. Work to make sure that everyone in Bristol 
feels they belong, has a voice and an equal opportunity to succeed and thrive. 

 Environmental Sustainability: Tackle the Climate and Ecological Emergencies while 
inclusively growing the economy, maximising our positive environmental impacts and 
avoiding or mitigating negative ones wherever possible. Build our climate and ecological 
resilience.  

 Development and Delivery: Develop people, places and partnerships to improve outcomes. 
Deliver quality public services while releasing the expertise and resources of empowered 
communities, individuals, community groups and city partners to help shape and deliver city 
priorities. 

 Resilience: Build Bristol’s city resilience through early intervention, minimising our 
contribution to future environmental, economic or social shocks and stresses. Build our 
ability to cope by learning from our past, taking a preventative approach and planning for 
long-term outcomes that support resilience. 

 World class employment: Role model, influence and promote the highest levels and 
standards of employment. Work with partners to drive for workforces that reflect the 
population, and workplaces that are healthy and inclusive, offering opportunities to progress 
and offering a Living Wage as standard. 

 
Themes 

 Children and Young People: A city where every child belongs and every child gets the best 
start in life, whatever circumstances they were born in to. 

 Economy and Skills: Economic growth that builds inclusive and resilient communities, 
decarbonises the city and offers equity of opportunity. 

 Environment and Sustainability: Decarbonise the city, support the recovery of nature and 
lead a just transition to a low-carbon future. 

 Health, Care and Wellbeing: Tackle health inequalities to help people stay healthier and 
happier throughout their lives. 

 Homes and Communities: Healthy, resilient and inclusive neighbourhoods with fair access to 
decent, affordable homes. 

 Transport and Connectivity: A more efficient, sustainable and inclusive connection of people 
to people, people to jobs and people to opportunity. 

 Effective Development Organisation: From city government to city governance: creating a 
focussed council that empowers individuals, communities and partners to flourish and lead. 

 
 
Values and Behaviours 

[graphic] 
 
 
 

Commented [TB2]: Internal staff feedback on clarity of 
Building Block 

Commented [TB3]: Internal staff feedback on matching 
name to the content of the Priorities. 

Page 116



  
 

10 
 

Our Vision 
 

“We play a leading role in driving an inclusive, sustainable and healthy city of hope and aspiration, 
one where everyone can share in its success.” 

 
We are committed to building a better Bristol that includes everyone in the city’s success. We are 
here to support the economic, social and environmental wellbeing of Bristol alongside many other 
local, regional and national organisations. In fact, we all have a role to play. 
 
In recent years we have developed closer working relationships with a wider variety of partners 
across the city and region, recognising that no organisation alone can make the kind of major 
changes needed to create a truly inclusive, sustainable and healthy city. Together we have created a 
long-term vision until 2050 and a shared set of goals in the One City Plan. 
 
Our vision aligns closely to this, and our Corporate Strategy focuses more on the council’s own 
contribution and ways of working: the elements of the city-wide plan where we deliver actions 
ourselves or play a leading role in bringing partners and communities together. 
 
Bristol has always been a city of contrasts: a diverse, culturally vibrant and economically successful 
city, yet with 15% of its citizens living in some of the most deprived areas in England. Our annual 
Quality of Life Survey1 indicates that inequality and deprivation continue to affect people’s 
experience in almost every element measured by the survey. The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic 
has further reinforced these entrenched inequalities. Health, wealth and wellbeing are intimately 
connected; those already disadvantaged have been hit hardest.  
 
We serve a population that is likely to have increased by over 40,0002 in the past decade. The Office 
for National Statistics’ most recent official projections predict population growth of 13,6003 over the 
coming five years. Along with the projected impact on people’s health and wealth inequality this 
creates a huge challenge, especially considering existing gaps in healthy life expectancy. 
 
We do not yet know the full scale of the pandemic’s impact or the longer-term implications for the 
Government’s funding of local government and cities. However, we know we will need to effectively 
balance our budget, be resilient to shocks, manage external risks, manage changes and increased 
service demand, all within a limited funding envelope which is more uncertain than ever.  
 
Alongside the need to recover and renew post-pandemic are major challenges facing cities across 
the world, including climate change, ecological deterioration, mass migration and economic 
uncertainty. There are also local challenges where we and others have not done well enough in the 
past, and it is important we don’t lose sight of delivering strong local services that contribute to 
tackling inequality across the city in all its forms. 
 

 
1 The Quality of Life Report shows 50 headline measures of the lived experiences for people in Bristol, 
including how these changed and how experiences differ in the most deprived areas (Available from: The 
quality of life in Bristol - bristol.gov.uk) 
2 Projection based on the Office for National Statistics’ (ONS) estimates, to be confirmed upon publication of 
the 2021 Census during 2022 
3ONS 2018 National population projections (Available from: National population projections: 2018-based - 
Office for National Statistics) 

 

Page 117



  
 

11 
 

Doing so will help improve people’s quality of life and have a beneficial impact on our mental and 
physical health, along with the council’s financial bottom line. Whatever our challenges, there is still 
room for hope and aspiration. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 118



  
 

12 
 

Our Values and Behaviours 
 
How we achieve our vision is as important to us as the vision itself. We are defined by how we 
behave and what we do, so we must be driven by clear values and behaviours. We must challenge 
ourselves and each other to demonstrate these in our work and acknowledge and learn if we fall 
short. 

 
[graphic] 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 119



  
 

13 
 

Our Building Blocks 
 
We have chosen five principles that we call our ‘building blocks’. These affect all our priorities and 
influence everything we do. They are what is most important to us and are chosen based on 
evidenced needs and our organisational values. We reflect these building blocks across our strategy. 
They are not used as ‘buzzwords’ – they have a specific meaning that makes a real difference to 
what we do, why we do it and how we do it. 
 

Equality and Inclusion 
Pro-actively and intentionally improve equality and inclusion across the city by designing it into 
everything we do. Work to make sure that everyone in Bristol feels they belong, has a voice 
and an equal opportunity to succeed and thrive. 
 
Promoting equality, diversity and inclusion, and addressing inequalities are at the heart of our 
values. Inclusion does not happen by accident; it is something that needs to be carefully planned. 
It is not about treating everyone equally, it is about valuing people’s differences, creating an 
environment where everyone feels welcome and heard, and making sure people are not excluded 
from opportunity in all its forms. We will consider everyone’s needs and take action to include 
everyone in the city as we make new plans or take decisions. We recognise that many issues 
affect individuals and groups differently, and require specific solutions. Whether it’s safety on our 
streets for women and girls, inclusion in schools for children with Special Educational Needs and 
Disability, inequalities in work faced by racially minoritised communities, we will work to fix issues 
with any systems, processes or actions that cause inequalities for individuals or between different 
groups of people. 
 
We will work to fix issues with any systems, processes or actions that cause inequalities for 
individuals or between different groups of people. Throughout the development of this strategy, 
we have designed priorities which help us advance equality of opportunity, foster good relations 
between people who share a relevant protected characteristic4 and those who do not share it, 
and eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation. As well as our firm commitment to 
the Public Sector Equality Duty, our aspirations go further to include people in care, refugees and 
migrants, people with caring responsibilities and the inequalities resulting from socio-economic 
disadvantage. 
 

 
 

Environmental Sustainability 
Tackle the Climate and Ecological Emergencies while inclusively growing the economy, 
maximising our positive environmental impacts and avoiding or mitigating negative ones 
wherever possible. Build our climate and ecological resilience.  
 
Changes to the environment and its effects are among the biggest challenges faced globally, 
requiring action from all of us. Bristol was the first UK city to declare a Climate Emergency and has 
also declared an Ecological Emergency. This building block recognises that our impact on the 
environment and climate – and the impact of changes to them on us – cuts across all our work. 
Often there are tensions in how traditional economic growth impacts the environment and 
climate change, and we are committed to inclusive, sustainable growth that considers issues such 

 
4 Protected characteristics are the nine characteristics protected under the Equality Act 2010. They are: age, 
disability, gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or 
belief, sex, and sexual orientation. 

Commented [TB4]: Removed in case mis-understood. 

Commented [TB5]: Internal staff feedback to help explain 
Building Block 

Commented [TB6]: Internal staff feedback about aligning 
to Equality and Inclusion Policy. 

Commented [TB7]: Internal staff feedback on clarity of 
Building Block 

Page 120



  
 

14 
 

as air quality, carbon emissions, the effects on nature, and our use of energy and resources. Done 
well, growth can support and create decent jobs, including in the green economy and low carbon 
sectors, while also achieving social objectives such as tackling poverty and increasing social 
inclusion. 
 

 
 

Development and Delivery  
Develop people, places and partnerships to improve outcomes. Deliver quality public services 
while releasing the expertise and resources of empowered communities, individuals, community 
groups and city partners to help shape and deliver city priorities. 
 
Not everything revolves around the council or is within our power, which is why we are working 
more closely with partners on our shared One City Plan. This spans many different sectors and 
gives us a shared long-term vision to 2050. This building block is about the council doing well at 
delivering the services it must deliver, while taking action to develop and tap into the capacity of 
individuals, communities, and organisations who can and want to contribute. This can help them 
achieve what they would like to, without relying only on the council’s direct contribution or 
delivery. When it is done well this is a ‘win-win’ – it empowers people and helps them achieve 
better outcomes, while the council can focus increasingly limited resources on those who  need it 
most. 
 

 
 

Resilience 
Build Bristol’s city resilience through early intervention, minimising our contribution to future 
environmental, economic or social shocks and stresses. Build our ability to cope by learning from 
our past, taking a preventative approach and planning for long-term outcomes that support 
resilience. 
 
Life can throw all sorts of things at us, and resilience is about being ready to prevent, mitigate or 
withstand this and being able to adapt – sometimes very quickly – to any given situation. A ‘shock’ 
is something sudden and unexpected, for example a flood, a pandemic or a terrorist attack. A 
‘stress’ is something chronic and lasting, putting the city under pressure over time. Examples 
would include health inequality, transport congestion and long-term economic downturns. Places 
can build resilience by doing things in certain ways. Resilient cities are those which work together 
across different sectors, plan and prepare for risks, help everyone play an active role in the city, 
design their various systems to be flexible and take time to measure and reflect on success or 
failure, based on a deep understanding of the city and its communities. 
 

 
 

World class employment 
Role model, influence and promote the highest levels and standards of employment. Work with 
partners to drive for workforces that reflect the population, and workplaces that are healthy and 
inclusive, offering opportunities to progress and a Real Living Wage as standard. 
 
We recognise that many inequalities faced by communities in Bristol are caused by poverty and 
socio-economic disadvantage, which are often the result of there being fewer employment 
opportunities or poor-quality employment. In Bristol, 15% of people live in some of the most 
deprived areas in the country, a fact often disguised by the city’s overall strong economic 

Commented [TB8]: Clarifying intent. 

Page 121



  
 

15 
 

performance. Because of this, we have made commitments in our Equality and Inclusion Policy to 
consider not only protected characteristics, but also inequalities resulting from socio-economic 
disadvantage when we make plans and take decisions. 
 
While the council does not hold all the cards on the issue of employment, it can set an example as 
an employer and use its relationships, influence, policies, plans and limited direct powers to make 
a positive difference and challenge bad practice. We are committed to doing this and challenging 
the city to strive for employment excellence. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Commented [TB9]: Women’s Commission feedback. 

Page 122



  
 

16 
 

Delivering the United Nations Sustainable Development Goals 
 
The United Nations Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) are a framework for the major global 
challenges of economic, environmental and social sustainability, which every country in the world 
has agreed to deliver by 2030. They are a set of 17 interconnected goals, with 169 targets beneath 
them. 
 
Bristol is committed to delivering the SDGs locally and is the only UK city to have conducted a 
Voluntary Local Review5 to monitor progress against the goals. Every priority in this strategy has 
been created to contribute to achieving the SDGs. 
 
For more information about the SDGs and their targets, please visit the UN website. 
 
[Design – lift/shift below from p6 Business Plan 2021/22 BD13211 – fix US language ‘z’s] 

 

 
5 Available from: SDGs - Bristol One City 

Page 123



  
 

17 
 

Our Strategic Themes and Priorities 
 
To make sure we are clear about how we spend our time, effort and money, we have the following 
strategic themes and priorities. These express the major issues that we believe are most important 
in achieving our vision.  
 
Our priorities are chosen based on a wide range of evidence. This includes existing local, regional 
and national plans and strategies, political commitments of the elected Mayor and councillors, 
technical data-based evidence, our past performance, and – vitally – the views of Bristol citizens 
shared in the annual Quality of Life survey, discussion with the Youth Council, and our Citizens’ 
Assembly on the future of the city. 
 
This Corporate Strategy is our most broad strategic document, so the priorities are top-level aims. 
They inform more detailed action planning published every April in the council’s Business Plan. 
Success will be measured through a fully redesigned Performance Framework, which will be co-
produced with a range of internal and external stakeholders in time for the publication of our first 
aligned Business Plan in April 2022.  This will include measures of success such as headline measures 
or milestones for city-wide outcomes with long-term targets by Theme, as well as progress against 
the detailed Priorities within Themes. 
 
Much of our work involves meeting our statutory and regulatory obligations which are set out in 
legislation. Whether or not these are specifically mentioned, it can be taken as read that we will 
make sure that we meet all  these legal obligations. 
 
Themes 

 Children and Young People: A city where every child belongs and every child gets the best 
start in life, whatever circumstances they were born into. 

 Economy and Skills: Economic growth that builds inclusive and resilient communities, 
decarbonises the city and offers equity of opportunity. 

 Environment and Sustainability: Decarbonise the city, support the recovery of nature and 
lead a just transition to a low-carbon future. 

 Health, Care and Wellbeing: Tackling health inequalities to help people stay healthier and 
happier throughout their lives. 

 Homes and Communities: Healthy, resilient and inclusive neighbourhoods with fair access to 
decent, affordable homes. 

 Transport and Connectivity: A more efficient, sustainable and inclusive connection of people 
to people, people to jobs and people to opportunity. 

 EffectiveA Development Organisation: From city government to city governance: creating a 
focussed council that empowers individuals, communities and partners to flourish and lead. 

 
Our Priorities explained 
In the coming pages we set out our detailed priorities under each of our themes. Each priority helps 
deliver our overall vision, and also the UN Sustainable Development Goals. Each has been influenced 
by one or more of the five building blocks set out on pages 10-11. Against each priority you will see 
icons that show which SDGs it helps deliver, and which building blocks have influenced the priority. 
 
Delivering as One Council 
We aim to work in a more joined-up way across the council, so our priorities are not meant to reflect 
our departmental structure or other ways we organise our business. To highlight this, a selection of 
case studies linked to priorities are included to help bring them to life and show how we can – and 
do – deliver on our priorities across a variety of teams and services. 

Commented [TB10]: Added to explain this element 
following workshop and discussion with Member Working 
Group. 

Page 124



  
 

18 
 

 
Delivering as One City 
No single organisation has all the answers, and these stories highlight where we have worked with a 
variety of city partners on a shared aim or project. These show our cross-sector One City Approach in 
action. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 125



  
 

19 
 

Theme 1: Children and Young People 
A city where every child belongs and every child gets the best start in life, whatever circumstances 
they were born in to. 
 
We have made a commitment to our children, set out in our 2018 Children’s Charter, which is 
aligned with the principles of the United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child. Our 
ambitions for the city’s children include having a healthy and happy life, being safe, having access to 
an education that develops their potential, the opportunity to influence decisions in the city and 
growing up with a sense of belonging and pride. Children are the future of the city, and we have to 
help them thrive and become actively engaged citizens who will take on the city’s future vision and 
direction. Bristol is vibrant and thriving, however, not all children have equal experiences of living in 
and growing up in Bristol. We know that some communities and age groups have been impacted 
more by the COVID-19 pandemic. Inequalities have been amplified and if we are to mitigate the 
adverse impact of this across our communities and build back better within a generation, we must 
put children and young people at the heart of our recovery and invest in them and their families.  
 
In the face of the COVID-19 pandemic, many children and young people have proven to be resilient, 
flexible, and dynamic. However, a report by the Education Endowment Foundation6, indicated that a 
decade of progress to reduce the gap between disadvantaged and non-disadvantaged children was 
wiped out by the first national lockdown. We cannot afford to fail our city’s greatest and most 
creative resource. In 2021 we launched our Belonging Strategy7, aimed at reducing inequality and 
building inclusion so that all our children and young people can grow up in a city where they can be 
nurtured, develop a confident sense of self and identity, and equitably benefit from all that Bristol 
has to offer. 
 
What might success look like? 
We are developing a detailed new framework of measures to support this Corporate Strategy, to be 
published in April 2022. In the long term we will know we have been successful when This will help 
us measure if and how things are changing for the better. Among the outcomes we’re working 
towards are: 
 

 Cchildren and young people feel they can identify with and belong equally to the city and 
their communities. 

  Educational and employment opportunities are more equal for children and young people 
across the city; with better support and outcomes for children and young people with 
special educational needs and disabilities: at present Bristol has fewer young people 
progressing to higher education than the national average, we want young people to be able 
to access higher education, skills and development that will help them into good 
employment with future opportunities.  

 Children and young people are safer from harm and violence.  
 CWe want children and young people to be able to voice their views, be actively engaged in 

civic life and empowered to be involved in decision making.  
 Overall, children and young people will be able to live physically and mentally healthier lives. 

 
Our Children and Young People Priorities for 2022 – 2027 are: 
 
 

 
6 Available from: Best evidence on impact of COVID-19 on pupil attainment | Education Endowment 
Foundation | EEF 
7 Not yet published; subject to formal approval 

Commented [TB11]: Updated following internal review 
and workshop with Member Working Group 

Page 126



  
 

20 
 

CYP1 
Child Friendly City: Children and young people are supported by the city, 
their community and the council to have the best possible start in life. They 
can reach their full potential and are kept safe from and supported to 
overcome violence, abuse and other adverse childhood experiences, 
whatever the circumstances of their birth. 
 

[SDG 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 
10, 16] 

Development and Delivery; Equality and Inclusion; Resilience 
Community and social connectedness are essential to good health and wellbeing. To develop well, 
children and young people need to be listened to, loved, supported, and cared for within a family 
and by the communities around them. They need to have opportunities to learn, to play, be 
active, and build loving relationships to develop their personal and social skills. They need to see 
themselves in the world around them and feel able to express themselves and their views. Whilst 
we already formally engage young people in decision making and co-production through groups 
such as Bristol Youth Council, Youth Mayors, the Listening Partnership, Young Carers Voice and 
the Shadow Safeguarding Board, our Belonging Strategy represents an ethos of giving voice and 
power to young people, embracing an inclusive approach across the city for all children. 
 
Helping families isn’t just about the children’s services that the council delivers, but also how we 
design our neighbourhoods and build communities to be safe for children, have access to play and 
green spaces, or areas for young people to enjoy safely. Working with partners, we will help 
families to create a home which is safe, protects, nourishes and nurtures. Together with partners 
we will work to create safer learning and educational settings, which are free from all forms of 
abuse or harassment. 
 
There are many factors that affect the start in life that children have and can compound the effect 
of adversities they experience as they grow up. We are embedding trauma-informed approaches 
to help recognise children that may be at greater risk of violence and harm and understand 
adverse childhood experiences (ACES) that have potential to negatively affect their health and life 
outcomes. These approaches will build on strengths to help repair and restore relationships for 
children and families that have experienced trauma. For children and young people who we need 
to take care of as their Corporate Parent8, we will ensure the same standard of care as any good 
parent, which means we will have high aspirations and will be strong advocates for them. 
 

 
 

CYP2 
Supported to thrive: Children, young people, parents and carers have access 
to and benefit from lifelong services – such as family hubs, parenting and 
community learning courses and youth zones – that support them to thrive. 
 

[SDG 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 
10] 

Development and Delivery; Equality and Inclusion; Resilience 
The emotional and physical family environment has a huge impact on children’s  lives and 
development. Parents are a child’s first educator and advocate,advocate.  fFamilies have the 
potential to nurture a child’s sense of belonging, . Pproviding a secure base from which to 
navigate the transition through adolescence into adulthood, but they need the means by which to 
do so. An affordable, safe and secure home, access to education, training and employment, health 
care, play and green spaces are all crucial if our children and families are to thrive. We believe that 
children, young people, parents and carers should all have access to and benefit from investment 

 
8 See “Bristol Corporate Parenting Strategy 2021-2023" (Available from: Bristol+Corporate+Parenting+Strategy) 

Commented [TB12]: Women’s Commission feedback 

Commented [TB13]: Women’s Commission feedback 

Commented [TB14]: Women’s Commission feedback 

Page 127



  
 

21 
 

in lifelong services to support them in this. Children should have their needs recognised at the 
earliest point in a system that collaborates to help them thrive. 
 
Through the development of Family Hubs, we will ensure that services are joined up, easily 
accessible and make sense for families, with universal services providing a straightforward and 
non-stigmatising ‘gateway’ into targeted support for those who need it. Embedding trauma-
informed approaches across council services and partner services will provide an emphasis on the 
relationships and connections children have with their families, teachers, professionals, 
community and city. Children and families will benefit from inclusive and cohesive support 
networks that develop around them. We are also committed to developing a Youth Zone in the 
south of the city which will offer world class, everyday provision to support young people through 
an expansive offer of leisure and support. Our vision for this is that it will be fully inclusive and will 
work alongside the web of local support that already exists across our communities.  
 

 
 

CYP3 
Equity in education: Help improve educational outcomes, value diversity, 
and reduce educational inequality at all stages of education. Work with 
education providers to become an inclusive, zero-exclusion city, making sure 
high quality alternative specialist provision is effectively targeted. Ensure 
that the system can meet the needs of COVID-19 recovery and provides 
children and young people with the academic, social and emotional 
development they need. 
 

[SDG 3, 4, 5, 8, 10] 

Development and Delivery; Equality and Inclusion; Resilience 
For many children and young people in Bristol, education represents a positive and happy 
experience where they do well, progress into further or higher education and / or move into the 
workplace. For some, however, this is not the case and turning things around for our most 
disadvantaged and vulnerable learners represents our greatest challenge in education. Even 
before COVID-19, educational outcomes for children and young people in Bristol needed to 
improve. There was a large difference between disadvantaged and non-disadvantaged children in 
‘Attainment 8’ scores at the end of Key Stage 49.  Absence rates in Bristol secondary schools were 
6.4% and 15.4% in special schools and Bristol’s fixed term exclusion rate stood at 7.4% across all 
phases with a rate of 24.4% in special schools. Nationally, vulnerable groups of children are more 
likely to be excluded, and their outcomes are poorer10. They are less likely to achieve good passes 
in GCSEs, more likely to not be in education, employment and training, and at higher risk of 
becoming a victim or perpetrator of crime. In line with our Belonging Strategy, some schools in 
Bristol are adopting trauma-informed approaches to improve early interventions and reduce 
exclusions, acknowledging that a young person’s behaviour or reactions might be related to the 
childhood adversities they are experiencing11.  
 
Bristol’s two world-leading universities and many of its further education providers are also 
working to address educational disadvantage in the city, supporting prospective local students 
from under-represented backgrounds through initiatives like proactive admissions policies, 

 
9 See ”Bristol Key Facts” (Available from: Bristol Key Facts 2021) 
10 See ”The Timpson Review of School Exclusion: Government Response” (Available from: The Timpson Review 
of School Exclusion: Government Response - CP 95 (publishing.service.gov.uk)) 
11 For more information see Welcome to the Keeping Bristol Safe Partnership website. 
(bristolsafeguarding.org) 

Commented [TB15]: Tweak from Alison Hurley 

Page 128



  
 

22 
 

specialist scholarship offers, and new alternative entry routes into degree programmes. We will 
continue to collaborate with partners across this system to maximise opportunities for all. 
 
Recognising that the education and support for children with Special Educational Needs and 
Disability (SEND) has not been good enough, we have been on a significant improvement journey, 
ensuring we are commissioning local specialist education provision to meet the needs of children 
with SEND. Over the course of this Corporate Strategy, we expect our SEND provision to continue 
improving, co-designing appropriate support with children and families to meet their needs. We 
want to create the right conditions that will enable more young people with SEND and from 
disadvantaged backgrounds to enter further education, employment, or training.  
 
Supporting children and young people to experience an inclusive education that meets their 
academic, health, social and emotional needs is a crucial step to entering employment and 
becoming economically active within the city, which supports their lifelong wellbeing. Our 
ambition is that children and young people have access to an education that develops their 
potential both in what they learn and who they become, so that they have skills for life and work. 
Additionally, an education that is inclusive and values diversity, provides opportunities where they 
learn from each other and benefit from understanding their different experiences. 
 

 
 

CYP4 
Intergenerational equality: Lead city-wide approaches to tackling the root 
causes of structural inequality, breaking cycles of disadvantage, poverty and 
trauma across generations to improve health and life opportunities.  
 

[SDG 1, 2, 3, 5, 8, 
10] 

Development and Delivery; Equality and Inclusion 
Recognising that the environment and social conditions that children are born, live and grow up in 
will have an impact on their future, we want all children and young people to have equitable life 
opportunities regardless of how they identify or where they live. Children and families living and 
growing up in low-income households are most vulnerable to adversities and have least resources 
to overcome them. This leads to a lower chance of social mobility12, as well as increasing the 
likelihood of poorer early childhood development, lower educational attainment, employment 
and income, poorer health and lower life expectancy. The correlation of multiple adverse 
childhood experiences (ACEs)13, trauma, poverty and poorer life outcomes are well documented. 
They are complexly intertwined and improving outcomes for children and young people should be 
seen within the wider context of tackling societal inequalities. Our other priorities and ambitions 
for children and young people are hampered by the effects of child poverty and social inequality. 
We need to break the cycle within families for future generations and support building resilience 
in communities, families and children and young people who are at risk. 
 
During the pandemic there has been a 125% increase in the use of food banks for children from 
2019 to 2021 and it has been said that 10 years of social mobility progress was wiped out by the 
first lockdown14. There are four wards in Bristol where more than a quarter of children live in 

 
12 See ”State of the nation 2021: Social mobility and the pandemic” (Available from: State of the Nation 2020-
21: Social Mobility in Great Britain (publishing.service.gov.uk)) 
13 See ”Evidence-based early years intervention - Eleventh Report of Session 2017–19” (Available from: 
Evidence-based early-years intervention (parliament.uk)) 
14 Research findings by EEF (Available from: Best evidence on impact of COVID-19 on pupil attainment | 
Education Endowment Foundation | EEF 

Commented [TB16]: Uni feedback. 

Page 129



  
 

23 
 

relative low-income households15  and three of the four worst performing areas in the country for 
young people going onto Higher Education are in South Bristol16. Poor experience of education 
and lack of qualifications is a common factor affecting our most marginalised communities, and 
can be impacted by sex, race, disability and other protected characteristics. This means we need 
to work with partners across the city to tackle entrenched societal and structural barriers that 
exist for many children and young people. While this is our most ambitious priority for children 
and young people it is important for the future of the city to build a nurturing, inclusive society 
where we break reduce poverty and disadvantage that mean ill-health, fewer life opportunities 
and exclusion. We want all children and young people to experience Bristol as a city of sustainable 
opportunity and prosperity. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
15 ”Joint Strategic Needs Assessment Health and Wellbeing Profile 2021/22”: ”Child poverty“ (Available from: 
fa34b92e-0ce0-38fb-9d0c-707ce6c7cd18 (bristol.gov.uk)) 
16 See ”Bristol Key Facts” (Available from: Bristol Key Facts 2021) 

Commented [TB17]: Women’s Commission feedback. 

Page 130



  
 

24 
 

Theme 2: Economy and Skills 
Economic growth that builds inclusive and resilient communities, decarbonises the city and offers 
equity of opportunity. 
 
Bristol has created one of the most vibrant and successful economies in the UK, but one that has not 
distributed its wealth equally and may face medium-to-long-term harm from the impact of the 
COVID-19 pandemic. Nationally, among the Core Cities, Bristol has experienced sustained growth in 
both population and economic scale and has the highest productivity levels per capita, employment 
and qualification rates of the major cities. Within the West of England, Bristol is the primary 
economic centre with nearly half of all the jobs (44.8%) and enterprises (40.1%)17. We are 
internationally recognised for our strengths in innovative and high value industries, including 
advanced engineering, the low carbon sector, professional and financial services, and the digital and 
creative industries. Our hospitality and tourism sector, night-time economy and cultural offer attract 
people from all over the world, as do our universities, who have helped create one of the highest 
skilled workforces of any city in the UK.  
 
However, our city is also constrained by historic deficiencies such as,  public transport capacity, a 
housing crisis that risks shutting out many of our essential and key workers, and persistent 
inequalities that mean 15% of our residents live in some of the most deprived areas in England. Low 
rates of Bristol young people attending university can affect their income and career progression 
later in life and people from deprived parts of the city and some demographic groups, including 
Black, Asian and minority ethnic communities and women, have faced inequalities at work and in 
education. 
 
The COVID-19 crisis has had an uneven effect on local businesses and sectors, and has also , 
drawning to  attention the economic and social importance value of key social infrastructure 
including the voluntary, community, childcare and adult social care sectors among others. The 
recovery process is an opportunity to protect those areas of the economy vital to the future 
development of the city, accelerate investment in infrastructure – including social infrastructure – 
and skills that contribute to productivity and work with businesses to improve the quality of work. As 
businesses rebuild, there is also an opportunity to adapt and build resilience, resource efficiency and 
sustainability through digital skills, supply chains and procurement, as well as supporting local 
business growth. However, we are not aiming to take our economy back to where it was; instead, 
we aim for a more sustainable, carbon neutral, ecologically positive approach and a fair, inclusive, 
competitive economy that supports growth across all our communities for the benefit of local 
people.  
 
What might success look like? 
We are developing a detailed new framework of measures to support this Corporate Strategy, to be 
published in April 2022. This will help us measure if and how things are changing for the better. 
Among the outcomes we’re working towards are: 
 
In the long term we will know we have been successful when  

 Ppeople can access are in decent jobs that pay at least the Real Living Wage as the norm, 
offer more security and fair working and employment conditions. They can access future 
development opportunities or career pathways when they need them through the course of 
their work life.  

 The city economy has grown and developed in an inclusive, sustainable way and 
regeneration has provided sustained equitable access to jobs and careers for working-age 

 
17 See ”Bristol Key Facts” (Available from: Bristol Key Facts 2021) 

Commented [TB18]: Anesa Kritah feedback plus CS Team 
addition of VC. 

Commented [TB19]: Internal staff feedback (Economic 
Development) 

Commented [TB20]: Updated following internal review 
and workshop with Member Working Group 

Commented [TB21]: Internal staff feedback (Economic 
Development) 

Page 131



  
 

25 
 

residents from across the city who are able to work, with a focus on economically 
disadvantaged communities. 

 People have better transport and digital connections to jobs and amenities 
 Workforces across Bristol reflect the diversity of the city, and face fewer barriers to 

employment, including those from more deprived backgroundsequitable access to decent 
jobs across the city for more groups of people. 

 
Our Economy and Skills Priorities for 2022 – 2027 are: 
 

ES1 
Regeneration  
Enable the growth, development and regeneration of the city in an inclusive, 
sustainable, healthy and resilient way. Attract investment, develop growth 
sectors to create and retain decent jobs, and improve focus access to 
opportunities afforded by regeneration for disadvantaged areas and groups 
of people. Work to future-proof the city through sound spatial planning and 
progress the Temple Quarter Enterprise Zone as one of the UK’s largest 
regeneration projects. 
 

[SDG 8, 9, 10, 11, 
12, 13, 14, 15] 

Development and Delivery; Equality and Inclusion; Resilience; Sustainability; World class 
employment 
We will focus on taking a place-based approach to regeneration, promoting inclusive and 
sustainable growth, enabling inclusive, sustainable development to ensuringe provision for future 
homes, jobs and quality places, improving connectivity, protecting waterways and green spaces, 
and concentrating on improving access to opportunity for areas with communities experiencing 
long term deprivation. Identifying and delivering the physical, social and community infrastructure 
required to support growth, To reflect changing circumstances and the needs of COVID-19 
recovery – such as supporting local businesses, high streets and the night-time economy - and 
other issues such as the challenges facing traditional high-street shops – we will develop a full 
Regeneration Strategy for the city to enable us to target and prioritise work according to need, 
and to help attract necessary investment and and partners to deliver our aims, harness the 
regeneration benefits of growth to enable residents, businesses and communities to thrive, 
prosper and enjoy a high quality of life.. 
 
As we work with partners to plan for the city’s future infrastructure, housing and employment 
needs, we will promote high quality developments, public realm and place making seek to 
encourage inclusive, sustainable economic growth and investment in the city. This means, for 
example, not just seeking ‘more jobs, any jobs’ but the ‘right jobs that offer decent employment, 
help us grow the right employment sectors and don’t exclude local people’, supporting local 
employment, training and apprenticeships.. 
 
A highlight of our regeneration plans for the next five years (and beyond) is the regeneration of 
Temple Quarter. This aims to transform a vast area close to significant areas of deprivation in the 
city, improving access from the south and east to Temple Meads station and the wider city centre. 
Job opportunities will be created for local people, as well as leisure spaces and a range of housing 
to meet local neednew living and leisure spaces. By 2041, the project aims to attract 22,000 new 
jobs, provide 10,000 homes and generate an economic boost of £1.6 billion per year to the city. If 
national investment is forthcoming, it is projected to create a cumulative job total of 8,500 and an 
economic boost worth £650m per year to our economy by the end of this Corporate Strategy 
(2028). The area is also expected to be home to a new University of Bristol Temple Quarter 
Enterprise Campus, creating new educational and research opportunities for Bristol, its people 

Commented [TB22]: Internal staff feedback (Economic 
Development) 

Commented [TB23]: Additions based on consultation 
responses 

Commented [TB24]: Internal staff feedback (Economic 
Development) 
 

Commented [TB25]: Internal staff feedback (Economic 
Development) 

Page 132



  
 

26 
 

and organisations.. This will create new educational and cultural opportunities for our city, engage 
local communities, and foster an inclusive talent pipeline in financial, technological and media 
sectors. It will seed development of an internationally significant Innovation District, offering 
research, innovation, and global industry partnerships in areas with local industrial strength; such 
as quantum technology, cyber security, data science, the creative industries, and zero carbon. This 
will drive wider regeneration efforts and help to future proof our local economy with inclusive and 
sustainable economic growth. 
 
 

 
 

ES2 
Access to Employment  
Lead partners in developing skills and routes into employment that tackle 
structural inequality. Plan for how the economy will change in the future 
and support people to access good jobs whatever their formal level of 
qualification. This applies whether people are starting out, re-entering or 
migrating into the job market, or changing roles and needing new skills. 
 

[SDG 2, 3, 4, 5, 8, 
10] 

Development and Delivery; Equality and Inclusion; World class employment 
Employment is the route out of poverty and into improving health outcomes. For people who 
aren’t economically active, pathways into employment need to be person-centred, providing 
opportunities to build confidence and personal skills for entering the labour market as well as 
formal skills and qualifications. We will work with regional and local partners such as the West of 
England Combined Authority, colleges, and training providers to build skills and improve pathways 
to work for young people and groups disadvantaged in the labour market, creating opportunities 
for better employment. By improving access to employment, we will reduce poverty and 
inequality, increasing the city’s resilience and enhance the economic and social wellbeing of every 
community. 
 
With our shared values around equality and inclusion, we will also work in close partnership with 
the city’s two leading universities, the University of Bristol (UoB) and the University of the West of 
England (UWE), to support their significant civic and economic contribution to the city. We will 
also work with key Ffurther eEducation establishments such as City of Bristol College. Together we 
can collaborate to help widen access and participation in hHigher and fFurther eEducation for 
under-represented groups, including those from disadvantaged parts of Bristol. We will continue 
to collaborate with the universities on their educational outreach activities, and to support their 
targeted apprenticeship and employment outreach programmes which promote job opportunities 
to a wider, more diverse city workforce. Working in this way we can help ensure that both skills 
development and employment opportunities have a strong mix of academic, technical and 
practical options available. 
 
Alongside this we’ll work together and with other partners to help foster and grow strong, diverse 
employment sectors and opportunities in the city, not only focusing on graduate-level jobs but on 
the way that the research, innovation and entrepreneurial expertise of educational institutions 
can support the inclusive, sustainable growth of an economy which offers jobs and opportunities 
for all. 
 

 
 
 

Commented [TB26]: University of Bristol feedback 

Commented [TB27]: University of Bristol feedback 

Commented [TB28]: University of Bristol feedback 

Page 133



  
 

27 
 

ES3 
Good growth 
Help create inclusive, sustainable and resilient economic growth, positively 
influencing wider economic systems. Work towards making Bristol a Real 
Living Wage city with access to decent jobs for all. Secure social value and 
community benefits from growth and development, while using our direct 
power as a funder and buyer to embed social value and tackle inequality. 
This includes co-developing the voluntary, community and social enterprise 
(VCSE) sector cultural sector and community capacity. 
 

[SDG 8, 9, 10, 11, 
12, 13] 

Development and Delivery; Equality and Inclusion; Resilience; Sustainability; World class 
employment 
While being without work is linked to poorer health, good and decent workemployment is 
generally linked to positive health outcomes. However, Jjobs that are insecure, low-paid, stressful 
and/or dangerous make people ill18, so, we need to ensure that economic growth is linked to 
provision of decent jobs that offer diverse opportunities, a Real Living Wage, greater security, high 
employment standards and inclusive personnel policies. 
 
The economic impact of COVID-19 has been unequally distributed across our communities, and 
many who have been most negatively impacted are those who were already disadvantaged by the 
systemic inequality in our society. Yet, the need to address the economic impact of COVID-19 
does not reduce the urgency of the climate and ecological emergencies declared in the city, and 
efforts to promote carbon neutrality, increase climate resilience and protect the natural 
environment remain key. We have collaborated as a city system on a One City Economic Recovery 
and Renewal Strategy, with clear priorities that are also aligned with those in the West of England 
Combined Authority’s Recovery Plan. Common strands include strengthening inclusion, helping 
people get back to work, rebuilding business, supporting an environmentally and economically 
sustainable recovery, and renewing our places. Our city is also part of the cross-border, pan-
regional Western Gateway strategic economic partnership, and Bristol will continue to work with 
partners to progress opportunities for investment in sustainable and inclusive economic growth.  
 
We know that the city and its businesses would benefit from infrastructure that provides a strong 
foundation for a growing green economy. Endorsing carbon neutral goals and circular economy 
approaches across the city will enable good economic growth that is not at an environmental cost 
increasing consumption of scarcer resources19. We will lead city partners in attracting eco-
innovative businesses, supporting their transition and adaptation to become more sustainable 
businesses and providing access to green economy jobs to a diverse group of citizens, indirectly 
addressing issues around innovation, inclusivity and inequality. For example, it is projected that 
investing 0.4% (£58m) of Bristol’s annual GVA to exploit energy efficiency and low carbon 
opportunities will result in 0.7% GVA (£102m) annual savings in the city’s energy bill, 2,000 jobs in 
the low carbon goods and services sector and wider social and economic benefits such as a 
decrease in fuel poverty and improved resource efficiency20.  Bristol’s world-class universities are 
an integral part of the local innovation ecosystem, and we will work with them to nurture a 
supportive environment that attracts the best talent to Bristol, facilitates new forms of 
partnership between industry and academia, sparks new conversations and ideas, and joins-up 
Bristol’s existing strengths and innovation capabilities so that, collectively, they achieve global 

 
18 See “Build Back Fairer: The COVID-19 Marmot Review” (Available from: Build Back Fairer: The COVID-19 
Marmot Review | The Health Foundation) 
19 See “One City Climate Strategy” (Available from: one-city-climate-strategy.pdf (bristolonecity.com)) 
 
20 See ”One City Climate Strategy” (Available from: one-city-climate-strategy.pdf (bristolonecity.com)) 

Commented [TB29]: Internal staff feedback (Economic 
Development) and  Women’s Commission feedback on 
definition of ‘good’ and ‘decent’. 

Page 134



  
 

28 
 

impact. We will continue supporting them to drive world leading innovation, inward investment, 
economic growth, and job creation across our city. 
 
As a major organisation, around £1bn flows through or from us each year, and we spend around 
£300m each year on vital works, goods and services that the city needs. We have made good 
progress on using this ‘buying power’ for social good. We will continue to develop this to help 
keep money local, support our city’s economy and consider the social good done by our suppliers 
when we consider who to award contracts to. Other sectors in the city, such as the  voluntary, 
community and social enterprise sector (VCSE), the cultural sector and  communities themselves 
are rich sources of expertise and people dedicated to social good, so we will work more closely 
with them to help organisations develop and grow in ways that enable them to compete fairly 
with other potential suppliers for contracts. We will also work to support and invest appropriately 
in organisations and enterprises led by under-represented groups, helping cultivate more diversity 
in our supply chain. 
 

 
Delivering as One Council: Cultural Investment Programme 
 
 

 
Bristol’s artists and cultural organisations have a local and global reputation for creativity and 
imagination, with a strong social conscience and drive for social good.   
 
The council’s Cultural Investment and Programme (CIP) is the mechanism for providing grants and 
support to Bristol’s cultural organisations, festivals and events, artists and the citizens they work 
with. It is also one of the ways we support a cultural, community environment which is about 
listening, supporting, communicating and connecting to best meet the needs of the city and its 
citizens.  
 

Commented [TB30]: University of Bristol feedback 

Page 135



  
 

29 
 

With a vision to make culture accessible for all, the CIP is underpinned by aims which relate 
directly to the council’s priorities, particularly for inclusivity and growing a green and sustainable 
cultural economy.  
 
The programme has a three-strand structure (1-year, 2-year and 4-year support) designed to be a 
ladder into funding for less experienced applicants from across the city, with the potential for 
them to grow and apply for longer term and wider support as they develop.   
 
In an increasingly young and diverse city it is a priority for CIP to support and invest in 
organisations and enterprises that are led by, or benefit, under-represented groups, helping 
cultivate more diversity in the cultural sector. Over the next five years we will be taking a more 
participatory approach to decision making about cultural investment, involving more people in 
decisions to help maximise the reach and impact of CIP. 
 

 
 

ES4 
Childcare  
Help parents and carers to access and stay in employment and / or 
education by developing a city-wide approach to increasing the availability 
of quality affordable community and workplace-based childcare. 
 

[SDG 5, 8 ,10] 

Equality and Inclusion; World class employment 
Bristol has one of the highest average childcare costs in the country, making it difficult for many 
families to balance work and family life, and impacting the city economically. Provision of 
childcare is an important tool for the empowerment of women21; while women’s participation in 
the labour market is high, career progression or choice of employment type can be hampered by 
limitations in balancing work and childcare. Despite the introduction of 15-30 hours free childcare 
for eligible families, affordability of childcare is still a significant barrier for parents22. Only 35% of 
parents in Bristol feel able to afford the costs, and families with lower earnings face more 
difficulties with costs. Affordability is also a consideration for providers, who need to ensure their 
long-term viability.  
 
Affordable, flexible and good quality childcare – including from charitable and private providers - 
will provide parents – particularly women – with the opportunity to pursue a wider range of 
career development or studying opportunities  that potentially increase future earnings and 
provide children. It also supports child development enabling children to start school on a more 
equal footing between areas of higher and lower deprivation. 
 

 
 

ES5 
Digital inclusion  
Work with partners to tackle digital poverty, helping make sure citizens and 
voluntary, community and social enterprise (VCSE) organisations have the 
equipment, internet access, skills and knowledge they need to access online 
opportunities effectively and safely. 

[SDG 4, 8, 10] 

 
21 See ”Affordable Childcare Report” (Available from: Affordable-Childcare-Report.pdf (bristolonecity.com)) 
22 See ”Childcare Sufficiency Assessment 2018” (Available from: 23126dde-629a-ad61-34d6-bfe706a310a8 
(bristol.gov.uk)) 

Commented [TB31]: Member Working Group comment 

Page 136



  
 

30 
 

 
Equality and Inclusion 
The COVID-19 pandemic highlighted the growing digital divide that excludes people in an 
increasingly digital world, resulting in unequal access to social opportunities, training and work. 
With so much moving online during the pandemic, it is likely that parts of this new way of living 
will be set to stay. Tackling digital inclusion is now, more than ever, a significant priority if we are 
to make sure everyone can access basic services. Getting more people online who want to interact 
in this way will also create capacity in offline services, such as call centres and face-to-face 
support, to better serve people who need or prefer this option. 
 
There is often a flawed assumption that the infrastructure is in place for connectivity, that 
everyone has access to technology, can afford to purchase it, can afford the data to get online and 
has the skills and confidence to use it effectively and safely. Our Quality of Life survey, however, 
suggests around 4% of households in the city do not have internet access at home, and this rises 
to 8% in our most deprived areas. Around 5% of people from deprived areas report not being able 
to afford a connection, whilst over 20% report feeling restricted by broadband speed or reliability. 
People in deprived areas are less likely to feel comfortable using digital services, with 28% 
reporting a level of discomfort doing so compared to 18% in less deprived parts of the city23. 
 
National studies clearly show that digital skills and internet use are closely related to income and 
employment status as well as age. We have already worked with Bristol Waste and other city 
partners to recycle and re-distribute over 3,000 former City Council laptops to help reduce digital 
poverty in the city. Moving forward we will work as a member of the One City Digital Board and 
regional partners to take a joined-up approach to improving digital connectivity and increasing the 
local provision of digital skills training and support. Together we will develop a holistic city 
strategy with a clear vision, structure and roadmap for connectivity in the city, so that everyone 
who wants to be online and use digital services can do so affordably and safely. 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
23 Available from: The quality of life in Bristol - bristol.gov.uk 

Page 137



  
 

31 
 

Theme 3: Environment and Sustainability 
Decarbonise the city, support the recovery of nature and lead a just transition to a low-carbon 
future. 
 
Bristol is committed to become carbon neutral,  and climate resilient and better for nature by 2030. 
To achieve this, over the 2020s we need to radically rethink how we live, work and invest in the city. 
We also need to prepare for the changing climate, which is having impacts on health, livelihoods, 
food security, raw materials, water supply and economic growth. The people and neighbourhoods 
most at risk are those already marginalised and disadvantaged. In Bristol, some of our most deprived 
wards are the most vulnerable to the impacts of climate change, such as increased flood risk and 
summer overheating. 
 
As we work with partners to decarbonise Bristol and create a more circular economy, we must 
recognise that we cannot uniformly pass costs on to citizens. The transition to a low-carbon city 
needs meaningful national investment and support from the Government and investors. Many 
people cannot afford to buy a cleaner vehicle or upgrade their home, and as we make changes to 
how we live it is vital we do so in ways that don’t leave people behind or further marginalise them. 
The whole city system needs to take on the challenge and responsibility to act, from making the big 
changes in industries to providing decent employment that enables more people to do their bit. 
 
We need similar urgency and collaboration in also tackling the ecological emergency facing the city. 
Working alongside partner we must radically transformation in the way we manage our city and the 
surrounding countryside if we’re to halt and reverse declines in wildlife and restore a healthy  
natural environment for people and wildlife. We are working together as a city to ensure that 30% of 
Bristol’s land is managed for the benefit of wildlife by 2030. We will create space for nature, and 
unite to find new, fair and inclusive ways to reduce and eliminate the threats to habitats and 
wildlife. 
 
As we plan for the future and update old infrastructure, we will balance environmental and 
ecological needs with social and economic ones. These are not necessarily in competition with each 
other, and by working together with partners and citizens we can create places that are fit for a low-
carbon, nature-friendly future while offering a better quality of life. 
 
What might success look like? 
We are developing a detailed new framework of measures to support this Corporate Strategy, to be 
published in April 2022. This will help us measure if and how things are changing for the better. 
Among the outcomes we’re working towards are: 
 
In the long term we will know we have been successful when w 

 We have reduced and offset the total CO2 emissions in Bristol to make us carbon neutral by 
2030 

 W, we see a positive recovery in nature and biodiversity, w 
 We have measurably cleaner streets and produce less waste,  
 Wwe have major new investors creating clean economic growth and funding environmental 

and climate initiatives, and p 
 People enjoy clean air.  
 People with lower incomes aren’t unfairly disadvantaged by changes that are made. 

 
Our Environment and Sustainability Priorities for 2022 – 2027 are: 
 
 

Commented [TB32]: Avon Wildlife Trust feedback 

Commented [TB33]: Severn Net feedback 

Commented [TB34]: Avon Wildlife Trust feedback 

Commented [TB35]: Updated following internal review 
and workshop with Member Working Group 

Page 138



  
 

32 
 

ENV1 
Carbon Neutral 
Drive delivery of the One City Climate Strategy aim for the city . Make sure 
that the council isto be carbon neutral for all emissions by 2030. and 
supports the city in its aim to do the same. Work to Ssecure major external 
investment, including a £1bn aim to decarbonise Bristol’s energy system 
through the City Leap programme. Bring everyone with us in our just 
transition to a low-carbon future. 
 

[SDG 3, 7, 9, 11, 
12, 13, 17] 

Resilience; Sustainability 
We all need to take urgent action to reduce our carbon emissions and to increase our resilience to 
climate change. For our part, we are Bristol City Council is committed to achieving carbon 
neutrality for our direct emissions and aim to do this by 2025 and we haves endorsed the One City 
Climate Strategy. The achievement of our climate goals is being delivered through a wide range of 
projects and services across the council. In addition, we have approved a £4m Climate and 
Ecological Emergency Programme which will boost action to reduce emissions, build climate 
resilience and support city partners and citizens to act. 
 
Becoming carbon-neutral as a council and across the city will require changes in national policy 
and action by government, the adoption of new technologies, and major investment from outside 
sources like the Government and private firms. We estimate that for Bristol to reach its 2030 goal, 
the capital cost relating to heat and transport infrastructure would be around £9bn, so our 
success is largely dependent on financial factors outside our direct control. However, where we 
can influence the system or make a direct difference we will do so. For example, our City Leap 
programme is a series of energy and infrastructure investment opportunities relating to heat 
networks, smart energy systems, energy efficiency for homes and commercial buildings, 
renewable energy and more. It will help to create jobs, maintain our economic competitiveness, 
de-carbonise the city and build strong partnerships. It provides an opportunity to deliver 
something truly transformative for Bristol, building a city-wide energy system that will protect the 
environment and improve the quality of life for the people of Bristol. We will continue work to 
develop this programme and form a joint venture with an external investment partner to take it 
forward. 
 

 
 

Delivering as One Council: The Bottle Yard Studios and Bristol Film Office 
 
In 2020 The Bottle Yard Studios and its partner Bristol Film Office established a ‘Green Team’ to 
support implementation of a range of de-carbonisation projects to buildings and 
systemsprocesses, as well as to assist clients toprovide film and TV production teams with 
resources to work in more become more sustainable ways whilst working at the studios or when 
filming on location.  Projects include: 
 

 Aiming  £300k project to insulate walls, roofs and ceilings and install low-carbon heating 
in two studios, to resulting in carbon emission reductions of at least 60%  

 Increased insulation during two re-roofing projects 
 Continuing replacement of existing lighting with LED  
 Heat source pump and solar solutions survey to develop options  
 Switching to a 100% renewable energy provider  
 On-location toolkits, providing information about green industry suppliers and waste 

solutions 

Commented [TB36]: Internal staff feedback 
(Sustainability) 

Commented [TB37]: Internal staff feedback 
(Sustainability) 

Page 139



  
 

33 
 

 Working with the council’s sustainability teams to communicate about Bristol’s clean air 
commitments with film and TV industry stakeholders 

 
 
 

ENV2 
Ecological Recovery  
Drive delivery of the One City Ecological Emergency Strategy and the 
council’s own action plan. Increase space for nature, reduce the use of 
pesticides, make waterways cleaner and reduce everyone’s use of products 
that undermine the health of wildlife and wider ecosystems. Double the 
city’s tree canopy by 2045. 
 

[SDG 3, 6, 11, 12, 
13, 14, 15] 

Resilience; Sustainability 
We are committed to making Bristol more ecologically resilient and wildlife rich by 2030. Building 
roads and other transport routes have all contributed to the destruction and fragmentation of 
wildlife habitats over many decades. We need to learn lessons from the past and as we 
accommodate new economic and social growth – for example by planning for new homes and 
creating better transport – we must put back lost habitats and wildlife corridors, guided by data 
on how to support nature recovery networks.  
 
The One City Ecological Emergency Strategy has been endorsed by the council and is committed 
to making sure that at least 30% of land in Bristol is managed for the benefit of wildlife by 2030, 
that the use of pesticides in Bristol is reduced by at least 50% by 2030, that 100% of Bristol’s 
waterways have water quality that supports healthy wildlife by 2030 and that people and 
businesses reduce consumption of products that undermine the health of wildlife and ecosystems 
around the world. Through both our core work and the additional funding allocated through the 
Climate and Ecological Emergency Programme, the City Council will deliver on our share of the 
priorities outlined in both the One City Climate and Ecological Emergency Strategies. Our key 
actions are set out in our Ecological Emergency Action Plan. 
 

 
 

ENV3 
Waste reductionCleaner Bristol 
Create a cleaner city and become a national leader in reducing waste. Help 
the city reduce its consumption of products and transform its relationship 
with waste, increasing recycling, repair, reuse and sharing of goods. Use 
waste to create energy. 
 

[SDG 3, 11, 12, 13] 

Sustainability 
Our annual Quality of Life Survey indicates that while satisfaction with both waste collection and 
recycling services has increased since 2019, there is still room to improve, and satisfaction was 
lower in more deprived parts of the city. The proportion of residents who thought street litter was 
a problem remains high city-wide (82%)24. Creating a pleasant environment - building on the 
aspirations of our Clean Streets programme - This is remains important to us, but waste is not only 
about cleanliness and improving the appearance of the city. The amount of waste we generate is 
an indicator of consumption, and we need to reduce this to meet many of our goals, from 

 
24 Available from: The quality of life in Bristol - bristol.gov.uk 

Commented [TB38]: Internal staff feedback (Culture) 

Commented [TB39]: Internal staff feedback 
(Sustainability) 

Commented [TB40]: Internal staff feedback 
(Sustainability) 

Commented [TB41]: Director feedback 

Page 140



  
 

34 
 

addressing climate change and supporting nature, through to improving public health and tackling 
poverty. 
 
Our ambition is to design cleanliness in to the city with the policy, infrastructure and other choices 
we make.  transform the city’s relationship with waste, and we are developing a new Waste 
Strategy to support this transition. We need to incorporate sustainable lifestyles and 
environmental needs in the future design of the city, creating a built environment that is designed 
to reduce issues like waste, graffiti and other common blights.  
 
Over time, we need to transform the city’s relationship with waste, and we are developing a new 
Waste Strategy to support this transition. We aim to make the most efficient use of resources by 
minimiseing the city’s demand on natural resources, preventing or minimiseing waste generation 
and maximiseing the repair, re-use, recycling and recovery of resources. instead of treating them 
as waste. As we do this, we can expect to see less waste needing to be collected or sent to landfill, 
and a higher recycling percentage of the waste that is still generated. We want our rates to be 
amongst the best across major UK cities. 
 
There are many practical actions we will take to support this. We will complete and open 
Hartcliffe Way recycling and re-use centre, reduce our large item collection fee and make it easier 
for people living in flats to recycle. We will increase the number of fly-tipping and litter 
enforcement officers and work with communities to reduce on-path and pavement clutter to help 
make neighbourhoods more accessible and enjoyable. 
 

 
Delivering as One Council: Big Tidy 
 
Big Tidy delivered 4,320 hours of clearing and cleaning, cleared over seven miles of pathways, 
removed 90 tonnes of fly tip and waste and brought the sparkle back to 782 homes. 
 
The project was launched in October 2019 with the aim of working intensively across 16 Bristol 
wards to deliver visible and measurable environmental improvements. The joint council and 
Bristol Waste Company team had the cleansing and engagement resources needed to make real 
improvements to areas, whilst making sure that: 
 

 Communities and businesses were engaged and involved, knowing about the work that 
was done 

 Environmental crime issues were enforced robustly 
 Performance was measured and learning captured and shared  
 The improvements made by the team were communicated to the city. 

 
By the end of its first year, it had improved over 700 streets, removed over 3,000 pieces of graffiti, 
and issued more than 600 legal notices or warnings – working without pause during lockdown. Big 
Tidy was so well received that it was extended to cover the remaining Bristol wards in October 
2020. 
 
Between February to June 2021, the council’s Housing team funded a Big Tidy and grounds 
maintenance team to work with its housing officers to deliver significant improvements across 18 
high and low-rise blocks and the areas surrounding them. Over the four months, Big Tidy 
improved communal areas and green spaces, fixed broken fences and benches, improved bin 
stores, cleared heavily littered areas, removed detritus, weeds, dog fouling and graffiti, tackled 

Commented [TB42]: Director feedback 

Page 141



  
 

35 
 

abandoned vehicles, waste in gardens, and engaged with residents who had ideas about how they 
could improve where they lived. 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

ENV4 
Climate Resilience 
Minimise our contribution to future shocks and stresses, invest in 
infrastructure and systems that cool the city and help us adapt to the effects 
of climate change. Do this in ways that provide inclusive, sustainable 
economic growth. 
 

[SDG 1, 8, 9, 11, 
13] 

Resilience; Sustainability 
Climate change is already happening, with recent decades being warmer, wetter and sunnier than 
the 20th century25. While we will do all we can to tackle it, we must also accept the practical need 
to adapt to its effects. Doing this means investing in our existing and new infrastructure, making 
changes that provide new chances to re-design things to fit our current and future needs. 
 
With extreme weather and flooding becoming more common, we need to make sure that our 
existing and new infrastructure is resilient to the impacts of climate change. New infrastructure 
needs to be prioritised, planned, designed, built and operated to account for the climate changes 
predicted to occur over coming decades, while existing infrastructure may need to be retrofitted, 
adapted or managed differently. Doing this provides chances to make facilities, roads, bridges and 
other infrastructure more accessible and sustainable, for example, by taking those opportunities 
to increase space for pedestrians, cyclists and people with mobility issues. 

 
25 See the ”Royal Meteorological Society State of the UK Climate 2020” report (Available from: State of the UK 
Climate 2020 - International Journal of Climatology) 

Page 142



  
 

36 
 

 
Climate-resilient infrastructure has the potential to improve the reliability of service provision, 
increase the operating life of our assets and contribute to a more sustainable economic recovery 
for the city. It can also make places nicer to live, work and visit, for example by designing them to 
be cooler, shaded and with better tree cover and other natural features that help us adapt to a 
changed climate. 
 

 
ENV5 
Global Leadership 
Show global leadership in delivering the UN Sustainable Development Goals 
at a local level and developing best practice across international networks. 
Work with partners to advocate for a greater voice for cities within national 
and international decision-making, including the UN, UK100 and C40. 
 

[SDG 11, 16, 17] 

Equality and Inclusion; Resilience; Sustainability 
The UN Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) provide a global framework for the interconnected 
challenges we face, including those related to poverty, inequality, climate, environmental 
degradation, prosperity, and peace and justice. They have been adopted by all UN member 
countries and are due to be achieved by 2030. As we seek to recover and renew following the 
COVID-19 pandemic we are conscious that cities are increasingly seen as important actors in the 
delivery of the SDGs. Former UN Secretary General Ban Ki Moon stated that “Cities are where the 
battle for sustainable development will be won or lost”. Bristol is recognised as a leader in how it 
has aligned its city planning and delivery to the SDGs, measured local progress and contributed to 
important international forums that influence other cities and governments.  
  
To take meaningful local action we need the right powers and financial investment. Our 
collaboration with other global cities and networks allows us to strengthen the voice of cities. This 
is vital in shaping the policy and finance solutions needed from national and international 
governments and the private sector to deliver on inclusive, sustainable growth.   
 
Our strong global reputation gives us access to influential forums that have world leading 
expertise and links to funders. For example, the Mayor is a member of the global Mayor’s 
Migration Council, which has linked us to the C40 Cities Leadership Group, a network of mayors 
committed to urgent action on climate change, and large philanthropic organisations such as 
Open Society Foundations and Bloomberg Philanthropies. These links have helped inform our 
approach to tackling the climate emergency as well as our strategy for refugees and asylum 
seekers; recognising the skills, experiences, and the positive social and economic contribution 
newcomers can make to the city. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 143



  
 

37 
 

 
 
Theme 4: Health, Care and Wellbeing 
Tackling health inequalities to help people stay healthier and happier throughout their lives. 
 
There is clear evidence that social and economic inequalities lead to health inequalities26. Inequality 
of income, in housing conditions, education and schooling, and workplace conditions can all lead to 
persistent stress and poverty that result in lower levels of wellbeing and more ill-health, along with 
challenges for carers.  
 
We will take a public health approach to tackling health inequalities, focusing on preventative and 
early intervention approaches that are person-centred and rooted in communities. Working across 
the whole system to find opportunities to improve health and wellbeing, focusing on the factors that 
contribute to good health and helping people maximise their wellbeing, rather than only responding 
to ill-health. As part of this we will continue to take a ‘Health In All Policies’ approach, meaning 
whenever we develop a new policy on any given topic, we consider how we can pro-actively benefit 
people’s health and wellbeing. 
 
The COVID-19 pandemic has had a huge impact on health, care and wellbeing in Bristol, both directly 
from the disease and indirectly from the restrictions to our freedoms and the effects on the 
economy and the care sector. It has reinforced existing health inequalities in Bristol, with a much 
greater impact being seen on older people, citizens living in more deprived areas, individual carers 
and people from those who are Bblack, Asian or from a minority ethnic backgrounds. Yet, the 
urgency of dealing with COVID-19 has also helped strengthen partnership working across the city 
and we want to continue to build on this to raise living standards and health outcomes for all, 
ensuring equity for the most marginalised in the city. 
 
What might success look like? 
We are developing a detailed new framework of measures to support this Corporate Strategy, to be 
published in April 2022. This will help us measure if and how things are changing for the better. 
Among the outcomes we’re working towards are: 
 
In the long term we will know we have been successful when w 

 We have reduced the health inequalities that depend on where in the city you live, people  
feel that their physical and mental wellbeing is as good as possible, and gaps in healthy life 
expectancy between affluent and deprived areas of the city are will reduced significantly.  

 Where help is needed, people are supported in a way that meets their personal needs and 
can be accessed through their community. People will be more able to live independent, 
fulfilled lives including as they grow older, with less need for the kind of care services that 
remove people from their homes. 

 Fewer people will be affected by their mental health in a way that causes self-harm, suicide 
or harmful behaviours.  

 Health and care services will be integrated with community and voluntary partners to help 
communities in the way they want and the health and care system is co-created with citizens 
who are heard and empowered.  

People will be more able to live independent, fulfilled lives including as they grow older, with less 
need for the kind of care services that remove people from their homes. 

 
26 See “Build Back Fairer: The COVID-19 Marmot Review” (Available from: Build Back Fairer: The COVID-19 
Marmot Review | The Health Foundation) 

Commented [TB43]: Women’s Commission feedback. 

Commented [TB44]: Women’s Commission feedback 

Commented [TB45]: Updated following internal review 
and workshop with Member Working Group 
 

Page 144



  
 

38 
 

 

Our Health, Care and Wellbeing Priorities for 2022 – 2027 are: 
HCW1 
Transforming Care 
Work with partners to implement an Integrated Care System - transforming 
adult social care and joining up health, care, education, skills, and 
community activities. Support people to be as resilient and independent as 
possible; developing their assets to live fulfilling lives. When more support is 
needed, this will be person-centred, offering people choice and control. Co-
create a system that takes a public health approach to achieve health and 
wellbeing equality for local people of all ages and backgrounds. Work 
together to attract and retain a suitable health and care workforce. 
 

[SDG 3, 4, 8, 10] 

Development and Delivery; Equality and Inclusion; Resilience; World class employment 
Integrated care services will be in place across England by 2022. Integrated care aims to give 
people the support they need, joining up services across local councils, the NHS and VCSE 
organisations. It removes the competitive environment between hospitals and family doctors, 
between physical and mental health, and between NHS and council services, which has meant 
that too many people experienced disjointed care. Co-designing services with the people and 
communities who use them will help people shape care in the way that is best for them and 
provide holistic support to improve health and well-being outcomes. The proportion of older 
people in the population is expected to increase by 40% between 2018 to 2043, increasing the 
demand on services such as Adult Social Care. Our Adult Social Care Transformation 
programme will help prepare for changing needs aligned with the Integrated Care System, 
enabling people to live independently for as long as possible within their local communities.   
 
Our ambition is to offer the right level of support to people that maximises their health, 
independence and wellbeing. There will be a focus on preventative measures and short term, 
early interventions that have been co-created with people and the VCSE sector providing holistic, 
person-centred support in an integrated health and social care system. Should longer term care 
be required, we will explore innovative approaches to ensure that people regain and retain 
independence as much as possible. 
 
We will seek the views of those with lived experience and co-produce our services with people 
and community organisations, building on evidence and best practice. We will also align our social 
work operational teams to a three local area model (Bristol North and West, Bristol South and 
Bristol Inner Central and East) to ensure greater integration with health and community 
partners. We will also value and support our health and care workforce, developing a charter to 
improve pay, status, and treatment of care workers and enhance the flexibility of skills training to 
improve recruitment of care staff and allow for career progression. As well as recognising and 
supporting the contribution made by unpaid carers. 
 

 

Delivering as One Council: Bristol Operations Centre 
 
Our state-of-the-art Operations Centre brings together some of Bristol’s critical support services. 
It houses our Emergency Control Centre, Traffic Control Centre and Community Safety (CCTV) 
Control Rooms together in a single space, operating 24 hours a day, 365 days a year.  
 

Page 145



  
 

39 
 

While the Centre is best known for managing traffic systems, tackling crime and providing support 
to major emergencies in the city, it is perhaps less known for its critical role in helping people stay 
safe and independent in their homes as they grow older. 
 
The Centre provides emergency response services for telecare and assistive technology users, 
monitoring home and personal alarms and responding to welfare needs of subscribers. This gives 
older and / or vulnerable people and their families peace of mind and helps people to stay 
independent and confident in their own homes. The service handles nearly 50,000 welfare and 
telecare calls each month, with specialist staff working around the clock to provide support. Since 
its launch in 2017 the service has gone from strength to strength and now supports nearly 17,000 
people nationwide. The service is accredited to the highest quality standard issued by the TSA, 
which is the accreditation body for telecare. Services like this one are vital in supporting our 
priority to transform Adult Social Care and enable more people to enjoy better wellbeing and 
independence as they get older. 
 

 

HCW2 
Mental Health and Wellbeing  
Alongside partners, increase mental health support and training to help 
tackle the causes of poor mental health and wellbeing such as adverse 
childhood experiences and trauma. Co-develop community and cultural 
assets that reduce inequalities and help build resilience. Make sure there is 
better integration across local mental health systems, with improved 
services and outcomes. 
 

[SDG 3] 

Equality and Inclusion; Resilience 
The link between the adversities in life and poor mental health is well recognised and changing 
attitudes towards mental health has highlighted the need to address underlying trauma and root 
causes rather than symptoms of poor mental health and wellbeing27. The impact of the COVID-19 
pandemic has affected both physical and mental health and exacerbated existing mental health 
inequalities. Social distancing, and lockdown measures have created social isolation, loss of 
routine, reduced access to formal and informal support, and school closures have had significant 
negative impact on young people’s mental health and long-term prospects.  For some households 
there has also been an increase in stressors such as financial loss, loss of employment, frustration, 
loneliness, fear of infection, worries about the future, or lack of access to support, further 
exacerbating mental health outcomes within the household. 
 
We knew before the pandemic that children and adults living in households in the lowest 20% 
income bracket28 are two to three times more likely to develop mental health issues than those in 
the highest. Our ten-year Mental Health and Wellbeing programme Thrive Bristol, focuses on 
prevention and promoting good mental health, reducing the stigma and discrimination associated 
with mental health needs, and increasing mental health understanding and literacy.   
 
Recently we have been working with NHS Bristol, North Somerset and South Gloucestershire 

 
27 See “Build Back Fairer: The COVID-19 Marmot Review” (Available from: Build Back Fairer: The COVID-19 
Marmot Review | The Health Foundation) 
28 See “Build Back Fairer: The COVID-19 Marmot Review” (Available from: Build Back Fairer: The COVID-19 
Marmot Review | The Health Foundation) 

Page 146



  
 

40 
 

Integrated Care System and other partners to redesign our Community Mental Health Services 
and embed recommendations of NHS England’s Advancing Mental Health Equalities Strategy. This 
will be implemented alongside Green Social Prescribing for communities experiencing significant 
health inequalities. 
 
While ensuring that children and young people can access support at the right time when it is 
needed, schools are in a strong position to identify mental health and wellbeing needs early. They 
are supported by Thrive Bristol and a range of whole-school intervention programmes and 
resources available through Bristol Healthy Schools. There is therapeutic work available through 
Targeted Youth Support and Off the Record, Kooth and Creative Youth Network’s team of 
Wellbeing Practitioners. Additionally, our introduction of trauma informed practice will help 
children build resilience and manage trauma they may experience, providing a sense of control in 
their life without the need to use harmful methods of coping.  
 

 

Delivering as One City: Thrive Bristol supports mental health in schools 
 
Thrive Bristol is our city’s 10-year programme to improve mental health and wellbeing. It is 
focusing on how different parts of our city – such as our communities, our places of education and 
work, and our homes, can keep us mentally healthy, recognising that as little as 10% of our 
population’s health and wellbeing can be linked to access to healthcare. 
 
Our current focus is supporting all schools in Bristol to develop a ‘whole school approach’ to 
mental wellbeing – for the benefit of pupils and staff. This includes award schemes that provide 
clear criteria and support to help schools, and a toolkit to offer information on best practice for 
improving mental health and wellbeing, sharing what has worked well in other classrooms across 
Bristol. 
 
The programme is also working with black, Asian and minority ethnic communities to better 
understand what a culturally informed approach to mental health looks like. 
 
Thrive Bristol is led by partners from across the city through the Thrive Bristol Steering Group. 
 

 

 

HCW3 
Poverty 
Tackle the root causes of poverty, reducing the impact of social and 
economic disadvantage on the health of different groups of people. Take 
action to help 10,000 households in Bristol suffering food insecurity, 
including access to culturally diverse, nutritional food and building on the 
success of Gold Sustainable Food City. 
 

[SDG 1, 2, 3, 7, 10, 
11, 12] 

Development and Delivery; Equality and Inclusion; Resilience; World class employment 
Tackling the root causes of poverty is an ambitious priority for the council, however it is only in 
working with partners to address this systemic problem that we will be able to help people live 
happier and healthier lives. Poverty is complex and intertwined with many other priorities in our 
Corporate Strategy such as homelessness, fair access to housing, mental health, access to 

Page 147



  
 

41 
 

employment and transport, digital inclusion, and intergenerational equality for children. All of 
these priorities have seen significant negative impact from the COVID-19 pandemic linked to 
poverty and disadvantage. It is only by tackling poverty together with other priorities that we can 
make the difference on life and health outcomes for the most marginalised people and build a city 
where everyone can share in its success. Many groups which are often faced with inequalities and 
inequity are similarly disproportionately impacted by poverty, with those more likely to be living 
in poverty including disabled people and those from ethnic minority backgrounds, women, single 
parents and carers, among others. 
 
Our most recent Quality of Life survey indicated that 13% of households in the most deprived 
areas of the city experienced ‘moderate or worse food insecurity’ and that the percentage of 
people living in these deprived areas who went to a food bank (or charity) in the last year rose 
significantly to 8% (from 3% last year)29.  Inequalities in household income and access to food are 
just two of the many reasons why people experience food insecurity and diet-related ill-health. 
These factors all contribute to making it harder for people to eat a healthy, balanced diet in a food 
system where unhealthy food options are cheaper and readily accessible. 
 
We are committed to tackling food insecurity. In June 2021 Bristol was officially awarded the 
status of Gold Sustainable Food City, recognising the positive work undertaken to make Bristol’s 
food system better for our people, our city, and the planet. Yet, achieving Gold is not the end 
of our journey. A resilient recovery from COVID-19 must include our local food economy, and we 
will continue to encourage local, ethical and sustainable sourcing, and champion the economic 
and social value of our independent food sector. A Food Equality Strategy and action plan is being 
co-produced with Feeding Bristol. This will identify key priorities and targeted actions to address 
food inequality in the city, as well as tying in with the broader poverty agenda. We are also 
working with partners including the Bristol Food Network to develop the One City Good Food 
Action Plan 2030 to create a more sustainable food system in the city. 
 

 

Delivering as One City: Feeding Bristol 
 
In response to a city-wide pledge to see no child go hungry, Feeding Bristol was set up in 2017 to 
help combat food poverty and insecurity throughout our local communities. As One City, Bristol 
has a vast array of individuals and organisations helping to supply fresh produce to local families 
who need it. Feeding Bristol acts as an umbrella organisation for the city, providing a central point 
of contact for groups and individuals with the same aim. Together, Bristol has made a big step 
change towards achieving Sustainable Development Goal #2, Zero Hunger. 
 
In response to the pandemic , Feeding Bristol uses a One City approach by working alongside over 
150 community organisations, and other partners, to provide a coordinated response to the 
significant increases in food insecurity. They are also working in partnership with the council to 
develop a comprehensive Food Equality Strategy and Action Plan, that will guide Bristol to a fairer 
and more equitable food future.  
 
Despite the pandemic, Feeding Bristol was able to lead and deliver their Healthy Holiday 
programme, supporting several thousand of the most vulnerable children with both food and fun 
activities during Summer 2020. During 2021 it supported the council-led initiative Your Holiday 

 
29 Available from: The quality of life in Bristol - bristol.gov.uk Recommendations of the Citizens' Assembly - 
Bristol - Citizen Space) 

Commented [TB46]: Women’s Commission and Severn 
Net feedback 

Commented [TB47]: Women’s Commission feedback 

Commented [TB48]: Internal staff feedback 
(Sustainability) 

Page 148



  
 

42 
 

Hub which provides children and young people, who usually receive free school meals during term 
time, with tasty and nutritious meals during the summer holidays. 
 

 

HCW4 
Disability 
Work with partners and those affected to co-produce improved approaches 
to enabling and supporting disabled people and those with special 
educational needs throughout their lives. 
 

[SDG 3, 4, 8, 10] 

Development and Delivery; Equality and Inclusion 
For disabled children and their families, we will work with city partners to become an inclusive 
and autism aware place to live, following the Social Model of Disability30 that recognises that 
people are disabled by barriers in society, not by their impairment or difference, whether that 
impairment or difference is physical, mental, or cognitive. 
 
We recognise that as a council we have much to do to improve our practice and capacity, as does 
society as a whole in meeting people’s needs. This has been recognised in several reviews in 
recent years, including an Ofsted and CQC inspection of the local area special educational needs 
and / or disabilities provision31, and Sir Stephen Bubb’s Building Rights report32. This made 
recommendations to help services and systems become more aware and have a better 
understanding of the challenges faced by autistic people and people with learning disabilities. 
Good autism practice in all our mainstream school settings is embedded within policies, 
environments and quality first teaching as a result of Autism Education Trust Approved Training 
Provider status. Our Special Educational Needs and Disability (SEND) improvement programme 
has improved the inclusion support offer for all educational settings and every step of our 
improvement journey is informed and shaped by the experiences, aspirations and ideas of 
children and young people with SEND and their families. We will embed effective and robust 
planning and review cycles for children and ensure fair and efficient funding of support provision 
for schools, particularly to meet needs at an earlier stage. 
 
We will deliver an early intervention team to build relationships and support parents who have 
questions about how to support a child with emerging additional needs and we will work with the 
Healthier Together Children and Young People’s Board to improve joint commissioning and 
strategic planning arrangements for children with complex health, care and education needs, 
preventing the need for care or hospital treatment through integrated family, schools, health and 
community support. We will continue improvement work to make sure we can provide timely, 
good quality Education, Health and Care Plans where they are required. 
 
Development of the Mayoral Disability Equality Commission will help further embed disability 
equality by way of a co-produced disability equality strategy and an action plan led by disabled 
peoples’ communities and other key stakeholders. We will also provide a faster and more efficient 
service of aids and adaptations to enable older and disabled people to remain independent in 
their own homes. 

 
30 See “Social Model of Disability” (Available from: Social model of disability | Scope UK) 
31 See the findings of the 2019 joint local area SEND inspection in City of Bristol (Available from: Ofsted and 
CQC inspection SEND report - bristol.gov.uk) 
32 See the 2021 “Building Rights” report (Available from: Review of Bristol’s policies and actions for people with 
learning disabilities and autism) 

Page 149



  
 

43 
 

 
City accessibility for disabled people will also be considered throughout our work on Transport 
and Connectivity (see Theme 6). 
 

 
 
Theme 5: Homes and Communities 
Healthy, resilient and inclusive neighbourhoods with fair access to decent, affordable homes. 
 
Having a stable home and community to belong to are key to feeling positively connected to others 
and the city. We want all people to be able to experience a community that is safe and healthy, 
helps them be an engaged citizen, and lead a meaningful collective social and cultural life in the city. 
However, Bristol’s appeal as a desirable place to live and work has meant high house prices and high 
rents, making the city unaffordable for many. The average Bristol resident now needs almost nine 
times their annual salary in order to be able to buy a house and private sector rents have also risen 
by more than the national average since 2013/1433.  
 
This means there are large and growing disparities and inequalities in having fair access to a decent 
home for many people in Bristol. The COVID-19 pandemic has further highlighted and reinforced 
existing inequalities where more deprived areas of Bristol may be more polluted, have less green 
and healthy space or reduced access to other areas of the city for work opportunities and social 
activities. One of the recommendations from the recent Citizens’ Assembly was that we 
fundamentally ‘reimagine the places we live so that they are people centred’. Good urban design 
and policies on planning, the environment, housing, transport, health, community cohesion and 
culture and leisure can all contribute to making more inclusive and people-centred neighbourhoods.  
 
Bristol’s cultural and creative economy brings vibrancy and life into all communities across Bristol, it 
also contributes significantly to the city's economy through commercial venues, film and TV 
production, festival and events, as well as an amazing hospitality offer for the city’s visitors and 
residents. COVID-19 has been devasting for the cultural and creative sectors, straining the creative 
economy but also removing the ability to express and celebrate who we are as individuals, a city and 
as communities. The city is rebuilding its thriving cultural and creative sector, so everyone has an 
equal chance to participate, enjoy cultural assets, understand the history that has shaped Bristol to 
the city it is today, ensuring a fair distribution of cultural capital. We will build on Bristol’s cultural 
offer to continue its reputation for inclusivity, sustainability, safety, vibrancy and sense of 
uniqueness. We will also invest in grassroots and professional sports clubs to increase resident 
participation in sport and physical activity in their everyday lives. Later in 2021 we will launch our 
ambitious Future Parks Programme to help shape the future of Bristol’s Parks and Green Spaces 
providing healthy outdoor spaces for all residents to enjoy across the city. 

We know from our annual Quality of Life survey that residents want to feel safe in their 
communities34. Over the past 24 months the Keeping Bristol Safe Partnership has taken a city-wide 
approach to tackling harassment, hate crime and discrimination and has worked collaboratively with 
relevant agencies to provide a person-centred approach to safeguarding and promoting people’s 

 
33 See ”Bristol Key Facts” (Available from: Bristol Key Facts 2021); ”Joint Strategic Needs Assessment Health 
and Wellbeing Profile 2021/22”: ”Housing“ (Available from: JSNA 2020 - Housing (bristol.gov.uk)) & 
”Homelessness Prevention Services“ (Available from: JSNA 2021.22 - Homelessness (bristol.gov.uk)) 
 
34 Available from: The quality of life in Bristol - bristol.gov.uk 
 

Page 150



  
 

44 
 

welfare. We will continue to take a zero-tolerance approach to abuse or crime based on gendersex, 
disability, gender reassignment, race, age, religion or sexuality. 
 
Domestic abuse has also been a particular focus. The recent Mayoral Commission on Domestic 
Abuse includes 35 recommendations that the city will take forward; moving us towards becoming a 
safer, kinder place where victims and survivors of domestic violence and abuse feel supported and 
empowered to move forward and build new lives.  
 
What might success look like? 
We are developing a detailed new framework of measures to support this Corporate Strategy, to be 
published in April 2022. This will help us measure if and how things are changing for the better. 
Among the outcomes we’re working towards are: 
 
In the long term we will know we have been successful when m 

 More people are able to experience housing stability and t 
 There is more equitable access to warm, healthy, affordable homes for all people in the city.  
 People can live where they choose and are able to access have good jobs and amenities 

close to where they live.  
 Neighbourhoods and communities are saferwill be safe, flourishing and designed to meet 

the needs of the people that live there.  
 People have We want all people to be able to haveaccess to social and cultural experiences 

that reflect their own identity and life experiences and contribute to the vibrancy of the city. 
 
 
Our Homes and Communities Priorities for 2022 – 2027 are: 
 

HC1 
Housing supply  
Ensure the affordability, availability, diversity and sustainability of housing 
for all. This includes accelerating home-building in the city to at least 2,000 
homes each year, with at least 1,000 affordable, by 2024. Build and retain 
new social housing; review the system for allocating social housing; provide 
more supported and extra-care housing for those who need it; pursue a 
‘living rent’ in the city; and ensure there are strong long-term plans for the 
council’s own housing stock and the use of land in the city. 
 

[SDG 1, 3, 7, 9, 11] 

Equality and Inclusion; Resilience 
The population of Bristol is predicted to rise from an estimated population of 465,900 in 2021 to 
493,400 by 202835. As the city grows36 there will be a need for more affordable housing and 
thoughtful use of land in the city. Homes and jobs will need to be better distributed and near to 
accessible public transport, and we will work to update the city’s Local Plan to consider issues 
such as land supply, where we earmark land for home-building and what types of housing 

 
35 See the 2020 ”The population of Bristol” report (Available from: 
https://www.bristol.gov.uk/documents/20182/33904/Population+of+Bristol+September+2020.pdf/69aa0aa1-
290a-ccf2-ec4f-13a7376b41a8) 
 
36 See the 2020 ”The population of Bristol” report (Available from: 
https://www.bristol.gov.uk/documents/20182/33904/Population+of+Bristol+September+2020.pdf/69aa0aa1-
290a-ccf2-ec4f-13a7376b41a8) 
 

Commented [TB49]: Women’s Commission feedback 

Commented [TB50]: Updated following internal review 
and workshop with Member Working Group 

Commented [TB51]: Internal staff feedback (Strategic 
Intelligence) 

Page 151



  
 

45 
 

development best reconcile the competing needs of a growing population and of our natural 
environment and wildlife. 
 
We will review our 30-year plan for how we use our Housing Revenue Account to help meet 
housing need in the city and fulfil our obligations as a landlord of nearly 30,000 properties, 
including a new a prompt repairs promise. We know that technical definitions of ‘affordable’ don’t 
necessarily make housing affordable for many people, so we will work in many ways to address 
this – for example seeking to retain social housing stock and working with partners to advocate 
for the power to introduce private rent controls. We will also work to improve conditions in the 
private rented sector and make sure empty properties in that sector are brought back in to use, 
building on our success of ensuring 450 were made available again in 2020. 
 
As we work to support older and / or more vulnerable people to remain as independent as 
possible within their communities, we will provide more supported and extra-care housing, 
offering a range of care options and solutions that support people to live fulfilling lives in their 
communities. 
 

 
 

HC2 
Healthy Lower carbon homes  
Work to decarbonise housing while improving warmth and benefitting 
people’s health. This includes building innovative, low-carbon homes; 
retrofitting existing housing stock; promoting schemes for private 
homeowners and exploring innovative financing and modern methods of 
construction. 
 

[SDG 3, 7, 9, 10, 
11, 13] 

Resilience; Sustainability 
While building new homes across the city, it is vital we ensure we are building new housing in low 
carbon ways that help us meet our ecological and environmental ambitions for a sustainable 
economic recovery. Ensuring all people are able to efficiently heat their homes and reducing fuel 
poverty can reduce damp conditions and improve the health of occupants. As well as reducing 
carbon emissions, this enables everyone to live more sustainably. New homes will need to be built 
using low-carbon methods, however existing homes will require a range of schemes to help lower 
their carbon emissions. This was also a recommendation arising from the recent Citizens’ 
Assembly. These would need national government investment or legislation to support private 
homeowners, and we will work to ensure good local delivery and take-up of any such schemes 
that are forthcoming, and that high quality local information and signposting is available.. 
 
We will continue to deliver new lower carbon neutral homes and ensure that investment and 
maintenance of existing council stock is carried out in a way that minimises the carbon footprint. 
begin delivery of retrofitting for existing housing stock to meet Bristol’s climate and ecological 
emergencies. Our aim is to be a national exemplar for utilising innovative and modern methods of 
construction delivering sustainable, affordable housing at pace. 
 
With substantial external investment needed at a national level, we will join with others to 
campaign for government funding to enable all council homes to be retrofitted to help make them 
more energy efficient, reduce their carbon footprint and contribute to addressing the impact of 
climate change. Similarly we will press for substantial national commitments to supporting private 
homeowners with adaptations. 
 

Commented [TB52]: Internal staff and Cabinet Member 
feedback (Housing) 

Commented [TB53]: Consultation feedback - misleading 
title. 

Commented [TB54]: Internal staff feedback (Housing) 

Page 152



  
 

46 
 

 
 
 
 

Delivering as One City: Hope Rise37 

 
Hope Rise is an environmental and socially 
focused development, completed in 2020, 
which has delivered much needed council 
housing in St George for young people in 
need of affordable housing and those at risk 
of housing crisis. The scheme offers 
something truly innovative, a first for the city 
and of its kind in the UK. Firstly, it reimagined 
existing land use by building homes above a 
car park. Secondly, together with Bristol 
Housing Festival we partnered with YMCA to 
make sure support structures were in place 

for new residents. Hope Rise is a brilliant demonstration of how innovation can help solve the 
housing crisis while providing beautiful, low carbon homes. 
 
This was the first time that council housing in Bristol had been allocated to ‘Community Builders’ 
(individuals recruited by the YMCA to a voluntary community-cohesion role) or allocated to 
individuals committed to the values of the development. 
 
Relationships between individuals and organisations were critical to the success of this project. 
We built, own and manage the homes, and have worked with ZED PODS, YMCA, and Bristol 
Housing Festival to bring it to life. Other stakeholders included local residents, Michelmores, 
South West Procurement Alliance, Turley, Impact Modular, Commonweal Housing, UWE, Centre 
for Thriving Places and Upfest. 
 

 
HC3 
Homelessness  
Reduce and prevent homelessness and rough sleeping, tackling its 
underlying causes. Reduce the number of households in temporary 
accommodation. Where people have high or complex needs, take a ‘Housing 
First’ approach to provide stable accommodation at the start of providing 
wider support. Help prevent homelessness by building and retaining social 
housing, supporting good mental and physical health, developing 
employment and skills opportunities, taking ethical approaches to debt 
collection and responding to the diverse needs of different people. 
 

[SDG 1, 3, 10, 11] 

Development and Delivery; Equality and Inclusion; World class employment 
Bristol has experienced rising rates of homelessness and rough sleeping over the past decade, and 
while temporary measures taken during the COVID-19 pandemic to house rough-sleepers and at a 
national level, to ban evictions and support furloughed workers, the end of these and the overall 
impact of the pandemic is likely to make more homeless in months and years to come.  
 

 
37 See more details at HOPE RISE — Bristol Housing Festival 

Commented [TB55]: Internal staff feedback (Housing) 

Page 153



  
 

47 
 

Given the challenges we face around increasing homelessness, it is critical that we continue to put 
homelessness prevention at the heart of everything we do. We will find new ways of both 
understanding different people’s needs and addressing the complex factors that can lead 
to homelessness. Stable housing is intrinsically tied to how well people are able to focus on other 
needs or difficulties in their lives and participate within their communities. Our Housing First and 
Changing Futures schemes will continue to build on existing city partnerships that support people 
with multiple disadvantages such as homelessness, mental health needs, substance misuse issues, 
domestic abuse and being in the criminal justice system.  
 
As we work to systemically address the causes of homelessness and increase our supply of 
appropriate and affordable housing, we will reduce the numbers of people living in temporary 
accommodation, helping to improve their health and wellbeing. We will also do our part to create 
a city where no-one need sleep rough by 2024, in line with national and One City Plan goals. 
 

 

Delivering as One Council: Supported ‘Move-on Accommodation’ 
 
Supported Move-on Accommodation provides an alternative form of temporary housing to what 
is usually used in the city, such as emergency accommodation, hostels and supported housing. 
 
Over 40 new homes offer a semi-independent temporary housing option where someone 
recovering from homelessness can have their own personal space and begin to rebuild their lives. 
 
Residents receive floating tenancy support from experienced teams from the council and St 
Mungo’s, to help build their confidence and skills to maintain a tenancy, before moving on to fully 
independent accommodation. This support is tailored to the individual and focuses on wellbeing, 
establishing or re-establishing social and family relationships, training and employment, and 
learning skills to help reduce the risk of becoming homeless again. 
 
In 2021 we partnered with St Mungo’s and United Communities/Solon Housing to provide an 
initial 46 properties, and we aim to add more houses to the programme during 2022. Each 
resident can stay in the property for up to three years so that are able to feel settled in their home 
and become part of the local community. Some people may only need the property for 6-12 
months, others may stay for the whole three years. Once someone moves on from a supported 
move-on property, it is re-let to another person who is homeless or at risk of homelessness. 
 

 

HC4 
Disability 
Create improved approaches, founded upon Disability Equality, to enable 
and support Disabled people throughout their lives. These will be co-
produced with Disabled people, including children and young people with 
special educational needs, and city partners. 

[SDG 3, 4, 8, 10] 

Development and Delivery; Equality and Inclusion 
 
We recognise that as a council we have much to do to improve our practice and capacity in 
meeting the needs of all Disabled people including children and young people with special 
educational needs.  This has been recognised in several reviews in recent years, including an 
Ofsted and CQC inspection of the local area special educational needs and / or disabilities 

Commented [TB56]: Women’s Commission feedback 

Commented [TB57]: Internal staff feedback (Housing) 

Formatted: Font: Bold

Commented [TB58]: Updated based on internal staff 
feedback (SLG; Neighbourhoods and Communities) and 
engagement with Chair of Bristol Disability Equality 
Commission. Moved from Health, Care and Wellbeing theme 
to highlight Social Model of Disability. 
 

Formatted: Font: Bold

Page 154



  
 

48 
 

provision38, and Sir Stephen Bubb’s Building Rights report39 which focused on challenges faced by 
autistic people and people with learning difficulties.  
 
The city council is committed to addressing the significant challenges experienced by all Disabled 
people. It will do this by following the Social Model of Disability. The Social Model recognises that 
people are Disabled by barriers in society, not by their impairment or difference, whether that 
impairment or difference is cognitive, mental, physical or sensory.  
 
We will adopt a co-production policy and process that will mean genuine and meaningful 
involvement of Disabled people in policy formulation and service development to make “Nothing 
about us without us” a reality. The new Disability Equality Commission will help further embed 
disability equality across the city by way of a co-produced disability equality strategy. 
 
We will provide a faster and more efficient service of aids and adaptations to enable Disabled 
people and older people to remain independent in their own homes. Accessibility for Disabled 
people will also be considered throughout our work on Transport and Connectivity (see Theme 6), 
with particular care in designing more accessible public space enabling good access to transport 
options. 
 
Our Special Educational Needs and Disability (SEND) improvement programme has improved the 
inclusion support offer for all educational settings and every step of our improvement journey is 
informed and shaped by the experiences, aspirations and ideas of children and young people with 
SEND and their families. We will embed effective and robust planning and review cycles for 
children and ensure fair and efficient funding of support provision for schools, particularly to meet 
needs at an earlier stage. 
 
We will deliver an early intervention team to build relationships and support parents who have 
questions about how to support a child with emerging additional needs and we will work with the 
Healthier Together Children and Young People’s Board to improve joint commissioning and 
strategic planning arrangements for children with complex health, care and education needs, 
preventing the need for care or hospital treatment through integrated family, schools, health and 
community support. We will continue improvement work to make sure we can provide timely, 
good quality Education, Health and Care Plans where they are required. In our mainstream school 
settings, good autism practice is embedded within policies, environments and quality-first 
teaching as a result of Autism Education Trust Approved Training Provider status.  
 
All of the above will contribute to Bristol becoming a more inclusive and Autism aware place to 
live for all Disabled people including children and young people with special educational needs. 
 

 

HC54 
Community Participation  
Make sure that more people can actively participate in their community and 
in the life of the city. Work to make neighbourhoods safer and more 
accessible, with good local amenities and strong cultural and social 
networks. Build the power of individuals, communities and partners to play a 

[SDG 3, 5, 10, 11, 
15, 16] 

 
38 See the findings of the 2019 joint local area SEND inspection in City of Bristol (Available from: Ofsted and 
CQC inspection SEND report - bristol.gov.uk) 
39 See the 2021 “Building Rights” report (Available from: Review of Bristol’s policies and actions for people with 
learning disabilities and autism) 

Page 155



  
 

49 
 

greater role in managing social, cultural and community assets. Enable and 
encourage civic, political and democratic participation. 
 
Development and Delivery; Equality and Inclusion; Resilience 
As well as ensuring people have fair access to decent homes, the areas around homes need to be 
clean, safe, close to amenities, help promote health and enable people to belong. In line with a 
recommendation from our 2020 Citizens’ Assembly to reimagine the places we live so that they 
are people centred, we want people to live in well-designed neighbourhoods where local high 
streets are thriving and supporting local economic wealth, people can work and play safely, have 
access to healthy green spaces and sports facilities. We want all people have social and cultural 
experiences that reflect their own identity and life. Evolving a shared narrative and understanding 
of the history that has shaped Bristol will strengthen the fabric of our communities and sense of 
belonging, unifying the city in recovery.  
   
We will build on existing community strengths and encourage the conditions that enable mutual 
support and connection for people to be involved in developing community assets and solving 
shared problems. By fostering a sense of community participation everyone can benefit from 
more resilient communities. Children and young people should continue be engaged through 
formal groups as well as community co-production activity, empowering their voice to in the city 
that they will grow up in. Through innovative approaches to democratic participation, such as 
citizen assemblies, we will continue to reach out to actively engage citizens in the political process 
and help people to feel they have a stake in future of their community and cCity. We will build 
further on projects such as the School Streets and the Community Toilet programme, as well as 
innovative approaches to developing parks, play areas, libraries and community hubs and facilities 
for people to share neighbourhood spaces in an accessible way.  
  
We are also making greater investments in community-based organisations and local 
infrastructure to strengthen the role of VCSE partners to build community capacity, support 
sustainability of their business models and equitable access to funding opportunities. Our £5.2m 
Bristol Impact Fund helps support VCSE organisations to develop their infrastructure, increase 
social value-based commissioning, improve resilience and support those suffering the greatest 
inequity in the city to thrive. Bristol’s VCSE sector not only played a vital role during the pandemic 
but is critical to aiding our recovery. The crisis of COVID-19 has shown that VCSE organisations and 
the public sector can deliver collaboratively. Aligning with the 2021 VCSE strategy – Designing A 
New Social Reality40 we will support communities to grow their own power and take action on 
local decisions as to what matters most to them. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
40 VCSE Research — Black South West Network 

Page 156



  
 

50 
 

Theme 6: Transport and Connectivity 
A more efficient, sustainable and inclusive connection of people to people, people to jobs and 
people to opportunity. 
 
We know that congestion, and its effect on air quality, is a major issue in Bristol and has an adverse 
impact on our inclusive economic growth. Inequality across the city exists in part due to a historic 
lack of good quality transport options available to reliably and affordably connect citizens to 
services, jobs, and each other. 
 
People living in more deprived areas are those who encounter worse air pollution, a higher 
proportion of traffic injuries, and live closer to major roads which cut across their communities41.  
 
We have made progress in recent years. We have seen rising levels of public transport use in Bristol 
when other cities across the UK have been experiencing a decline42. We have worked with partners 
to keep delivering and improving the city’s bus rapid transit scheme - MetroBus – which has included 
improved bus prioritisation measures to prevent MetroBus and other buses getting caught up in 
general congestion to improve reliability. Bristol was also the first Cycling City in the UK, which 
brought in high levels of investment in cycling infrastructure and promotion. Bristol now has the 
highest proportion of people walking and cycling to work of any large city43. We want to build on this 
and make it easier for people to walk, cycle or use public transport. We want our transport options 
to be viable for all, taking into account the needs of different people including those with different 
access requirements, such as disabled citizens, older people, carers and those whose mobility may 
be impaired. 
 
Our ambition is for Bristol to be a city of sustainable communities that combines housing, 
employment, retail, education, training and leisure functions, all linked by a strong public transport 
network. We know that both major infrastructure and changes in behaviour take time, but over the 
next five years we will make progress towards becoming a better connected city that enables people 
to move around efficiently, with increased transport options that are accessible to and inclusive of 
all. We will deliver an improved sustainable and resilient transport network that supports Bristol’s 
vibrant independent local centres and neighbourhoods and connects to an attractive and thriving 
city centre.  
 
What might success look like? 
We are developing a detailed new framework of measures to support this Corporate Strategy, to be 
published in April 2022. This will help us measure if and how things are changing for the better. 
Among the outcomes we’re working towards are: 
 
In the long term we will know we have been successful when  

 Tthe city has more public transport options which are well-used and liked.  
 Our roads will be quieter and our air cleaner, with more people choosing to walk, cycle or 

use other forms of active transport, and  
 Ffewer people suffering ill-health or dieying from conditions linked to air pollution or 

obesity.  
 

41 See ”Bristol Transport Strategy“ (Available from: 
https://www.bristol.gov.uk/documents/20182/3641895/Bristol+Transport+Strategy+-
+adopted+2019.pdf/383a996e-2219-dbbb-dc75-3a270bfce26c); ”Joint Strategic Needs Assessment Health and 
Wellbeing Profile 2021/22”: ”Promoting Healthy Urban Environments “ (Available from: JSNA 2020/21 - 
Promoting Healthy Urban Environments (bristol.gov.uk) 
42 Available from: The quality of life in Bristol - bristol.gov.uk 
43 See “Bristol Key Facts” (Available from: Bristol Key Facts 2021) 

Commented [TB59]: Women’s Commission feedback 

Commented [TB60]: Updated following internal review 
and workshop with Member Working Group 

Page 157



  
 

51 
 

 There are We will see better rates of employment as people can afford to access jobs, 
education and skills opportunities, and fewer people will report feeling socially isolated.  

 There will be fewer accidents and incidences of crime or anti-social behaviour in places like 
cycle paths, car parks or on public transport. 

 
Our Transport and Connectivity Priorities for 2022 – 2027 are: 
 

TC1 
Connectivity 
Improve physical and geographical connectivity to help include more people 
socially, educationally and economically. Drive progress on delivery of mass 
transit, tackle congestion and expand active travel infrastructure. Work in 
close partnership with the West of England Combined Authority to ensure 
progress on accessible public transport infrastructure, including additional 
Park and Ride facilities and pressing for mainline electrification. 
 

[SDG 3, 8, 9, 10, 
11, 13] 

Equality and Inclusion; Resilience; Sustainability 
The city has been experiencing the biggest investment in transport infrastructure in living 
memory, setting the scene for a future mass transit system. This investment includes the first 
three routes of a MetroBus Rapid Transport network, linking the city centre to the North Fringe 
and South Bristol. There has also been widespread investment in improved cycle lanes and other 
infrastructure to support people to cycle, walk or use other forms of ‘active travel’. 
 
However, despite the progress made, our annual Quality of Life survey shows 70% of citizens still 
find congestion to be a problem locally, and transport related issues dominate the top ten list of 
comments made by people when asked how to improve the city44. 
 
There are ambitious local and regional plans to improve transport connectivity across the city 
further. Cycle Ambition Fund programmes are helping to improve cycle infrastructure, and 
transport investment linked to the Temple Quarter Enterprise Zone will provide sustainable 
transport access to new jobs. The MetroWest suburban rail scheme seeks to reopen old and open 
new stations as well as increase the frequency of suburban rail services. This includes exploring 
new stations at Constable Road, Ashton Gate, St Anne’s and the stations already planned as part 
of MetroWest which include Portway, Ashley Down, Filton North and Henbury.  
 
Delivering this priority – including orbital travel as well as connections to the centre -  will require 
continued partnership collaborative working with our partners, citizens and stakeholders; the 
council cannot solve these problems alone and we know from our Citizens’ Assembly that people 
want to be involved and engaged in the planning and implementation of transport initiatives45. 
Bristol will continue to work closely with South Gloucestershire, Bath and North East Somerset, 
and North Somerset councils on the Joint Local Transport Plan, which covers the West of England 
region. With many transport responsibilities resting with the West of England Combined 
Authority, we will continue to work in close partnership and make the case for necessary 
investment to take forward the transport schemes and actions needed in Bristol. 
 

 
 

 
44 Available from: The quality of life in Bristol - bristol.gov.uk 
45 Recommendation no. 11 from the Bristol Citizens’ Assembly (Available from: Recommendations of the 
Citizens' Assembly - Bristol - Citizen Space) 

Commented [TB61]: Severn Net feedback 

Page 158



  
 

52 
 

TC2 
Improved Bus Services 
Enable inclusion through better bus services. Work with partners to double 
frequency, improve safety and reliability, offer free travel to young people, 
move to a zero-emission bus fleet and increase the number of routes so 
more places are served. 
 

[SDG 3, 8, 9, 10, 
11, 13] 

Equality and Inclusion; Resilience; Sustainability 
In recent years (up until the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic) more people have been using 
buses, and the bus system offers a more cost-effective, quick and efficient way to improve public 
transport services compared with investing in other infrastructure like local rail. Satisfaction with 
the local bus service has continued to rise year-on-year in our annual Quality of Life 2020 survey 
and now stands at a city average of 57%, meaning there is still room for improvement. Citizens 
living in more deprived parts of the city have lower satisfaction (55%), but this has risen 
significantly from 42% in 201946. The lowest satisfaction rates are seen towards the southern and 
western reaches of the city’s boundaries. 
 
A comprehensive and reliable bus network delivered by cleaner vehicles will contribute to 
improving travel and air quality across the city. Working with partners, we will increase the 
number of cleaner, greener and more accessible buses, improve ticketing systems and double 
peak hour frequency on core routes to improve access to wider employment and training 
opportunities. We also need to make sure that more remote or deprived parts of the city are not 
left disconnected or disadvantaged by poorer access to bus services, and we will work to make 
sure that there are more routes served, exploring options with partners to address common 
complaints, such as people wishing to take buses around the city without having to go via the 
centre and / or make multiple changes. 
 

 
 

TC3 
Safe and active travel 
Support people to make positive changes in their travel behaviour so they 
can reduce car journeys, use cleaner vehicles and safely enjoy the health 
benefits of more active travel (such as walking and cycling) and cleaner air. 
Adapt transport infrastructure – such as increasing electric vehicle charging 
points – to support this change. 
 

[SDG 3, 11, 12, 13] 

Equality and Inclusion; Sustainability 
We want an equitable transition that is affordable for all and doesn’t  further marginalise and 
disadvantage as we move to a more environmentally sustainable city and economy. We will 
support people to make positive changes in their travel behaviour so they enjoy more active 
forms of travel and reduce unnecessary car journeys. Air pollution levels in Bristol exceed 
government standards and affect health, causing around 300 early deaths per year in the city47. 

 
46 Available from: The quality of life in Bristol - bristol.gov.uk 
47 See the ”Health Impacts of Air Pollution in Bristol” report (Available from: 
https://www.bristol.gov.uk/documents/20182/32675/Health+Impacts+of+Air+Pollution+in+Bristol+February+
2017/4df2fce5-e2fc-4c22-b5c7-
5e7a5ae56701#:~:text=The%20new%20results%20show%20that%20around%20300%20deaths,City%20of%20
Bristol%20being%20attributable%20to%20air%20pollution.) 

Page 159



  
 

53 
 

Emissions from diesel vehicles are the dominant factor driving poor air quality48. Action is being 
taken, including developing and launching a Clean Air Zone in the centre of the city to help 
discourage high-polluting vehicles and fund positive changes to mitigate the impact of traffic-
related pollution. This will make sure we reach legal compliance for air quality levels as quickly as 
possible and in keeping with timescales required by the Government. A range of measures are 
being put in place to make the scheme as fair as possible and mitigate its impact on people from 
lower-income households. 
 
However, exposure to poor air quality is not the only factor that can discourage walking, cycling 
and other forms of active or more sustainable travel. We must also improve the feeling of safety 
on public transport and our streets, and continue to reduce road collisions. Actual and perceived 
safety is still a big barrier to cycling in particular. Our ambition is to build a comprehensive cycle 
network accessible for all and segregated wherever possible, meaning free from motorised 
vehicles and to reduce conflict with pedestrians. This network aims to reduce barriers for all types 
of bikes including cargo bikes, bikes with trailers and adapted bikes for disabled cyclists. 
 
In 2020 a Citizens’ Assembly for Bristol recommended making Bristol the best city internationally 
to travel around, by prioritising sustainable, safe, healthy, accessible alternatives to the car for 
all49 . Similarly, in our annual Quality of Life Survey in 2020 the top comment for improving quality 
of life was ‘reduce congestion / fewer cars’, with tackling air pollution and improving cycling 
facilities also in the top five50. This suggests that people are prepared to support a step-change in 
coming years to reduce the number of cars on our roads51 and actions to help support this aim will 
be considered as we plan for the future. 
 

 
 

Delivering as One Council: Safer streets around schools 
 
Bristol School Streets is a programme of short-term daily street closures outside schools during 
drop-off and pick-up times. This improves both air quality and road safety, helping create a 
healthier, safer environment for children. Teams across our transport, education, public health, 
consultation teams and more are working together to support the programme. 
 
As well reducing traffic, Bristol School Streets helps encourage more children and families to walk, 
scoot or cycle to school, providing extra health and wellbeing benefits. 
 
During 2020 and 2021 we piloted School Streets at four schools in the city, with a further four 
planned for the academic year running in to 2022. The schemes are well received and parents 
around the city have asked us to go bigger, bolder and move more quickly. However, transport 

 
48 See ”Bristol Transport Strategy“ (Available from: 
https://www.bristol.gov.uk/documents/20182/3641895/Bristol+Transport+Strategy+-
+adopted+2019.pdf/383a996e-2219-dbbb-dc75-3a270bfce26c) 
 

 

50 Available from: The quality of life in Bristol - bristol.gov.uk 
 

 

Commented [TB62]: Women’s Commission feedback 

Page 160



  
 

54 
 

regulations and traffic flows are complicated – and as much as we would like to, we cannot 
implement schemes overnight. 
 
We will continue to engage with schools, residents and the school communities to make sure that 
we get these schemes right and that wider communities feel included, listened to, and ultimately 
feel the benefit of schemes that work for everyone. Look out for more around Bristol from 2022 
onwards. 
 

 
 

 
 

TC4 
Physical Infrastructure  
Plan, prioritise and begin a refreshed and long-term (25-year+) programme 
of maintenance, repair and renewal of the city’s infrastructure, such as 
roads and bridges. This will help make sure that the city is safer, more 
climate-resilient, nature-friendly and able to grow its economy in an 
inclusive and sustainable way. 
 

[SDG 1, 9, 11, 13] 

Equality and Inclusion; Resilience; Sustainability 
Bristol has a lot of older infrastructure, including major roads, bridges and flyovers, that is 
reaching the end of its operational life. In some cases, this could mean full replacement, and in 
others it will mean working on repairs and renewals. This is vital to make sure that the city is safe 
to travel around. In recent years we have seen several examples where this has caused issues, 
from the closing of the Chocolate Path, shoring up of Cumberland Road, to the complexity of the 
refurbishment of the Prince Street Bridge. 
 
Part of building our resilience means having robust infrastructure. We have all seen what happens 
to traffic in rush hour when a single bridge or route closes, and stresses like this make us more 
vulnerable to the effects of climate change, extreme weather events or other issues that can 
disrupt or damage the fabric of our built environment. 

Commented [TB63]: Consultation feedback on clarity of 
title. 

Page 161



  
 

55 
 

 
With so many historic and older assets, we need to take a long-term approach to making sure 
they are safe and fit for our current and future purposes. This includes opportunities to rethink 
what we need and make infrastructure and its surroundings more accessible (including for 
disabled people and those with mobility issues), better for the environment and designed in ways 
that best supports inclusive, sustainable economic growth. 
 
Of course, funding and investment is limited and projects involving older infrastructure can be 
extremely complex and unpredictable, often taking longer or costing more than anyone might 
have expected once work begins. Our approach will be risk-based, meaning it will be assessed on 
the threats and opportunities presented. This will always put people’s safety first, and will also 
consider issues such as financial cost, environmental impact, economic benefit and how critical 
the asset is to keep the city moving and working. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 162



  
 

56 
 

Theme 7: AEffective Development Organisation 
From city government to city governance: creating a focussed council that empowers individuals, 
communities and partners to flourish and lead. 
 
Being an effective development organisation means making substantial changes to our ways of 
working. In recent years we have worked hard to get a stronger grip on our governance and improve 
our approach to equality and inclusion. We have made good progress, but several challenges 
remain. The council is larger than most of its counterparts and not always more efficient or effective. 
We need to consider what the right size, shape and scale is for the city’s future needs, streamline 
processes and target our limited resources to those most in need given the financial pressure we 
face. 
 
Throughout the COVID-19 pandemic we learned many lessons we can build on going forward. We 
demonstrated our ability to be adaptable, respond quickly and work in a joined-up, cohesive way for 
the benefit of citizens. We have strengthened partnerships in the city and united more closely 
around common goals. We have worked more closely and inclusively with our communities and 
more effectively with the voluntary, community and social enterprise sector (VCSE). We have 
changed our ways of working and embraced innovative technology at a pace we have never 
achieved before. We have been better able to identify non-essential activities and red-tape and can 
now make thoughtful decisions about if and why any of this needs to return.  
   
What might success look like? 
We are developing a detailed new framework of measures to support this Corporate Strategy, to be 
published in April 2022. This will help us measure if and how things are changing for the better. 
Among the outcomes we’re working towards are: 

 Strategy and practice across different organisations and sectors in the city are better aligned 
towards shared goals, with partners and communities feeling well placed lead in their own 
rights 

 Our workforce and leadership is reflective of the diversity of the city we serve, and staff feel 
included and able to bring their whole self to work 

 Citizens are more satisfied with the way we run things and enjoy easier access to services 
and consistently good customer service 

 We offer externally-assured and audited good value for money, supported by appropriate 
governance that enables auditors to provide full assurance 

 
 
Our Effective Development Organisation Priorities for 2022 – 2027 are: 
 

EDO1 
One City 
Use a One City Approach to take a collective, partnership-focused approach 
to city leadership. Enable strong civic participation and the join-up 
of activities by partners towards our common goals. Work to convene, build 
and exert regional, national and international influence to advocate for 
the city and attract appropriate investment. 
 

[SDG 10, 11, 16, 
17] 

Development and Delivery; Equality and Inclusion; Resilience; Sustainability; World class 
employment 
The One City Approach brings together a huge range of public, private, voluntary and education 
sector partners within Bristol to work together on city challenges and set out long term ambitions 
for our city. It works to create change in the whole city system by facilitating participation and 

Commented [TB64]: Updated following internal review 
and workshop with Member Working Group 

Page 163



  
 

57 
 

collective leadership between many different sectors and organisations. In doing so it brings 
clarity on what we’re trying to achieve together, creates extra resilience, creates new space to 
solve complex city challenges more efficiently, and increases the sustainability and scalability of 
new innovations. This aims to create better outcomes for the citizens of Bristol over the long 
term. The One City Approach is enabled by the City Office, a small managed hub hosted within the 
council and co-funded with partners, to support and coordinate city resources and assets. 
 
However, the city alone cannot create all the change that Bristol needs. We rely on the right 
policies, strategies and investment from other sources too, whether it is from the Government, 
philanthropic organisations, private firms, international networks, the regional West of England 
Combined Authority or the pan-regional Western Gateway. We work to create a strong city voice 
and build relationships with important partners and networks, helping make sure Bristol can 
influence positive change in regional, national and international policy and that it makes a strong 
case for the appropriate powers and investment that it needs to flourish. 
 
Bristol’s universities are key anchor partners in this work, and we aim to continuing strengthening 
ties in ways that benefit local people and help the city deliver the UN Sustainable Development 
Goals. This includes harnessing the benefit of their considerable research expertise to inform 
policy, and to co-create solutions that address challenges such as health and wellbeing 
inequalities, climate change and ecological deterioration. We will also draw on these key civic 
partnerships to help link citizens into decision making and planning processes in the city; and to 
ensure there is independent evaluation of city progress on the One City Approach. 
 

 
Delivering as One City: Responding to COVID-19 
 
Since April 2020, the Mayor and the City Office have led weekly COVID-19 calls with a range of city 
leaders and Public Health experts, bringing together senior members of staff from across the 
public, private, voluntary and educational sectors, to share information, consider actions and 
discuss a shared approach to the challenges faced by the city in the face of the pandemic. 
 
It was through this weekly contact that many leading organisations in the city and region were 
able to come together, make quick decisions relating to their organisations and, in some cases, 
make improvements to their response to the pandemic. For example, the City of Bristol College 
was able to link up with the higher education (UoB and UWE) and care sectors as part of the roll 
out of mass testing in the city, and Bristol City Council could quickly channel vital data through to 
thousands of businesses in the area when needed. The collaboration also resulted in different 
sector heads being able to identify potential issues work and together to help make the city safer. 
For example, First Bus and City of Bristol College worked on managing bus capacity during the 
academic year to ensure social distancing could be maintained on public transport. 
 

 
 

EDO2 
One Council  
Make it easier to get things done as ‘One Council’ by adopting 
more consistent standardised and well-communicated procedures and 
processes, with corporate support services that are the right size for the 
needs of the organisation.    
 

[SDG 16] 

Development and Delivery 

Commented [TB65]: University of Bristol feedback 

Page 164



  
 

58 
 

We have around 6,000 employees and invest over £1bn in the city each year. With this size and 
scale, we can sometimes operate as a collection of departments and services, rather than as a 
single, joined-up whole. This can lead to duplication of effort, and a lack of coordination and 
consistency. It can also make it harder to prioritise, resulting in taking on too many ambitious 
projects and priorities at once.  
 
Our strategy relies on focused interventions and strong coordination of activities. We need to 
work more smartly and intentionally together as ‘One Council’. This will be a major organisational 
focus over the course of this refreshed Corporate Strategy and will make it easier for colleagues to 
get things done efficiently, safely and in line with our priorities. 
 

 
EDO3 
Employer of choice  
Live our organisational values and show leadership on equality, diversity and 
inclusion across the council and city, becoming a recognised employer of 
choice. Make sure we have an inclusive, high-performing, and motivated 
workforce that is representative of the city we serve. Support people to 
learn, develop in their careers and maximise their wellbeing. 
 

[SDG 4, 5, 8, 10, 
16] 

Development and Delivery; Equality and Inclusion; World class employment 
Our colleagues are our greatest asset and if we want to achieve our ambitious vision and goals for 
the city, we need to make sure that our workforce and leadership truly reflects the diversity of the 
city and understands the different needs of different people and neighbourhoods. This diversity 
needs strong, culturally competent and values-led leadership. This will ensure inclusion within a 
culture where all staff are respected, heard and enabled to contribute as part of their current 
roles, while also developing their skills and careers. We will continue to remove any unfair barriers 
which staff may face, support them with improved digital tools and technology, and work to 
address the under-representation of some groups across all protected characteristics, care-leavers 
and those from socio-economically deprived backgrounds. in senior roles. We will make more 
progress in closing average pay gaps relating to gender, race, disability and sexual orientation.  
 
Our most recent staff survey in 2020 showed that 83% of respondents were clear about what the 
council is here to do, and its priorities; and 79% said they believe the council is committed to 
creating a diverse and inclusive environment. 71% said they would recommend Bristol City Council 
as a place to work. These are strong results that we are keen to build upon as we continue our 
journey towards being an inclusive, values-led employer which enables existing staff to develop 
and thrive while attracting and retaining top talent when we recruit. 
 
We know that we are on a journey, and we have made real progress to improve organisational 
culture in recent years. We also know that many colleagues have had an incredibly challenging 
and sometimes traumatic time responding to the COVID-19 pandemic. Moving forward we will be 
working hard to support people’s resilience, including their mental and physical wellbeing. 
 

 
 

EDO4 
Data Driven 
Improve our ethical and inclusive use of research, data, insights and 
information to become more data-driven and evidence-led in making 
decisions. 

[SDG 10, 16, 17] 

Commented [TB66]: Internal staff feedback 

Page 165



  
 

59 
 

 
Development and Delivery; Equality and Inclusion 
We own a wealth of information and data, and through an ongoing programme of digital 
transformation we are able to do more with it. We need to manage it securely, process it 
responsibly and use it ethically to improve services and outcomes. We need to bring people with 
us and ensure people know how, when, where and why we are using or sharing data about them. 
 
Being ‘data driven’ does not mean removing human judgement. It means using new technologies 
and ways of working to make the best use of data, analyse it well and present it in ways that help 
us understand what has happened and why. It also helps us make well-informed decisions about 
what we should do. 
 
Managers and other decision makers need up to date, interactive and easy to use insights, 
available to the right people at the right time. Our staff need secure access to the information 
they need, at any time, from anywhere. To allow this, information will be treated as a corporate 
asset rather than something owned within a single service. This means keeping our data in one 
place with secure and effective governance, monitoring, audit and quality assurance. 
 

 
Delivering as One Council: Better data helps transform Adult Social Care 
 
Teams in the council’s Adult Social Care and Insight, Performance and Intelligence services have 
moved into delivering more data driven practice. 
 
With significant, targeted investment, over the course of six months the team has radically 
increased their levels of business insight, gaining a better understanding of their activity and 
spend.   
 
Now managers receive monthly reports on trends across all their long-term care services, with live 
same day data on over 5,400 service users. The data has been made available to all Adult Social 
Care staff (removing personal identifiable details) to enable them to explore and learn through 
viewing activity across the business by care service, primary support reason, client category, 
provider, age, ethnicity, location and team working with the service user. This supports good 
business management and a deeper understanding of what impacts events, such as COVID-19, 
have had on our most vulnerable people. 
 

Page 166



  
 

60 
 

 
 

 
 

EDO5 
Good Governance  
Make sure that we are financially competent and resilient, offering good 
value for money. Take safe but proportionate approaches to risk, 
performance, project and contract management. Enable effective 
democratic decision making and scrutiny. 
 

[SDG 16] 

Development and Delivery; Resilience 
With over £1bn flowing through the council each year and a diverse range of services that can 
include matters of life and death, it is vital that everything we do keeps citizens and the council 
safe. We operate under strict legal duties, including the need to provide value for money, and we 
often need to make difficult decisions considering the realities we face. 
 
Good governance means anticipating our impact and judging what changes and improvements we 
need to make to deal with any weaknesses. We must then do things differently as a result. In 
recent years the council has invited a range of external and internal scrutiny of its governance and 
made many improvements which have been independently assessed. However, the processes and 
systems we use are not always the most efficient and we can do more to join-up our discussions 
about the different parts of governance and performance. 
 
We must keep a good financial grip and manage things effectively without making things too 
bureaucratic and unwieldy, because part of being resilient means being able to be fast, flexible 
and adaptable in what we do. Important factors in this are having clear roles and responsibilities 
about governance for all staff and councillors, looking to the future as we plan, being honest 
about what goes well and what doesn’t, making sure reality matches our perceptions and having 
strong external relationships. We also need effective councillor-led audit and scrutiny with a 
culture that is both challenging and robust, but also thoughtful and reflective. It needs to focus on 
the most important local issues at stages where it can add value to decision making. We must 
continue developing constructive relationships between officers, the Executive, scrutiny, and 
audit to ensure a meaningful and respectful dialogue contributes to sound decision making. 

Page 167



  
 

61 
 

 
 
 

EDO6 
Estate Review 
Review our operational estate to ensure we have the right amount and right 
quality of workspaces. Make sure they are carbon neutral by 2025, as well as 
climate resilient. Explore the potential for greater presence in 
neighbourhoods alongside partners. 
 

[SDG 11, 13, 16] 

Development and Delivery; Sustainability 
The purpose of the estate review is to ensure that service departments are adequately 
accommodated and to ensure that the future asset requirements for each service are identified 
and procured. We will, as part of the asset management process, develop a comprehensive 
approach to reduce the environmental impact of our estate. 
 
Property assets are maintained and managed in accordance with corporate strategic priorities and 
standards and relevant property and health and safety legislation. The Estate Review is designed 
to enable the council to utilise its assets to deliver better, more efficient services to communities. 
 
This also allows us to move out of leased premises and utilise our existing estate footprint to 
deliver services. Importantly, this also allows us to reconsider our approach to what is delivered at 
a ‘workplace’ as we change our approach to service delivery in response to COVID-19 and adopt 
new ways of working. This includes exploring new ways to join-up with partners and potentially 
co-locate local services. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 168



  
 

62 
 

GLOSSARY 
 

 Adverse Childhood Experiences – defined as stressful events occurring in childhood such 
as52:  

o domestic violence 
o parental abandonment through separation or divorce 
o a parent with a mental health condition  
o being the victim of abuse (physical, sexual and /or emotional) 
o being the victim of neglect (physical and emotional)  
o a member of the household being in prison  
o growing up in a household in which there are adults experiencing alcohol and drug 

use problems. 

  

 Assistive technology – equipment or devices designed to improve a person’s capabilities and 
independence, often used by people with disabilities 

  

 An asylum seeker is a person who has sought protection as a refugee, but whose claim for 
refugee status has not yet been assessed. 

  

Attainment 8 and Progress 8 became the lead Department for Education (DfE) measures of pupil 
performance in 2016, for pupils at the end of Key Stage 4 (age 16). Attainment 8 is a measure of 
overall GCSE performance across 8 subjects, including English and maths.   

 Biodiversity: The variability among living organisms from all sources, including terrestrial, 
marine, and other aquatic ecosystems and the ecological complexes of which they are part; 
this includes diversity within species, between species, and of ecosystems. 

  

 Carer is someone who provides support, unpaid, for a friend or family member who needs 
support owing to disability, illness, or for another reason such as an addiction. 

  

 Climate change adaptation: The process of adapting, either through reducing the impact of 
the climate hazard, or through reducing exposure or vulnerability, to the actual or expected 
climate and its effects. Climate resilient: Ability of human and non-human systems to 
withstand and respond to future changes in the earth’s climate, such as extreme weather 
temperatures, flooding, increased rainfall, etc. 

  

 Climate resilient by 2030: In this strategy, we have used this term to mean being prepared 
and adaptive planning, for a global temperature rise of up to 4.3OC by 2100 compared to 
pre-industrial levels. 

 
52 Welcome to the Keeping Bristol Safe Partnership website. (bristolsafeguarding.org) 

Page 169



  
 

63 
 

  

 Disability: The Equality Act 2010 defines disability as a physical or mental impairment that 
has a substantial and long-term negative effect on a person’s ability to do normal daily 
activities. Bristol City Council is committed to the Social Model of Disability which says that 
people are disabled by barriers in society not by their impairment or difference, whether 
that impairment or difference is physical, mental, or cognitive. Barriers can be physical, like 
buildings not having accessible toilets, or they can be caused by people’s attitudes, like 
assuming disabled people are unable to do certain things. 

  

 Discrimination: ‘direct discrimination’ occurs if you treat someone less favourably because 
they have, or you think they have a protected characteristic – for example refusing to 
employ them or offer them a service which they would otherwise be able to receive. 
‘Indirect discrimination’ is where a practice, policy or rule applies to everyone in the same 
way, but ends up having a disproportionately negative impact on some people – for example 
a dress code that restricts certain ethnic groups or faith communities more than others. 

  

 Diversity is about recognising the many ways in which people are different from each other 
and the impact these differences can have on the opportunities people have. These 
differences go beyond the Equality Act protected characteristics and include class and family 
background. 

  

 Employment rate: The number in employment expressed as a percentage of everyone in 
that age group (in this case, all those of working age). 

  

 Equality Act 2010 is the main UK law which protects people who may be discriminated in the 
workplace or in wider society. It replaced previous anti-discrimination laws with a single Act, 
making the law easier to understand and strengthening protection in some situations. For 
more information see: Equality Act 2010: guidance - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk) 

  

 Food poverty means that an individual or household is not able to obtain healthy, nutritious 
food, or can’t access the food they would like to eat. It often results in people eating poor 
diets, which can lead to heart disease, obesity, diabetes and cancer, as well as inadequate 
levels of many vitamins and minerals. 

   

 Fuel poverty: Households that spend more than ten per cent of their income on fuel to 
maintain a satisfactory heating regime, as well as meeting their other fuel needs (lighting 
and appliances, cooking and water heating). 

  

Page 170



  
 

64 
 

 Harassment is unwanted conduct related to a relevant protected characteristic, which has 
the purpose or effect of violating an individual’s dignity or creating an intimidating, hostile, 
degrading, humiliating or offensive environment for that individual. 

  

 Hate crime is defined as: ‘Any criminal offence which is perceived by the victim or any other 
person, to be motivated by hostility or prejudice based on a person’s race or perceived race; 
religion or perceived religion; sexual orientation or perceived sexual orientation; disability or 
perceived disability and any crime motivated by hostility; prejudice against a person who is 
transgender or perceived to be transgender or gender or perceived gender’. We recognise 
there are six different types of hate crime: racial, religious, gender, disablist, transgender, 
and LGBT. 

  

 Healthy Schools Programme – a programme for all Bristol schools that want to improve the 
health and wellbeing of their pupils, staff and local community. 

  

 Mass transit system – this is a high frequency system able to transport large numbers of 
people quickly around the city without being affected by unexpected delays caused by 
congestion. 

  

 Pay gap is the difference between the average hourly pay of two different groups of people, 
for example men and women, or groups from different ethnic backgrounds. 

  

 Protected characteristics are the nine characteristics protected under the Equality Act 2010. 
They are: age, disability, gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and 
maternity, race, religion or belief, sex, and sexual orientation. 

  

 Poverty is defined relative to the standards of living in a society at a specific time. People 
live in poverty when they are denied an income sufficient for their material needs and when 
these circumstances exclude them from taking part in activities that are an accepted part of 
daily life in that society, race, religion or belief, sex, and sexual orientation. 

  

 Refugee is someone who ‘owing to a well-founded fear of being persecuted for reasons of 
race, religion, nationality, membership of a particular social group, or political opinion, is 
outside the country of his nationality, and is unable to or, owing to such fear, is unwilling to 
avail himself of the protection of that country…’ (1951 Refugee Convention). 

  

 Social Value – the additional benefit to the community from a commissioning/procurement 
process over and above the direct purchasing of goods, services and outcomes.  

Page 171



Corporate Strategy Post-consultation  – Change Log  

Change Source Rationale 

Renaming “Sustainability” building 
block to “Environmental Sustainability”  

Public consultation feedback on importance 
of environment. 
Internal feedback on potential different 
interpretations of sustainability 

Emphasising that the Climate and Ecological 
emergencies will cut across the organisation’s future 
goals and plans. Protecting green spaces, prioritising 
the environment and climate change feature most 
amongst free text responses 

Renaming “A Development Organisation” theme t
o “Effective Development Organisation” 

Public consultation feedback on importance 
of accountability, transparency, leadership 
and effectiveness 

To better match the aims of the Priorities in this 
section.  

Renaming HC2 “Healthy Homes” priority to 
“Lower Carbon Homes”  

Internal feedback on potential confusion as 
to the aim of priority 

Clarifying the original main intention of the Priority 

Renaming ENV3 “Waste Reduction” to “Cleaner 
Bristol”  

Public consultation feedback on importance 
of environment and green spaces. 
Internal feedback to include city design and 
upstream management 

Changing emphasis from managing waste production 
to further upstream, such as incorporating 
sustainable lifestyles and environmental 
needs into city design and built environment 
considerations as well as retaining original intentions 
to reduce waste 

ES1 Regeneration: Including place-based 
approaches  

Public consultation feedback to not be 
driven by just economic growth. 
Internal feedback that regeneration needs 
are place-based 

Updates to ensure an emphasis on values-led 
regeneration that is of benefit to residents and 
communities taking a place-based approach to 
regeneration, promoting inclusive and sustainable 
growth 

HC1 Housing Supply: Including private rented 
sector 

Public consultation feedback on importance 
of affordable housing and private rented 
sector support. 
Internal feedback to ensure we cover the 
breadth of housing agreements. 

Introducing additional aims around standards in the 
Private Rented Sector and bringing empty properties 
back in to use 

HC4 Homelessness: Including rough sleeping Public consultation feedback on importance 
of homelessness and  support. 
Internal feedback to include central 
government target. 

Ensuring target to end rough sleeping by 2024 is 
aligned to national government 

P
age 172



Moving HCW4 “Disability” priority from 
Health, Care and Wellbeing to Homes 
and Communities theme 

External feedback to ensure emphasis on 
social model of disability and move away 
from theme that relates to medical need 

Emphasising the social model of disability rather than 
a deficit medical model, and updating descriptive text 
to better convey this 

Adding explicit reference to carers and socio-
economic deprivation under “Equality and 
Inclusion” Building  

External partner feedback to include 
reference to carers and their needs 

Block to match commitments in the Council’s 
Equality and Inclusion Policy to consider these in the 
same way as the nine Protected Characteristics under 
the Equality Act 2010.  
 

Updating Environment and Sustainability Theme 
introduction to give equal prominence to the 
Ecological as well as Climate Emergency. 

External feedback that hadn’t included 
Ecological emergency to same extent as 
Climate emergency 

Ensuring strategic aims are aligned and consistent 

Adding multiple references to align the strategic 
and civic intentions of the city’s universities and 
Further Education sector with the Council’s – 
in CYP3 “Equity In Education”; ES1 
“Regeneration”; ES2 “Access to Employment”; ES3 
“Good Growth”; EO1 “One City”  

External partner feedback to include 
partnership working on civic university aims 
and benefits for the city 

Ensuring strategic aims are aligned and consistent 

Multiple updates relating predominantly to 
gender equality in response to a submission from 
the Bristol Women’s Commission. 

External feedback to ensure gender equality Ensuring equality commitments are consistent 

Updating explanations about measuring 
performance and outcomes; using high-level 
insight statements whilst a more detailed 
accompanying Performance Framework is 
developed.  

Public consultation feedback on importance 
of including targets. 
Internal engagement with services and 
Members on development of new 
Performance Framework 

Timescales for development of a new Performance 
Framework are aligned with Service and Business 
Planning process Oct-Dec 2021, for implementation 
from Apr 2022. Current performance framework still 
in place until Mar 2022. 

 

 

 

P
age 173



 

Equality Impact Assessment [version 2.9] 

 

Title: Corporate Strategy 2022-27 

☐ Policy  ☒ Strategy  ☐ Function  ☐ Service 

☐ Other [please state]  

☐ New  

☐ Already exists / review ☒ Changing  

Directorate: Resources Lead Officer name: Tim Borrett 

Service Area: Policy, Strategy and Partnerships Lead Officer role: Director, Policy, Strategy 
and Partnerships 

Step 1: What do we want to do?  

The purpose of an Equality Impact Assessment is to assist decision makers in understanding the impact of proposals 
as part of their duties under the Equality Act 2010. Detailed guidance to support completion can be found here 
Equality Impact Assessments (EqIA) (sharepoint.com).  

This assessment should be started at the beginning of the process by someone with a good knowledge of the 
proposal and service area, and sufficient influence over the proposal. It is good practice to take a team approach to 
completing the equality impact assessment. Please contact the Equality and Inclusion Team early for advice and 
feedback.  

1.1 What are the aims and objectives/purpose of this proposal? 

Briefly explain the purpose of the proposal and why it is needed. Describe who it is aimed at and the intended aims / 
outcomes. Where known also summarise the key actions you plan to undertake. Please use plain English, avoiding 
jargon and acronyms. Equality Impact Assessments are viewed by a wide range of people including decision-makers 
and the wider public. 

The Corporate Strategy 2022-2027 sets out the council’s high-level organisational vision, themes, commitments 
and values for the next five years, along with how it will contribute to the aims of the One City Plan and other key 
One City Strategies such as the Climate Strategy and Ecological Emergency Strategy. It is the council’s key strategy 
document from which its Business Plans and policy and strategy framework flow.  
 
It makes many specific commitments at a high level but is not an ‘action plan’ of specific proposals. Instead it sets 
an overall direction and gives the Mayor, Members and Officers a guide from which to form detailed policies and 

proposals.  

1.2 Who will the proposal have the potential to affect? 

☒ Bristol City Council workforce  ☒ Service users ☒ The wider community  

☒ Commissioned services ☒ City partners / Stakeholder organisations 

Additional comments:  

1.3 Will the proposal have an equality impact?   

Could the proposal affect access levels of representation or participation in a service, or does it have the potential to 
change e.g. quality of life: health, education, or standard of living etc.?  

If ‘No’ explain why you are sure there will be no equality impact, then skip steps 2-4 and request review by Equality 
and Inclusion Team.  

If ‘Yes’ complete the rest of this assessment, or if you plan to complete the assessment at a later stage please state 
this clearly here and request review by the Equality and Inclusion Team. 

☒ Yes    ☐ No                       [please select] Page 174

https://bristolcouncil.sharepoint.com/sites/Corporate/SitePages/equality-impact-assessments.aspx
https://bristolcouncil.sharepoint.com/sites/Corporate/SitePages/equality-impact-assessments.aspx
mailto:equalities.team@bristol.gov.uk
http://www.plainenglish.co.uk/
mailto:equalities.team@bristol.gov.uk


 

 

 

Step 2: What information do we have?  

2.1 What data or evidence is there which tells us who is, or could be affected? 

Please use this section to demonstrate an understanding of who could be affected by the proposal. Include general 
population data where appropriate, and information about people who will be affected with particular reference to 
protected and other relevant characteristics: https://www.bristol.gov.uk/people-communities/measuring-equalities-
success .  

Use one row for each evidence source and say which characteristic(s) it relates to. You can include a mix of 
qualitative and quantitative data e.g. from national or local research, available data or previous consultations and 
engagement activities. 

Outline whether there is any over or under representation of equality groups within relevant services - don't forget 

to benchmark to the local population where appropriate. Links to available data and reports are here Data, statistics 

and intelligence (sharepoint.com). See also: Bristol Open Data (Quality of Life, Census etc.); Joint Strategic Needs 

Assessment (JSNA); Ward Statistical Profiles. 

For workforce / management of change proposals you will need to look at the diversity of the affected teams using 

available evidence such as HR Analytics: Power BI Reports (sharepoint.com) which shows the diversity profile of 

council teams and service areas. Identify any over or under-representation compared with Bristol economically 

active citizens for different characteristics. Additional sources of useful workforce evidence include the Employee 

Staff Survey Report and Stress Risk Assessment Form 

Data / Evidence Source 
[Include a reference where known] 

Summary of what this tells us 

Census 2011 and Census 2021 As the Corporate Strategy is a citywide document, the 
statistics used mostly relate to Bristol as a whole. The 
Census details the demographic profile of Bristol. The first 
results of the 2021 census will not be available until 
Spring 2022, so demographic data is still informed by 
2011 census and other population related documents 
(listed below) 

Census 2011: Key Statistics About Equalities 
Communities in Bristol 

 
Age Number % England + Wales 

% 

0-17 years 87,503 20.4 21.3 

18-64 284,859 66.5 62.2 

65 + 55,872 13.0 16.4 

Total  428,234 100.0 100.0 

Gender    

Female 215,163 50.2 50.8 

Male 213,071 49.8 49.2 

Ethnicity    

Black and minority ethnic 68,642 16.0 14.0 

White British 333,432 77.9 80.5 

Other White 26,160 6.1 5.5 

Religion    

Yes 233,234 54.5 67.7 

No 160,218 37.4 25.1 

Not stated 34,762 8.1 7.2 

Disability    
Page 175

https://www.bristol.gov.uk/people-communities/measuring-equalities-success
https://www.bristol.gov.uk/people-communities/measuring-equalities-success
https://bristolcouncil.sharepoint.com/sites/Corporate/SitePages/data-statistics-and-intelligence.aspx
https://bristolcouncil.sharepoint.com/sites/Corporate/SitePages/data-statistics-and-intelligence.aspx
https://bristol.opendatasoft.com/explore/?sort=modified&q=equalities
https://www.bristol.gov.uk/policies-plans-strategies/joint-strategic-needs-assessment
https://www.bristol.gov.uk/policies-plans-strategies/joint-strategic-needs-assessment
https://www.bristol.gov.uk/statistics-census-information/new-wards-data-profiles
https://eur03.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fbristolcouncil.sharepoint.com%2Fsites%2FHR%2FSitePages%2Fhr-reports.aspx&data=04%7C01%7C%7C90358974d66d41257ac108d8deebfdde%7C6378a7a50f214482aee0897eb7de331f%7C0%7C0%7C637504452456282778%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C1000&sdata=6kXYSnoOXQ1Yn%2Be9ZRGlZULZJYwfQ3jygxGLOPN%2BccU%3D&reserved=0
https://bristolcouncil.sharepoint.com/sites/HR/SitePages/hr-reports.aspx
https://bristolcouncil.sharepoint.com/sites/HR/SitePages/hr-reports.aspx
https://bristolcouncil.sharepoint.com/:w:/r/sites/HealthSafetyandWellbeing/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7B813AE494-A25E-4C9C-A7F7-1F6A48883800%7D&file=Stress%20risk%20assessment%20form.doc&action=default&mobileredirect=true&DefaultItemOpen=1
https://www.bristol.gov.uk/statistics-census-information/census-2011
https://www.bristol.gov.uk/statistics-census-information/census-2021
https://www.bristol.gov.uk/documents/20182/34008/2011+Census+Key+Statistics+About+Equalities+Communities.pdf/2c59eeae-b5fa-431d-87b8-f629c241dff6?t=1436544603000
https://www.bristol.gov.uk/documents/20182/34008/2011+Census+Key+Statistics+About+Equalities+Communities.pdf/2c59eeae-b5fa-431d-87b8-f629c241dff6?t=1436544603000


2.2  Do you currently monitor relevant activity by the following protected characteristics? 

☒ Age ☒ Disability ☒ Gender Reassignment 

Day-to-day activities limited 71,724 16.7 17.9 

Day-to-day activities no 
limited 

356,510 83.3 82.1 

Sexual orientation    

LGBT   6% 
 

The Population of Bristol Updated annually. The report brings together statistics on 
the current estimated population of Bristol, recent trends 
in population, future projections and looks at the key 
characteristics of the people living in Bristol. 

Wards: Data Profiles The Ward Profiles provide a range of data-sets, including 
Population, Life Expectancy, Premature Mortality and 
Education for each of Bristol’s 34 electoral wards. 

Indices of Deprivation (2019) The Indices of Deprivation measure relative levels of 
deprivation in 32,844 small areas or neighbourhoods 
across England, called Lower Layer Super Output Areas 
(LSOAs). LSOA’s are a smaller geographical area than an 
electoral ward; there may be 8-10 LSOAs in an electoral 
ward. The indices of deprivation indicate the parts of the 
city where poverty and disadvantage are most acute.  
In brief, Bristol has 41 LSOAs in the most deprived 10% in 
England for Multiple Deprivation (one less than in 2015), 
including 3 LSOAs in the most deprived 1% in England (3 
less than in 2015). 
The 10 most deprived neighbourhoods in Bristol in 2019 
are all in the South Bristol areas of Hartcliffe, Whitchurch 
Park and Knowle West. At ward level, the greatest levels 
of deprivation in Bristol are in the wards of Hartcliffe & 
Withywood, Lawrence Hill and Filwood, the same as 
identified in 2015 

Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (data profiles) Brings together detailed information on health and 
wellbeing needs within Bristol and looks ahead at 
emerging challenges and projected future needs. In brief, 
inequalities in health outcomes are clearly linked to socio-
economic deprivation and the parts of the city where 
general health tends to be poorest are also the most 
socio-economically deprived parts of the city. 

Quality of Life Survey The Quality of Life (QoL) survey is an annual randomised 
sample survey of the Bristol population, mailed to 33,000 
households (with online & paper options), and some 
additional targeting to boost numbers from low 
responding groups. In brief, the 2020 QoL survey 
indicated that inequality and deprivation continue to 
affect people’s experience in almost every element 
measured by the survey. 

Citizens’ Assembly The citizens’ assembly was composed of 60 randomly 
selected participants. The group reflected the diversity of 
the population in terms of age, sex, ethnicity, disability, 
employment status, and geographical location.  Bristol 
Citizens' Assembly was part of a process created by the 
city of Bristol to gather public input to inform its COVID-
19 recovery plan. 

Additional comments:  
 

Page 176

https://www.bristol.gov.uk/statistics-census-information/the-population-of-bristol
https://www.bristol.gov.uk/statistics-census-information/new-wards-data-profiles
https://www.bristol.gov.uk/documents/20182/32951/Deprivation+in+Bristol+2019.pdf/ff3e5492-9849-6300-b227-1bdff2779f80
https://www.bristol.gov.uk/policies-plans-strategies/jsna-data-profile
https://www.bristol.gov.uk/documents/20182/33896/Bristol+Quality+of+Life+survey+2020+to+2021+report.pdf/40acbac5-6166-0413-3df7-65ffd1362829?t=1616171291250
https://bristol.citizenspace.com/ycof-1/recommendations-citizens-assembly/#:~:text=The%20assembly%20has%20produced%2017%20recommendations%20to%20take,for%20the%20environment.%20tackle%20health%20inequalities%20in%20Bristol.


☒ Marriage and Civil Partnership ☒ Pregnancy/Maternity ☒ Race 
☒ Religion or Belief ☒ Sex ☒ Sexual Orientation 

2.3  Are there any gaps in the evidence base?  

Where there are gaps in the evidence, or you don’t have enough information about some equality groups, include an 
equality action to find out in section 4.2 below. This doesn’t mean that you can’t complete the assessment without 
the information, but you need to follow up the action and if necessary, review the assessment later. If you are 
unable to fill in the gaps, then state this clearly with a justification. 

For workforce related proposals all relevant characteristics may not be included in HR diversity reporting (e.g. 
pregnancy/maternity). For smaller teams diversity data may be redacted. A high proportion of not known/not 
disclosed may require an action to address under-reporting. 

Census data is currently collected every 10 years – and data from the most recent census in 2021 will not become 
available until 2022. The ONS has also published mid-2020 population estimates. Gaps in data will exist as it 
becomes out of date or is limited through self-reporting.  
  
Data on the overall number of disabled people is based on residents self-reporting limiting long-term illness or 
impairment. The 2011 census asks ‘Are your day-to-day activities limited because of a health problem or disability 
which has lasted, or is expected to last, at least 12 months? Include problems related to old age?’ As it is a self-
reported figure, the actual number of disabled people in the city may be higher.  
 
The 2021 Census asks similar health-related questions: 

 How is your health in general? 

 Do you have any physical or mental health conditions or illnesses lasting or expected to last 12 months or 
more? 

 Do any of your conditions or illnesses reduce your ability to carry out day-to-day activities? 

 Do you look after, or give any help or support to, anyone because they have long-term physical or mental 
health conditions or illnesses, or problems related to old age? 

But issues of self-reporting still remain, and the Census data will not become available until 2022. 
  
The number of LGBT people in the city is based on the DTI Final Regulatory Impact Assessment: Civil Partnerships 
Act 2004 national percentage estimate (5-7%) applied to Bristol. As it is a national estimate applied to Bristol 
population figures, the actual numbers of LGBT people in the city may be higher or lower.  
 
The 2021 Census asks a number of questions relevant to LGBT statistics: 

 Which of the following best describes your sexual orientation? 

 Is the gender you identify with the same as your sex registered at birth? 

These questions should give us a clearer picture of the number of LGBT in the city, but issues of self-reporting 
remain, and data will not be available until 2022. 

2.4 How have you involved communities and groups that could be affected?  

You will nearly always need to involve and consult with internal and external stakeholders during your assessment. 
The extent of the engagement will depend on the nature of the proposal or change. This should usually include 
individuals and groups representing different relevant protected characteristics. Please include details of any 
completed engagement and consultation and how representative this had been of Bristol’s diverse communities. See 
https://www.bristol.gov.uk/people-communities/equalities-groups. 

Include the main findings of any engagement and consultation in Section 2.1 above. 

If you are managing a workforce change process or restructure please refer to Managing change or restructure 
(sharepoint.com) for advice on consulting with employees etc. Relevant stakeholders for engagement about 
workforce changes may include e.g. staff-led groups and trades unions as well as affected staff.  Page 177

https://www.bristol.gov.uk/people-communities/equalities-groups
https://bristolcouncil.sharepoint.com/sites/HR/SitePages/managing-change-or-restructure.aspx
https://bristolcouncil.sharepoint.com/sites/HR/SitePages/managing-change-or-restructure.aspx


The priorities outlined in the Corporate Plan have been subject to extensive internal co-creation and engagement 
since May 2021.  This has involved the Mayor, Cabinet, Corporate Leadership Board, Executive Director Meetings, 
Directors, Heads of Service, a cross-party Elected Members working group, Young Professionals Network, Youth 
Council, and embRACE staff network. Offers were also made to attend to the Disabled Colleagues Network and 
LGBT+ Group. 
 
A full public consultation was held and during the consultation period engagement continued with external groups 
and organisations, including universities, Youth Work Strategy Partnership, community workers and more. 
Comments were received from many different individuals, interest groups, experts and organisations, including 
from Mayoral Women’s Commission and the Chair of the Bristol Disability Equality Commission. In addition, city 
partners from across the One City Approach were invited to comment and share the consultation within their 
networks. 

2.5 How will engagement with stakeholders continue? 

Explain how you will continue to engage with stakeholders throughout the course of planning and delivery. Please 
describe where more engagement and consultation is required and set out how you intend to undertake it. Include 
any targeted work to seek the views of under-represented groups. If you do not intend to undertake it, please set 
out your justification. You can ask the Equality and Inclusion Team for help in targeting particular groups. 

There will be further pre-decision Scrutiny via the Council’s Overview and Scrutiny Management Board, and 
following any approval of the Corporate Strategy there will be widespread internal and external engagement and 
consultation over several years about the many elements within it, as action plans are developed and the Council 
seeks to deliver the strategy. 
 
Internally, engagement activity to introduce, embed and action plan against the strategy will continue, including 
with events open to all staff and workshops for senior leaders and managers. 
 

Step 3: Who might the proposal impact? 

Analysis of impacts must be rigorous. Please demonstrate your analysis of any impacts of the proposal in this 
section, referring to evidence you have gathered above and the characteristics protected by the Equality Act 2010. 
Also include details of existing issues for particular groups that you are aware of and are seeking to address or 
mitigate through this proposal. See detailed guidance documents for advice on identifying potential impacts etc. 
Equality Impact Assessments (EqIA) (sharepoint.com) 

3.1  Does the proposal have any potentially adverse impacts on people based on their 
protected or other relevant characteristics? 

Consider sub-categories (different kinds of disability, ethnic background etc.) and how people with combined 
characteristics (e.g. young women) might have particular needs or experience particular kinds of disadvantage. 

Where mitigations indicate a follow-on action, include this in the ‘Action Plan’ Section 4.2 below.  

GENERAL COMMENTS   (highlight any potential issues that might impact all or many groups) 
The Corporate Strategy makes many specific commitments at a high level but is not an ‘action plan’ of specific 
proposals. Instead it sets an overall direction and gives the Mayor, Members and Officers a guide from which to 
form detailed policies and proposals. That being said, our aim is to minimise direct and indirect adverse impacts 

on our communities in this strategy, with particular regard given to protected characteristics, carers and socio-
economic deprivation. 
  
The strategy sets out themes and key priorities. Many of the priorities address intersecting issues of inequality, 
inclusiveness, participation and resilience, such as protecting children from violence, abuse and other adverse 
childhood experiences,  reducing educational inequality at all stages, tackling food insecurity, tackling health 
inequalities and the wider determinants of health, improving city accessibility, building more affordable housing 
(including social housing), increasing digital inclusion in more deprived parts of the city and developing skills and 
routes into employment that tackle structural inequalities. Page 178

https://bristolcouncil.sharepoint.com/sites/Corporate/SitePages/equality-impact-assessments.aspx


  
In the specific proposals emerging from this strategy, we will highlight and mitigate particular adverse impacts on 
protected characteristics, and these are set out in those proposals’ own Equality Impact Assessments. 
 
Our approach to consultation was to provide alternative formats on request and to undertake targeted 
advertising to areas or groups with lower response rates. Consultation responses were overrepresented from 
more affluent areas of the city compared to deprived areas and people aged over 35, respondents aged 34 and 
under were significantly underrepresented. Respondent rates of disabled people were double the population rate 
of Bristol disabled residents. Most respondents were White British, the response rates for White British, White 
Irish and White Other groups were slightly higher than population rates, whereas response rates for Black, Asian 
and Minority Ethnic groups were significantly underrepresented compared to population rates. 
 

PROTECTED CHARACTERISTICS 

Age: Young People Does your analysis indicate a disproportionate impact? Yes ☐ No ☒ 

Potential impacts:  

Mitigations:  

Age: Older People Does your analysis indicate a disproportionate impact? Yes ☐ No ☒ 

Potential impacts:  

Mitigations:  

Disability Does your analysis indicate a disproportionate impact? Yes ☐ No ☒ 

Potential impacts:  

Mitigations:  

Sex Does your analysis indicate a disproportionate impact? Yes ☐ No ☒ 

Potential impacts:  

Mitigations:  

Sexual orientation Does your analysis indicate a disproportionate impact? Yes ☐ No ☒ 

Potential impacts:  

Mitigations:  

Pregnancy / Maternity Does your analysis indicate a disproportionate impact? Yes ☐ No ☒ 

Potential impacts:  

Mitigations:  

Gender reassignment Does your analysis indicate a disproportionate impact? Yes ☐ No ☒ 

Potential impacts:  

Mitigations:  

Race Does your analysis indicate a disproportionate impact? Yes ☐ No ☒ 

Potential impacts:  

Mitigations:  

Religion or 
Belief 

Does your analysis indicate a disproportionate impact? Yes ☐ No ☒ 

Potential impacts:  

Mitigations:  

Marriage & 
civil partnership 

Does your analysis indicate a disproportionate impact? Yes ☐ No ☒ 

Potential impacts:  

Mitigations:  

OTHER RELEVANT CHARACTERISTICS 

Socio-Economic 
(deprivation) 

Does your analysis indicate a disproportionate impact? Yes ☐ No ☒ 

Potential impacts:  

Mitigations:  

Carers Does your analysis indicate a disproportionate impact? Yes ☐ No ☒ 

Potential impacts:  

Mitigations:  

Other groups [Please add additional rows below to detail the impact for other relevant groups as appropriate e.g. 
Asylums and Refugees; Looked after Children / Care Leavers; Homelessness] Page 179



Potential impacts:  

Mitigations:  

3.2  Does the proposal create any benefits for people based on their protected or other 
relevant characteristics? 

Outline any potential benefits of the proposal and how they can be maximised. Identify how the proposal will 
support our Public Sector Equality Duty to: 

 Eliminate unlawful discrimination for a protected group 

 Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected characteristic and those who don’t 

 Foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and those who don’t 

 
The Corporate Strategy key aim is to create a fairer Bristol, where everyone can share in the city’s success. 
Reducing inequality runs throughout the themes and key priorities outlined in the strategy. Its ambitions, 
therefore, are clearly aimed at creating positive outcomes and advancing opportunity for disadvantaged 
groups/communities and fostering good relations with people who do not share a protected characteristic.   

Step 4: Impact 

4.1  How has the equality impact assessment informed or changed the proposal?  

What are the main conclusions of this assessment? Use this section to provide an overview of your findings. This 
summary can be included in decision pathway reports etc. 

If you have identified any significant negative impacts which cannot be mitigated, provide a justification showing 
how the proposal is proportionate, necessary, and appropriate despite this. 

Summary of significant negative impacts and how they can be mitigated or justified: 
There are no negative impacts identified as arising from the proposals within the Corporate Strategy; however we 
should remain mindful that the consultation responses meant we did not hear from a representative sample of 
citizens from our most deprived wards, Black or Asian communities, under-35s, over-85s, and of some faiths. 

Summary of positive impacts / opportunities to promote the Public Sector Equality Duty: 

Tackling inequality has been a ‘golden thread’ running throughout this refreshed Corporate Strategy. As noted, 
many of the priorities seek to address issues of inequality and promoting inclusivity, such as protecting children 
from violence, abuse and other adverse childhood experiences,  reducing educational inequality at all stages, 
tackling food insecurity, tackling health inequalities and the wider determinants of health, targeting regeneration 
schemes in more deprived areas, building more affordable housing (including social housing), tackling 
homelessness, promoting safer and accessible neighbourhoods, making more people-centred services within 
communities, increasing the increasing digital inclusion in more deprived parts of the city, promoting safe and 
active travel and developing skills and routes into employment that tackle structural inequality. 

4.2  Action Plan  

Use this section to set out any actions you have identified to improve data, mitigate issues, or maximise 
opportunities etc. If an action is to meet the needs of a particular protected group please specify this. 

Improvement / action required Responsible Officer Timescale  

Update data sources following results of Census 2021 Tim Borrett Spring 2022 

4.3  How will the impact of your proposal and actions be measured?  

How will you know if you have been successful? Once the activity has been implemented this equality impact 
assessment should be periodically reviewed to make sure your changes have been effective your approach is still 
appropriate. 

Page 180

https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-guidance/public-sector-equality-duty


The Corporate Strategy 2022-27, like previous Corporate Strategies, will be supported by a Performance 
Framework which will monitor our progress against the key priorities identified in the revised strategy. We will 
also prepare an annual Business Plan that highlights in more detail what activities/initiatives are being undertaken 
for each theme and how we will measure our progress in achieving the commitments outlined in the Strategy. 
This will then provide us with quantitative and qualitative measures of achievement, which will be used to 
identify whether specific initiatives or interventions are providing tangible benefits to disadvantaged 
groups/communities. This evidence-based approach will allow us to identify the approaches that will yield 
greatest benefit and to modify and/or stop initiatives that are proving less successful. 

Step 5: Review 

The Equality and Inclusion Team need at least five working days to comment and feedback on your EqIA. EqIAs 
should only be marked as reviewed when they provide sufficient information for decision-makers on the equalities 
impact of the proposal. Please seek feedback and review from the Equality and Inclusion Team before requesting 
sign off from your Director1. 

Equality and Inclusion Team Review: 

Reviewed by Equality and Inclusion Team 

Director Sign-Off: 
Tim Borrett 
 

Date: 08/10/2021 Date: 07/10/2021 

 

                                            
1  Review by the Equality and Inclusion Team confirms there is sufficient analysis for decision makers to consider the 
likely equality impacts at this stage. This is not an endorsement or approval of the proposal. 
 Page 181

mailto:equalities.team@bristol.gov.uk


Overview and Scrutiny Management Board – Quarterly performance report   

 
  Overview and Scrutiny 

Management Board  
18 Oct 2021  

Report of: Guy Collings, Head of Insight, Performance & Intelligence     
 
Title: Quarterly Performance Progress Report (Quarter 1 2021/22)  
 
Ward: All wards  
 
Officer Presenting Report:  Guy Collings, Head of Insight, Performance & Intelligence    
 
Contact Telephone Number:  0117 9220000 
 
 
 
Recommendation 
 
That OSMB note the progress made against the Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) for Q1 
2021/22 (Appendix A1) designed around the themes in the Corporate Strategy 2018-23 and 
Business Plan 2021/22, and that Scrutiny members and relevant Managers / Directors discuss 
measures to address any performance issues. 
 
 
The significant issues in the report are: 
 
Highlighted in section 2 below, and noted within the suite of KPIs set out in appendix A1. 
 
Of the overall measures reported this quarter:  

64% are on or above target 
64% are performing better or the same compared to this period last year  

Page 182

Agenda Item 8



Overview and Scrutiny Management Board – Quarterly performance report   

 
1. Background context   

This performance progress report and appendix is part of the standard reporting arrangements around 
the Bristol City Council (BCC) Business Plan 2021/22. The Performance Framework and reporting 
arrangements for 2021/22 were approved by CLB and noted by Cabinet and OSMB in Feb-March 2021.   

This report, with its focus on Corporate Strategy 2018-23 and Business Plan 2021/22 themes, is the 
high level, Council-wide product designed for senior officers and sharing with Cabinet leads and OSMB.  
It is complemented by additional sets of KPIs for each directorate and shared with cabinet leads and 
directorate scrutiny commissions.  A list of short definitions for each measure is in Appendix A2. 

BCC measures and City-wide measures - This year we continue to differentiate between indicators 
wholly owned by BCC, so are direct measures of our performance, and those where BCC is a key player 
but performance is dependent on other partners or factors. Indicators are listed accordingly. 

Impact of Covid-19 – Covid-19 renewal and recovery has been embedded into the commitments that 
underpin our Business Plan and is being delivered across all areas of the council.  Adjusted targets are 
set to take account of this, including some which appear counter-intuitive compared to last year’s outturn due 
to Covid-19 impact (see BCC 2021/22 Performance Targets).   Details for individual indicators are in the 
management comments (see Appendix A1). 

 

2. Summary 
 

Performance summary:   

Taking the available KPI results this quarter, and noting the BCC / City-wide differentiation: 

• 64% of all Business Plan measures (with established targets) are performing on or above 
target (23 of 36) 

o 70% of BCC-only measures (14 of 20) 
o 56% of city-wide measures (9 of 16) 

• 64% of all Business Plan measures (with a comparison from 12 months ago) have improved 
(23 of 36)  

o 63% of BCC-only measures (12 of 19) 
o 65% of city-wide measures (11 of 17) 

 
Corporate Strategy Themes: 
 
Empowering & Caring:  

Performance against the target to increase the number of households where homelessness is 
prevented, although lower than at the same point last year, is above target standing at 339 (towards 
an annual target of 1,350).  

The percentage of people who contact Adult Social Care and then receive Tier 1 and 2 services is very 
slightly below target (55.9% against 56%). Increasingly good practice within Adult Social Care is to 
work with the voluntary, community and social enterprise sector (VCSE) and maximise peoples’ access 
to local community assets and networks before even needing to get in contact with formal social care. 
The service is confident that as this work becomes more embedded, performance will improve. 

The take up of free educational entitlement by eligible 2-year-olds is well below target, at 57% against 
66% and is 5% lower than for the same period last year. Although disappointing this is set in the 
context of similar declining rates across the country and the South West region and it should be noted 

Page 183

https://www.bristol.gov.uk/documents/20182/4629037/Corporate_Business_Plan_2021-22.pdf/b89295d6-7db8-f4c7-30ff-a1c6cf208e58?t=1618998864503
https://www.bristol.gov.uk/documents/20182/34208/2021-22+BCC+Performance+Framework.pdf/fc80390e-a4b3-f66b-c87a-2e2f60475b1b?t=1620208532127
https://www.bristol.gov.uk/documents/20182/34208/Business_Plan__2021_2022_performance_measures_and_targets.pdf/45e1a81b-a04a-26bb-149d-d40c5a05bcd5?t=1626775551057


Overview and Scrutiny Management Board – Quarterly performance report   

 
that the reporting period is the previous financial year, which was severely impacted by the pandemic. 
The Early Years team is in the process of ascertaining the impact of Covid and lockdowns on the level 
of take up and will develop a plan in response to the analysis of feedback from settings. Systems 
continue to be developed to remove barriers and increase take up, for example providers are now 
able to apply on behalf of parents. 

The target for numbers engaged with community development work is progressing very well and 
already stands at just over 2,000 within the first quarter against an annual target of 5,000. The 
significant progress noted across Q4 last year has continued as has the focus on building on the Covid-
19 community response for medium and long-term resilience. 

The number of people rough sleeping as measured on the bi-monthly street count in May was 59.  This 
is showing as worse than last year as the emergency housing arrangements made under the ‘Everyone 
In’ programme greatly reduced the number of rough sleepers. There is an increase from the previous 
quarter, but the figure is still significantly lower than the pre-pandemic peak of 130. 

Fair & Inclusive:   

There has been an overall improvement in bringing empty properties (resulting from voids or relets) 
back into use. Although there continue to be some challenges around availability of workforce and 
materials, the position is better than this time last year following the first national lockdown, although 
the service notes that these contractual issues and delays around materials will most likely also have 
an impact on Q2 performance. As it stands there are 264 empty properties against a target of 210. 

The percentage of Educational Health Care Plans that are issued within timescales continues to 
improve steadily and stands at 42.1%. Early indications are that this will improve further as the year 
progresses. There is concern that despite additional and new staff being trained, the impact of major 
procedural changes in the EHCP process, improvements may be slower than anticipated. 

The spend of the Apprenticeship Levy stands at £227,285 and is in line with projections and a 50% 
increase on spend from 20/21. A successful internal marketing campaign and increased interaction 
with schools has led to a significant number of apprenticeship starts in the pipeline, with 64 planned 
by end of September and hopefully more to follow. Through collaboration with partners such as Proud 
to Care and the Western Training Partnership Network, the Council is making increased investments 
through levy sharing with local small and medium-sized enterprises (SMEs) and the voluntary, 
community and social enterprise sector. It is anticipated that this will result in a further increase in 
monthly levy spend to over £100,000 per month by Q3 meaning that the annual target will be met. 

The delivery of affordable homes continues to be challenging due to impacts of both Covid and Brexit 
on the construction industry, particularly in relation to labour and materials shortages. However, the 
figure for Q1 (87) is showing a considerable improvement on the same period in 2020-21 (52). 

Reductions in the percentage of 16–17 year-olds who are not in education, employment or training 
(NEET) and whose destination is unknown continues, currently standing at 7.4%. Although this is 
higher than the national average (5%) this is significantly lower than the 14.5% it stood at in Q1 last 
year. The coming quarter will see the data change as it represents the transition months for the cohort 
as they move between school and post 16 provision.  

Wellbeing:  

Numbers returning to enjoy the city’s swimming pools and leisure centres has shown an 
understandable increase from last year and is well on course to meet the new annual target.  Leisure 
facilities were allowed to reopen in April and attendances have been slowly increasing as wider 

Page 184



Overview and Scrutiny Management Board – Quarterly performance report   

 
restrictions have been lifted.  

The rate of alcohol related admissions (per 100,000 of the population) to our hospitals has shown an 
improvement (reduction) from the same period last year and is above its target. This metric can 
fluctuate, and it is anticipated that there may be an increase over the next and indeed coming quarters 
as restrictions are eased and more people return to our hospitality venues. 

The percentage of monitoring sites that meet the annual air quality target for nitrogen dioxide is at 
present using data reported from 2020, where 98% of monitoring sites met the target. Levels were 
substantially improved as a result of Covid lockdowns and reductions in traffic, as such one must guard 
against viewing the 98% figure as a benchmark. The 94% target for 2021 continues the pre-Covid 
trajectory (from 90.2% in 2019), moving towards the Clean Air Plan aim of 100% of sites on target by 
end 2023. 

The percentage of household waste sent for reuse, recycling and composting is standing at 43% for Q1 
against its target of 50%. This continues a trend from the previous year where it is noted that the 
overall volumes of both general waste and recycling from household collections have increased due to 
more widespread home working and households not eating out. 

Well Connected:   

The number of people able to access care & support through the use of Technology Enabled Care 
stands at 166 (annual target 753), with the level of improved performance attributable to an increase 
in referrals over Q1. It is anticipated this upward trend will continue as the restrictions are eased. 

The percentage of adults with learning difficulties known to social care and who are in paid 
employment is slightly above target at 6.3%. The ‘WE WORK for Everyone’ programme of employment 
support for people with learning difficulties commenced delivery in January 2021 and is now fully 
staffed. The Council is also developing a new Dynamic Purchasing System so that expert providers can 
offer customised support services.  

The number of adults in low pay work & receiving benefits accessing in-work support is slightly below 
target, standing at 203 for Q1 against an annual target of 850. As a result of the pandemic, there have 
been client engagement issues caused by restrictions on face-to-face meetings. A new multi-channel 
marketing plan has been initiated and Career Progression Coaches are starting to meet clients in 
person once more.  

The overall employment rate of working age population stands at 77.1% though it is to be noted that 
this data is reported with a lag and as such the figure shown covers the period from January to 
December 2020. The full effect of Covid and its impact on the employment rate is yet to be fully 
ascertained and it is possible there will be a reduction over 2021. 

Organisational Priorities:  

General reserves at 9.17% are higher than target (5%-6%), which gives extra scope should negative 
outcomes from high-risk scenarios occur. The policy on what constitutes a desirable/healthy level of 
reserves is being looked into as part of the MTFP, with the potential to adjust the target in future. The 
current level is in line with advice from the Council’s auditors. 

Continuing financial pressure caused by the Covid-19 pandemic has meant that Council Tax and 
Business Rates collection are both worse than at the same period last year (Q1). Performance here is 
expected to improve once remedial action can begin to happen again in some form for example 
reminder letters, debt management advice or ultimately enforcement activity as a means of last 
resort. Council Tax collection for June 2021 is 0.69% behind its Q1 Target of 27.39%, equivalent to a 

Page 185



Overview and Scrutiny Management Board – Quarterly performance report   

 
deficit of £1.98m. It should be noted that this is a picture replicated nationally post Covid, with many 
local authorities predicting far greater shortfalls than Bristol. 

The percentage of stage 1 non-statutory complaints that we respond to within 15 days stands at 
85.3%. Q1 performance reflects a continuation of the council’s consistent and stable handling of its 
complaints. A total of 1,720 complaints were received in Q1 with 1,468 answered on time. 

The annual rate of staff turnover in Q4 (2020/21) of 6.8% has increased to 11.3% in Q1 (2021/22), 
nearly double and now within target, after maintaining low levels due to the impact of Covid-19. A 
healthy staff turnover ratio is considered to be between 10%-15% which enables fresh skills, ideas and 
experience to be incorporated into the workforce. Covid had resulted in a temporary reduction in 
leavers as future economic certainty was unknown.  

The percentage of employment offers made to people living in the 10% most deprived areas remains 
below target following similar levels during 2020/21. During Q1 there has been a small increase in job 
offers made, however recent vacancy management processes introduced in June 2021 have meant 
that the numbers of jobs being advertised generally has reduced when compared to previous quarters. 
Nonetheless, given the continuing poor performance in this area, a particular focus will be required. 

Note - For all themes, attention is drawn to the commentaries where the service has indicated 
exception in delivery, and/or details of plans and activities underway. 
 

 
3.  Policy 
Performance is reported as part of quarterly governance process as soon as possible after gathering all 
the necessary data. All Business Plan KPIs contained within Appendix A1 are designed to demonstrate 
our progress towards the Corporate Strategy 2018-23. 
 
4.   Consultation 
 

a)  Internal 
Performance progress has been presented to relevant Divisional Management Teams (DMT), 
Executive Director Meetings (EDM), Corporate Leadership Board (CLB) and Cabinet Member 
briefings prior to the production of this report. 

b)  External 
Not applicable.  

 
 
5.  Public Sector Equality Duties 
 
5a) Before making a decision, section 149 Equality Act 2010 requires that each decision-maker 

considers the need to promote equality for persons with the following “protected 
characteristics”: age, disability, gender reassignment, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion 
or belief, sex, sexual orientation. Each decision-maker must, therefore, have due regard to the 
need to: 

 
i) Eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct prohibited under 

the Equality Act 2010. 
 

Page 186



Overview and Scrutiny Management Board – Quarterly performance report   

 
ii)  Advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected 

characteristic and those who do not share it. This involves having due regard, in particular, 
to the need to: 
- remove or minimise disadvantage suffered by persons who share a relevant protected 

characteristic; 
- take steps to meet the needs of persons who share a relevant protected characteristic 

that are different from the needs of people who do not share it (in relation to disabled 
people, this includes, in particular, steps to take account of disabled persons' 
disabilities); 

- encourage persons who share a protected characteristic to participate in public life or in 
any other activity in which participation by such persons is disproportionately low. 

 
iii) Foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic and 

those who do not share it. This involves having due regard, in particular, to the need to – 
- tackle prejudice; and 
- promote understanding. 

 
5b)  Not applicable 
 
Appendices: 
Appendix A1:  Performance Progress Update (Q1 2021/22) 
Appendix A2:  A list of short definitions for each measure shown in Appendix A1 
 
LOCAL GOVERNMENT (ACCESS TO INFORMATION) ACT 1985 
Background Papers: None  

Page 187



Title Target status DoT Title Target status DoT

BPB353: Increase the number of households where homelessness is 
prevented 

339  BCPB375: Reduce the number of empty council properties 264 

BPB280: Increase the % of people who contact Adult Social Care and then 
receive Tier 1 and 2 services

55.9%  BCPB225: Increase the percentage of Final EHCPs issued within 20 weeks 
excluding exception cases

42.1% 

BPC222: Increase the take-up of free early educational entitlement by 
eligible 2 year olds

57%  BPB265a: Increase the amount of Bristol City Council Apprenticeship Levy 
spent

£227,285 

BPC311: Maintain the levels of engagement with community 
development work

2,038  BPC425: Increase the number of affordable homes delivered in Bristol 87 

BPC352b: Reduce the number of people sleeping rough on a single night 
in Bristol - BCC quarterly Count

59  BPC263a: Reduce the % of young people of academic age 16 to 17 years 
who are NEET & destination unknown

7.4% 

Title Target status DoT Title Target status DoT

BC
C BPB253: Increase the number of attendances at BCC leisure centres and 

swimming pools
385,853  BC

C BPB308: Increase number of people able to access care & support 
through the use of Technology Enabled Care

166 

BPC251: Reduce the rate of alcohol-related hospital admissions per 
100,000 population

833  BPC266: Increase % of adults with learning difficulties known to social 
care, who are in paid employment

6.3% 

BPC480: Increase the % of monitoring sites that meet the annual air 
quality target for nitrogen dioxide 

98%
(2020)  BPC268: Increase the number of adults in low pay work & receiving 

benefits accessing in-work support
203 

BPC541: Increase the percentage of household waste sent for reuse, 
recycling and composting

43.0%  BPC041: Improve the overall employment rate of working age population 77.1% 

Title Target status DoT

BPB501b: Forecast level of Bristol City Council general financial reserves 9.17% 
BPB503: Council Tax collected as a percentage of budgeted collectible 
debit

26.7% 
BPB518: Increase the percentage of stage 1 non-statutory complaints that 
we respond to within 15 days

85.3% 

BPB523: Maintain appropriate staff turnover 11.3% 
BPB528 Increase the percentage of employment offers made to people 
living in the 10% most deprived areas

4.8%  DoT = 'Direction of Travel' compared to this time last year 

BC
C-

on
ly

Ci
ty

-w
id

e

WELL CONNECTED

Appendix A1

EMPOWERING & CARING FAIR & INCLUSIVE

BRISTOL CITY COUNCIL - Q1 2021/22 Performance Summary

BC
C-

on
ly

Ci
ty

-w
id

e

BC
C

WORKPLACE ORGANISATIONAL PRIORITIES

WELLBEING

Ci
ty

-w
id

e

Ci
ty

-w
id

e

OVERALL SUMMARY:
64% on or better than target (23 of 36)

64% same or better than Q1 last year (23 of 36)

P
age 188



Appendix A1

Business 
Plan ref

Code Title +/-
2020/21 
Outturn

2021/22 
Target

Q1 Progress
Comparison 
over last 12 

months
Management Notes Directorate

EC2 BPB353
Increase the number of households 
where homelessness is prevented

+ 1,512 1,350 339  The number of households where homelessness is prevented is above target. G&R

EC2 BPB357
Reduce the number of households in 
temporary accommodation

- 1,122 950 893  The number of households in Temporary Accommodation (TA) has reduced this quarter as we have 
moved on many clients who were accommodated during our Everyone In initiative.

G&R

EC2 BPB358a
Number of households moved on into 
settled accommodation

+
New KPI 
2021/22

1,000 277 n/a The number of households moved on into settled accommodation is above target. G&R

EC3 BPB280
Increase the % of people who contact 
Adult Social Care and then receive Tier 1 
and 2 services

+ 55.9% 56.0% 55.9% 

Increasingly good practice in adult social care is to work with the voluntary, community and social 
enterprise sector (VCSE) and maximise peoples access to local community assets and networks before 
even needing to get in contact with formal social care. The success in doing this working with our VCSE 
providers is why we think this number is 'only' on target and not actually comfortably beating the 
target. We need to do further work to get underneath this KPI as there is now a rule that all service 
users who contact adult social care receive a tier 2 service (reablement) prior to receiving long term 
care. 

PE

EC3 BPB281
Reduce the number of service users aged 
65+ in permanent Residential & Nursing 
Care [Snapshot]

-
New KPI 
2021/22

Establish 
benchmark

1,039 n/a

Q1 saw a sharp increase in service users over 65 in care homes. This followed a sharp decrease in 
numbers at the start of the COVID pandemic where death rates were unusually high in care homes. The 
total of 1,039 remain below the pre-pandemic figure of 1,183. The overall context is that older people 
in care homes has consistently fallen year on year. The rise in this Q1 does not look like a rise in new 
clients but more about a 'correction' as turnover in care homes stabilises post the tragic impact of the 
pandemic.

PE

EC3 BPB285
Increase the number of people receiving 
home care

+
New KPI 
2021/22

Establish 
benchmark

1,349 n/a

Number of clients and total hours provided continues to increase in line with the trend over the past 
year. This has been a deliberate commissioning strategy supported with increasing rates to attract 
domestic care agencies into the local market to strengthen the local care market and pay care workers 
a real living wage. Home care now makes up 26% of all our Tier 3 service users. 

PE

EC3 BPB307
Increase the number of people enabled 
to live independently through home 
adaptations

+ 3,120 3,400 843  Performance way ahead of targets due to the completion of outstanding home adaptation work 
following the easing of lockdown restrictions.

G&R

EC1 BPC200
Increase number of in-house Foster Care 
placements (not including kinship) 
[snapshot]

+
New KPI
2021/22

Establish 
Baseline

526 n/a On 30/06/2021, 365 children were placed in the 526 foster care placements available. PE

EC1 BPC216
Percentage children becoming the 
subject of a child protection plan for a 
second/subsequent time

- 20.4% 22.0% 22.6% 
53 Child Protection Plans started between 01/04/21 and 30/06/21. Of these 12 had had a previous plan. 
This remains low despite reductions in numbers of children on Child Protection Plans which suggests 
ongoing sustained impact of interventions with families.  As number of CP Plans have dropped small 
numbers of children make larger statistical difference so we should anticipate some swings in reporting.

PE

CLB / Cabinet - Quarter 1 (1st April - 30 June '21) Performance Progress Report 

City Wide Performance Indicators that BCC contributes to:

2021/22 Business Plan: Empowering & Caring
Bristol City Council (BCC) owned performance indicators:

P
age 189



EC1 BPC222
Increase the take-up of free early 
educational entitlement by eligible 2 year 
olds

+ 62.0% 66.0% 57.0% 

Although Bristol's take up of eligible 2 year-old places has declined, the drop of 5% is less than national 
(7%) and south-west (8%). The Early Years team is establishing the impact of Covid and lockdowns on 
the level of take up and will develop a plan in response to feedback from settings. Systems continue to 
be developed to remove barriers recently we enabled providers to apply on behalf of parents and work 
is underway to explore the removal of another barrier (where eligible families must wait for their place 
to be allocated) with a 'code' being issued instead to speed up placements. 

PE

EC2 BPC352b
Reduce the number of people sleeping 
rough on a single night in Bristol - BCC 
quarterly Count

- 43 60 59  The number of people rough sleeping as measured on our bi-monthly street count in May was 59. An 
increase from the previous quarter but still significantly lower than the pre-pandemic peak of 130

G&R

EC3 BPC270
Increase experience of work 
opportunities for priority groups 

+ 2,570 2,800 1,672 

The WORKS team  exceeded profile this quarter due to a demand for careers advice and delivery 
following the return to schools and the recommencement of face to face working. Young people have 
enjoyed a positive experience of work through a wide range of customised activities, including the Year 
7 'Dream Big' project, work experience tasters linking careers to the curriculum,  school greenspace 
projects,  Q and A with employers, site tours and visits, a hospitality careers event and a transitions 
event. This quarter there have been 151 pre-16 and 99 post-16 young people with an identified EHCP 
who have taken part in experience of work interactions.   This is always a busy term and we do expect 
lower numbers next quarter between July – September due to the school holidays.

PE

EC4 BPC311
Maintain the levels of engagement with 
community development work

+ 4,394 5,000 2,038 

The team has over achieved target for this quarter. The conversations ranges from transitioning  
current  residents supported by us. The team also had conversations with local residents on Covid-19 
vaccine uptake LFT and community leadership of the local engagement. We also having conversation 
on building back better with local residents volunteers and local partners on post Covid-19 community 
themes such as connecting residents support youth and elders digital inclusion and food provision. The 
conversations also include engaging with residents on start up activities post covid. 

PE

EC4 BPC312
Increase % respondents who volunteer or 
help out in their community at least 3 
times a year (QoL)

+ 47.2% 47.2%
Annual - data 

not due
n/a

This measure is updated annually through the Quality of Life survey. Headline results for 2021/22 will 
be available in Jan '22 

PE

EC4 BPC314
Reduce the percentage of people who 
lack the information to get involved in 
their community (QoL)

- 30.5% 30.0%
Annual - data 

not due
n/a

This measure is updated annually through the Quality of Life survey. Headline results for 2021/22 will 
be available in Jan '22 

PE

FI1 BPB124a
% of major residential planning 
applications processed within 13 weeks 
or as otherwise agreed

+ 87.2% 92.0% 57.1% 
Four out of seven major residential planning applications were processed within agreed timeframes; 
this will be kept under close review and plans are in place to improve performance to achieve the 
target of 92% by year end. 

G&R

FI1 BPB375
Reduce the number of empty council 
properties

- 220 210 264 
During the first quarter we saw a big increase in the numbers of properties returned for relet, we also 
received 21 new build properties which meant an increase in NTQs (notice to quit) from existing 
tenants. Contractual issues and delays to materials have also had an impact that are likely to affect Q2 
performance.

G&R

FI2 BPB225e
Increase the percentage of Final EHCPs 
issued within 20 weeks excluding 
exception cases *

+ 20.8% 60.0% 42.1% 

During the period January to March 2021 107 new EHC plans were finalised of which 45 were within the 
20 week timescale. This is the DfE cohort excluding plans with a mediation and/or tribunal before the 
final plan is issued and excludes exception cases (Those cases when a decision is made not to issue a 
plan/reconsidered/changes and subsequently a plan is issued.) The expectation is that this figure will 
continue to increase now new staff have been trained.  However, we are about to begin the 
implementation of a major change in the way EHCPs are written including a change in the ways schools, 
professionals and families input information.  

PE

Bristol City Council (BCC) owned performance indicators:
2021/22 Business Plan: Fair & Inclusive

P
age 190



FI3 BPB265a
Increase the amount of Bristol City 
Council Apprenticeship Levy spent

+ £647,299 £1,000,000 £227,285 

Apprenticeship Levy spend in quarter 1 has been in line with projections and a 50% increase on spend 
Q1 2020/21 . As a result of an effective internal marketing campaign and increased interaction with 
schools there are a significant amount of  apprenticeship starts in the pipeline with 64 planned by end 
of September and more to follow. Through our collaboration with partners such as Proud to Care and 
the Western Training Partnership Network, we are also making increased investments through levy 
sharing with Bristol Small and medium-sized enterprises (SMEs) and the voluntary, community and 
social enterprise sector (VCSEs). It is anticipated that this will result in a further increase in Levy spend 
to circa £101k per month by quarter 3 so that year end meets or exceeds target. 

PE

FI1 BPC310 Increase the number of private sector 
dwellings returned into occupation

+ 445 450 99  Performance slightly ahead of target which is good given that during the first part  of the first quarter 
pandemic restrictions were still in place.

G&R

FI1 BPC430a
Increase the number of new  homes 
delivered in Bristol

+ 1,332
(2019/20)

1,500
Annual - data 

not due
n/a

This measure is calculated annually and generally reported at q2 of the following year. It is therefore 
anticipated that the number of new homes for 2020/21 will be reported after September 2021.

G&R

FI1 BPC425
Increase the number of affordable homes 
delivered in Bristol

+ 400 450 87 

Brexit and the Covid pandemic continue to affect the pace of delivery of affordable homes. The 
construction sector is seeing a significant increase in costs of materials, supply chain delays and delays 
on site through the availability of construction workers.  Many sites are reporting completion delays of 
around 6 months since they provided delivery forecasts at the end of 2020/21, although currently much 
of this slippage is within year and not yet affecting total completions.  This is being monitored closely. 
(n.b. there are no in-year targets) 

G&R

FI2 BPC246
Increase percentage of schools and 
settings rated 'Good' or better by Ofsted 
(all phases) (OCP)

+ 79% 86% 79% 
Ofsted inspections have now been reinstated but there is no current change in the percentage of 
schools that are good or better. Schools are being provided with advice and guidance so they 
understand how inspection will be delivered over the next 12 months and the way in which inspectors 
will apply the framework and recognise the impact of Covid on school improvement. 

PE

FI3 BPC217
Improve the % of 17 - 18 year old care 
leavers in EET (statutory return - 
recorded around birthday)*

+ 71.0% 72%
See Q4 

2020/21 
There is a 3 month data lag on this measure and reports the period upto 31 March '21. Of the 85 Care 
Leavers aged 17 and 18 whose birthdays fell in the report period 1 Apr 2020 to 31 Mar 2021, 60 were 
ETE at the time of the 'Birthday Contact'.  This measure does not include 6 young people who are 
recorded as being Returned Home or Deceased.

PE

FI3 BPC263a
Reduce the % of young people of 
academic age 16 to 17 years who are 
NEET & destination unknown

- 6.9% 4.9% 7.4% 

The 21/22 target is an ambitious stretch target for our joint NEET and Not Known performance, taking 
Bristol from the lowest quintile to the highest quintile against national benchmarks. Although 7.4% is 
higher than the English average (5%) this is significantly lower than 14.5% at this point last year. The 
data this quarter is consistent with end of academic year expectations. The next quarter will see the 
data change as it is the transition months for the cohort as they move between school and post 16 
provision. By Q3 we will see increased numbers in a reflection of the transitions of young people. This 
year there has been a growing cohort of young people attending Alternative Learning Provision who 
cannot find suitable post 16 provision to meet their needs - this is being addressed through targeted 
interventions, including close work with Creative Youth Network targeted youth workers to provide 
personalised post-16 support. 

PE

FI3 BPC103
Increase the number of Black, Asian and 
minority ethnic-led businesses supported

+ 134 50 30 n/a

Provisional Q1 data indicates that 30 BAME led businesses have been supported through Black South 
West Network (BSWN) and 55 through the North and East Bristol Enterprise support programme. The 
target relates to the Black, Asian and minority ethnic led business support contract delivered through 
BSWN.  Processes are being implemented to also capture similar business support contracts being 
delivered for South Bristol and North and East Bristol programmes moving forward, as current funding 
for the BSWN contract ends in September 2021.  

G&R

City Wide Performance Indicators that BCC contributes to:

P
age 191



FI4 BPC248
Number of hate crimes reported to Avon 
& Somerset Police

OFF 1,940 1,950 640 n/a

At present we are unable to verify if this figure represents a higher number of incidents or improved 
reporting.  Work is underway, to establish and understand any further insights into demographics of 
victim and/or perpetrators and patterns of crime types etc.  The increase (compared to Q1 2019/20 
[490]) may also be linked to the relaxing of Covid-19 restrictions (people moving about the City more 
freely) and may also reflect heightened awareness following Black Lives Matter (BLM) activity over the 
past year.

PE

FI4 BPC324
Increase the percentage of people who 
feel they belong to their neighbourhood 
(QoL)

+ 62.8% 62.0%
Annual - data 

not due
n/a

This measure is updated annually through the Quality of Life survey. Headline results for 2021/22 will 
be available in Jan '22 

PE

FI4 BPC327
Reduce the percentage of people who 
have noted “mainly negative effects” 
from gentrification (QoL)

- 24.70% 25.0%
Annual - data 

not due
n/a G&R

W4 BPB253
Increase the number of attendances at 
BCC leisure centres and swimming pools

+ 399,343 695,145 385,853  Leisure facilities were allowed to reopen on Monday 12th April. Attendances have been encouraging 
and slowly increasing as the restrictions associated with the Covid roadmap recovery are lifted. 

PE

W4 BPB410
Increase the number of visitors to Bristol 
Museums, Galleries and Archives 

+ 28,917 300,000 31,301 
The three main venues have now re-opened,  albeit with booked visits needed, and with "Vanguard: 
Bristol Street Art"  and "The Colston Statue" both receiving encouraging numbers of physical visits as 
well as access online for the latter. Blaise Museum opened in July.         

G&R

W1 BPC250
Reduce the percentage of people in 
Bristol who report below national 
average Mental Wellbeing (QoL)

- 19.7% 20.0%
Annual - data 

not due
n/a

This data is available annually through the Quality of Life survey. Headline results for 2021/22 will be 
available in Jan '22. 

PE

W1 BPC251
Reduce the rate of alcohol-related 
hospital admissions per 100,000 
population 

- 845 839 833  There has been a reduction in the number of alcohol related admissions to hospital.  This may increase 
in the next quarter with the changes to the covid regulations.

PE

W1 BPC255
Increase % of people living in the most 
deprived areas who do enough regular 
exercise each week(QoL)

+ 55.2% 55.2%
Annual - data 

not due
n/a

This measure is updated annually through the Quality of Life survey. Headline results for 2021/22 will 
be available in Jan '22.  Work is being undertaken including liaison with social prescribing in the most 
deprived areas of the city 

PE

W2 BPC419
Reduce the council's carbon dioxide 
equivalent emissions (in tonnes)

-
9,528

tonnes
(2019-20)

7,300 
tonnes

Annual - data 
not due

n/a

This measure relates to the council's direct emissions. The definition of this indicator has been updated 
for 2021/22 in line with the international standard for greenhouse gas reporting and the new targets 
for the council to be carbon neutral for its direct emissions by 2025. This measure is reported in Q2 
following the year end once final utilities bills have been received. The long-term target for 2025 is to 
be carbon neutral.

G&R

W2 BPC433
Reduce the total CO2 emissions in Bristol 
City (k tonnes) 

-
1,447

K Tonnes 
(2018)

1,488
K Tonnes

(2019)

Annual - data 
not due

n/a
This measure is reported at around 18 months after the end of the calendar year so the 2020/21 
reported outturn is for the calendar year 2018. 

G&R

W2 BPC434
Reduce the proportion of deaths 
attributed to particulate air pollution 

-
5.0%

(2018)
4.3%

Annual - data 
not due

n/a

This indicator is based on Public Health England data and calculations. These show that for the last year 
of data (2019) the fraction of deaths attributable to pollution from particulates has dropped, returning 
to the general downward trend of the previous 5 years. It is based on the fraction of very small particles 
(<2.5 micro metres) arising from human action. The main sources of this within the city are traffic and 
combustion.

G&R

Bristol City Council (BCC) owned performance indicators:

City Wide Performance Indicators that BCC contributes to:

2021/22 Business Plan: Wellbeing

P
age 192



W2 BPC480
Increase the % of monitoring sites that 
meet the annual air quality target for 
nitrogen dioxide 

+ 98%
(2020) 

94.0% See Q4 
2020/21 

Data for the calendar year of 2020 is reported for the first time;  98% of monitoring sites had an annual 
NO2 concentration below 40µg/m3 when analysed in accordance with Local Air Quality Management 
exposure criteria. Levels were substantially improved as a result of Covid lockdowns and subsequent 
reductions in traffic (and other active interventions such as the closure of Bristol Bridge to most traffic), 
so the 98% outturn should not be used as benchmark alone and the 94% target for 2021 continues the 
pre-Covid trajectory (from 90.2% in 2019), moving to the Clean Air Plan aim of 100% of sites on target 
by end 2023. 
Note - previously there has been a data lag with this indicator, with previous calendar year  reported 
after official verification in Q1 of the next year, as is the case here. For 2021 onwards, this indicator will 
be reported in Q4 as unverified data for the calendar year just finished (see definition).

G&R

W2 BPC333
Increase the percentage of residents 
visiting a park or open space at least 
once a week (QoL)

+ 60.3% 60.0%
Annual - data 

not due
n/a

Over the past few months there has been a continual increase in visitors to Parks & Green Spaces. The 
value of outdoor spaces has risen considerable due to the COVID pandemic and lockdown rules have 
heightened the appreciation for local parks and green spaces. All facilities within parks are now open 
for business and as restrictions have  lifted since the 19th July  health, leisure activities and events are 
returning to Parks. 

G&R

W2 BPC540
Reduce percentage of people who feel 
that street litter is a problem in their 
neighbourhood (QoL)

- 82.4% 80.0%
Annual - data 

not due
n/a

A wide range of campaigns and activities are in progress or planned across the year to reduce street 
litter and deliver overall improvements to the street scene. These include the Great Bristol Spring Clean 
and the Big Tidy.     

G&R

W2 BPC541
Increase the percentage of household 
waste sent for reuse, recycling and 
composting

+ 45.0% 50.0% 43.0% 
Recycling continues to be negatively impacted as the overall volume of household waste has gone up 
exponentially over the last year due COVID related home working and therefore proportionally less is 
getting recycled as a percentage of the overall waste stream.

G&R

W2 BPC542
Reduce the residual untreated waste 
sent to landfill (per household)

- 122.5 kg 100.0 kg 14.2kg 
The contract to treat bulky waste is now in steady state with the primary treatment facility which was 
commissioned last year operating well, therefore reducing the amount of untreated residual waste that 
goes to landfill. 

G&R

W3 BPC258
Reduce the percentage of households 
which have experienced moderate or 
worse food insecurity (QoL)

- 4.2% 7.2% Annual - data 
not due

n/a

This measure is updated annually through the Quality of Life survey. Headline results for 2021/22 will 
be available in Jan '22.  The support during Covid to ensure everyone had sufficient food will no longer 
be operating in the same way with potentially more people experiencing moderate to severe food 
insecurity. The Food Equality Strategy designed to address the food inequalities is progressing well with 
a Steering group led by Al wood. Currently having community conversations and a 3rd stakeholder 
engagement session planned for end July. Due to go to Cabinet Feb 2022 with associated Action Plan. 
Food Equality Champions also being recruited. 

PE

W3 BPC259
% of households in the most deprived 
areas using a food bank or charity in the 
last year (QoL)

-
New KPI 
2021/22

2.00%
Annual - data 

not due
n/a

This measure is updated annually through the Quality of Life survey. Headline results for 2021/22 will 
be available in Jan '22.  The support during Covid to ensure everyone had sufficient food will no longer 
be operating in the same way with potentially more people experiencing moderate to severe food 
insecurity. The Food Equality Strategy designed to address the food inequalities is progressing well with 
a Steering group led by Al wood. Currently having community conversations and a 3rd stakeholder 
engagement session planned for end July. Due to go to Cabinet Feb 2022 with associated Action Plan. 
Food Equality Champions also being recruited. 

PE

W3 BPC334
Reduce the percentage of the population 
living in Fuel Poverty

- 9.8% 9.0%
Annual - data 

not due
n/a

This measure is updated annually and will be available at year-end.  The fuel poverty strategy is being 
reinvigorated and will hope to link with the food equality work. 

PE

W4 BPC256
Increase the % of adults in deprived 
areas who play sport at least once a 
week (QoL)

+ 27.5% 27.5%
Annual - data 

not due
n/a

This measure is updated annually through the Quality of Life survey. Headline results for 2021/22 will 
be available in Jan '22.  Partnerships are being explored and strengthened with emphasis on working 
with seldom heard groups in deprived areas. 

PE

W4 BPC411
Increase the percentage of people who 
take part in cultural activities at least 
once a month (QoL)

+ 33.4% 35.0%
Annual - data 

not due
n/a

The culture sector is gradually re-opening, although with greatly reduced capacity in many cases and it 
is anticipated that new programmes will be developed over the next few months. We continue to work 
with the sector to support safe re-opening.           

G&R

P
age 193



W4 BPC412a
Increase the % satisfied (in deprived 
areas) with the range and quality of 
outdoor events (QoL) 

+ 40.3% 50.0%
Annual - data 

not due
n/a

Outdoor events are gradually being re-established with the easing of restrictions from July  19th 
although the usual big scale events for the city, such Harbour Festival and the  Balloon Fiesta will either 
not be held, or  will take place with a revised offer. We also continue to work with events organisers to 
encourage them to broaden the events offer beyond the city centre to the wider city to enable more 
people to feel able to participate.        

G&R

WC2 BPB308
Increase number of people able to access 
care & support through the use of 
Technology Enabled Care

+ 511 753 166  Performance ahead of target following an increase in referrals into the service. Hopefully this will 
continue into Q2 with the lifting of Covid restrictions.  

G&R

WC1 BPC470
Reduce the percentage of people saying 
that traffic congestion is a problem in 
their area (QoL)

- 70.4% 73.0%
Annual - data 

not due
n/a

Ongoing work across the year is intended to consolidate on reductions in congestion achieved during 
2020;  it should be noted however that the target for 2021 reflects the previous trajectory from 2019 as 
the 2020 result was better   than expected as there were lower traffic levels overall due to lockdowns, 
home working and education closures.          

G&R

WC1 BPC474
Increase the number of single journeys 
on Park & Ride into Bristol

+

Suspended 
2020/21

(2019-20 
1,687,558)

930,000 113,208 n/a

General bus passenger numbers overall have been growing to a current level of around 60% of 
equivalent pre-Covid levels. Although capacity restrictions and mandatory mask wearing have been 
lifted on public transport, the return to normal levels of patronage will be dependent on a significant 
return to office working across the city. The commuter demand, previously a very significant proportion 
of overall bus usage, has yet to return, with many people continuing to work at home full time. This is 
particularly affecting Park & Ride usage, which had a proportionately high level of peak hour 
(commuter) usage as part of its overall use. (This measure was suspended in 2020-21, and so the pre-
Covid 2019-20 figure is given for context)

G&R

WC1 BPC475
Increase the number of passenger 
journeys on buses 

+

Suspended 
2020/21

(2019-20 
40,776,023)

26,505,000 5,483,711 n/a

General bus passenger numbers overall have been growing to a current level of around 60% of 
equivalent pre-Covid levels. Although capacity restrictions and mandatory mask wearing have been 
lifted on public transport, the return to normal levels of patronage will be dependent on a significant 
return to office working across the city. The commuter demand, previously a very significant proportion 
of overall bus usage, has yet to return, with many people continuing to work at home full time. (This 
measure was suspended in 2020-21, and so the pre-Covid 2019-20 figure is given for context)

G&R

WC2 BPC438
Increase the % of people living in 
deprived areas who have access to the 
internet at home (QoL)

+ 92.0% 92.0%
Annual - data 

not due
n/a

This forms part of the Digital Inclusion agenda set by the One City Digital Board, and will be delivered 
through large-scale Digital Place and smaller-scale Council initiatives.  Currently, we have a pilot project 
delivering broadband into high-rise buildings, plus the promotion of discount schemes currently 
available via broadband/mobile providers.  We are looking longer-term for potential opportunities to 
provide subsidised access to broadband using Council assets to our tenants and the wider communities.

RE

WC3 BPC266
Increase % of adults with learning 
difficulties known to social care who are 
in paid employment

+ 5.3% 6.0% 6.3% 

The WE WORK for Everyone programme of employment support for people with learning difficulties 
commenced delivery in January 2021 and is now fully staffed with expert Navigators in place to provide 
personalised support. Working with the Council's Procurement Team, we have been developing a new 
Dynamic Purchasing System so that expert providers can provide customised support services. With 203 
people now on programme and a number of participants securing employment we are slowly seeing 
the results filter through which will enable us to maintain momentum and drive up positive outcomes 
over the next quarter.

PE

WC3 BPC268
Increase the number of adults in low pay 
work & receiving benefits accessing in-
work support 

+ 845 850 203 

The Future Bright programme was 88% of profile this quarter. As a result of Covid 19, there have been 
client engagement issues caused by restrictions on face to face meetings. We have instigated a new 
multi channel marketing plan, and  Career Progression Coaches are following safety precautions whilst 
starting to meet clients in person once more. It is anticipated that these activities will result in 100% of 
profile by next quarter. 

PE

Bristol City Council (BCC) owned performance indicators:
2021/22 Business Plan: Well Connected

City Wide Performance Indicators that BCC contributes to:

P
age 194



WC3 BPC323
Increase % of people who see friends and 
family as much as they want to (QoL)

+ 73.2% 76.0%
Annual - data 

not due
n/a

This measure is updated annually through the Quality of Life survey. Headline results for 2021/22 will 
be available in Jan '22 

PE

WC3 BPC041
Improve the overall employment rate of 
working age population

+ 75.8% 70.0% 77.1%  This measure is reported six months in arrears, so covers the period January to December 2020  G&R

WC4 BPC533
Increase the percentage of people who 
feel they can influence local decisions 
(QoL)

+ 21.1% 22.6%
Annual - data 

not due
n/a

This measure is reported annually (in quarter 3). The 2020/21 value (21.1%) showed a significant 
improvement on the 2019/20 outturn. (18.1%).
This measure may be influenced by a range of factors of which consultation and engagement activity is 
one. Ongoing work which should contribute to improving this PI includes preparation of a Consultation 
and Engagement Strategy and exploration of how deliberative processes can be embedded to help 
citizens’ shape the council’s decisions.

RE

WOP1 BPB530
Increase the satisfaction of citizens with 
our services (QoL)

+ 47.4% 48.5%
Annual - data 

not due
n/a

This has been on a positive trajectory in recent years and the measure is updated annually through the 
Quality of Life survey. This response covers the whole range of council services and every interaction 
with any citizen by any service area can impact the outturn. Results for 2021/22 will be available in 
Quarter 3 2021/22.

RE

WOP1 BPB523 Maintain appropriate staff turnover - 6.8% 10%-15% 11.3% 

The annual rate of turnover in Q4 (2020/21) was 6.8% and has increased to 11.3% in Q1 (2021/22). The 
turnover rate has nearly doubled compared to the previous quarter after maintained low levels due to 
the impact of CV-19. The number of leavers has jumped from 461 to 744. A healthy staff turnover ratio 
is between 10%-15% which enables fresh skills, ideas and experience to be incorporated into the 
workforce. Covid had resulted in a huge reduction in staff leavers as future economic certainty was 
unknown. 
The Council remains at the forefront of the response to the COVID-19 pandemic in delivering vital 
services to communities. The Council has had to be flexible in how we deploy staff. This has increased 
capacity in high demand services and filled gaps in services caused by the pandemic. As a direct result 
we saw a reduction in staff turnover as we sought to multi-skill and redeploy staff to support demand 
rather than depend upon additional temporary recruitment including; casual and agency. 

RE

WOP2 BPB518
Increase the percentage of stage 1 non-
statutory complaints that we respond to 
within 15 days

+ 86.0% 85.0% 85.3% 

Q1 performance reflects a continuation of the council’s consistent and stable handling of its complaints. 
The Customer Relations Team will continue to offer complaint handling training, iCasework system 
support and guidance. 
Corporate target increased from 80% to 85%; Complaints received in Q1 - 1,720; Complaints answered 
on time - 1,468; Complaints not answered on time – 252; Performance 85.3%

RE

WOP2 BPB524
Increase the percentage of staff with a 
completed annual appraisal

+ new KPI 75.0% n/a n/a

We took a light touch approach to performance reviews last year due to colleagues focusing on Covid 
response or redeployed to other work to keep essential services running, although managers were 
encouraged to continue regular conversations with their employees.
We are running a pulse survey in July to ask staff about the frequency and quality of conversations with 
their manager about performance and development needs, and will use this data as a baseline (to be 
provided during Q2 reporting).

RE

WOP3 BPB522
Reduce the average number of working 
days lost to sickness (BCC)

- 7.6 days 8 days 7.8 days 

Sickness in Q1 has seen an increase from 7.6 days in Q4 (2020/21) to 7.8 days.
When excluding COVID-19 sickness (4,067 days lost) from the calculation average days lost decreases to 
7.1.
We are working with our new service provider on integrating occupational health, employee assistance 
and physiotherapy provision to support our employee health and well-being priorities. 
The Council continues to take preventative measures to reduce sickness absence through our revised 
Workforce Strategy. Workforce sickness trends continue to be regularly monitored through the HR 
Dashboard by senior leaders. 

RE

Bristol City Council (BCC) owned performance indicators:
2021/22 Business Plan: Workplace Organisational Priorities

P
age 195



WOP4 BPB501b
Forecast level of Bristol City Council 
general financial reserves

+ 9.57% 5%-6% 9.17% 

The current general reserve balance is currently £35.6m against an on-going base budget of £388.8m, 
this represents 9.17%. This is higher than current target. The policy is being reviewed as part of the 
medium term financial plan with respect to appropriate level of reserves considering the higher risk 
context in which local government now operates. Whilst there are significant risks to balancing the in-
year budget it is expected at quarter 1 these will be managed by services with no requirement to 
drawdown on the general reserve. 

RE

WOP4 BPB502
Increase the percentage of invoices paid 
on time

+ 85.95% 86.0% 84.57% 

Performance levels at the end of Q1 are less than 1.5% below target. Contributory factors include; an 
increase in volume of invoices compared to last year by 29%; a noticeable increase in the percentage of 
invoices paid against retrospective orders of 32.4% this month.
The performance for manual payments continues to be below target (77%) whilst automated payments 
has increased slightly and remain steady (95%).
Additional resource is being brought into the team to bring staffing up to establishment which we hope 
will have a positive impact on this KPI over time. (KS)

RE

WOP4 BPB503
Council Tax collected as a percentage of 
budgeted collectible debit

+ 95.20% 96.0% 26.70% 

Council Tax collection for June 2021 is 0.69% behind Q1 Target of 27.39%, equivalent to a deficit of 
£1.98m, an increase of £878k on last month’s deficit of £1.1m.
The debit has seen an increase of £3.39m since annual billing - exemptions are at their lowest in 
June/July, and we will see the debit reduce in the coming months as the student exemptions are 
allocated.
However there will still be a considerable shortfall on collection, projected currently at closer to £1m as 
at end of June.
All recovery currently remains on hold; once this resumes we can expect higher levels of payment but 
also notification of changes that have previously been unreported, the impact of which cannot be 
ascertained at present. We plan to send ‘soft’ reminders in due course and will signpost citizens to 
financial support if they need it.

RE

WOP4 BPB504
Non-domestic rates collected as a 
percentage of budgeted collectible debit

+ 92.24% 93.5% 18.40% 

Business rates collection for June 2021 is 0.2% above Q1 Target of 18.2%, equivalent to a surplus of 
£0.45m.
The debit has seen a decrease of £14m since annual billing due to the award to some businesses of the 
expanded Retail, Hospitality & Leisure (RHL) discount. We estimate that a further 1800 businesses are 
still to apply which will reduce the debit further. 
All recovery currently remains on hold; once this resumes we can expect higher levels of payment but 
also notification of changes that have previously been unreported, the impact of which cannot be 
ascertained at present. 
The future impact of recovery, the anticipated large liability changes for RHL discount and the unknown 
ability of businesses to recover from the pandemic make it difficult to predict the year end position at 
this stage in the year.

RE

WOP4 BPB505
Percentage of procurement spend with 
'Small and Medium sized Enterprises' 
(SME's)

+ 52.0% 52.2%
Annual - data 

not due
n/a

This is an annually reported KPI. Initiatives in FY21/22 to promote the use of SMEs for delivering 
contracts include:
- Prompts for officers placing sub-£25k contracts to ensure they have considered local SMEs
- Reviewing standard tender processes and documentation to ensure they are proportionate and SME-
friendly.  This will include consulting stakeholders such as the Federation of Small Businesses

RE

WOP4 BPB528
Increase the percentage of employment 
offers made to people living in the 10% 
most deprived areas

+ 4.7% 6.5% 4.8% 

The percentage of job offers being made to employees in the most deprived areas has increased slightly 
to 4.8% in Q4 from 4.72% in Q4. During Q1 there has been an small increase in job offers made, 
however recent Vacancy Management processes introduced in June 2021 have meant that the 
numbers of jobs being advertised has reduced compared to previous quarters.

Recruiting managers are now utilising a new diversity dashboard to measure the diversity of their 
services. Our recruitment service is also providing specialist advice to Hiring Managers who have an 
under-representation of diversity in their workgroups.

RE

P
age 196



PE

G&R

= RE

Corporate Strategy - Key Commitments

EC1
EC2
EC3
EC4

FI1
FI2
FI3
FI4

W1
W2
W3
W4

WC1
WC2
WC3
WC4

WOP1
WOP2
WOP3
WOP4

Progress Key

Significantly better than 
target 

Better than target

Improvement  Key Directorate

Growth and Regeneration

Redesign the council to work effectively as a smaller organisation.

Wellbeing
Embed health in all our policies to improve physical and mental health and wellbeing, reducing inequalities and the demand for acute services.
Keep Bristol on course to be run entirely on clean energy by 2050 whilst improving our environment to ensure people enjoy cleaner air, cleaner streets and access to parks and green spaces.
Tackle food and fuel poverty.

On Target

Worse than target

Significantly worse than 
target 

Make progress towards being the UK’s best digitally connected city.
Reduce social and economic isolation and help connect people to people, people to jobs and people to opportunity.
Work with cultural partners to involve citizens in the ‘Bristol’ story, giving everyone in the city a stake in our long-term strategies and sense of connection.

Give our children the best start in life by protecting and developing children’s centre services, being great corporate parents and protecting children from exploitation or harm.
Reduce the overall level of homelessness and rough sleeping, with no-one needing to spend a ‘second night out’.
Provide ‘help to help yourself’ and ‘help when you need it’ through a sustainable, safe and diverse system of social care and safeguarding provision, with a focus on early help and intervention.

Empowering & Caring

Workplace Organisational Priorities

Prioritise community development and enable people to support their community.
Fair & Inclusive

Make sure that 2,000 new homes (800 affordable) are built in Bristol each year by 2020.
Improve educational outcomes and reduce educational inequality, whilst ensuring there are enough school places to meet demand and with a transparent admissions process.
Develop a diverse economy that offers opportunity to all and makes quality work experience and apprenticeships available to every young person.
Help develop balanced communities which are inclusive and avoid negative impacts from gentrification.

Keep Bristol a leading cultural city, helping make culture, sport and play accessible to all.
Well-Connected

Improve physical and geographical connectivity; tackling congestion and progressing towards a mass transit system.

Resources

Equip our colleagues to be as productive and efficient as possible.
Make sure we have an inclusive, high-performing, healthy and motivated workforce.
Be responsible financial managers and explore new commercial ideas.

Direction of travel IMPROVED compared to same period in the 
previous year

SAME as previous same period in the previous year

Direction of travel WORSENED compared to same period in 
the previous year





People

P
age 197

https://www.bristol.gov.uk/documents/20182/33620/Bristol+City+Council+Corporate+Strategy+2018+to+2023.pdf/3e7d7377-ed1f-5d67-c6ab-af49b7159a5e


Appendix A2

PI ref Measure
Frequency/period 

reported
Method of calculation

BPC200 Increase the number of in-house Foster Care placements (not including Kinship)
Quarterly

(Snapshot)

This records he total number of foster care placements that can potentially be available at maximum capacity in-
house excluding any that are approved for kinship placements. This number is larger than the number of foster 
households as it records 'placements' on any given date, as a snapshot.

BPC216
Percentage children becoming the subject of a child protection plan for a 
second/subsequent time

Quarterly
(Cumulative)

The percentage of children who became subject to a Child Protection Plan at any time during the year, who had 
previously been the subject of a Child Protection Plan, or on the Child Protection Register of that council 
regardless of how long ago that was.

BPC222 Increase the take-up of free early educational entitlement by eligible 2 year olds
Annual

(Previous Financial 
Year)

Take up of free educational provision for 2 year olds.  Data provided by the DfE and relates to the previous 
financial year: https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/education-provision-children-under-5-years-of-age-
january-2019

PI ref Measure
Frequency/period 

reported
Method of calculation

BPB353 Increase the number of households where homelessness is prevented
Quarterly

(Cumulative)

This measure reports the number of households where homelessness is prevented as a result of advice provided 
through a dedicated Housing Advice service funded by a local authority, or in-house housing advice service, to 
fulfil the authority's statutory duties under section 179(1) of the Housing Act 1996 part VII, as amended by the 
Housing Act 2002. 

BPB357 Reduce the number of households in temporary accommodation
Quarterly
(Snaphot)

This measure reports on  the numbers of households living in temporary accommodation provided under the 
homelessness legislation.

BPB358a Number of households moved on into settled accommodation
Quarterly
(Snaphot)

The number of single and family households that have moved from any form of temporary or supported 
accommodation or who have been housed into settled accommodation as a result of being owed a homelessness 
duty. (This includes households that have not entered temporary accommodation.)

BPC352b
Reduce the number of people sleeping rough on a single night in Bristol - BCC 
quarterly Count

Quarterly
(Snaphot)

The number of people sleeping rough on a single night within the area of the authority. This is a local count  done 
to the same methodology as the annual count and is intended to provide a snapshot each quarter. 

PI ref Measure
Frequency/period 

reported
Method of calculation

BPB280
Increase the percentage of people who contact Adult Social Care and then receive 
Tiers 1 & 2 services

Quarterly
(Snapshot)

There is a count of count of requests for Adult Social Care support requests and also a record of how many were 
either signposted to alternate support or provided with lower level support. The inverse percentage being the 
percentage of requests for support that went onto recieve the higher levels of support.  Performance is reported 
on a quarter by quarter basis e.g. Q1 - 55%, Q2 58%  etc

BPB281
Reduce the number of service users aged 65+ in permanent Residential & Nursing 
Care (Snap-shot)

Quarterly
(Snapshot)

This records the total number of service users who are in a permanent Residential or Nursing setting who are 65 
years or older at the end of the quarter, as a snapshot figure.
The formula is: N = X - Y 
Where x = Number of service users at the end of the quarter who were 65 years and older who are receiving a 
care home service of either Nursing or Residential Care 
Where y = Number of service users at the end of the quarter who were 65 years and older who are receiving a 
care home service of either Nursing or Residential Care who are a carer or receives long-term inhouse service

BPB285 Increase the number of people receiving home care
Quarterly

(Snapshot)

This indicator is being measured to demonstrate how BCC commission and utilise alternative Tier 3 (long term 
care) provision to continue to maximise people’s independence at home. This ultimately will reduce the reliance 
on more traditional Tier 3 care home service which have the highest unit cost.
It records the total number of service users who receive externally commissioned home care at the end of the 
quarter (Excluding carers & in house services) and is reported as a snapshot figure.

BPB307
Increase the number of disabled people enabled to live more independently 
through home adaptations

Quarterly
(Cumulative)

This measure records the number of people enabled to live more independently in their own home as the result of 
a home adaptation. the Home Adaptations Service operates across both the public and private housing sectors.

BPC270 Increase experience of work opportunities for priority groups 
Quarterly

(Cumulative)

This measures the number of people who gain experiences of work for identified priority groups -  Young people 
at risk of and currently not engaging in education, employment and training, Children in care or Care leavers 
(CIC/CL), people with a Learning difficulty and/or disability, people with a disability, Black, Asian and other non-
white minority back grounds ( BAME), Returning to work, living in the 25% most deprived lower super output 
areas, over 55’.

PI ref Measure
Frequency/period 

reported
Method of calculation

BPC311 Levels of engagement with community development work
Quarterly

(Cumulative)
This measures the number of residents who actively engage in community building conversations throughout the 
year. This supports an approach which is based on Asset Based Community Development.

BPC312
Increase the percentage respondents who volunteer or help out in their community 
at least 3 times a year (QoL)

Annual
(Survey)

The Quality of Life (QoL) survey is carried out annually and asks Bristol residents about a wide range of topics such 
as health, lifestyles, community, local services and living in Bristol.

BPC314
Reduce the percentage of people who lack the information to get involved in their 
community (QoL)

Annual
(Survey)

The Quality of Life (QoL) survey is carried out annually and asks Bristol residents about a wide range of topics such 
as health, lifestyles, community, local services and living in Bristol.

PI ref Measure
Frequency/period 

reported
Method of calculation

BPB124a
Increase the percentage of major residential planning applications processed within 
13 weeks or as otherwise agreed

Quarterly
(Cumulative)

Percentage of major residential planning applications by type determined in a timely manner (within 13 weeks)  
n.b. this includes the category of "applications for prior approval" which are NOT included as part of the statutory 
returns PS1 and PS2. 

BPB375 Reduce the number of empty council properties
Quarterly

(Snapshot)

The current number of empty properties as at the end of the measuring period. A property is classified as empty 
when there is no tenancy in force and the  property is void. The number should include all standard voids as well 
as those classed as undergoing major works, or pending a decision to dispose or demolish.

BPC310 Increase the number of private sector dwellings returned into occupation
Quarterly

(Cumulative)
This measures the number of non-local authority-owned vacant dwellings returned to occupation or demolished 
during the financial year as a direct result of action by the local authority.

BPC425 Increase the number of affordable homes delivered in Bristol
Quarterly

(Cumulative)

This records the numbers of social rented  and intermediate housing units added to the city's overall housing stock 
during the year. Affordable housing is defined in the Planning Policy Statement 3 (PPS3) from the Ministry for 
Housing Communities & Local Government (MHCLG). 

BPC430a Increase the number of new homes in Bristol 
Annual 

(1 year lag)
This measures the net increase in dwelling stock over one year  and is calculated as the sum of new build 
completions, minus demolitions, plus any gains or losses through change of use and conversions.

PI ref Measure
Frequency/period 

reported
Method of calculation

2021/22 Corporate Plan: Fair & Inclusive

4: Help develop balanced communities which are inclusive and avoid negative impacts from gentrification.

2: Reduce the overall level of homelessness and rough sleeping, with no-one needing to spend a ‘second night out’.

Appendix A2 -  Defintions and reporting timescales for Performance Indicators 
2021/22 Corporate Plan: Empowering & Caring

1: Give our children the best start in life by protecting and developing children’s centre services, being great corporate parents and protecting children from exploitation or harm.

2: Improve educational outcomes and reduce educational inequality, whilst ensuring there are enough school places to meet demand and with a transparent admissions process

1: Make sure that 2,000 new homes (800 affordable) are built in Bristol each year by 2020

3: Provide ‘help to help yourself’ and ‘help when you need it’ through a sustainable, safe and diverse system of social care and safeguarding provision, with a focus on early help and intervention.

Page 198



BPB225e
Increase the percentage of Final EHCPs issued within 20 weeks excluding exception 
cases *

Quarterly
(Cumulative & 3 

months in arrears)

*(this is reported with a 3-month data lag) Number of Education Health Care Plans in the last quarter that were 
issued within 20 weeks,exncluding exception cases, as a percentage of all such statements issued throghout the 
calendar year.   The reported data aligns with the SEN Census reporting (ie a Calendar year).... This means that this 
KPI is reporting cumulatively and 3 months in areas:
Q1 reports Jan – Mar / Q2 reports Jan – June / Q3 reports Jan – Sept / Q4 reports Jan - Dec

BPC246
Increase percentage of schools and settings rated 'Good' or better by Ofsted (all 
phases)

Quarterly
(Snapshot)

This records the present percentage of schools, across all phases, where the Ofsted inspection rating is 'Good' or 
better.  The DfE published this information at: https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/monthly-
management-information-ofsteds-school-inspections-outcomes#history

PI ref Measure
Frequency/period 

reported
Method of calculation

BPB265a Increase the amount of Bristol City Council Apprenticeship Levy spent
Quarterly

(Cumulative)
This measure the amount of budgeted levy money spent on apprenticships by Bristol City Council as an 
organisation.

BPC103 Increase the number of Black, Asian and minority ethnic-led businesses supported Biannual
The number of Black, Asian and minority ethnic-led businesses supported through work commissioned with Black 
South West Network.   

BPC217
Improve the % of 17 - 18 year old care leavers in EET (statutory return - recorded 
around birthday)*

Quarterly
(Cumulative & 3 

months in arrears)

*(this is reported with a 3-month data lag) Performance is reported with a 3 month data lag owing to the way the 
statutory measure is recorded. The percentage of former care leavers aged 17 - 18 who were looked after under 
any legal status (excl V3 or V41) on 1 April in their 17th year, who were in education, employment or training. 
These figures also include those care leavers who we are not in contact with.

BPC263a
Reduce the percentage of young people of academic age 16 to 17 years who are 
NEET & destination unknown

Quarterly
(Snapshot)

This measures the percentage of 16 to 17 year olds who are not in education, employment or training (NEET). 
AND Destination Unknown. Whilst this records data quarter by quarter, unusually the DfE return (and therefore 
the Q4 figure) is the snapshot for the 3 month period 1st December - last day of February.

PI ref Measure
Frequency/period 

reported
Method of calculation

BPC248 Number of hate crimes
Quarterly

(Cumulative)
Hate Crime data recorded by Avon & Somerset Police

BPC324
Increase the percentage of people who feel they belong to their neighbourhood 
(QoL)

Annual
(Survey)

The Quality of Life (QoL) survey is carried out annually and asks Bristol residents about a wide range of topics such 
as health, lifestyles, community, local services and living in Bristol.

BPC327
Reduce the percentage of people who have noted “mainly negative effects” from 
gentrification (QoL)

Annual
(Survey)

The Quality of Life (QoL) survey is carried out annually and asks Bristol residents about a wide range of topics such 
as health, lifestyles, community, local services and living in Bristol.

PI ref Measure
Frequency/period 

reported
Method of calculation

BPC470
Reduce the percentage of people saying that traffic congestion is a problem in their 
area (QoL)

Annual
(Survey)

The Quality of Life (QoL) survey is carried out annually and asks Bristol residents about a wide range of topics such 
as health, lifestyles, community, local services and living in Bristol.

BPC474 Increase the number of single journeys on Park & Ride into Bristol
Quarterly

(Cumulative)
This measures the number of journeys made on Park and Ride (P&R) services in Bristol. Data is supplied by the 
various commerical operators of P&R designated services

BPC475 Increase the number of passenger journeys on buses 
Quarterly

(Cumulative)
This measures the number of journeys made on all services  which has a boarding point in Bristol. Data is supplied 
by the various commerical operators of P&R designated services

PI ref Measure
Frequency/period 

reported
Method of calculation

BPB308
Increase the number of people able to access care and support through the use of 
adaptive technology

Quarterly
(Cumulative)

This measure records the number of people enabled to live more independently in their own home as the result of 
the installation of Technology Enabled Care, and is linked to BPB307 which records the number of homes which 
has received home adaptions are part of enabling independent living.  

BPC438
Increase the percentage of people living in deprived areas who have access to the 
internet at home (QoL)

Annual
(Survey)

The Quality of Life (QoL) survey is carried out annually and asks Bristol residents about a wide range of topics such 
as health, lifestyles, community, local services and living in Bristol.

PI ref Measure
Frequency/period 

reported
Method of calculation

BPC041 Improve the overall employment rate of working age population
Quarterly

(Snapshot)
This is the proportion of the working age population (16-64) who are in employment according to the 
International Labour Organisation (ILO) definition.

BPC266
Increase the percentage of adults with learning difficulties known to social care, 
who are in paid employment

Quarterly
(Cumulative)

The measure shows the proportion of adults with a learning disability who are “known to the council”, who are 
recorded as being in paid employment. The information would have to be captured or confirmed within the 
reporting period 1 April to 31 March.
The definition of individuals ‘known to the council’ is restricted to those adults of working age with a primary 
support reason of learning disability support who received long term support during the year. 
The measure is focused on ‘paid’ employment. Voluntary work is excluded from the measure. Paid employment is 
measured using the following two categories:
• Working as a paid employee or self-employed (16 or more hours per week); 
and,
• Working as a paid employee or self-employed (up to 16 hours per week).

BPC268
Increase the number of adults in low pay work & receiving benefits  accessing in-
work support 

Quarterly
(Cumulative)

This is a cumulative count to show the growth of the Future Bright in work support programme and the new Get 
Well - Get On programme which focusses on supporting people in work who have mental health of muscle, joint 
or bone conditions.

BPC323
Increase the percentage of people who see friends and family as much as they want 
to (QoL)

Annual
(Survey)

The Quality of Life (QoL) survey is carried out annually and asks Bristol residents about a wide range of topics such 
as health, lifestyles, community, local services and living in Bristol.

PI ref Measure
Frequency/period 

reported
Method of calculation

BPB636
Ratio of consultation response rate for the most and least deprived 20% of Bristol 
citizens

Quarterly
(Snapshot)

Ratio of the consultation response rate per 10,000 citizens from people living in the 20% least deprived parts of 
the city (quintile 5) and the response rate from the 20% most deprived areas (quintile 1). Calculated as the mean 
of responses for all city-wide consultations with 500 or more respondents, which closed during the year ending in 
the reporting quarter.

BPC533 Increase the percentage of people who feel they can influence local decisions (QoL)
Annual

(Survey)
The Quality of Life (QoL) survey is carried out annually and asks Bristol residents about a wide range of topics such 
as health, lifestyles, community, local services and living in Bristol.

PI ref Measure
Frequency/period 

reported
Method of calculation

BPC250
Reduce the percentage of people in Bristol who report below national average 
Mental Wellbeing (QoL)

Annual
(Survey)

The Quality of Life (QoL) survey is carried out annually and asks Bristol residents about a wide range of topics such 
as health, lifestyles, community, local services and living in Bristol.

4: Work with cultural partners to involve citizens in the ‘Bristol’ story, giving everyone in the city a stake in our long-term strategies and sense of connection.

3: Reduce social and economic isolation and help connect people to people, people to jobs and people to opportunity.

2: Make progress towards being the UK’s best digitally connected city.

2021/22 Corporate Plan: Well Connected

1: Improve physical and geographical connectivity; tackling congestion and progressing towards a mass transit system.

1: Embed health in all our policies to improve physical and mental health and wellbeing, reducing inequalites and the demand for acute services.

4: Help develop balanced communities which are inclusive and avoid negative impacts from gentrification.

2021/22 Corporate Plan: Wellbeing

3: Develop a diverse economy that offers opportunity to all and makes quality work experience and apprenticeships available to every young person.

Page 199



BPC251 Reduce the rate of alcohol-related hospital admissions per 100,000 population 
Quarterly

(Rolling year 3 
months in arrears)

This indicator measures the rate of alcohol related admissions per 100,000 population using Hospital Episode 
Statistics.The rate is calculated using data on those finished in-year admissions that are classified as ordinary or 
day cases and that have a primary or subsidiary diagnosis code.  
Q1 covers April to March, Q2 = July to June, Q3 = October to September, Q4 = January to December.

BPC255
Increase the percentage of people living in the most deprived areas who do enough 
regular exercise each week(QoL)

Annual
(Survey)

The Quality of Life (QoL) survey is carried out annually and asks Bristol residents about a wide range of topics such 
as health, lifestyles, community, local services and living in Bristol.

PI ref Measure
Frequency/period 

reported
Method of calculation

BPC333
Increase the percentage of residents visiting a park or open space at least once a 
week (QoL)

Annual
(Survey)

The Quality of Life (QoL) survey is carried out annually and asks Bristol residents about a wide range of topics such 
as health, lifestyles, community, local services and living in Bristol.

BPC419 Reduce Bristol City Council’s own carbon dioxide equivalent (CO2e) emissions Annual 

Carbon Dioxide equivalent emissions from:
1. Council buildings (corporate buildings, leisure centres, council housing (landlord supplies and heating), schools 
and other operational sites);
2. Street lighting;

BPC433 Reduce carbon dioxide (CO2) emissions across the Bristol local authority area
Annual 

(18 month lag)
This measures the annual amount of end user CO2 emissions across an agreed set of sectors (housing, 
roadtransport and business).

BPC434 Reduce the proportion of deaths attributed to particulate air pollution 
Annual 

(2 year lag)
This measure is reported by Public Health England  

BPC480
Increase the percentage of monitoring sites that meet the annual air quality target 
for nitrogen dioxide 

Annual 
(Calendar year)

This measures the percentage of monitoring sites across the city which achieve the air quality target of an annual 
NO2 concentration below 40µg/m3, when analysed in accordance with Local Air Quality Management exposure 
criteria. It is published at Q4 as unverified data for the calendar year just finished, prior to sign-off by DEFRA (i.e. 
calendar year 2021 data to be reported at Q4 2021-22)

BPC540
Reduce percentage of people who feel that street litter is a problem in their 
neighbourhood (QoL)

Annual
(Survey)

The Quality of Life (QoL) survey is carried out annually and asks Bristol residents about a wide range of topics such 
as health, lifestyles, community, local services and living in Bristol.

BPC541
Increase the percentage of household waste sent for reuse, recycling and 
composting

Quarterly
(Snapshot)

This measures the percentage of household waste which is sent for reuse, recycling and composting. 

BPC542 Reduce the residual untreated waste sent to landfill (per household)
Quarterly

(Cumulative)

This indicator is the number of kilograms of residual household waste collected per household.

The Numerator (X) for this indicator is total kilograms of household waste less any household waste arisings sent 
for reuse, sent for recycling, sent for composting, or sent for anaerobic digestion.

The Denominator (Y) is the number of households as given by the dwelling stock figures from the Council Taxbase. 

PI ref Measure
Frequency/period 

reported
Method of calculation

BPC258
Reduce the percentage of households which have experienced moderate or worse 
food insecurity (QoL)

Annual
(Survey)

The Quality of Life (QoL) survey is carried out annually and asks Bristol residents about a wide range of topics such 
as health, lifestyles, community, local services and living in Bristol.

BPC259
Percentage of households in the most deprived areas who have used a food bank or 
charity in the last year (QoL)

Annual
(Survey)

The Quality of Life (QoL) survey is carried out annually and asks Bristol residents about a wide range of topics such 
as health, lifestyles, community, local services and living in Bristol.

BPC334 Reduce the percentage of the population living in Fuel Poverty
Annual 

(2 year lag)

Fuel poverty in England is measured using the Low Income High Costs (LIHC) indicator where a household is 
considered to be fuel poor if:
- They have required fuel costs that are above average (the national median level) and were they to spend that 
amount, they would be left with a residual income below the official poverty line.
The data for this measure is supplied by the Department of Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy 

PI ref Measure
Frequency/period 

reported
Method of calculation

BPB253 Increase the number of attendances at BCC leisure centres and swimming pools
Quarterly

(Cumulative)
This measures attendances at BCC leisure centres and swimming pools on a monthly cumulative basis.  
Occasionally the latest month is delayed and in those instances the month indicated in brackets. 

BPB410 Increase the number of visitors to Bristol Museums, Galleries and Archives 
Quarterly

(Cumulative)
This measures visitors to Bristol Museums, Galleries and Archives and is taken from automated counters as well as 
snap shot surveys.   

BPC256
Increase tthe percentage of adults in deprived areas who play sport at least once a 
week (QoL)

Annual
(Survey)

The Quality of Life (QoL) survey is carried out annually and asks Bristol residents about a wide range of topics such 
as health, lifestyles, community, local services and living in Bristol.

BPC411
Increase the percentage of people who take part in cultural activities at least once a 
month (QoL)

Annual
(Survey)

The Quality of Life (QoL) survey is carried out annually and asks Bristol residents about a wide range of topics such 
as health, lifestyles, community, local services and living in Bristol.

BPC412a
Increase the % satisfied (in deprived areas) with the range and quality of outdoor 
events (QoL) 

Annual
(Survey)

The Quality of Life (QoL) survey is carried out annually and asks Bristol residents about a wide range of topics such 
as health, lifestyles, community, local services and living in Bristol.

PI ref Measure
Frequency/period 

reported
Method of calculation

BPB523 Maintain appropriate staff turnover
Quarterly

(Cumulative)

This measures staff turnover by considering the numerator as the total number of leavers; including those who 
retire, or leave involuntarily due to dismissal or redundancy over the period; and the denominator as the average 
total number of staff employed over the period....The aim is to keep the level at between 10-15%

BPB530 Increase the satisfaction of citizens with our services (QoL)
Annual

(Survey)
The Quality of Life (QoL) survey is carried out annually and asks Bristol residents about a wide range of topics such 
as health, lifestyles, community, local services and living in Bristol.

2021/22 Corporate Plan: Workplace Organisational Priorities

1: Redesign the council to work effectively as a smaller organisation.

4: Keep Bristol a leading cultural city, helping make culture, sport and play accessible to all.

3: Tackle food and fuel poverty.

2: Keep Bristol on course to be run entirely on clean energy by 2050 whilst improving our environment to ensure people enjoy cleaner air, cleaner streets and access to parks and green spaces.

Page 200



PI ref Measure
Frequency/period 

reported
Method of calculation

BPB518
Increase the percentage of stage 1 non-statutory complaints that we respond to 
within 15 days

Quarterly
(Snaphot)

The percentage of stage 1 non-statutory complaints that were respond to within 15 days.

BPB524 Increase the percentage of staff with a completed annual appraisal Annual

This indicator is based on figures for the latest performance lifecycle (i.e. at least one face-to-face appraisal must 
have taken place in that 12 month period), and calculated using headcount of staff eligible for a performance 
review. Apply to permanent and temporary staff only. Casual staff (i.e. those not employed on a regular basis but 
when a particular need arises) and those employed by outside contractors (e.g. private companies), are not to be 
counted.

PI ref Measure
Frequency/period 

reported
Method of calculation

BPB522 Reduce the average number of working days lost to sickness (BCC)
Quarterly

(Rolling year)

This performance indicator measures the levels of sickness each quarter is reported on a 'rolling year' basis and 
the last quarter will reflect the whole year's performance - The quartley reports are presented:
• 2020/21 Q1 will report the 1 Jul 20 - 30 Jun '21 figure
• 2020/21 Q2 will report the 1 Oct '20 - 30 Sept '21 figure
• 2020/21 Q3 will report the 1 Jan '21 - 31 Dec '21 figure
• 2020/21 Q4 will report the 1 Apr '21  - 31 Mar '22 figure

BPB528
Increase the percentage of employment offers made to people living in the 10% 
most deprived areas

Quarterly
(Snaphot)

This measures the percentage of employment offers made to people living in the 10% most deprived areas as a 
percentage of all offers made

PI ref Measure
Frequency/period 

reported
Method of calculation

BPB501b Forecast level of Bristol City Council general financial reserves
Quarterly
(Snaphot)

The level of general reserves (which is the £20m) as a percentage of the net General Fund Budget – and shouldn’t 
fall under 5%.
(a/b)*100, where:
a= General reserve
b= Net revenue budget

BPB502 Increase the percentage of invoices paid on time (BCC)
Quarterly

(Cumulative)

This measures the percentage of undisputed invoices for commercial goods and services paid to external 
contractors and suppliers during the year by the authority within mutually agreed terms or 30 days if such terms 
do not exist, as a percentage of all such invoices paid by the authority in the year. Authorities may exclude 
invoices sent to schools and paid from delegated school budgets if they wish. Time starts from the date the 
authority (not the payment section) receives the invoice.

BPB503 Council Tax collected as a percentage of budgeted collectible debit
Quarterly

(Cumulative)
This measures the percentage of the estimated net collectable debit for council taxes net of benefit.
Against the total receipts council taxes; net of refunds granted in respect of the present year only.

BPB504 Non-domestic rates collected as a percentage of budgeted collectible debit
Quarterly

(Cumulative)
This measures the percentage of the estimated net collectable debit in respect of non-domestic.
Against the total receipts of non-domestic rates, net of refunds granted in respect of the present year only.

BPB505
Increase the percentage of procurement spend with 'Small and Medium sized 
Enterprises' (SME's)

Annual 
This PI measures the percentage of Bristol City Council's overall procurement expenditure committed to SME's.  
The aim is to support BCCs policy to ensure that SMEs have the opportunity to bid for and win council contracts.  
The calculation is:  (SME procurement spend / Total procurement spend)*100.

4: Be responsible financial managers and explore new commercial ideas.

3: Make sure we have an inclusive, high-performing, healthy and motivated workforce.

2: Equip our colleagues to be as productive and efficient as possible.

Page 201



 

 

1.  Overview and Scrutiny  
Management Board (OSMB) 

 
18th October 2021 

 

Report of: Mike Jackson, Chief Executive  
 
Title: Corporate Risk Management Report – Q1 2021/22 
 
Ward: Citywide 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Recommendation 
 
For the Overview and Scrutiny Management Board to note the attached Q1 2021/22 Corporate Risk 
Management Report and Appendix A - Corporate Risk Report (CRR) summary of risks that went to 
Cabinet on 14th September 2021. 
 

 
 

 
  

Page 202

Agenda Item 9



1 
Version April 2021 

Decision Pathway – Report 
 
 
PURPOSE: For reference 
  
MEETING: Cabinet  
 
DATE: 14 September 2021 
 

TITLE Corporate Risk Management Report – Q1 2021/22 

Ward(s) City wide 

Author:  Michael Pilcher Job title: Chief Accountant 

Cabinet lead:  Craig Cheney Executive Director lead: Mike Jackson 

Proposal origin: Other 

Decision maker: For noting 
Decision forum: For noting 

Purpose of Report:  
1. The report provides an update current significant strategic risks to achieving the Council’s objectives as set in 

the Corporate Strategy 2018-2023 and summarises progress in managing the risks and actions being taken as 
at Quarter 1 2021-22. 

Evidence Base:  
Context 

1.  The Corporate Risk Report (CRR) is a key document in the council’s approach to the management of risk; it 
captures strategic risks set out in the Corporate Strategy 2018-2023. It also provides a context through which 
Directorates construct their own high-level risk assessments and is used to inform decision making about 
business planning, budget setting, transformation and service delivery. 

2. The CRR provides assurance to management and Members that Bristol City Council’s significant risks have 
been identified and arrangements are in place to manage those risks within the tolerance levels agreed. It 
should be noted that ‘risk’ by definition includes both threats and opportunities, which is reflected in the 
CRR. 

3. The Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 require the council to have in place effective arrangements for the 
management of risk. These arrangements are reviewed each year and reported as part of the Annual 
Governance Statement (AGS). Ensuring that the Service Risk Registers (SRR), Directorate Risk 
Reports (DRR) and the Corporate Risk Reports (CRR) are soundly based will help the council to ensure it is 
anticipating and managing key risks to optimise the achievement of the council’s objectives and prioritise 
actions for managing those risks.  

4. The registers and reports are a management tool. They need regular review to ensure that the occurrence of 
obstacles or events that may put individual’s safety at harm, impact upon service delivery and the council’s 
reputation are minimised, opportunities are maximised and when risks happen, they are managed and 
communicated to minimise the impact.  

5. The CRR summary of risks is attached to this report at Appendix A is the latest position following a review by 
managers and Directors.  

 Summary of Corporate Risks:  
  

6. CLB are asked to note the CRR as a working summary report of the critical and significant risks from the 
Service Risk Registers as at end of June 2021. 

7. The CRR sets out the critical, significant and high rated risks both threats and opportunities.  All other 

Page 203



2 
Version April 2021 

business risks reside on the Service Risk Registers and reported through the DRRs. 

8. The Q1 21-22 Corporate Risk Report (CRR) as at 30 June 2021 contained:   

Threat Risks  Opportunity Risks  External / Contingency Risks  

 3 critical   
 18 high   
 3 medium  
 0 new  
 1 improving   
 3 deteriorating  
 0   closed   

 0 significant   
 3 high   
 0 medium  
 0 new  
 0 improving   
 1 deteriorating  
 0 closed    

 1 critical   
 1 high   
 0 medium  
 0 new  
 0 improving   
 0 deteriorating  
 0 closed    

    

9. A summary of risks (Threat and Opportunities) for this reporting period are set out below.   

10. There are three critical threat risks:  

 CRR41: Long Term Major Capital projects.  The risk rating being 4x7 (28) critical threat risk. This risk is 
managed on the Growth and Regeneration Service Risk Register.  

 CRR32: Failure to deliver enough affordable Homes to meet the City’s needs. The risk rating being 4x7 (28) 
critical threat risk. This risk is managed on the Growth and Regeneration Service Risk Register.  

 CRR9: Safeguarding Vulnerable Children. The risk rating being 4x7 (28) critical threat risk. This risk is managed 
on the People Service Risk Register.  

11. There is one improving threat risks:  

 CRR42: Provision of leisure centres. The risk rating being 4x7 (28) critical threat risk. This risk is managed on 
the People Service Risk Register.  

12. There are three deteriorating threat risks 

 CRR40 Unplanned Investment in Subsidiary Companies. The risk rating being 3x5 (15) high threat risk. This 
risk is managed on the Resources Service Risk Register.  

 CRR15 In-Year Financial Deficit. The risk rating being 3x5 (15) high threat risk. This risk is managed on the 
Resources Service Risk Register. 

 CRR23 Adult and Social Care (ASC) Transformation Programme. The risk rating being 4x5 (20) high risk threat. 
This risk is managed on the People Service Risk Register. 

13. It is proposed the external risk and opportunity relating to Brexit as closed as now reflected within individual 
risks across the Council’s corporate risk register. 

14. All risks on the CRR have management actions in place.   
15. It is not possible to eliminate the potential of failure entirely without significant financial and social costs. The 

challenge is to make every reasonable effort to mitigate and manage risks effectively, and where failure 
occurs, to learn and improve. 

Risk Management Framework  

16. Risk management is the culture, process and structures that are directed towards effective management of 
potential opportunities and threats to the council achieving its priorities and objectives and a key element of 
the council’s governance framework. The Annual Governance Statement (AGS) declaration 
highlighted several opportunities to enhance Risk Management. Areas for improvement included:  

 Increasing the level of engagement and ownership by Service Managers.   

 Enhancing the engagement of Members in the risk management process.  

 Engagement with the timeliness, completion, and accuracy of Service Risk Registers.  

 Accuracy of Corporate and Directorate Risk Reports.   

 Risk Management training and awareness.  

 Risk Management within Decision Making, Business Case approvals, Project Management and Procurement 
Frameworks.  

 Maintaining the focus of the process on reducing risk against the council’s Corporate Plan 2018-23.  

17. The risk management framework and process continues to be developed. 

Page 204



3 
Version April 2021 

18. Upcoming plans for 2021/22 include:  

 Risk data migration Q1 2021/21 and roll out of new system 

 eLearning will roll out on the new Learning and Development platform which will be mandatory for key staff.  

 Annual Risk Management Maturity Assessment.  

 Approach to management of risk reporting to CLB.  

 Reviewing and updating the Risk Management Assurance Policy.  

Cabinet Member / Officer Recommendations:  
That CLB 

1. Notes the current strategic risks and mitigating actions being taken to reduce to within tolerance. 

Corporate Strategy alignment:  
Managing risks are an integral element to the achievement of the BCC Corporate Strategy deliverables. 

City Benefits:  
Risk Management aims to maximise achievement of the council’s aims and objectives by reducing the risks to those 
achievements and maximising possible opportunities that arise. 

Consultation Details:  none 

Background Documents:  
https://democracy.bristol.gov.uk/documents/s28767/10 Appendix A - BD11378 - Risk Management Assurance Policy 
Jan 2019.pdf 

 

Revenue Cost £ Source of Revenue Funding  Insert specific service budget name 

Capital Cost £ Source of Capital Funding e.g. grant/ prudential borrowing etc. 

One off cost ☐          Ongoing cost ☐ Saving Proposal ☐           Income generation proposal ☐ 

 

Required information to be completed by Financial/Legal/ICT/ HR partners: 

1. Finance Advice:  The CRR is a live document refreshed regularly following consultation across the organisation, and 

aims to provide assurance that the council’s main risks have been identified and appropriate mitigations are in place 

to ensure they are managed within agreed tolerances.  This includes, as set out in the annual budget report, 

measures to ensure appropriate financial provision is made through the budget planning process and reserves.  

The Council should ensure it has sufficient resource available to implement actions required to bring risks down to a 
tolerable level. 

Finance Business Partner: Michael Pilcher, Chief Accountant 

2. Legal Advice: The Corporate Rick Register enables the Council to monitor and manage identified risks and 

mitigations to ensure good governance and compliance with its statutory and other duties.  

Advice will be given separately in relation to any specific legal issues that may arise from the risks identified.  

Legal Team Leader: Nancy Rollason, Head of Legal Service and Deputy Monitoring Officer 

3. Implications on IT: The Digital Transformation Team remain committed to undertaking the mitigation activities 
pertaining to the service risks.  We are instigating additional dialogue around the Corporate approach to ‘roll-up’ risks 
such as Suitability of LOB systems, Cyber Security, and IT Resilience whereby ownership and mitigation activity should 
be led by the responsible service areas and reported individually.  We are working with Risk colleagues to improve 
the alignment of different risk registers and approaches and gain a single view of risk within the new risk 
management software tool 

IT Team Leader: Simon Oliver, Digital Transformation Director 

4. HR Advice: It is essential that staffing resources are appropriately deployed to manage risks and bring them to a 
tolerable level and in particular the critical risks that are identified in the report.  There are no other HR implications 
arising from the CRR report.  

Page 205

https://democracy.bristol.gov.uk/documents/s28767/10%20Appendix%20A%20-%20BD11378%20-%20Risk%20Management%20Assurance%20Policy%20Jan%202019.pdf
https://democracy.bristol.gov.uk/documents/s28767/10%20Appendix%20A%20-%20BD11378%20-%20Risk%20Management%20Assurance%20Policy%20Jan%202019.pdf


4 
Version April 2021 

HR Partner:  Mark Williams, Head of Human Resources 

EDM Sign-off  Mike Jackson  06/09/2021 

Cabinet Member sign-off Cllr Craig Cheney 06/09/2021 

For Key Decisions - Mayor’s 
Office sign-off 

n/a   

 

Appendix A – Further essential background / detail on the proposal YES 

Appendix B – Details of consultation carried out - internal and external NO 

Appendix C – Summary of any engagement with scrutiny NO 

Appendix D – Risk assessment NO 

Appendix E – Equalities screening / impact assessment of proposal NO 

Appendix F – Eco-impact screening/ impact assessment of proposal   NO 

Appendix G – Financial Advice  NO 

Appendix H – Legal Advice NO 

Appendix I – Exempt Information NO 

Appendix J – HR advice NO 

Appendix K – ICT  NO 

Appendix L – Procurement  NO 

 

Page 206

https://bristolcouncil.sharepoint.com/sites/Corporate/SitePages/eco-impact-assessments.aspx


Appendix A: Bristol City Council – Corporate Risk Report Q1 2021/22         

1 

 
 

 

 

 

Corporate risk performance summary for threat risks 
Quarter 1 

Apr – Jun 20/21 
Quarter 2 

Jul - Sept 20/21 
Quarter 3 

Oct - Dec 20/21 
Quarter 4 

Jan - Apr 20/21 
Quarter 1 

Apr – Jun 21/22 

Risk ID Risk Risk Owner Rating Travel Travel Travel Rating Travel Rating Travel Rating Travel 

CRR41 Long Term Major Capital projects  Executive Director Growth and Regeneration and 
Executive Director Resources and S151 Officer 

 
 

 
 

4x7=28 New 4x7=28  4x7=28  

CRR32 Failure to deliver enough affordable Homes to meet 
the City’s needs 

Executive Director Growth and Regeneration 
Director Development of Place 4x7=28 

 
4x7=28  4x7=28 

 
4x7=28 

 
4x7=28  

CRR9 Safeguarding Vulnerable Children  Executive Director People 
Director Children’s and Families Services 

2x7=14 
 

3x7=21 
 

4x7=28 
 

4x7=28 
 

4x7=28  

CRR13 Financial Framework and MTFP Chief Executive and Director of Finance (S151 
Officer) 

4x7=28 
 

3x7=21 
 

3x7=21 
 

3x7=21 
 

3x7=21  

CRR35 Organisational Resilience Director Policy, Strategy & Partnerships 3x7=21 New 3x7=21  3x7=21  3x7=21  3x7=21  

CRR10 Safeguarding Adults at Risk with Care and support 
needs 

Executive Director People 
Director Adult Social Care 2x7=14 

 
3x7=21 

 
3x7=21  3x7=21  3x7=21  

CRR29 Information Security Management System Senior Information Risk Owner (SIRO) 4x5=20  4x5=20  4x5=20  4x5=20  4x5=20  

CRR7 Cyber-Security Chief Executive, Senior Information Risk Owner 
(SIRO) 

4x5=20 
 

4x5=20  4x5=20  4x5=20  4x5=20  

CRR25 Suitability of Line of Business Systems (LOB) Director, Digital Transformation, Senior 
Information Risk Owner (SIRO) for Cyber Security. 
Service Areas for BCP/DR 

4x5=20  4x5=20  4x5=20  4x5=20  4x5=20  

CRR4 Corporate Health, Safety and Wellbeing Chief Executive and Corporate Leadership Board 
(CLB) Director of Workforce Change 

2x7=14 
 

4x5=20 
 

4x5=20  4x5=20  4x5=20  

CRR37 Homelessness Executive Director Growth and Regeneration 
Director Housing 

4x5=20 New 4x5=20 
 

4x5=20  4x5=20  4x5=20  

CRR23 Adult and Social Care (ASC) Transformation programme 
2020/21 – 2021 

Executive Director People 
Director Adult Social Care 

2x5=10 New 2x5=10 
 

2x5=10  2x5=10  4x5=20  

CRR6 Fraud and Corruption Chief Executive and Director of Finance (S151 
Officer) 

4x5=20 
 

4x5=20 
 

3x5=15  3x5=15  3x5=15  

CRR12 Failure to deliver suitable emergency planning 
measures, respond to and manage emergency events 
when they occur 

Executive Director Growth and Regeneration 
Head of Paid Service, Director Management of 
Place and Civil Protection Manager 

2x7=14 
 

3x7=21  4x5=20 
 

3x5=15  3x5=15  

CRR5 Business Continuity and Council Resilience Executive Director Growth and Regeneration 
Chief Executive 

2x7=14  3x7=21  4x5=20  3x5=15  3x5=15  

CRR18 Failure to deliver enough homes to meet the City’s 
needs. 

Executive Director Growth and Regeneration 
Director Development of Place 3x5=15 

 
3x5=15 

 
3x5=15  3x5=15  3x5=15  

CRR40 Unplanned Investment in Subsidiary Companies Director of Finance (S151 Officer)     2X7=14 New 2x7=14  3x5=15  

CRR15 In-Year Financial Deficit Director of Finance (S151 Officer) 4x3=12  4x3=12  4x3=12  4x3=12  3x5=15  
CRR26 ICT Resilience Chief Executive, Director 

Digital Transformation, Service Area Leads 
2x7=14 

 
2x7=14 

 
2x7=14  2x7=14  2x7=14  

CRR42 Provision of Leisure Centres Executive Director People 
Director Public Health 

 
 

 
 

  4x7=28 New 2x7=14  

CRR39 Adult and Social Care major provider/ supplier failure Executive Director People 
Director Children’s and Families Services 

 
 

2X7=14 New 2X7=14  2x7=14  2x7=14  

CRR36 SEND Executive Director People 
Director Education and Skills 

2x5=10 New 2x5=10 
 

2x5=10  2x5=10  2x5=10  

CRR27 Capital Transport Programme Delivery Executive Director Growth and Regeneration 
Director Economy of Place 

4x5=20 
 

3x3=9  3x3=9  3x3=9  3x3=9  

CRR34 Corporate Equalities Director Policy, Strategy & Partnership 2x7=14 New 2x5=10  1x5=5  1x5=5  1x5=5  

P
age 207



Appendix A: Bristol City Council – Corporate Risk Report Q1 2021/22         

2 

 

 
 
 

 
 

 

  

Corporate risk performance summary for opportunity risks 
Quarter 1 

Apr – Jun 20/21 
Quarter 2 

Jul - Sept 20/21 
Quarter 3 

Oct - Dec 20/21 
Quarter 4 

Jan - Apr 20/21 
Quarter 1 

Apr – Jun 21/22 

Risk ID Risk risk owner Rating Rating Rating Travel Rating Travel Rating Travel Rating Travel 

OPP2 Corporate Strategy Director Policy, Strategy and Partnerships 4x7=28  4x7=28  3x7=21  3x7=21  2x7=14  

OPP1 One City Director Policy, Strategy and Partnerships 3x7=21  3x7=21  3x7=21  3x7=21  3x7=21  

OPP3 Devolution Director Policy, Strategy and Partnerships 3x5=15  3x5=15  3x7=21  3x7=21  3x7=21  

Corporate risk Performance Summary for external and civil contingency risks 
Quarter 1 

Apr – Jun 20/21 
Quarter 2 

Jul - Sept 20/21 
Quarter 3 

Oct - Dec 20/21 
Quarter 4 

Jan - Apr 20/21 
Quarter 1 

Apr – Jun 21/22 

Risk ID Risk Risk Owner Rating Travel Rating Travel Rating Travel Rating Travel Rating Travel 

BCCC3 Covid -19  Corporate Leadership Board, Chief Executive 4x7=28  4x7=28  4x7=28  4x7=28   4x7=28   

BCCC1 Flooding 
Executive Director Growth and Regeneration  
Director Economy of Place 

3x5=15  3x5=15  3x5=15  3x5=15  3x5=15  

P
age 208



Appendix A: Bristol City Council – Corporate Risk Report Q1 2021/22         

3 

 

Corporate Risk Register as at June 2021 – Threat Risks to the achievement of Bristol City Councils Objectives. 

 Risk title and description  What we have done 

 P
e

rf
o

rm
an

ce
 

Current Risk 
Level 

What we are doing 

Tolerance 
Risk Level 

 L
ik

e
lih

o
o

d
 

 Im
p

ac
t 

R
is

k 
 

R
at

in
g 

 L
ik

e
lih

o
o

d
 

 Im
p

ac
t 

 R
is

k 

 R
at

in
g 

CRR4 Corporate Health, Safety and Wellbeing. 
If the City Council does not meet its wide range of 
Health & Safety requirements then there could be 
a risk to the safety of employees, visitors, 
contractors, citizens, and BCC corporate body. 

Key potential causes are: 

 If services do not have sufficient staff numbers 
to carry out work plans in a safe way. 

 If services are not able to order appropriate 
equipment required for staff safety. 

 Lack of appropriate equipment. 

 Lack of appropriate training. 

 Lack of oversight and control by local 
management. 

 Lack of information on the potential or known 
risks. 

 Inadequate contract management 
arrangements. 

 Lack of effective processes and systems 
consistently being applied 

 Policies are not kept up to date. 

The Corporate Health, Safety and Wellbeing Team provide an integrated service to support 
all BCC services and monitor performance and compliance. Support Leadership and 
engagements with all managers, monitor and provide assurance on risk control, develop 
learning and development to assist with competence and monitor overall performance on 
HS&W.   

A new integrated Health, Safety and Wellbeing strategy has been approved by CLB along 
with new governance arrangements for HS&W. 

A new Fire Safety Management System has been developed and consulted on with key 
stakeholders.  This includes a revised training programme and revised roles and 
responsibilities.  

A Corporate Health and Safety Monitoring System (CHaSMs) is used to provide a level of 
assurance on compliance across BCC.  Each manager responsible for people and/or facilities 
are required to complete a twice-yearly submission which identifies key hazard and risk 
control and identify any areas of improvement and/or non-compliance. Data submissions are 
analysed by the Corporate H&S team and performance reports submitted to EDM’s and the 
Corporate Health and Safety Committee.  Each manager is required to develop an action plan 
to improve performance.   The H&S team carry out monitoring and sampling of the 
completed returns and support managers to develop appropriate action plans.  

The Accident Incident Reporting Systems (paper based) has been moved across to 
SHAREPOINT. AIRs are monitored daily, and H&S Advisors follow up any actions, undertake 
investigations and report any RIDDORs to the HSE.   

BCC has a comprehensive programme of e-learning and personal face to face course delivery 
available to all directors, managers, staff, and members. The Corporate Safety Information 
System is in place to share with staff details of addresses which due to potential violence & 
aggression or police notification are considered to present risks. Benchmarking and annual 
reports are provided to BCC along with the annual performance report. All contracts set up 
with external providers include a check of their relevant Health and Safety competency. The 
council’s audit programme monitors compliance with statutory duty and best practices. We 
have reviewed the Health and Safety Management arrangements and developed a (project) 
service development and improvement plan.  

There is a new Occuputaional Health, EAP and Physiotherapy provider in place (from 1st April) 
. The contract management is overseen by the Head of Health Safety and Wellbeing.  THe 
new provision provides an offer for Schools.  
Developed robust risk assessments and control for managing COVID-19 acoss all of BCC and 
School.  
Continue to have good engagement with Trade Unions. 
Continued to build on the relatinships with our Regulators including HSE and Fire Authority. 
We are working with the HSE on trail blazing work related to managing risk for Electircal 
Safety in Highways.   
The plan for updating and revising all health and safety procedures has been drafted. 
Mental Health First Aiders has now been launched and includes Senior Manager involvement  

 

 4 5 20 

We have agreed in a new accident incident reporting system.  A named officer 
has been allocated to work alongside the risk management team to pilot and 
implement the system which is part of the existing Risk Management Claims 
Reporting System.  

The new strategy is now being implemented. The strategy sets out the out a 5 
Year end goal and the strategic priorities for Health Safety and Wellbeing. 
(Leadership and Commitment, Risk Control, Communication and Engagement, 
Training and Competence and Performance Management). A delivery plan 
supports the implementation. 

A new operating model and staff structure will be in place by June/July 2021. 
The H&S team have started to risk profile all the health and safety risks across 
BCC this will be used to plan and manage our work and make progress and 
maturity and provide better assurance at a senior level on what our H&S risk are 
and how well we are managing them. We continue to support the organisation 
to be COVID-19 secure. All buildings including schools have been given a COVID 
secure certificate and monitoring continues in this area. 

The health and wellbeing plan continues to support the workforce organisational 
strategy and key actions including reasonable adjustments training which is 
currently being revised with a plan to roll out to all managers during 2021/2022. 

A document plan has been developed to review all health and safety procedures 
to ensure they are user friendly and meet legal requirements.  

3 5 15 

Risk Owner: Chief Executive and Corporate 
Leadership Board (CLB), Director of Workforce 
Change. 

Action Owner: Director of Workforce Change, Head of Health Safety and Wellbeing. Portfolio Flag: Finance, 
Governance and 
Performance. 

Strategy Theme: Our Organisation. 

  

P
age 209



Appendix A: Bristol City Council – Corporate Risk Report Q1 2021/22         

4 

 

 
  

Corporate Risk Register as at June 2021 – Threat Risks to the achievement of Bristol City Councils Objectives. 

 Risk title and description  What we have done 

 P
e

rf
o

rm
an

ce
 

Current Risk 
Level 

What we are doing 

Tolerance 
Risk Level 

 L
ik

e
lih

o
o

d
 

 Im
p

ac
t 

 R
is

k 
 

 R
at

in
g 

 L
ik

e
lih

o
o

d
 

 Im
p

ac
t 

 R
is

k 
 

 R
at

in
g 

CRR5: Business Continuity (BC) and Councils Service Resilience.   
If the council has a Business Continuity disruption and is unable 
to ensure the resilience of key BCC operations and business 
activities, then the impact of the event maybe increased with a 
greater impact on people and council Services. 

Key potential causes are: 

 Strikes (People, Fuel). 

 Loss of key staff (communicable diseases and influenza 
epidemics). 

 Loss of suppliers. 

 Loss of accommodation to deliver key services. 

 Loss of equipment. 

 Any event which may cause major disruption. 

 Unavailability of IT and/or Telecoms, including from cyber 
attack 

 Loss of staff/staff availability.  

 Knowledge loss. 

 Reduced chances of preventing/responding to incidents due 
to a lack of forward planning or investment. 

A number of Policies, procedures and arrangements are in place including 
duty rotas for key service areas and the Duty Director rota.  

The Covid Continuity Group has now been stood down.  However, it has 
been established as a successful model for managing business continuity 
challenges and is being written into plans to be reconvened when 
necessary in future.  

The review of Service Level Business Continuity Plans planned for January 
2021 was delayed by the Covid second wave. Although some of this work 
will be addressed in the project outlined above, a wider review needs to be 
re-scheduled.   

Business Continuity Awareness Week took place between 17th and 21st 
May and we are working with Internal Communications to ensure messages 
to managers encourage review of continuity arrangements. 

CPU continue to lead exercises to support service response and continuity 
(e.g. election resilience). 

We continue to work closely with partners through the LRF to understand 
Covid, EU Exit Risks and other risks and the impact they may have on 
continuity. 

 

 3 5 15 

Due to risk due to cyber security and the ability of critical services to manage 
continuity in the event of a loss of IT services, a project is being developed across 
CPU, IT and Information Assurance to: review and finalise the list of critical services 
and the IT they depend on; increase services understanding of the resilience they 
can expect from IT; ensure that BC plans align with disaster recovery schedules; 
improve the quality of the BC arrangements services have in place to manage IT 
outages; place the review and maintenance of service BC plans on a ‘corporate 
governance programme’. 

 

 

 

 

 

1 5 5 

Risk Owner: Executive Director Growth and Regeneration Chief 
Executive, Director Management of Place. 

Action Owner: Director Management of Place and Civil Protection Manager. Portfolio Flag: Finance, 
Governance and 
Performance. 

Strategy Theme: Our Organisation, Wellbeing. 

P
age 210



Appendix A: Bristol City Council – Corporate Risk Report Q1 2021/22         

5 

  

Corporate Risk Register as at June 2021 – Threat Risks to the achievement of Bristol City Councils Objectives. 

 Risk title and description  What we have done 

 P
e

rf
o

rm
an

ce
 

Current Risk 
Level 

What we are doing 

Tolerance 
Risk Level 

 L
ik

e
lih

o
o

d
 

 Im
p

ac
t 

 R
is

k 
 

 R
at

in
g 

 L
ik

e
lih

o
o

d
 

 Im
p

ac
t 

 R
is

k 
 

 R
at

in
g 

CRR6: Fraud and Corruption.  
Failure to prevent or detect acts of significant fraud or 
corruption against the council from either internal or external 
sources.  
Key potential causes are:  
• Heightened levels of fraud, including cyber fraud, as 
criminals attempt to exploit the COVID-19 pandemic and 
emergency payment environment.  
• Failure of management to implement a sound system of 
internal control and/or to demonstrate commitment to it at all 
times.  
• Not keeping up to date with developments, in new areas of 
fraud.  
• Insufficient risk assessment of new emerging fraud issues.  
• Lack of clear management control of responsibility, 
authorities and / or delegation.   
• Lack of resources to undertake the depth of work required 
to minimise the risks of fraud /avoidance with staff in key 
areas redeployed to support the emergency response.   
• Under investment in fraud prevention, detection and 
technology.  

  

 The Council's exposure to fraud remains so we continued to use 
analytic tools and additional resources to perform both prepayment 
and post payment assurance checks.  

 We continued to work across the region in undertaking prepayment 
checks on government grants to minimise fraud losses in the region.    

 An audit on Cyber Security was completed and the actions arising 
from this review enhance our fraud and cyber controls.    

 We continued to participate in anti-fraud exercises including the 
National Fraud Initiative and have now obtained approval to join the 
Cabinet Office Fraud Hub to enable more frequent and regular 
matching of the data  

 A project team which is exploring viable options for a longer-
term solution for a fraud hub was set up and the Project Board chaired 
by the Section 151 Officer started meeting in June  

 An independent review of our Whistleblowing arrangements gave 
substantial assurance on the adequacy and effectiveness of 
arrangements   

 3  5 15  

We will continue to undertake post-payment checking against Covid 
grants to identify and investigate potential fraudulent claims.  
Output from the National Fraud Initiative data matching exercise will be 
reviewed including new reports relating to Covid grants.  
Work continues to improve the Whistleblowing process and awareness of 
it, including implementation of recommendations from the independent 
review.  
The Cabinet Office Fraud Hub will be implemented as a short-
term solution to enable more frequent and regular matching of the data.  
Focus will be on the Bristol Fraud Hub Project with the target of 
completing soft market testing and finalisation of an Outline Business 
Case by end of Quarter 2.  

3  5 15  

Risk Owner: Chief Executive and Director of Finance (S151 
Officer). 

Action Owner: Director of Finance, Chief Internal Auditor. 
 

Portfolio Flag: Finance, 
Governance and 
Performance. 

Strategy Theme: Our Organisation. 

P
age 211



Appendix A: Bristol City Council – Corporate Risk Report Q1 2021/22         

6 

 

Corporate Risk Register as at June 2021 – Threat Risks to the achievement of Bristol City Councils Objectives. 

 Risk title and description  What we have done 

 P
e

rf
o

rm
an

ce
 

Current Risk 
Level 

What we are doing 

Tolerance 
Risk Level 

 L
ik

e
lih

o
o

d
 

 Im
p

ac
t 

 R
is

k 
 

 R
at

in
g 

Li
ke

lih
o

o
d

 

 Im
p

ac
t 

 R
is

k 
 

 R
at

in
g 

CRR7: Cyber-Security. 
The Council's risk level regarding 
Cyber-security is higher than should 
be expected. 

Key potential causes are: 

 Lack of investment in appropriate 
technologies. 

 Reliance on in-house expertise, 
and self-assessments (PSN). 

 Lack of formal approach to risk 
management (ISO27001). 

An Information Governance Board has been established to provide oversight of information 
security and an escalation point to the Council’s SIRO.  

The Council is using a SIRO checklist to capture and escalate cyber security risks. IG team now 
have an operational level risk register that is being used to track local operational risks 
further aligning ourselves with best practice. 

COVID-19 has brought new challenges to Information Governance including new systems and 
ways of working being rolled out. The team are working closely with relevant services such as 
ICT to ensure that Information Governance is considered in these changes. IG team now have 
an operational level risk register that is being used to track local operational risks further 
aligning ourselves with best practice.  

The IT Transformation Programme currently has plans to implement technology platforms to 
move the Council from file storage to document storage platforms, increase team 
collaboration without use of email, implement file retention policies, introduce document 
marking and rights management, implement data classification and improve federated 
search across structured and unstructured data stores. 

As well as technical controls, the Council continues to carry out regular Phishing attack 
exercises where we are sending emails to staff to see how users react to this type of Cyber 
Attack. Anyone clicking on links is directed towards targeted training. The Information 
Assurance and ICT team will continue to work together to support the SIRO to develop 
appropriate targeted training for all Council staff relating to cyber security. The IG Team are 
continuing to work with ICT and Microsoft on the ITTP programme to ensure that this is done 
in line with industry best practice and recognised standards. 

Resources have been appointed to facilitate the improvements required as per the agreed 
budget. These will also be needed to support capital projects. New ITTP Tooling is being 
configured and refined to provide a clear picture of the threat to BCC infrastructure. 

 

 4 5 20 

Further technical controls are being implemented with support from ICT colleagues External 
Audit has been undertaken to provide assurance and help with direction of travel for 
mitigating activities. These are being managed by InfoSec team and reported via the IG Board. 
Team continue to upskill. 

Work with ICT colleagues continues and discussions around cementing roles and 
responsibilities is being undertaken. 

 

1 5 5 

Risk Owner: Chief Executive, Senior 
Information Risk Owner (SIRO). 

Action Owner: Head of Information Assurance, Information Governance. Portfolio Flag: Finance, 
Governance and 
Performance. 

Strategy Theme: Our Organisation. 

  

P
age 212



Appendix A: Bristol City Council – Corporate Risk Report Q1 2021/22         

7 

 

Corporate Risk Register as at June 2021 – Threat Risks to the achievement of Bristol City Councils Objectives. 

 Risk title and description  What we have done 

 P
e

rf
o

rm
an

ce
 

Current Risk 
Level 

What we are doing 

Tolerance 
Risk Level 

 L
ik

e
lih

o
o

d
 

 Im
p

ac
t 

 R
is

k 
 

 R
at

in
g 

 L
ik

e
lih

o
o

d
 

 Im
p

ac
t 

 R
is

k 
 

 R
at

in
g 

CRR9: Safeguarding Vulnerable Children.  
The council fails to ensure that adequate safeguarding measures are in place, 
resulting in harm or death to a vulnerable child. 

Key potential causes are: 

 Failure to meet the requirements of the Children Act and associated legislation. 

 Inadequate controls result in harm.  

 Demand for services exceeds its capacity and capability. 

 Increase in complex safeguarding risks, criminal exploitation, serious youth 

violence and gang affiliation. 

 During Covid-19, in line with Govt guidelines tiers, lockdown and infection 

control, there has been a reduction in the frequency of face-to-face visits to 

families. Since the last easing of restrictions on 12 April face to face visiting is 

now expected unless exceptional circumstances that are signed off by a Tier 3 

manager.  Risk assessments are required to assess whether a face-to-face visit is 

required. This is kept under review with services operating as near normal as is 

possible within the guidelines.  

 Placement failure due to COVID infection across children’s home or fostering 

household. 

 An increase in demand of up to 5% is anticipated because of Covid and 

economic downturn, with some children more vulnerable to exploitation and 

abuse as a result of lost safe, stable, and nurturing relationships. 

 Increased destitution in families, impacting on mental ill health, managing 

increased infection within children and young people population and their 

parents.  

We regularly analyse performance against key causes and report to Cabinet Members and 
Directors regarding safeguarding performance and progress. A children's safeguarding 
assurance report updates senior leaders on a quarterly basis.  

The Keeping Bristol Safe Board provides independent scrutiny of children’s safeguarding 
arrangements in the city and holds BCC and partner agencies to account. This includes 
delivery of Safer Communities and the Prevent Duty.  

BCC works with partners to effectively identify victims and perpetrators of extra-familial 
abuse including Child Sexual exploitation, Criminal Exploitation and Serious Violence, 
taking action to disrupt and protect. 

Multi Agency Public Protection Arrangements are in place (MAPPA) with BCC contributors 
at every level to support family safeguarding. 

Additional capacity has been committed to the Local Authority Designated Officer for 
allegations against people who work with children. 

Bristol’s published policies and procedures, comprehensive training and development and 
monthly professional supervision help ensure safe practice and adequate control of risks. 
This is monitored and tested through a performance and quality assurance framework. 

September 2018 Ofsted ILACS single inspection identified that, ‘services have improved 
substantially for care leavers, children in care and children in need of help and protection’ 
and that ‘children identified as being at immediate risk of harm receive timely support and 
interventions. 

Bristol has invested in Early Help and targeted services through an integrated localities and 
team around the school and family approach. The aim is to meet the needs of children and 
families at the earliest point, build family resilience, reduce demand for specialist services 
and maintain capacity within the system. 

Children and Families’ Services invests in its workforce and has a career progression policy 
and workforce strategy focussed on attracting, recruiting, retaining, and developing 
excellent social workers. Senior leaders monitor social work vacancies and caseload levels 
to ensure the system operates as safely as possible for children and families. Competent 
agency social workers and managers are used on a temporary basis to fill vacancies. 

Information sharing protocols are in place with partners. Services take action to comply 
with GDPR (General Data Protection Regulation) where sensitive data is stored/processed. 

Children’s strategic commissioning team have a priority work plan in place and are 
working to increase placement sufficiency through regional framework arrangements. BCC 
commissioners work closely with operational services to identify need and ensure 
appropriate services are commissioned. 

Developed a dynamic multi agency sharing information hub (MASH) to enable information 
to be shared between agencies and risk for children identified at the earliest opportunity.  

Developed a Domestic Abuse daily triage with colleagues in Police, Nextlink and our IDVA's 
to ensure support is provided at the earliest opportunity and timely referrals are made to 
First Response if appropriate. (FT) 

 4 7 
 

28 
 

We are reviewing and reassessing information 
sharing arrangements with the aim of improving 
our ability to understand and respond to children 
at risk of criminal exploitation and going missing 
following CSE/Missing National Working Group 
recommendations. Working with University of 
Bedfordshire as part of the Contextual 
Safeguarding Scale Up Project to develop 
improved responses to contextual safeguarding 
risks. In response to an identified and increasing 
risk of serious youth violence and criminal 
exploitation a multiagency plan is being 
implemented under the Serious Youth Violence 
Exec Group. Service Delivery Plans set out further 
actions to mitigate risks identified and deliver on 
our ambitions for children and families. 

Since the easing of Covid restrictions on 12 April 
face to face visiting is expected unless in 
exceptional circumstances. Risk assessments are 
undertaken if face to face visiting is not 
undertaken, and these are required to be signed 
off by a Tier 3 manager. As vaccinations are being 
rolled out this is improving sufficiency within our 
foster carers and Childrens Homes.  

We have not yet seen an increase in referrals as a 
result of Covid and the economic downturn, but 
we are monitoring this closely with our partners 
under KBSP and are developing early intervention 
responses.  
We are investing in systemic practice approach 
and training staff members at all levels of Children 
and Families Services. 

 

1 7 7 

Risk Owner:  Executive Director People, Director Children’s, and Families Services. Action Owner: Director Children’s and Families Services. Portfolio Flag:  Children 
and Young People. 

Strategy Theme: Our Organisation, Empowering and Caring, 
Wellbeing. 

  

P
age 213



Appendix A: Bristol City Council – Corporate Risk Report Q1 2021/22         

8 

 

Corporate Risk Register as at June 2021 – Threat Risks to the achievement of Bristol City Councils Objectives. 

 Risk title and description  What we have done 

 P
e

rf
o

rm
an

ce
 

Current Risk 
Level 

What we are doing 

Tolerance 
Risk Level 

Li
ke

lih
o

o
d

 

 Im
p

ac
t 

 R
is

k 
  

 R
at

in
g 

 L
ik

e
lih

o
o

d
 

 Im
p

ac
t 

 R
is

k 
 

 R
at

in
g 

CRR10: Safeguarding Adults at Risk with Care and 
support needs.  
The council fails to ensure adequate safeguarding 
measures are in place, Adults at risk. 

Key potential causes are: 

 Adequacy of controls. 

 Management and operational practices.  

 Demand for services exceeds capacity and 
capability. 

 Poor information sharing. 

 Lack of capacity or resources to deliver safe 
practice. 

 Failure to commission safe care for adults at risk. 

 Failure to meet the requirements of the ‘Prevent 
Duty’ placed on Local Authorities. 

 Increased destitution in families, impacting on 
mental ill health, managing increased infection 
within the population. (COVID19)  

 Increased isolation. (COVID19) 

 Carer strain / resilience. (COVID19) 

 Absence of building-based services whilst we have 
reduced community solutions. (COVID19)  
 

 

Bristol has the Keeping Bristol Safe Partnership (KBSP), which covers Adult Safeguarding, Children’s 
Safeguarding and Community Safety. The Board has senior executive representation and ensures a 
strong focus on matters of strategic concern. The Keeping Bristol Safe Board provides independent scrutiny 

of adult safeguarding in the city and holds BCC and partner agencies to account. The Keeping Adults Safe 
board reports into the KBSP and has oversight of adult safeguarding priorities.  KBSP business plan 
priorities are agreed and being actioned and regularly reviewed. 
The Adult Social Care Transformation programme has been established to implement policy objectives 
of delivering financial sustainability and ‘right positioning’ care delivery in the Bristol health, care, and 
wellbeing system. 

An active strategy is in place to attract, recruit and retain social workers through a variety of routes 
with particular emphasis on experienced social workers. Regular strategies and campaigns support the 
recruitment and retention of high calibre social workers and managers, with competent agency social 
workers and managers used on temporary basis to fill vacancies. 

All key staff working with people directly at risk are trained in the essentials of safeguarding and BCC 
has an ongoing awareness-raising ‘Prevent’ training programme. 

Community Finance Support Scheme meets regularly to respond to provide financial protection to 
adults with Care and Support needs who are unable to protect themselves and have no one willing or 
unable to act on their behalf.  

Annual report shared with Elected Members to allow for scrutiny of progress of the KBSP.  

The quality assurance and performance visits to teams   

Corporate safeguarding policy in draft and going to Cabinet to be agreed and signed off.  

Regular attendance at Channel, MARAC (Multi Agency Risk Assessment Conference) and Multi Agency 
Public Protection Arrangements are in place (MAPPA) with BCC contributors to support risk 
management. 

Safeguarding Discussion Forum set up to ensure complex or stuck cases are addressed in a timely 
manner. 
Improving Performance-Developed a new data collection with Power BI which is entering its testing 
phase.  

Focused work is being undertaken to address the backlog in safeguarding referrals due to reduced 
capacity and an action plan is in place. Agency staff agreed to increase capacity within the safeguarding 
adults team. Flow and capacity issues in the First teams have an action plan being constructed for sign 
off at Director level. 

 Commissioning capacity has increased this to lead on monitoring and assuring quality in the care 
sector with clear links to adult safeguarding. Provider failure process is enacted to support and manage 
whole service risks. 

Corporate safeguarding policy in draft and going to CLB to be agreed and signed off procedures being 
written to accompany this for publication on the Source. Strategic Safeguarding Leads Group Meeting 
set up. 

Improving Performance-Developed a new data collection with Power BI which tested and is going live. 

 3 7 21 

Social workers and other social care practitioners are working with 
multi-agency partners supporting adults and older people to live 
safely within their families and communities. 

Planning placed based approaches to include working with micro 
providers. 

The Adults Delivery Group is up and running and a new Transitions 
theme has also been instituted. Whilst the Covid-19 situation has 
changed the complexion of adult safeguarding, it is anticipated that 
the likelihood and impact of incidence will be similar This is being 
monitored through Power BI and reported to DMT by exception. 

Services operating within Covid guidance and are provision a near to 
normal to pre Covid.  Business Continuity response enacted to 
manage increased demand, potential gaps in workforce or services.  

Development and delivery of an Adults Multi-agency Safeguarding 
Hub as a priority for the partnership. 

Power BI data set being used to monitor performance, trends, 
timeliness alongside auditing. 

1 7 7 

Risk Owner: Executive Director People, Director 
Adult Social Care. 

Action Owner: Director Adult Social Care. Portfolio Flag: Adult 
Social Care. 

Strategy Theme: Our Organisation, Empowering others and Caring, Fair, and Inclusive, 
Well connected, Wellbeing. 

  

P
age 214



Appendix A: Bristol City Council – Corporate Risk Report Q1 2021/22         

9 

 

Corporate Risk Register as at June 2021 – Threat Risks to the achievement of Bristol City Councils Objectives. 

 Risk title and description  What we have done 

 P
e

rf
o

rm
an

ce
 

Current Risk 
Level 

What we are doing 

Tolerance 
Risk Level 

 L
ik

e
lih

o
o

d
 

 Im
p

ac
t 

 R
is

k 
  

 R
at

in
g 

 L
ik

e
lih

o
o

d
 

 Im
p

ac
t 

 R
is

k 
  

 R
at

in
g 

CRR12: Failure to deliver suitable emergency 
planning measures and respond to and manage 
emergency events when they occur. (Civil 
Contingency and Resilience)  
If the City has a Major Incident, Contractor 
Failure or the council inadequately responds, 
then the impact of the event may be increased 
with a greater impact on people and businesses. 

Key potential causes are:  

 Emergency risks not identified and prepared 
for. 

 Lack of trained and available responding 
staff. 

 Emergency roles and responsibilities not 
embedded. 

We have supported the ongoing Covid response and responded effectively to concurrent incidents including fatal industrial 
accidents, residential fires, water and utility outages and protests. 

Learning from Covid 'Waves 1 and 2' have been absorbed across the organisation.  However, there remains lessons to be 
learnt and embedded. 

BCC plays a leading role in the Avon and Somerset Local Resilience Forum (LRF), the multi-agency partnership of all the 
organisations needed to prepare for an emergency in the LRF area. It includes the emergency services, health services, 
Maritime and Coastal Agency, Environment Agency, volunteer agencies, utility companies, transport providers and the five 
councils of Bath and North East Somerset, Bristol, North Somerset, Somerset, and South Gloucestershire.  The Avon and 
Somerset works to the Avon and Somerset Community Risk Register.   

A system is in place for ongoing monitoring of severe weather events (SWIMS). 

Emergency planning training has been rolled and a multi-agency exercise is regularly conducted to test different elements of 
BCC emergency arrangements with partners. CPU and relevant teams have also taken part in multi-agency exercises. 

A Duty Director on-call rota is in operation. Emergency volunteers have been recruited to aid emergency responses. Duty 
rotas in other key service delivery areas (e.g. Housing and Social Care) are also in place. 

The Bristol Operations Centre capacity to support multi-agency operations has been tested. 

A review and exercise of the COMAH (Control of Major Accident Hazards) Plan is complete. 

The Covid-19 emergency has stretched the Council’s emergency response capacity and created additional strains and 
pressures across all responding agencies and the city systems in place to manage emergencies. 

The risk of a concurrent emergency during the Covid crisis is arguably higher than before the crisis.  Covid pressures and 
additional safety considerations with regards to response required the OOH CPU service to be reduced to a telephone only 
service.  This has now been reversed and a full response is available again.    

Measures for managing a concurrent emergency have been discussed with emergency services and e.g. the Fire Service has 
arrangements to support residential evacuations during this period.  A ‘concurrent emergency’ plan is in place.  

Learning is taking place as consequence of the ongoing pandemic and this is making the Council a more resilient organisation.   

An ‘Introduction to Emergency Planning’ e-learning package will be available for all staff is in development. 

 

 3 5 15 

We remain in 'response mode' with Covid, which 
continues to absorb CPU capacity, leaving little 
capacity for 'BaU' planning. 

A LRF funding pilot is underway to provide all LRFs 
MHCLG money to develop multi-agency planning. 

The Council's 'Corporate Resilience Group' is being 
re-formed post-Covid to oversee the management 
of relevant risks identified on the National Security 
Risk Assessment and other pertinent local risks. 

 
 
 
 

 
1 5 5 

Risk Owner: Executive Director Growth and 
Regeneration, Director Management of Place. 

Action Owner: Director Management of Place, and Civil Protection Manager. 
 

Portfolio Flag: Finance, 
Governance and 
Performance. 

Strategy Theme: Our Organisation, Wellbeing. 

 

 
  

P
age 215



Appendix A: Bristol City Council – Corporate Risk Report Q1 2021/22         

10 

 

Corporate Risk Register as at June 2021 – Threat Risks to the achievement of Bristol City Councils Objectives. 

 Risk title and description  What we have done 

 P
e

rf
o

rm
an

ce
 

Current Risk 
Level 

What we are doing 

Tolerance 
Risk Level 

 L
ik

e
lih

o
o

d
 

 Im
p

ac
t 

 R
is

k 
 

 R
at

in
g 

 L
ik

e
lih

o
o

d
 

 Im
p

ac
t 

 R
is

k 
 

 R
at

in
g 

CRR13: Financial Framework and Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP).   
Failure to be able to reasonably estimate and agree the financial ‘envelope' 
available, both annually and in the medium-term and the council is unable to set 
a balanced budget.  
Key potential causes are:  

 Failure to achieve Business Rates income- appeals/general 
economic growth/loss of major sites (in budget setting).  

 Economic uncertainty impact on locally generated revenues - 
business rates and housing growth, impacting on council tax, new 
homes bonus and business rate income.   

 Brexit - the general uncertainty affecting the financial markets, 
levels of trade & investment.  

 Governments spending review 2020.  

 Review of local Government funding through fair funding formula 
and business rates retention.  

 Impact of Covid-19 on key income sources.  

 Inadequate budgeting & budgetary control/Financial Settlements & 
wider fiscal policy changes:  

 The potential for new funding formulas such as fair funding, 
business rates retention to significantly reduce the government 
funding available to the council alongside possible increase in 
demand for council services.  

 Embedding of the new national funding formula for schools and 
High Needs.   

 Political failure to facilitate the setting of a lawful budget.  

 Unable to agree a deliverable programme of propositions that 
enable the required savings to be achieved.   

 Insufficient reserves to mitigate risks and liabilities and provide 
resilience.  

 Rising inflation could lead to increased cost.  

 Judicial review.  

BCC manages its financial risks through a range of controls including budget preparation, budget 
setting and a Budget Accountability Framework. Clear roles and responsibilities for managing, 
monitoring and forecasting income and expenditure against approved budgets are in place.  
2021 Budget presented and approved by Council February 2021.  

 
The council has developed a strong rolling Medium-term financial planning process to enable the 
strategic objectives and the statutory duties are met. We are working to ensure a rigorous 
structure exists to oversee the budgetary control process from budget setting through to 
monitoring, oversight and scrutiny including:  

 The maintaining of the evolving financial model that reflects in a timely manner 
changes in national and local assumptions.  

 The level of reserves and balances are regularly reviewed to ensure that account is 
taken of any financial/economic risk and the adequacy of general reserves is 
determined as part of this exercise.   

 Financial Regulations and Financial Scheme of Delegation is in place.  

 Regular in-year monitoring and reporting, review of future financial plans and 
assessment of financial risks and reserves are undertaken to ensure the financial 
plans are delivered.  

 Changes to savings in year are monitored by delivery executive.  

 Planned skills development remains a key priority which will include commercial and 
business acumen. This will be an ongoing and aligned with professional 
development.  

 Ensuring that Bristol City Council is engaged with or receiving timely feedback from 
the range of Government working groups exploring future local funding.  

 Refreshed of the MTFP and Capital Strategy and expanded our model to take in a 
longer-term view.  

 3  7 21  

The impact of Covid-19 has had a significant 
impact on the financial sustainability of the 
organisation in the short term and long term. 
There is a significant immediate reduction in 
some of the Council's key income streams and 
also significant costs associated with the 
response. The 2021/22 set an indicative 
balanced position for the medium term, 
however due to imminent changes in local 
government funding and also significant 
uncertainty about medium term impact on 
Covid-19 there remains significant risk to the 
on-going financial position.  
All underlying assumptions in the financial 
outlook will be reviewed as any economic 
downturn will significantly impact Council Tax 
growth and receipts as well as business rates 
retention.  
A review will be ongoing to identify a 
programme of propositions that exceed the 
forecasted budget gap to provide members 
with options and headroom for variations in 
financial estimates.  
CIPFA Financial Management Code for Local 
Authorities has been released for full 
implementation from April 2021.   

  
2  

  
3 

  
6  

Risk Owner: Chief Executive and Director of Finance (S151 Officer). Action Owner: Director of Finance (S151 Officer), Chief Accountant. Portfolio Flag: Finance, 
Governance and 
Performance. 

Strategy Theme: Our Organisation. 

 

 
  

P
age 216



Appendix A: Bristol City Council – Corporate Risk Report Q1 2021/22         

11 

 

 

Corporate Risk Register as at June 2021 – Threat Risks to the achievement of Bristol City Councils Objectives. 

 Risk title and description  What we have done 

 P
e

rf
o

rm
an

ce
 

Current Risk 
Level 

What we are doing 

Tolerance 
Risk Level 

 L
ik

e
lih

o
o

d
 

 Im
p

ac
t 

 R
is

k 
 

 R
at

in
g 

 L
ik

e
lih

o
o

d
 

 Im
p

ac
t 

 R
is

k 

 R
at

in
g 

CRR18: Failure to deliver enough homes to meet the 
City’s needs. 

Strategies and delivery models designed to further 
stimulate growth in the housing market and deliver 
diversity of the housing offer across the city prove to 
be ineffective and do not attract and retain 
economically active residents. 

Key potential causes are: 

 Not enough planning applications submitted. 

 Not enough permission granted. 

 Insufficient housing land identified in planning 
documents. 

 Inability of the housebuilding industry to deliver 
at this level. 

 Increased uncertainty in the market due to Brexit 
and Covid-19. 

 

Granted planning permissions. 

Secured additional grant funding for infrastructure. 

Released land. 

Issued grants to Registered Providers (RPs). 

Established a Local Housing Company (Goram Homes). 

Secured funding from Homes England under HIF and Accelerated Construction 
and Community Development to release further housing land. 

Worked collaboratively with Homes England to maximise subsidy in schemes 
to provide as much affordable housing as possible. 

Required a minimum of 30% affordable housing on land released by the 
Council. 

Revised the Affordable Housing Grant Funding Policy to ensure it is relevant 
and assist the delivery of new affordable homes. 

Created a single multi-disciplinary Housing Delivery Team and additional 
capacity with Property, Planning, Highways and Legal. 

 3 5 15 

Monitoring and review the impact of the coronavirus on the Housing Market, on Housing 
Association and Developer Partners delivery Programmes. 

We refocus the HDT delivery programme to de-risk sites to create a pipeline of investable 
development opportunities to bring forward for development once the impact of Covid-19 
on the housing market are clearer.   

We have ongoing active engagement with Housing Association Partners to offer enabling 
support and grant funding to increase the provision of affordable housing at every 
opportunity. Looking at ways in which the HRA development programme can be 
accelerated. 

We are addressing all areas of provision including: Community Led Housing (CLH), 
Registered Providers (RPs) and Direct Delivery, (New Council Homes). 

We are recruiting to new posts in the Housing Delivery Team. 

We are looking at opportunities to fund the acquisition of additional homes on 
development sites. 

Working Closely with Homes England to ensure additional subsidy is secured. 

Continue to promote the Affordable Housing Grant Funding Programme to maximise the 
opportunities to deliver affordable housing potentially unlocking stalled sites.  

We are considering amending the Affordable Housing Practice Note and Grant Funding 
Policy to stimulate delivery of affordable homes. 

Pipeline of site approved for Goram Homes to deliver around 1700 new homes   

3 3 9 

Corporate Risk Register as at June 2021 – Threat Risks to the achievement of Bristol City Councils Objectives. 

 Risk title and description  What we have done 

 P
e

rf
o

rm
an

ce
 

Current Risk 
Level 

What we are doing 

Tolerance 
Risk Level 

 L
ik

e
lih

o
o

d
 

 Im
p

ac
t 

 R
is

k 
   

   
   

   

R
at

in
g 

 L
ik

e
lih

o
o

d
 

 Im
p

ac
t 

 R
is

k 
   

  

 R
at

in
g 

CRR15: In-Year Financial Deficit.   
The council’s financial position goes into significant deficit in the 
current year resulting in reserves (actual or projected) being less 
than the minimum specified by the council’s reserves policy.   
Key potential causes are:  

 A failure to appropriately plan and deliver savings.  

 Unscheduled loss of material income streams.   

 Increase in demography, demand and costs for key 
council services.  

 The inability to generate the minimum anticipated level 
of capital receipts.  

 Insufficient reserves to facilitate short term mitigations, 
risks and liabilities.    

 Interest rate volatility impacting on the council’s debt 
costs.  

 Impairments in our commercial Investments are 
realised.  

BCC’s Financial framework ensures that we have in place sound 
arrangements for financial planning, management, monitoring and 
reporting through to Corporate Leadership Team and Cabinet.  
The ongoing review and due diligence of all budget savings by Delivery 
Executive, Corporate Leadership Board and the Executive continues to be 
captured and monitored in the reports to Cabinet.  
The Policy and Budget Framework provides clear guidance in relation to 
the approval process for supplementary funding both capital and 
revenue.  
We have continual oversight and ongoing management of the council’s 
financial risks and deep dives in areas reported of non-containable 
pressures.  
Regular reviews have been undertaken on the level and appropriateness 
of the earmarked reserves and where redirections have been south 
reported to Cabinet.   

 
3  5 15  

The latest budget monitoring indicates significant risks to achieving a balanced 
position in 2021/22. The impact of Covid-19 has been offset in part by additional 
Government funding and there are corporate mitigations for the residual 
pressures, however this must be closely managed to ensure spend remains within 
approved resources.  
Any risks not related to Covid will require individual mitigations and recovery plans 
which are to be developed in the coming months to reduce the likelihood of 
unplanned drawdown from reserves at year end.  
Ensuring engagement at local, regional and national level in round table and 
working groups to keep abreast the spending review, Business Rates retention and 
new funding formulas for Local Government. To ensure funding for Bristol is 
maximised and impact of changes are fed into our long term financial planning and 
strategic planning.  
Ensure that there are sufficient reserves available to provide the Council with some 
resilience to material variations in spend forecasting and economic shocks.  
We will carry out frequent re-assessment of service delivery risks and opportunities 
and risk and other reserves.  

1 5 5  

Risk Owner: Director of Finance (S151 Officer). Action Owner: Director of Finance (S151 Officer), Chief Accountant. Portfolio Flag: Finance, 
Governance and 
Performance. 

Strategy Theme: Our Organisation. P
age 217



Appendix A: Bristol City Council – Corporate Risk Report Q1 2021/22         

12 

New working arrangements between Housing Delivery Team and Development 
Management focussing on unlocking barriers to determination and accelerating 
permissions. 

Risk Owner: Executive Director Growth and 
Regeneration, Director Development of Place. 

Action Owner: Director Development of Place. Portfolio Flag: Housing. Strategy Theme: Fair and Inclusive. 

 

 

Corporate Risk Register as at June 2021 – Threat Risks to the achievement of Bristol City Councils Objectives 

 Risk title and description  What we have done 

 P
e

rf
o

rm
an

ce
 

Current Risk 
Level 

What we are doing 

Tolerance 
Risk Level 

 L
ik

e
lih

o
o

d
 

 Im
p

ac
t 

 R
is

k 
 

 R
at

in
g 

 L
ik

e
lih

o
o

d
 

 Im
p

ac
t 

 R
is

k 
 

 R
at

in
g 

CRR23: Adult and Social Care (ASC) Transformation 
Programme 2020/21-2021/22   

Failure to deliver the required outcomes and savings 
from the ASC Transformation Programme. 

Key potential causes are: 

Wider factors impacting on demand.  

 Rapid increased demand and complexity due to 
COVID-19. 

 Increase of needs due to more health services 
being delivered in the community without 
appropriate funding following the patient. 

 Increased complex needs across our 
demographics that must be met under the Care 
Act. 

 

Wider factors impacting on supply.  

 Financial pressures on an already vulnerable 
provider market during sustained changes forced 
on provider during COVID-19. 

 Time to commission and embed alternative Tier 3 
services as another option to traditional care 
homes, such as Extra Care Housing, supported 
Living, shared lives 

 Time to commission and develop genuine step 
up/ step down alternatives to Tier 3 long term 
care (Home first, VCSE, reablement for all). 

 Ability to joint fund this supply using the BCF 
with NHS (National Health Service) partners 
working in an Integrated Care System model. 

 Ability to prioritise the programme under one 
city plans and to have the corporate support and 
investment needed alongside ASC staff to deliver 
on the proposed solutions  

 

New transformation programme board chaired by Cabinet Member for Adult Social Care with the Chief 
Executive and Executive Director and DASS meet monthly to keep the focus and impetus on the aims 
and objectives of the programme.  

A set of ASC POWERBI accelerators have been developed delivering a detailed understanding of 
activity and cost across the services delivered to support DMT in building the right solutions and having 
the evidence of the impact their decisions are having on service numbers and cost.  

Improving Pricing Control - Procured Care Cubed and written to providers to notify them that we will 
be negotiating rates based on the national care funding calculator. New processes are just being 
established for how care cubed will be used operationally.  

Improving Business Intelligence - ASC are leading the corporate objective to move our performance 
management onto PowerBI. Working with the Intelligent-I team the transformation team are creating 
a number of sophisticated ASC dashboards which will open ASC data to staff. Giving staff the tools, 
they need for proactive performance management to become everybody's business. Work is planned 
to be ongoing with intelligent-I until August. 

Improving ASC process issues - To drive the right behaviour, we are working on a new Standard 
Operating Process (SOP) which can start to address issues which promote poor outcomes or move 
service users into Tier 3 services too soon.  

Making change everybody’s business - New ‘change Agent’ roles have been established across the 
business to champion change. The first task is to work directly on the SOP with support from senior 
staff and to report back on what needs to happen into DMT (Department Management Team) in June.  

Realignment of operations - Care management are currently going through a consultation with staff 
about the realignment of teams into the wider system ‘Integrated Care Partnerships’ (ICP) model for 
community health and care delivery. This will help ASC align closer to community health partners such 
as Sirona and Primary care Networks but also start to develop a more robust locality model offering a 
greater range of Tier 1 and 2 services working closely with the VCS.  

Inhouse services reviewed - ASC are working with Mutual Ventures to review our £15m of in-house 
service provision. Each service is unique and brings different benefits. We are looking to create future 
‘road maps’ for each service that will then be taken through the key decision pathway to get authority 
to proceed with the modernisation of these services (report due in May)  

Business cases drafted -Two overarching business cases are being drafted for the department. One for 
older people (over 65) and one for adults with long term conditions (18-64). These contain the 
narrative about our priorities and the transformation we want to see.  

Dashboards created - The team have worked with commissioning and care management to pull out the 
top priorities for transformation work over the next 12 months. These will be shared with staff and be 
the golden thread for ASC that link the more detailed business cases to a clear set of actions. We have 
taken the programme into Exception in August due to COVID pressures and need for more dedicated 
capacity to be able to deliver the solutions set out in the programme. 

 4 5 20 

The programme is currently undergoing a Deep Dive review by 
corporate services as the Transformation team have taken the 
programme into exception due to COVID pressures and the need for 
more dedicated resource and investment to address the more long-
term strategic solutions.  

In the interim a number of immediate actions have been taken to 
address the budget pressures on ASC: 

• All new cases to be referred to Reablement before a 
longer-term package of care is agreed, increasing the 
amount of cost avoidance as a result of delaying or 
avoiding the need for more long-term care 

• Brokerage to take up to 5 days to secure best value care 
packages (for non-urgent needs) 

• Authorisation of high-cost packages: 

 Additional scrutiny from Deputy Directors 
for Commissioning and Operations for all 
placements over £1000 

 SM to sign off and quality control of cases 
to be booked into Case Discussion Forum 
(including ensuring that practitioners have 
explored all alternative care options before 
referral to CDF) 

• Prioritise reviews of all relevant packages that have 
been set up during COVID, with additional COVID 
related spend 

• Increase referrals to the TEC team (based on specific 
targeted cohorts e.g. night time care in Supported 
Living) 

• Single point of coordination for all CHC joint funded and 
single funded packages 

• Ensuring that brokerage and commissioning staff work 
closely with Care Management when agreeing care 
packages, which will be further embedded when locality 
model is introduced (from September) 

  

1 5 5 

Risk Owner: Stephen Beet Action Owner: Stephen Beet Portfolio Flag: Adult 
Social Care. 

Strategy Theme: Our Organisation, Empowering others and Caring, Fair, and Inclusive, 
Well connected, Wellbeing. 

 

  

P
age 218



Appendix A: Bristol City Council – Corporate Risk Report Q1 2021/22         

13 

 

Corporate Risk Register as at June 2021 – Threat Risks to the achievement of Bristol City Councils Objectives. 

 Risk title and description  What we have done 

 P
e

rf
o

rm
an

ce
 

Current Risk 
Level 

What we are doing 

Tolerance 
Risk Level 

 L
ik

e
lih

o
o

d
 

 Im
p

ac
t 

 R
is

k 
 

 R
at

in
g 

 L
ik

e
lih

o
o

d
 

 Im
p

ac
t 

 R
is

k 
 

 R
at

in
g 

CRR25: Suitability of Line of Business (LOB) systems. 
The Councils reliance on legacy systems. 

Key potential causes are: 

 Lack of desire to change, systems. 

 Significant transition activity leads to systems being. Expensive/complex 
to change. 

 Lack of understanding of consequences of not changing systems on ICT. 

 Lack of adherence to Procurement rules in relation to re-procurements. 

Initiated audit of all council Line of Business (LoB) systems. 

 4 5 20 

IT Services continue to highlight risks and shortcomings with systems 
(in an informal manner) to Heads of Service and Senior Leadership 
whilst the on-going formal review continues. We continue to work with 
Information Assurance colleagues regarding those systems which may 
perpetuate a Cyber Security or Information Management risk. Ensure 
that Line of Business (LOB) systems that pose a Cyber Security, 
Procurement or Resilience/Recovery risk are identified and service 
areas understand the risks to their services.  

Where appropriate ensure that these risks are articulated to Risk, BCP 
and procurement colleagues, and to the SIRO, as appropriate.  

2 5 10 

Risk Owner: Director, Digital Transformation, Senior Information Risk 
Owner (SIRO) for Cyber Security. Service Areas for BCP/DR. 

Action Owner: Director, Digital Transformation. Portfolio Flag: Finance, 
Governance and 
Performance. 

Strategy Theme: Our Organisation. 

 

Corporate Risk Register as at June 2021 – Threat Risks to the achievement of Bristol City Councils Objectives. 

 Risk title and description  What we have done 

 P
e

rf
o

rm
an

ce
 

Current Risk 
Level 

What we are doing 

Tolerance 
Risk Level 

 L
ik

e
lih

o
o

d
 

 Im
p

ac
t 

 R
is

k 
 

 R
at

in
g 

 L
ik

e
lih

o
o

d
 

 Im
p

ac
t 

 R
is

k 
 

 R
at

in
g 

CRR26: ICT Resilience.  
The Councils ability to deliver critical and key services in the event of ICT 
outages and be able to recover in the event of system and/or data loss. 
 

Key potential causes are: 

 Poor Business Continuity (BCP) planning and understanding of key 
system architecture. 

 Untested Disaster Recovery (DR) arrangements including data recovery. 

 Untested network reconfiguration to alleviate key location outage. 

 Untested recovery schedules in terms of order and instructions. 

 Lack of resilience available for legacy systems (single points of failure - 
people and technology). 

 Services undertaking their own IT arrangements outside of the 
corporate approach. 

Some DR/BCP actions are covered by Future State Assessment (FSA)/ IT 
Transformation Programme (ITTP). 

We have moved critical systems to the cloud with more effective DR. 

Application audit have commenced with a view to highlighting those systems 
with the highest risk.  

 2 7 14 

We are continuing to review Disaster Recovery (DR) options for any 
systems which will not be moved to the cloud. 

Highlighting to service areas where applications may be vulnerable and 
advising on likely timescales for disruption to enable appropriate BC 
planning. 

2 5 10 

Risk Owner: Chief Executive, Director, Digital Transformation, Service Area 
Leads. 
 

Action Owner: Director, Digital Transformation. Portfolio Flag: Finance, 
Governance and 
Performance. 

Strategy Theme: Our Organisation. 

  

P
age 219



Appendix A: Bristol City Council – Corporate Risk Report Q1 2021/22         

14 

 

Corporate Risk Register as at June 2021 – Threat Risks to the achievement of Bristol City Councils Objectives 

 Risk title and description  What we have done 

 P
e

rf
o

rm
an

ce
 

Current Risk 
Level 

What we are doing 

Tolerance 
Risk Level 

 L
ik

e
lih

o
o

d
 

 Im
p

ac
t 

 R
is

k 

 R
at

in
g 

 L
ik

e
lih

o
o

d
 

 Im
p

ac
t 

 R
is

k 
 

 R
at

in
g 

CRR27: Capital Transport Programme Delivery 
Management of the overall transport capital programme is key 
to ensuring we deliver against mayoral priorities in the most 
cost and time efficient way possible. Failure to do so negatively 
impacts the council's reputation and finances and makes the 
council less likely to reduce congestion, air pollution and 
inequality. 
 

Key potential causes are: 

 Overspend on individual schemes leading to uncontainable 
cost pressures. 

 Underspend on annual profile. 

 Lack of coordination and programme management across 
divisions. 

 Covid-19. 

Transport Programme Team and Delivery Board 
established. 

Shared paperwork and highlight reporting process 
initiated. 

Regular briefings and reporting to senior 
management and cabinet members. 

5-year capital programme mapping process 
underway. 

Regular reviews with directors taking place, 
workshop carried out to examine governance and 
further improvements to processes. 

 3 3 9 

COVID-19 lockdown has restricted progress of all non-essential capital programme schemes. This is in part 
due to the non-essential nature of schemes but also down to the inability to carry out site surveys, engage 
and consult appropriately and to process TROs. We have restarted processing TROs following revised 
government guidance. We are also reviewing the whole programme in light of the challenges posed by 
COVID-19. 

Working with Transport Planning Team (TPT) and other managers to develop systems further engaging with 
Directors of Economy of Place and Management of Place, to develop proposals for overall improved 
management of capital programme and recruitment of appropriate resource levels. 

We continue to develop Transport Planning Team (TPT), Transport Programme Delivery Board (TPDB) and 
highlight report processes which are governed by the Growth and Regeneration (G&R) Board (monthly 
meeting). 

5 Year mapping ongoing. 

The Emergency Active Travel Fund (EATF) announced by the Department for Transport (DfT) has meant 
reprioritising resource to deliver cycle schemes and social distancing across the city. This has and will 
inevitably lead to some profiling and adjustment of the programme. This is ongoing, it is likely that funds 
can be carried forward to next year and that some funds will be allocated to supporting EATF schemes. 

All schemes restarted and works progressing well. 6-month review has highlighted schemes that are behind 
programme and re-profiling taking place currently. 

2 3 6 

Risk Owner: Executive Director Growth and Regeneration, 
Director Economy of Place. 

Action Owner: Director Economy of Place. Portfolio Flag: 
Communities. 

Strategy Theme: Our Organisation, Wellbeing. 

 
 

Corporate Risk Register as at June 2021 – Threat Risks to the achievement of Bristol City Councils Objectives. 

 Risk title and description  What we have done 

 P
e

rf
o

rm
an

ce
 

Current Risk 
Level 

What we are doing 

Tolerance 
Risk Level 

 L
ik

e
lih

o
o

d
 

 Im
p

ac
t 

 R
is

k 
 

 R
at

in
g 

 L
ik

e
lih

o
o

d
 

 Im
p

ac
t 

 R
is

k 
 

 R
at

in
g 

CRR29: Information Security Management System (ISMS) 
There is a risk that if the council does not have an Information Security 
Management System then it will not be able to effectively manage 
Information Security risks. 
 

Key potential causes are: 

 Ineffective Information Security Management System, inadequate 
resources to create and maintain an ISMS, management buy in and 
support to operate an ISMS. 

We have worked with Information Governance Board (IGB) and ICT on 
introducing and/or designing an ISMS aligned to ISO 27001.  

IG team now have an operational level risk register that is being used to 
track local operational risks further aligning ourselves with best practice. 

Implementation training has been conducted for Information Security and 
Audit training has also been conducted with Internal Audit colleagues.  

Policies are signed off and roll out plan work continues as part of GDPR 
Phase 2 project. 

 4 5 20 

New and updated policies are being rolled out with oversight from IGB 
Information Governance Tool will support the roll out and wider 
awareness and communications.  

Gap analysis and roll out have been included as a workstream within 
GDPR Phase 2 project. 1 5 5 

Risk Owner: Senior Information Risk Owner (SIRO). 
 

Action Owner: Senior Information Risk Owner (SIRO) and Statutory Data 
Protection Officer (SDPO). 

Portfolio Flag: Finance, 
Governance and 
Performance. 

Strategy Theme: Our Organisation. 

  

P
age 220



Appendix A: Bristol City Council – Corporate Risk Report Q1 2021/22         

15 

 
 
 

Corporate Risk Register as at June 2021 – Threat Risks to the achievement of Bristol City Councils Objectives 

 Risk title and description  What we have done 

 P
e

rf
o

rm
an

ce
 

Current Risk 
Level 

What we are doing 
Tolerance Risk 

Level 

 L
ik

e
lih

o
o

d
 

 Im
p

ac
t 

 R
is

k 
 

 R
at

in
g 

 

 L
ik

e
lih

o
o

d
 

 Im
p

ac
t 

 R
is

k 
 

 R
at

in
g 

CRR32: Failure to deliver enough affordable Homes to meet the City’s 
needs. 
Strategies and delivery models designed to further stimulate growth in 
the housing market and deliver diversity of the housing in the City 
prove to be ineffective.   
 

Key potential causes are: 

 Subsidy availability. 

 Insufficient land available.  

 Uncertainty in the housing market as a result of Covid-19. 

 Not enough planning applications submitted. 

 Not enough permission granted. 

 Inability of the housebuilding industry to deliver at this level. 

 Increased uncertainty in the market due to Brexit. 

 Lack of capacity within the council’s delivery system and the local 
market. 

 Insufficient housing land identified in planning documents. 

Continue to deliver a grant funding programme to subsidies the 
delivery of affordable homes. 

Working collaboratively with Homes England to maximise subsidy 
in schemes to provide as much affordable housing as possible.  

Requiring a minimum of 30% affordable housing on land released 
by the Council. 

 4 7 28 

Promote Affordable Housing Grant Funding. 

Working Closely with Homes England to ensure additional subsidy is secured. 

Identifying opportunities to acquire additional affordable homes off the shelf. 

De-risk the outstanding allocated sites in the City to prepare a pipeline of investable 
development opportunities for future delivery. 

Ensure affordable Housing is negotiated to policy requirement on all eligible housing 
sites. 

New frameworks for working collaboratively to resolve issues that exist on 
Residential planning applications and conditions discharge. 

Review & amendment of Affordable Housing Practice note in 2021/22. 

4 3 12 

Risk Owner: Executive Director Growth and Regeneration, Director 
Development. 

Action Owner: Director Development of Place and Head of 
Housing Delivery. 

Portfolio Flag: 
Communities. 

Strategy Theme: Fair and Inclusive. 

 

  

P
age 221



Appendix A: Bristol City Council – Corporate Risk Report Q1 2021/22         

16 

 

Corporate Risk Register as at June 2021 – Threat Risks to the achievement of Bristol City Councils Objectives. 

 Risk title and description  What we have done 

 P
e

rf
o

rm
an

ce
 

Current Risk 
Level 

What we are doing 

Tolerance 
Risk Level 

 L
ik

e
lih

o
o

d
 

 Im
p

ac
t 

 R
is

k 
 

 R
at

in
g 

 L
ik

e
lih

o
o

d
 

 Im
p

ac
t 

 R
is

k 
 

 R
at

in
g 

CRR34: Corporate Equalities. 
The Council does not meet its ambitions or 
legally required standards for good practice on 
equality and inclusion. The Council fails to meet 
its statutory duties under the Equality Act 2010. 
 

Key potential causes are: 

 Lack of consistent council-wide knowledge 
on the Public Sector Equality Duty and how 
to take equalities into consideration.  

 Gaps in available data and analysis to 
understand potential impacts of decision 
making.  

 Compliance driven rather than 
understanding based on good analysis.  

 High turnover of staff resulting in loss of 
knowledge/institutional memory. 

 Institutional racism and structural inequality 
in the council, city, and society as a whole. 

 Under-representation of key demographics 
in the workforce, particularly within senior 
roles. 

The work of mainstreaming and embedding equality and inclusion is well underway. A recent Local 
Government Association Equality Framework for Local Government Peer Review identified strengths in 
the Council’s strategic leadership on this issue and noted much good progress against its plans, but did 
identify a greater need to map and report activity (both Council and City-wide) together, and that more 
work is needed to fully embed good equality and inclusion practice systematically at an operational 
level across the organisation.  

The disproportionate impact of Covid-19 on Black, Asian and minority ethnic groups has been 
recognised and is managed by a focused race equality group within the council’s governance structure 
for managing the impacts of the pandemic.  

We are:  

• Completing our annual progress reporting against our Equality and Inclusion Strategy, including a 
closure report for our Advancing Equality and Inclusion Action Plan 2020. This Action Plan was 
subject to an internal audit in Q4 20/21, providing reasonable assurance overall and substantial 
assurance in terms of monitoring progress. 

• Starting programme mapping of Council and City-wide equality and inclusion initiatives and 
activities.  

• Having on-going city conversations on race equality.  
• Working on the establishment of a new Mayoral Commission for disability equality. 

 1 5 5 

 Implementing the recommendations from the LGA Equality 
Framework for Local Government, including mapping out an E&I 
programme in line with Corporate Strategy. 

 Taking the Annual Report for the E&I Strategy to Full Council and 
publishing it - along with a completion report in the Advancing 
Equality and Inclusion action plan.  

 Completing the Positive Action Toolkit. 

 Holding Race Equality Gatherings.  

 Holding a meeting of the Strategic E&I Governance Group. 

 Recruiting the Chair for the Disability Equality Commission. 

 Refreshing the Council’s overall Corporate Strategy with a focus 
on equality and inclusion as a cross-cutting priority area. 

1 5 5 

Risk Owner: Director Policy, Strategy & 
Partnerships. 

Action Owner: Director Policy, Strategy & Partnership, Head of Equality, and Inclusion. Portfolio Flag: Finance, 
Governance and 
Performance. 

Strategy Theme: Our Organisation. 

  

P
age 222



Appendix A: Bristol City Council – Corporate Risk Report Q1 2021/22         

17 

 

Corporate Risk Register as at June 2021 – Threat Risks to the achievement of Bristol City Councils Objectives. 

 Risk title and description  What we have done 

 P
e

rf
o

rm
an

ce
 

Current Risk 
Level 

What we are doing 

Tolerance 
Risk Level 

 L
ik

e
lih

o
o

d
 

 Im
p

ac
t 

 R
is

k 
 

 R
at

in
g 

 L
ik

e
lih

o
o

d
 

 Im
p

ac
t 

 R
is

k 
 

 R
at

in
g 

CRR35: Organisational Resilience 
Emerging risks, disruptions and disturbances 
can threaten the operations and reputation 
of the Council. Acute shocks and the impact 
of chronic stresses result in crises which are 
becoming an everyday occurrence. The 
landscape in which the council operates is 
rapidly and continually changing, often 
unpredictably. 
 

Key potential causes are: 

 Environmental Hazards. 

 Economic and Social Change. 

 Geo-Political Change. 

 Natural Disasters. 

 Climate Change. 

 Health / Disease Risk. 

 Terrorism. 

 Cyber-Crime. 

Progress is being made, including running the Service/Business Planning 2021/22 process enabling longer term 
consideration of the risk and mitigations. However, our progress is largely offset by external factors such as the 
continuing Covid crisis. Corporate Leadership Board approved additional temporary staffing for under-pressure teams 
across December 2020 - March 2021, some of which has continued in to 2021/22 where there is available funding or 
mitigation to enable it to continue. 

In the past quarter we have reviewed Recovery progress and a wide evidence base as part of preparing for an update 
of the Council’s medium term Corporate Strategy and Medium-Term Financial Plan, and we have identified a need to 
review business continuity planning to gain assurance on its effectiveness, ensure lessons from Covid-19 response are 
built in, and that in key business areas these plans are actively rehearsed. 

Plans to create a Strategic Crisis Management Plan are on hold whilst the Corporate Resilience Group is re-scoped and 
relaunched, enabling it to take on board Covid-19 response learning as part of developing this Plan. 

 

 

 

 

 

 3 7 

 

21 

 

Response to Covid is continuing and as further easing of 
restrictions occurs it is possible new or additional business 
continuity risks or issues will emerge, such as self-isolation 
rates affecting front-line services.  
 
Business continuity plans are being reviewed and more 
testing of these undertaken as part of a longer-term 
programme to provide assurance on continuity 
arrangements. Given the scale of services the Council 
provides, this will need to be undertaken in a prioritised and 
targeted way.  
 
Work will be undertaken to prepare a new Corporate 
Strategy which includes design principles for the 
organisation and what its priorities are for the coming 3-5 
years, making it central to both resilience and recovery 
planning as they become part of 'business as usual' within 
the context of the so-called 'new normal'.  
 
Work is also being done to reinvigorate the Corporate 
Resilience Group and take on-board learning from the 
prolonged Covid-19 response in how we manage resilience 
and plan for the future. 

2 5 10 

Risk Owner: Chief Executive Action Owner: Director Policy, Strategy & Partnerships Portfolio Flag: Finance, 
Governance and 
Performance. 

Strategy Theme: Our Organisation, Empowering and Caring, Fair, and 
Inclusive, Well Connected, Wellbeing 

  

P
age 223



Appendix A: Bristol City Council – Corporate Risk Report Q1 2021/22         

18 

  

Corporate Risk Register as at June 2021 – Threat Risks to the achievement of Bristol City Councils Objectives. 

 Risk title and description  What we have done 

 P
e

rf
o

rm
an

ce
 

Current Risk 
Level 

What we are doing 

Tolerance 
Risk Level 

 L
ik

e
lih

o
o

d
 

 Im
p

ac
t 

 R
is

k 
 

 R
at

in
g 

 L
ik

e
lih

o
o

d
 

 Im
p

ac
t 

 R
is

k 
 

 R
at

in
g 

CRR36: Failure to make sufficient progress against the 
findings from Ofsted’s 2019 inspection of SEND (Special 
Education Needs & Disability) leading to: 

 The OFSTED reinspection resulting in requirement 
for accelerated improvement plan 

 worsening of parental confidence in Bristol’s SEND 
system and associated reputational damage / 
increased potential litigation / Judicial Reviews    

 
Risks to delivery of the Ofsted approved recovery plan 
(March December 2019 to July 2021) forming the Written 
Statement of Action (WSOA) following the SEND local 
area OFSTED inspection in 2019 and subsequent action 
plans (2021 onwards).  
 

Independently chaired SEND improvement Board meets bi-monthly to oversee 
improvement progress. Multi agency delivery group ‘SEND Partnership Group’ (SPG) 
includes social care, health, and schools meets monthly and reports to the 
improvement Board. 
 
Delivered the 1st phase of the SEND improvement journey through the Written 
Statement of Action to its formal conclusion in July 2021. 89% of July milestones were 
achieved or on track for the autumn. The 11% not achieved are all underway and have 
new timeframes agreed through the Local Area SEND governance arrangements. DFE 
monitoring of WsoA concluded and overall impressed with achievements and how well 
the council and its partners are working together to address all areas of weakness.  
 
Implemented quality assurance activity, including routine service user feedback and 
improved data capture and quality, enabling the development of robust data sets that 
have enhanced operational and strategic performance management and enabled 
better service planning to meet demand.  
 
Investment in key priority areas such as additional staff in statutory SEND and EP team. 
Re-structured and re-focused the work of the statutory SEND team. All EHCP systems 
and processes reviewed and remodelled with parent carers, including co-production of 
a new EHCP template and child centred model of assessment. 
 
Focused on early identification and intervention to reduce demand for statutory EHC 
Plans e.g. training and guidance for schools staff and leaders relating to their 
responsibilities for meeting the needs of children and young people with SEND.  
 

 2 5 10 

Developing the next iteration of the SEND action plan taking account of: 
- other programmes of work / strategic developments and initiatives 
- the progress made and what still needs to be done to address the five 
significant areas of weakness identified in the SEND inspection 
- other areas for improvement identified through ongoing analysis of data and 
service user feedback.  
 
Ongoing work with stakeholders and partners across the local area to continue 
to improve services and the service user experience.   
 
Ongoing governance and monitoring activity including Scrutiny. Inviting the 
DFE and NHSE advisers to continue to act as critical friends regarding progress 
made against the inspection findings and the new SEND action plan. 
 
Developing a service user engagement and co-production framework to align 
partnership activity, reach seldom heard voices and embed a sustainable BAU 
model of engagement and co-production at a strategic level. 
 
Preparing for the re-inspection which is likely to take place between Autumn – 
Spring 2021/22. 
 

1 5 5 

Risk Owner: Hugh Evans, Alison Hurley Action Owner: Alison Hurley  Portfolio Flag: Education 
and Skills. 

Strategy Theme: Our Organisation, Empowering and Caring, Fair, and Inclusive, Well Connected, 
Wellbeing 

P
age 224



Appendix A: Bristol City Council – Corporate Risk Report Q1 2021/22         

19 

Corporate Risk Register as at June 2021 – Threat Risks to the achievement of Bristol City Councils Objectives. 

 Risk title and description  What we have done 

 P
e

rf
o

rm
an

ce
 

Current Risk 
Level 

What we are doing 

Tolerance 
Risk Level 

 L
ik

e
lih

o
o

d
 

 Im
p

ac
t 

 R
is

k 
 

 R
at

in
g 

 L
ik

e
lih

o
o

d
 

 Im
p

ac
t 

 R
is

k 
 

 R
at

in
g 

CRR37: Homelessness 
The risk that homelessness and the subsequent cost 
of providing emergency short term accommodation 
will continue to rise. 

Key potential causes are: 

 The ending of the eviction ban. 

 Economic impact of COVID-19, unemployment 
rising leading to an increase in evictions from 
private rented tenancies. 

 COVID 19 and lockdown leading to an increase in 
mental health issues, family relationship 
breakdown and domestic violence & abuse. 

Continuing to progress the One City move on project, which is delivering additional move on 
accommodation for people that are homeless. This includes: 

- Securing funding through the first two rounds of the rough sleeper 
accommodation programme and have submitted a bid for the third round 

Successfully moved on most households placed in Temporary Accommodation through our 
everyone in initiative. This has reduced the number of households from a peak of 1122 to 
930. 

Initiated a project with the aim of reducing the net unit cost of Temporary Accommodation. 
Opportunities being explored and prioritised. 

Ongoing work with the wider homelessness sector, advice agencies and key partners 
identifying opportunities to work collaboratively around early intervention and the 
prevention of homelessness. 

Bristol has secured a £3.3 million grant from the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local 
Government’s (MHCLG) three-year ‘Changing Futures’ scheme. Delivery starts now and runs 
until March 2024. 

We have been working closely with commissioners of domestic abuse services and providers 
to support move on from refuge accommodation. 

 4 5 20 

The number of households in Temporary Accommodation is 930 compared 
with 650 before COVID and is not reducing. 

Ongoing work with the broader homelessness sector, advice agencies and 
key partners to develop proposals and opportunities to work 
collaboratively around early intervention and prevention of homelessness. 

We continue to progress the Move On Project. Bringing online additional 
supported move on accommodation funded from our successful bids. 

BCC is working with partners in developing and delivering its changing 
futures scheme. 

Prioritise the use of Discretionary Housing Payments for homelessness 
prevention/tenancy sustainment. 

 

3 5 15 

Risk Owner: Executive Director Growth and 
Regeneration, Director Housing. 

Action Owner: Director Housing. Portfolio Flag: Housing. Strategy Theme: Our Organisation, Empowering and Caring, Fair, and Inclusive, Well 
Connected, Wellbeing. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 225



Appendix A: Bristol City Council – Corporate Risk Report Q1 2021/22         

20 

  

Corporate Risk Register as at June 2021 – Threat Risks to the achievement of Bristol City Councils Objectives. 

 Risk title and description  What we have done 

 P
e

rf
o

rm
an

ce
 

Current Risk 
Level 

What we are doing 

Tolerance 
Risk Level 

 L
ik

e
lih

o
o

d
 

 Im
p

ac
t 

 R
is

k 
 

 R
at

in
g 

 L
ik

e
lih

o
o

d
 

 Im
p

ac
t 

 R
is

k 
 

 R
at

in
g 

CRR39: Adult and Social Care major provider/ supplier failure 
Failures or closures in the supply chain mean insufficient 
supply to source adequate appropriate support and meet Care 
Act needs.   

Key potential causes could be as follows. 

 Major national care home provider goes into liquidation or 
starts to sell care homes. 

 Major local provider/unable to meet demand due to 
recruitment / workforce/ or organisational issues.  
Major providers become financially sustainable due to 
economic context. (COVID-19) Additional costs and 
pressures on market arising from additional impact on 
supply. 

Multi agency support for providers to address impact of pandemic. 
Regular review of supply and sustainability issues part of weekly SITREP 
provided by commissioning. Strong contract and performance 
management including quarterly corporate reporting. Provider Financial 
sustainability process provides evidenced understanding of issues for 
strategically important providers. Work on managing market prices 
based on open book cost of care processes.   

 2 7 14 

Business cases reviewing appropriate investment to ensure supply key provision. 
Leading role in work across BNSSG re provider market. Support VCSE to work 
alongside formal supply.   
 

Timely distribution of Government funding (e.g., Infection Control Fund) and use of 
LA (Local Authorities) discretionary payments to support providers. Innovative use of 
Workforce Capacity fund to support bank staff project and wellbeing and resilience 
training for care workers, funding for Proud to Care projects.   
 
Continued and increased QA (Quality Assurance) team intervention and prevention 
work with providers. Fortnightly liaison meetings with CQC and CCG reps and closer 
working with neighbouring authorities.  Fortnightly meetings with Care Provider 
association and key city providers to assess and plan risks to the sector and wider 
monthly provider forum.   
 
Review of Provider Financial Sustainability process- updating of paperwork and 
process more transparent and collaborative with providers as new factors emerging 
(e.g. rising insurance costs, Brexit). Updating of continuity plan and Provider Failure 
policy to address impact of pandemic.  

2 7 14 

Risk Owner: Executive Director People, Director Adult Social 
Care. 

Action Owner: Director Adult Social Care. Portfolio Flag: Adult 
Social Care. 

Strategy Theme: Our Organisation, Empowering others and Caring, Fair, and Inclusive, Well connected, 
Wellbeing. P

age 226



Appendix A: Bristol City Council – Corporate Risk Report Q1 2021/22         

21 

 

 

 

Corporate Risk Register as at June 2021 – Threat Risks to the achievement of Bristol City Councils Objectives. 

 Risk title and description  What we have done 

 P
e

rf
o

rm
an

ce
 

Current Risk 
Level 

What we are doing 

Tolerance 
Risk Level 

Li
ke

lih
o

o
d

 

 Im
p

ac
t 

 R
is

k 

 R
at

in
g 

Li
ke

lih
o

o
d

 

 Im
p

ac
t 

 R
is

k 
 

 R
at

in
g 

CRR40: Unplanned Investment in Subsidiary Companies 
BCC’S investments in subsidiaries may require greater than 
anticipated capital investment. 

Key potential causes are: 

 Failure to have effective corporate governance 
arrangements in place in one or more of the companies. 

 Failure to ensure the right leadership with the right skills 
across the Companies. 

 Business Failure due to severe economic downturn 
caused by external factors (incl. Pandemic & Brexit). 

 Service delivery failure as a result of specific market 
changes (e.g., recyclate market, housing market), failure 
to secure planning etc. 

 Delivery of BE2020 wind up within financial envelope. 

 Legislation changes. 

A Governance Review has been commissioned to consider the 
governance arrangements in respect of the companies and any potential 
amendments that may be required to the associated governance 
documents.  

The Terms of Reference for the Shareholding Group (SHG) have been 
updated. 

Audit & Risks Committee (ARC) established across the companies to 
review internal controls, governance and risks management and have 
along with the SHG overseen the establishment of a risk management 
framework.   

Annual business plans have been submitted for BHL, BWC and Goram 
Homes outlining their financial position, outlook and 21/22 investment 
requirements. 21/22 plans have been approved by Cabinet and delivery 
against plan reviewed by BHL and SHG.  

Shareholder support has been secured for key appointments and 
reserved matters published. 

Pandemic financial pressures are managed over the medium term for 
eligible response expenditure. 

Effective engagement is occurring with BHL re reserved matter decisions 
and wider engagement with BCC Client teams to review performance of 
the companies and set clear KPIs. 

Working capital facilitates (repayable loans) are in place as agreed within 
the relevant business plans and provision available to support the 
assumptions for winding up of BE2020. Cashflow are monitored in line 
with the agreement for requesting draw downs. 

Specialist advisors are working alongside BE2020 and BHL to finalising the 
windup of the company.  

 3 5 15 

Following the Council’s external auditors review of Governance arrangements for 
subsidiary companies an action plan is in place to improve Governance and risk 
management arrangements. A number of actions are ongoing or in the process of 
being implemented with completion expected by October 2021. SHG will regularly 
review delivery of agreed actions from the governance review. 

BCC / BHL will conclude the work underway to improve the alignment of risk 
management arrangements and monitoring of risk – June 2021. 

ARC will report annually to BCC Audit Committee on the effectiveness of internal 
controls, governance and risks – in line with BCC Audit Committee workplan. 

Board Effectiveness reviews to be part of BHL annual workforce planning – ongoing. 

Business plan for Bristol Heat Network BHN is in the process of being finalised. – date 
TBC. 

Continued monitoring of the impact of Covid / Brexit on the business and adaptive 
approach being proposed for optimising emerging opportunities and mitigating 
pressures – ongoing. 

Effective engagement with BHL re reserved matter decisions and wider engagement 
with BCC Client teams to review performance, quality and set clear KPIs – ongoing. 

Weekly progress review provided and regular review of assumptions, cash flow and 
risks – ongoing. 

1 7 7 

Risk Owner: Chief Executive and S151 Officer. Action Owner: Director Finance, Director Legal and Democratic Services. Portfolio Flag: Finance, 
Governance and 
Performance. 

Strategy Theme: Our Organisation, Empowering and Caring, Fair, and Inclusive, Well Connected, 
Wellbeing. 

  

P
age 227



Appendix A: Bristol City Council – Corporate Risk Report Q1 2021/22         

22 

Corporate Risk Register as at June 2021 – Threat Risks to the achievement of Bristol City Councils Objectives. 

 Risk title and description  What we have done 

 P
e

rf
o

rm
an

ce
 

Current Risk 
Level 

What we are doing 

Tolerance 
Risk Level 

Li
ke

lih
o

o
d

 

 Im
p

ac
t 

 R
is

k 

 R
at

in
g 

Li
ke

lih
o

o
d

 

 Im
p

ac
t 

 R
is

k 
 

 R
at

in
g 

CRR41: Long Term Major Capital 
Projects.  
BCC’S long-term major capital projects 
may require greater than anticipated 
investments. 

Key potential causes are: 

 The cost is higher than expected. 

 The project is delivered later than 
planned. 

 The operating and maintenance cost 
of the asset exceeds expectations. 

 Strategic, geographic, social, 
financial, and economic conditions 
changing over time. 

 Oversight of Project 
Interdependencies not well managed. 

 Insufficient in-house resources to 
progress major projects lead to 
missed opportunities to leverage 
third party investment. 

 Failure to anticipate and secure 
investment and resources to deliver 
enabling works and infrastructure.  

Corporate Leadership Board (CLB) / Capital and Investment Board (CIB) meets on a 
monthly basis and has an oversight and stewardship role for the delivery of the 
Capital Programme and investments. 

The Growth and Regeneration (G&R) Board meets monthly and is a strategic forum 
for the review and monitoring of regeneration assets and growth programmes and 
projects – enabling effective decision-making and ensuring alignment with the wider 
objectives of the Council. 

The G&R Board has identified a number of Areas of Growth and Regeneration (AGR) 
across the City to enable place shaping and contribute to regeneration, affordable 
housing, community building and the financial sustainability of the Council and the 
AGR are regularly reviewed and re-prioritised by the G&R Board. 

The Covid-19 pandemic continues to impact on the delivery of some major projects 
owing to restrictions placed on based working, supply chain partners furloughing 
staff, and building material suppliers only delivering to critical construction projects.  

Capital Strategic Partner, Arcadis, appointed in February 2021 and mobilisation phase 
concluded in May 2021.  A dedicated Programme Director from Arcadis attends the 
Growth and Regeneration Executive Director Meetings (EDM) and G&R Board; and 
the programme has started to deliver. 

The introduction of enhanced highlight and exception reporting at the G&R Board has 
had a positive impact on overall ‘grip’ of the portfolio.  Project officers now routinely 
come to G&R board to provide an overview of progress on an exception basis.   

  

 4 7 28 

We have done and we continue to review and prioritise / re-prioritise programmes and projects 
and other deliverables in the light of the on-going global Covid-19 pandemic, as well as assessing 
its impact on long-term commercial investments and major capital project delivery.  

The recent appointment of the Capital Strategic Partner is starting to have an impact on the 
performance culture across major capital programmes. There will be quarterly review meetings 
between BCC’s Senior Leadership and the Strategic Partner to review performance and progress 
with Capital Programme delivery. 

Workshops organised in July 2021 to review and refresh the Capital Programme. To be followed in 
August 2021 by a similar workshop to review Capital receipting/disposal. There will be a more 
comprehensive review/reset of the Capital Programme as part of the annual service planning 
process in the Autumn 2021. 

Work is on-going in conjunction with the Strategic Partner to enhance and improve Programme 
and Project reporting.  This work feeds into the CIB process to create a stronger sense of joined up 
programme management across BCC. In addition, we are trialling a recommended approach to 
embedded assurance with some key Capital Projects. 

1 7 7 

Risk Owner: Executive Director Growth 
and Regeneration. 

Action Owner: Executive Director Growth and Regeneration and Director Economy of 
Place. 

Portfolio Flag: Mayor 
and Finance, 
Governance and 
Performance. 

Strategy Theme: Our Organisation, Empowering and Caring, Fair and Inclusive, Well Connected, Wellbeing. 

P
age 228



Appendix A: Bristol City Council – Corporate Risk Report (register of risk summary) Q1 2021/22         

23 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Corporate Risk Register as at June 2021 – Threat Risks to the achievement of Bristol City Councils Objectives. 

 Risk title and description  What we have done 

 P
e

rf
o

rm
an

ce
 

Current Risk 
Level 

What we are doing 

Tolerance 
Risk Level 

 L
ik

e
lih

o
o

d
 

 Im
p

ac
t 

 R
is

k 
 

 R
at

in
g 

 L
ik

e
lih

o
o

d
 

 Im
p

ac
t 

 R
is

k 
 

 R
at

in
g 

CRR42: Provision of Leisure Services 

The ability to provide suitable leisure services to the 
Community of Bristol. 

Key potential causes are: 

 Service closure due to Covid 19 

 Procurement timescales 

We have carried out modelling to forecast the cost of maintaining the 
SLM leisure management contract once leisure centres re-open on the 
12th April has a forecast deficit for April 1st 2021 to March 31st 2022 
between £0.600m to £1,181m.  

Funding for the in-year cost pressure due to Covid has been identified 
and was approved by Cabinet in June to ensure continuation of provision 
up till March 2022. 

 2 7 14 

Finances are reviewed monthly to get actual figures. 
The design and procurement process and options are being scoped, including the 
investment strategy.  This will be brough forward to Cabinet in September. 
 

2 5 10 

Risk Owner: Executive Director People, Director Adult Social 
Care. 

Action Owner: Director Public Health Portfolio Flag: Adult 
Social Care. 

Strategy Theme: Wellbeing. 

P
age 229



Appendix A: Bristol City Council – Corporate Risk Report (register of risk summary) Q1 2021/22         

24 

 

 

 

Corporate Risk Register as at June 2021 – Opportunity Risks to the achievement of Bristol City Councils Objectives. 

 Risk title and description  What we have done 

 P
e

rf
o

rm
an

ce
 

Current Risk 
Level 

What we are doing 

Tolerance 
Risk Level 

 L
ik

e
lih

o
o

d
 

 Im
p

ac
t 

 R
is

k 

R
at

in
g 

 L
ik

e
lih

o
o

d
 

 Im
p

ac
t 

 R
is

k 

R
at

in
g 

OPP1: One City Approach.  
 The One City Approach will offer a 
new way to plan strategically with 
partners as part of a wider city 
system. 
 

Key potential causes: 

 Mayoral aspiration and widespread 
partner sign-up to the principle. 

 Work to date has produced outline 
plan and engaged partners in the 
long-term vision and necessary 
work to complete the plan. 

As part of the response to Covid-19, a One City Approach has been used to coordinate a 'One City' response, helping to 
bring together leaders from key city institutions around shared priorities, using relationships developed through the work 
of the City Office to improve stakeholder engagement and communications.  

We have worked closely with all Boards to update the One City Plan timelines ahead of a v3 Plan launch in June 2021, and 
also continue to collaborate on a city-wide approach to Covid-19 Recovery. We have reviewed longer term funding and 
governance options and are taking forward conversations with partners in January 2021 about this. 

We have produced v3 of the One City Plan and produced our second annual report available on the One City Website from 
12 June 2021. A new culture board and Children and Young People's Board have been established. Conversations have 
been had with all anchor institutions over funding. More formalised working arrangements with City Funds have been 
established. City Office continues to support the Covid 19 response and Recovery. 

 3 7 21 

We are working on sustainable long-term funding 
models and a more ambitious 'core' City Office 
offer and resource to maximise benefits of the One 
City Approach.  

We continue to: 

 Set up a Partnership Board to oversee the work 
of the City Office and developing MOUs with 
wider range of partners to further formalised 
working arrangements. 

 Negotiate with partners on funding 
arrangements. 

 Create a One City Digital Board. 

 Produce a City Office team mandate to outline 
the functions of the team for partners. 

 Develop more detailed metrics for impacting 
tracking of activity. 

4 7 28 

Risk Owner: Director Policy, Strategy 
and Partnerships. 

Action Owner: Director Policy, Strategy and Partnerships. Portfolio Flag: Mayor. Strategy Theme: Our Organisation. 

 
 
 

Corporate Risk Register as at June 2021 – Opportunity Risks to the achievement of Bristol City Councils Objectives. 

 Risk title and description  What we have done 

 P
e

rf
o

rm
an

ce
 

Current Risk 
Level 

What we are doing 

Tolerance 
Risk Level 

 L
ik

e
lih

o
o

d
 

 Im
p

ac
t 

 R
is

k 
 

 R
at

in
g 

 L
ik

e
lih

o
o

d
 

 Im
p

ac
t 

 R
is

k 
 

 R
at

in
g 

OPP2: Corporate Strategy.  
The approved Corporate Strategy 
presents an opportunity to 
fundamentally refresh and strengthen 
our business planning, leadership, and 
performance frameworks. 
 

Key potential causes: 

 Approved Corporate Strategy 
provides the foundation and 
direction for the organisation. 

We have approved and adopted the Corporate Strategy, Business Plan 2021/22 and associated Performance 
Frameworks through appropriate Decision Pathways. 

Commenced work on reviewing the corporate strategy for approval of refreshed strategy during the year. 

Reviewed organisational design principles and ways of working as part of thinking ahead to a 2021/22 update to the 
Corporate Strategy. 

 

 
2 7 14 

The current Corporate Strategy is well embedded and 
whilst capacity to deliver all outcomes is limited, there 
is a much greater focus on project prioritisation against 
the Strategy and commensurate improvements in 
public satisfaction year-on-year since its inception.  

In light of performance outturn reporting of 2020/21, 
the likelihood of this opportunity has been downgraded 
to reflect the results – which were clearly impacted by 
Covid-19 and pivoting our organisational focus towards 
managing the pandemic response and recovery.  

Overall our level of preparedness for this opportunity is 
reduced due to many external factors – including the 
pandemic, EU Exit and national policy – having changed 
the environment in which we work. This is a key driver 
to update the overall Corporate Strategy and look 
ahead to our needs over the next five years, which will 
help strengthen our level of preparedness and the 
likelihood of this opportunity manifesting. Work has 
begun on this process, including early engagement and 
a desktop review of evidence.  

4 7 28 

Risk Owner: Director Policy, Strategy 
and Partnerships. 

Action Owner: Director Policy, Strategy and Partnerships. Portfolio Flag: Finance, 
Governance and 
Performance. 

Strategy Theme: Our Organisation. 

 

P
age 230



Appendix A: Bristol City Council – Corporate Risk Report (register of risk summary) Q1 2021/22         

25 

 
 

Corporate Risk Register as at June 2021 – Opportunity Risks to the achievement of Bristol City Councils Objectives. 

 Risk title and description  What we have done 

 P
e

rf
o

rm
an

ce
 

Current Risk 
Level 

What we are doing 

Tolerance 
Risk Level 

 L
ik

e
lih

o
o

d
 

 Im
p

ac
t 

 R
is

k 
 

 R
at

in
g 

 L
ik

e
lih

o
o

d
 

 Im
p

ac
t 

 R
is

k 
 

 R
at

in
g 

OPP3: Devolution.  
Should the potential arise for opportunities 
from a region’s devolving, second devolution 
deal that could lead to an opportunity to align 
the Council’s corporate priorities and 
strengthen regional partnership working. 
 

Key potential causes: 

 Potential development of second devolution 
deal. 

We are engaging with HM Government and WECA as well as working alongside other combined 
authorities and core cities on potential devolution options. There are risks that devolution takes a 
different turn following Covid-19 pandemic. 

There have been delays in the Government publishing its Devolution White Paper.  

We continue to monitor developments and can take advantage of opportunities when they arise.     3 7 21 

 We will continue to engage with WECA at strategic level. 

We will continue to engage with HM Government on devolution 
opportunities, following up on specific spending review asks and 
engagement on the development of the Western Gateway.  

We have commissioned an Independent Economic Position Statement for 
the Western Gateway and recruiting to Secretariat resource. We will 
continue to engage partners and HM Government on this project. 

 

3 7 21 

Risk Owner: Chief Executive. Action Owner: Director Policy, Strategy and Partnerships. Portfolio Flag: Finance, 
Governance and 
Performance. 

Strategy Theme: Our Organisation. 

 

 
 

  

P
age 231



Appendix A: Bristol City Council – Corporate Risk Report (register of risk summary) Q1 2021/22         

26 

 

 

 
 

 

Corporate Risk Register as at June 2021 – External / Civil Contingency Risks to the achievement of Bristol City Councils Objectives. 

 Risk title and description  What we have done 

 P
e

rf
o

rm
an

ce
 

Current Risk 
Level 

What we are doing 

Tolerance 
Risk Level 

 L
ik

e
lih

o
o

d
 

 Im
p

ac
t 

 R
is

k 
R

at
in

g
 

 L
ik

e
lih

o
o

d
 

 Im
p

ac
t 

 R
is

k 
R

at
in

g
 

BCCC1: Flooding.  
There could be a risk of damage to 
properties and infrastructure as well 
as risk to public safety from flooding 
which may be caused by a tidal surge, 
heavy rainfall, and river flood events.  
 

Key potential causes are: 

 Tidal surge, heavy rainfall, and 
river flood events. 

 Impact of climate change. 

 Lack of effective flood defences 
and preparedness for major 
incidents. 

 Failure of existing flood defences. 

Bristol has in place a local Flood Risk Management Strategy which comprises of 5 key themes and 43 separate actions in line 
with Environment Agency's national strategy. The Strategy has used outputs from a number of key studies (which identify the 
risk of flooding to the city) to structure our response to flood risk management, from emergency management to flood 
mitigation schemes, summarised below. 

The Avon and Somerset Local Resilience Forum (LRF) is a partnership of all the organisations needed to prepare for an 
emergency in the LRF area. It includes the emergency services, health services, Maritime and Coastal Agency, Environment 
Agency, volunteer agencies, utility companies, transport providers and the five councils of Bath and North East Somerset, 
Bristol, North Somerset, Somerset, and South Gloucestershire.  

Working with emergency services, local authorities, and other agencies to develop flood response plans and procedures, 
investigating instances of flooding, training specialist staff in swift water rescue techniques, communicating with housing and 
business developers to incorporate flood protection into new developments. It provides guidance to members of the public 
about flooding, including flood warnings and what people can do to help themselves. We undertake regular and emergency 
maintenance and clearing programs of gullies and culverts, especially in advance of storm warnings. 

Work is ongoing with the Environment Agency and South Gloucestershire Council to construct new sea defences in 
Avonmouth and Severnside, which take account of climate change and sea level rise.  

A Strategic Outline Case for managing the risk of flooding from the river Avon to the city centre over the next century was 
approved by Cabinet in June 2021. The approved strategic approach is to construct new defences and / or raise the level of 
existing defences along the banks of the river Avon. The Environment Agency approved the SOC and the scheme has been 
given a £2m approval for further work to develop the Outline Business Case.  

We have been successful in our expression of interest to participate in the DEFRA Innovation and Resilience programme. This 
programme allocates approximately £6m to 25 areas to undertake innovative actions to increase resilience to flooding from 
2021 – 2027. 

 3 5 15 

There is sustained resourcing and delivery of all actions in 
Local Flood Risk Management Strategy (LFRMS) over life 
of strategy. Strategy includes the following key projects 
and objectives: 

 Working in partnership with the Environment Agency 
to complete and deliver the Bristol Avon Flood Strategy 
to protect the city centre and support sustainable 
development, including allowances for climate change. 

 Working in partnership with South Gloucestershire and 
the Environment Agency to deliver a flood scheme to 
help protect Avonmouth Village and the Enterprise 
Area from tidal flooding, including allowances for 
climate change. 

 Promote minor sized schemes and green infrastructure 
to reduce local flood risks. 

 Actively managing flood risk infrastructure. 

 Ensuring development is sustainable, seeks to reduce 
flood risk and includes consideration to climate 
change. 

 Working with South Gloucestershire and the 
Environment Agency to deliver a programme of 
innovation to increase communities resilience to 
flooding. 

3 3 9 

Risk Owner: Executive Director 
Growth and Regeneration, Director 
Economy of Place. 

Action Owner:  Director Economy of Place, Flood Risk Engineer. Portfolio Flag: Energy, 
Waste and Regulatory 
Services. 

Strategy Theme: Our Organisation, Empowering and Caring, Fair, and 
Inclusive, Well Connected, Wellbeing. 

 
 
 
  

P
age 232



Appendix A: Bristol City Council – Corporate Risk Report (register of risk summary) Q1 2021/22         

27 

 

 

Corporate Risk Register as at June 2021 – External / Civil Contingency Risks to the achievement of Bristol City Councils Objectives. 

 Risk title and description  What we have done 

 P
e

rf
o

rm
an

ce
 

Current Risk Level 

What we are doing 

Tolerance 
Risk Level 

 L
ik

e
lih

o
o

d
 

 Im
p

ac
t 

 R
is

k 
 

 R
at

in
g 

 L
ik

e
lih

o
o

d
 

 Im
p

ac
t 

 R
is

k 
 

 R
at

in
g 

BCCC3: COVID-19 
A failure to respond and recover effectively to the Covid crisis will jeopardise the 
delivery of statutory duties across the Council, put the lives and welfare of staff 
and service users at risk, negatively impact Public health, adversely impact the 
business community of Bristol, lead to increased inequality amongst communities, 
create additional social anxiety, unmanageable demand on community, voluntary 
and public sector services, cause unnecessary expense, undermine Council finances 
and severely damage the Council’s reputation. 
 

Key potential causes are: 

 Staff sickness, absence, and bereavement. 

 Surges in demand in key service areas, particularly social care, safeguarding, 
housing, community engagement, hardship, public health, and civil protection. 

 A lack of personal protective equipment for staff and providers. 

 Increased social anxiety and community tension. 

 Failure of key providers and contractors.  

 A lack of management control and oversight associated with home working. 

 Failure to identify and seize opportunities. 

 Changes in national guidelines. 

The Council has moved at pace to change the way that it works across every Directorate and Service area: 

 The response to Covid is managed through the Outbreak Management Group, Chaired by the Director 
of Public Health 

 The Local Engagement Board and Health Protection Committee were both established and have met 
regularly 

 Work to support the most vulnerable is ongoing 

 Work to enforce Covid regulations is ongoing   

 PPE supply chains have been stabilised and made more resilient 

 Additional body storage capacity has been realised 

 The organisation has established remote working practice wherever possible 

 Buildings have Covid secure risk assessments in place 

 Three Recovery Workstreams have been established – Community and People, Economy and Business 
and Organisational Change 

 Recovery Objectives are being monitored and managed through EDMs 

 We have worked in partnership through the One City Economy Board to produce an Economic 
Recovery and Renewal Plan 

 We are participating in a regional Strategic Recovery Group run by the Local Resilience Forum and in 
economic recovery initiatives hosted by the Combined Authority. 

 Learning from the multiple waves informs our ongoing response  

 Run ‘surge testing’ programme for Variant of Concern and applied learning from this 

 Conducted a region-wide Equality Impact Assessment to inform future planning and adapt current 
practice where required 

 Operated a ‘Gold’ Group chaired by Chief Executive during Major Incident phase(s) 

 The local outbreak response has been enhanced 

 Capital for a Community Resilience Fund has been established 

 We have increased the community development capacity in the short term and introduced a 
fortnightly Community Exchange to maintain conversation with communities 

 4 7 28 

We continue to work closely 
with Health Partners and Avon 
and Somerset Resilience 
Forum continues. 

Continued communication to 
partners, businesses and 
citizens continues. 

We continue to understand 
the ongoing Covid response 
and recovery in the context of 
the wider risk landscape of 
Brexit, winter pressures and 
the possibility of an unrelated 
concurrent emergency. 2 7 14 

Risk Owner: CLB Action Owner:  Chief Executive Portfolio Flag: Corporate 
wide. 

Strategy Theme: Our Organisation, Empowering 
and Caring, Fair, and Inclusive, Well Connected, 
Wellbeing. 

P
age 233



Appendix A: Bristol City Council - Corporate Risk Report (register of risk summary)       Risk Scoring Criteria 

28 

 
Risk Scoring Matrix 

 
  

4 12 20 28 28 20 12 4

(Low) (Medium) (High) (Critical) (Significant) (High) (Medium) (Low)

3 9 15 21 21 15 9 3

(Low) (Medium) (High) (High) (High) (High) (Medium) (Low)

2 6 10 14 14 10 6 2

(Low) (Medium) (Medium) (High) (High) (Medium) (Medium) (Low)

1 3 5 7 7 5 3 1

(Low) (Low) (Medium) (Medium) (Medium) (Medium) (Low) (Low)

1 3 5 7 7 5 3 1

Minor Moderate Major Critical Exceptional Significant Modest Slight

1-4 1-4 Low

5-12 5-12 Medium

14-21 14-21 High

28 28
Critical / 

Significant

Action required - escalate if a Directorate level risk, escalate to the Corporate Level, if Corporate bring to the attention of the Cabinet Lead to 

confirm action to be taken.

Rare 1 1 Rare

Threat

 Level

Opportunity 

Level
Level of Risk Actions Required

2 Unlikely

May not need any further action / monitor at the Service level.

Action required, manage and monitor at the Directorate level.

Must be addressed - if Directorate level consider escalating to the Corporate Risk Report, if Corporate consider escalating to the Cabinet Lead. 

Threat Impact Opportunity Impact

(Negative risks) (Positive Risk)

Th
re

at
 L

ik
el

ih
o

o
d

Almost certain 4 4 Almost certain

O
p

p
o

rtu
n

ity Likelih
o

o
d

Likely 3 3 Likely

Unlikely 2

Current and Tolerance risk ratings:  The ‘Current’ risk rating for both threats and opportunities refer to the current level of risk taking into account any 

strategies to manage risk - management actions, controls, and fall-back plans already in place. The ‘Tolerance’ rating represents what is deemed to be 

a realistic level of risk to be achieved once additional actions have been put in place. On some occasions the aim will be to contain the level of the risk 

at the current level.  
 

Positive Risks (Opportunities): Where the risk is an opportunity, a cost benefit analysis is required to determine whether the opportunity is worth 

pursuing, guided by the score for the matrix, e.g. an opportunity with a score of 28 would be pursued as it would offer considerable benefits for little 

risk. 

Positive Risks (Opportunities) 
 

 

 

P
age 234



Appendix A: Bristol City Council - Corporate Risk Report (register of risk summary)       Risk Scoring Criteria 

29 

 
LIKELIHOOD AND IMPACT RISK RATING SCORING 

Likelihood Guidance 

   Likelihood Likelihood Ratings 1 to 4 

1 2 3 4 

Description Might happen on rare occasions. Will possibly happen, possibly on several 
occasions. 

Will probably happen, possibly at regular intervals. Likely to happen, possibly frequently. 

Numerical Likelihood Less than 10%  Less than 50%  50% or more  75% or more 

 
Severity of Impact Guidance (Risk to be assessed against all of the Categories, and the highest score used in the matrix). 
 

Impact Category Impact Levels 1 to 7 

1 3 5 7 

Service provision Very limited effect (positive or 
negative) on service provision. 
Impact can be managed within 
normal working arrangements. 

Noticeable and significant effect (positive or 
negative) on service provision. 
 

Effect may require some additional resource, but 
manageable in a reasonable time frame. 

Severe effect on service provision or a Corporate 
Strategic Plan priority area.  

Extremely severe service disruption. Significant 
customer opposition. Legal action. 

Effect may require considerable /additional resource 
but will not require a major strategy change. 

Effect could not be managed within a reasonable time 
frame or by a short-term allocation of resources and 
may require major strategy changes. The Council risks 
‘special measures’. 

  Officer / Member forced to resign. 

Communities Minimal impact on community. Noticeable (positive or negative) impact on the 
community or a more manageable impact on a 
smaller number of vulnerable groups / individuals 
which is not likely to last more than six months. 

 A more severe but manageable impact (positive or 
negative) on a significant number of vulnerable 
groups / individuals which is not likely to last more 
than twelve months. 

A lasting and noticeable impact on a significant number 
of vulnerable groups / individuals. 

Environmental No effect (positive or negative) on 
the natural and built environment. 

Short term effect (positive or negative) on the 
natural and or built environment. 

Serious local discharge of pollutant or source of 
community annoyance that requires remedial action. 

Lasting effect on the natural and or built environment. 

Financial Loss / Gain Under £0.5m Between £0.5m - £3m Between £3m - £5m More than £5m 

Fraud & Corruption Loss Under £50k Between £50k - £100k Between £100k - £1m   More than £1m 

Legal No significant legal implications or 
action is anticipated. 

Tribunal / BCC legal team involvement required 
(potential for claim). 

Criminal prosecution anticipated and / or civil 
litigation. 

Criminal prosecution anticipated and or civil litigation (> 
1 person). 

Personal Safety Minor injury to citizens or 
colleagues.  

Significant injury or ill health of citizens or 
colleagues causing short-term disability / absence 
from work. 

Major injury or ill health of citizens or colleagues may 
result in. long term disability / absence from work. 

Death of citizen(s) or colleague(s). 

Significant long-term disability / absence from work. 

Programme / Project 
Management  
(Including developing 
commercial enterprises)  

Minor delays and/or budget 
overspend but can be brought back 
on schedule with this project stage. 

Slippage causes significant delay to delivery of 
key project milestones, and/or budget 
overspends. 
 

Slippage causes significant delay to delivery of key 
project milestones; and/or major budget overspends. 
 

Major threat to delivery of the project on time and to 
budget, and achievement of one or more benefits / 
outcomes. 

Significant issues threaten delivery of the entire project. 
 

Could lead to project being cancelled or put on hold. 

No threat to delivery of the project 
on time and to budget and no 
threat to identified benefits / 
outcomes. 

No threat to overall delivery of the project and 
the identified benefits / outcomes. 

Reputation Minimal and transient loss of public 
or partner trust. Contained within 
the individual service. 

Significant public or partner interest although 
limited potential for enhancement of, or damage 
to, reputation. 

Serious potential for enhancement of, or damage to, 
reputation and the willingness of other parties to 
collaborate or do business with the council. 
Dissatisfaction regularly reported through council 
complaints procedure. 
 

Higher levels of local or national interest. 
 

Higher levels of local media / social media interest. 

Highly significant potential for enhancement of, or 
damage to, reputation and the willingness of other 
parties to collaborate or do business with the council. 
Intense local, national, and potentially international 
media attention. 
 

Viral social media or online pick-up. 
 

Public enquiry or poor external assessor report. 

Dissatisfaction reported through council 
complaints procedure but contained within the 
council. 

Local MP involvement. 

Some local media/social media interest. 

 

P
age 235



Bristol City Council - Scrutiny Work Programme 2021 / 2022  (Formal Public Meetings)  

People Scrutiny 
Commission 

Communities Scrutiny 
Commission 

Growth & Regeneration 
Scrutiny Commission 

Resources Scrutiny 
Commission 

Overview & Scrutiny 
Management Board 

July  2021 
19th July, 5pm    12th July, 5pm 
Annual Business Report 
 

   City Leap 

COVID-19 Update    Consultation and 
Engagement Strategy  

Response to the 
independent review of 
Bristol’s policies and actions 
for people with learning 
difficulties and autism 

   Clean Air Zone 

Response to the Bristol 
Alternative Learning 
Provision review report 
 

   Performance Report Quarter 
4 2020/21  

School Places Provision 
 

    

Performance 20-21 Q4 
 

    

August 2021 
     
     

     

September 2021 
    20th Sept, 1pm  
    Scrutiny Work Programme  

     

October 2021 
    18th October, 2pm 
    Corporate Strategy 

P
age 236

A
genda Item

 10



People Scrutiny 
Commission 

Communities Scrutiny 
Commission 

Growth & Regeneration 
Scrutiny Commission 

Resources Scrutiny 
Commission 

Overview & Scrutiny 
Management Board 

    Corporate Performance 
Report Q1 (substantive 
discussion) 

    Corporate Risk Report Q1 

  
 

 Work Programme (including 
decarbonisation) 

     

November 2021 
 23rd November, 5pm 

(Hold) 
16th November, 5pm  1st November, 4pm   

 Annual Business Report Annual Business Report Annual Business Report   

 Parks and Open Spaces Item: 
A) Parks and Open Spaces 

Strategy  
B) Future Parks 

Affordable Housing Delivery 

plan 

 

Finance Task Group - Update 

 MTFP  

 Capital Strategy  
  

 

 Waste Strategy Action Plan  
 

Liveable Neighbourhoods 
(potential Joint item with 
CSC) 

Council Tax Reduction 
Scheme (CTRS) (Cabinet 
Report) 

 

 Q2 Performance Report High Streets Recovery Procurement – discussion 
item only 

 

 Risk Report Q1 Performance Report  Finance Monitoring Report 
(Standing Item) 
 

 

  Risk Report Q1 Performance Report 
 

 

   Risk Report - information 
item only 

 

   Budget Timeline 
(Summary of dates) 
 

 

 
 

  Scrutiny Work Programme    

P
age 237



People Scrutiny 
Commission 

Communities Scrutiny 
Commission 

Growth & Regeneration 
Scrutiny Commission 

Resources Scrutiny 
Commission 

Overview & Scrutiny 
Management Board 

December 2021 
13th December, 5pm     
Recruitment and retention – 
social care  

    

Sufficiency of placements – 
children’s homes, foster 
carers.   

    

Contextual Safeguarding – 
development. 

    

Performance (Q2)     

January 2022 
  Date TBC Late Jan / Early Feb (TBC)  

  Temple Quarter/Temple 
Island 

Budget Scrutiny  Meeting 

 Capital Programme  

 HRA  

 Dedicated Schools Grant 
(DSG) 

 

  Western Harbour 
 

  

  Property Strategy and 

Community Buildings Usage 

 

  

     

     

February 2022 
 Early Feb - Date TBC   w/c 7th February 22 

 Community Buildings Usage / 

Community asset transfers / 

facilities / sports facilities 

 

 

Companies Business Plans  

 Libraries     

P
age 238



People Scrutiny 
Commission 

Communities Scrutiny 
Commission 

Growth & Regeneration 
Scrutiny Commission 

Resources Scrutiny 
Commission 

Overview & Scrutiny 
Management Board 

 Leisure Investment Plans 

 

 
 

 

 Area Committees (TBC)    

     

     

March 2022 

7th March, 10am March / April Date TBC  TBC Date TBC 
Adult Social Care – 
Independent Living,  
Maximising Independence  

 Highways Maintenance Council Tax Reduction 
Scheme (CTRS) – potential 
further scrutiny March and 
May 2022 

BCC Business Plans – 
potentially include 
Recommendations of 
Citizens’ Assembly 
 

Transition between child and 
adult social care 

 River Avon Flood Strategy 

 
 Council Tax Base  

 Collection Fund; Financial 
Surplus/Deficit Report 

       (or Jan / Feb budget 
meeting) 
 

Scrutiny Annual Report to 
Full Council 

Sir Stephen Bubb Report – 
review and further response  
 

 Bristol Flood Risk Strategy 

(Statutory) 

 

 

One City Plan 
 

Written Statement of Action 
(SEND) – Progress 
 

  
 

 

Performance (Q3) 
 

  
 

 

 
 

  
 

 

 
 

  
 

 

 
 

  
 

 

P
age 239



People Scrutiny 
Commission 

Communities Scrutiny 
Commission 

Growth & Regeneration 
Scrutiny Commission 

Resources Scrutiny 
Commission 

Overview & Scrutiny 
Management Board 

April 2022 
   

 
 

     

     

Provisional items / to be scheduled 
 

Dedicated Schools Grant – to 
link into the Finance task & 
Finish Group – w/c 6 
December  

Ecological Emergency Action 
Plan 

Spatial Development 
Strategy  

Finance Monitoring Reports 
(Standing Item) 

 

LGA Peer Review – Child 
protection and children in 
need.  Outcome and 
response. 

Private landlords / rents / 
licensing (TBC) 
Potentially include:  

 Housing Options  

 Homelessness Prevention   

Strategic Transport Plans Capital Spend against the 
Budget (end of year) 

 

Inclusive Mainstream 
Educational Practice – 
Possible Task & Finish group 
(March / Apr)  
 

Keeping Bristol Safe 
Partnership (Keeping 
Communities Safe) 

Parking strategy and 
management of parking – 
Possible inquiry day to 
include wider transport 
issues. 

Quarterly Performance 
Reports 

Delivery of net zero carbon 
by 2030 
 

 Housing Revenue Account 
(HRA) 
 

Bristol Beacon 
Twice Yearly Risk Reports 

Twice Yearly Risk Reports  
 

  Carbon reduction Digital Transformation 
Programme (DTP) March TBC 

Quarterly Performance 
Reports  

   
Commercialisation & Income 
Generation  

Standing Items:  
• Forward Plan 
• Work programme 
• WECA- JS Minutes 

   
 

Clean Air Zone – note 
Government approval for the 

P
age 240



People Scrutiny 
Commission 

Communities Scrutiny 
Commission 

Growth & Regeneration 
Scrutiny Commission 

Resources Scrutiny 
Commission 

Overview & Scrutiny 
Management Board 

Clean Air Zone is expected 
soon and an update to OSMB 
will be provided as soon as 
possible once it’s available. 

   
 

Trans Equality Policy (approx. 
Jan 22) 

 

 

Health Scrutiny 
 

Topic 
 

Date 

Health Scrutiny Committee (Sub-Committee of the People Scrutiny Commission) 
 

Children's Mental Health and Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services 

 

Meeting 1 – 6th December, 
10am  

Community Mental Health Framework 

 

Suicide Prevention 

 

 

 

 

 

Health Inequalities 

 

Meeting 2 – 14th March, 
10am 

Healthy Eating 

 

NHS Dentists 

 

P
age 241



NHS waiting lists; access to planned health care (and to review of findings and recommendations of 2020 Working Group 

Report) (Note – to include availability of services and comms etc (see original WP list)). 

 

CCG Strategic Estates Plans 
 

Joint Health Overview & Scrutiny Committee (JHOSC) 
 

Stroke Programme – substantial variation Monday, 15 November, 
10.30am  Integrated Care System (tbc) 

 

 

 

  

  

  

 

 

 

P
age 242



 

 

Forward plan 

 

This update published 4 October 2021 
Democratic Services 
Contact: Corrina Haskins, Democratic Services Officer, email: corrina.haskins@bristol.gov.uk  
 

 

THIS DOCUMENT GIVES NOTICE OF 
ANTICIPATED KEY DECISIONS TO BE TAKEN 
AT CABINET AND OTHER MEETINGS 
 
 

P
age 243

A
genda Item

 11



 

 - 2 - 
 

 
BRISTOL CITY COUNCIL - FORWARD PLAN 

INDEX OF PROPOSED KEY DECISIONS 
 
 

The Forward Plan gives notice of anticipated key decisions to be taken at Cabinet, Health and Wellbeing Board  and Learning City Partnership Board 
meetings.  It will be updated and published on the Council website www.bristol.gov.uk on a monthly basis. 
 
Key Decision 
Under the Council’s constitution, the definition of a key decision is a decision which is likely to: 
 
1) Result in expenditure of £500,000 or over. 
 
2) Result in savings of £500,000 or over. 
 
3) Be significant in terms of its effects on communities living or working in two or more wards in the city.  

 
Non-key Decision 
For additional information and completeness the Forward Plan also contains those items which are outside the definition of a key decision. 
 
Cabinet Meetings 
The Cabinet will normally meet on a Tuesday on a monthly cycle. Meetings start at 4pm and are currently held at City Hall, College Green 
Bristol, BS1 5TR.  Meetings of the Cabinet are open to the public with the exception of discussion regarding reports which contain 
exempt/confidential, commercially sensitive or personal information which will be identified in the Mayor’s Forward Plan). 
 
Reports submitted to the Mayor and Cabinet will be available on the council’s website 5 clear working days before the date the decision can be 
made.  If you would like a copy by email please contact democratic.services@bristol.gov.uk    
 
 
  
 

P
age 244

http://www.bristol.gov.uk/
mailto:democratic.services@bristol.gov.uk


 

 - 3 - 
 

 
Glossary: 
 
HWB Health and Wellbeing Board 
LCPB Learning City Partnership Board 
APR15 Under the Council’s Constitution if a key decision needs to be taken with less than 28 days’ notice, it can still be taken under APR15 – 

General Exception, if it is impracticable to defer it until the next scheduled Cabinet meeting.  The relevant Scrutiny Commission must 
be notified and the report published as part of the agenda 5 clear working days ahead of the Cabinet meeting 

 
 
Description of Exempt Information :- England, Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the local Government Act 1972 
 

1 Information relating to any individual. 
 

2 Information which is likely to reveal the identity of an individual. 
 

3 Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person (including the authority holding that information). 
 

4 Information relating to any consultations or negotiations, or contemplated consultations or negotiations, with any labour relations 
matter arising between the authority or a Minister of the Crown and employees of, or office holders under the authority. 
 

5 Information in respect of which a claim to legal professional privilege could be maintained in legal proceedings. 
 

6 Information which reveals that the authority proposes 
(a) to give under any enactment a notice under or by virtue of which requirements are imposed on a person; 0r 

 
 

(b) to make an order or direction under any enactment. 
 

7 Information relating to any action taken or to be taken in connection with the prevention, investigation or prosecution of a crime. 
 

P
age 245



 

 - 4 - 
 

 
 
Cabinet Members 

 Mayor Marvin Rees – lead on Transport, Planning and City Design 

 Councillor Craig Cheney – Deputy Mayor and Cabinet Member for Finance, Governance and Performance 

 Councillor Asher Craig – Deputy Mayor and Cabinet Member for Communities, Equalities and Public Health 

 Councillor Don Alexander – Cabinet Member for Transport 

 Councillor Nicola Beech – Cabinet Member for Climate, Ecology, Waste and Energy 

 Councillor Helen Holland - Cabinet Member with responsibility for Adult Social Care 

 Councillor Tom Renhard – Cabinet Member for Housing Delivery and Homes 

 

 
 

 
 
 

 
The City Council’s website www.bristol.gov.uk contains all supporting documents and decisions for formal meetings and lots more 
about the City Council. 

 

 

P
age 246

http://www.bristol.gov.uk/


Lead Officer Title and summary of Decision  Meeting 
date 

Decision taker Scrutiny Remit 

 - 5 - 
 

Abigail Stratford, Service 
Manager, Major Projects 
abigail.stratford@bristol.gov.uk 

Temple Quarter Update 
To seek approval to submit a bid, secure, draw 
down and spend project funding from WECA to 
progress priority project workstreams of the 
Temple Quarter Regeneration Programme, 
including strategic land acquisition. 
 
Cabinet to also receive an update on Mead Street 
character area, communication and engagement 
strategy and Temple Island enabling works. 
  
Open 
 
  
 

Cabinet 
5 Oct 2021 

Mayor Growth and 
Regeneration 
Scrutiny 
Commission 

Nick Gingell, Fleet Services 
Manager 
nick.gingell@bristol.gov.uk 

Transition to low carbon fuel 
To update Cabinet on the transition to low 
emission fuels and retender the supply of fuel for 
fleet services. 
  
Open 
 
  
 

Cabinet 
5 Oct 2021 

Deputy Mayor with 
responsibility for 
Finance, Governance 
and Performance 

Resources 
Scrutiny 
Commission 

Rizwan Tariq, Head of Citizen 
Services 
rizwan.tariq@bristol.gov.uk 

Language Services corporate contract 
To seek approval to implement a corporate 
contract for language services (including 
translation, interpreting and British Sign 
Language). 
  

Cabinet 
5 Oct 2021 

Deputy Mayor with 
responsibility for 
Finance, Governance 
and Performance 

Resources 
Scrutiny 
Commission 

P
age 247



Lead Officer Title and summary of Decision  Meeting 
date 

Decision taker Scrutiny Remit 

 - 6 - 
 

Open 
 
  
 

Tim Borrett, Director: Policy, 
Strategy and Partnerships 
tim.borrett@bristol.gov.uk 

Data, Insight and Information Strategy 
To seek approval of the Data, Insight and 
Information strategy, and procurement of 
delivery partner. 
  
Open 
 
  
 

Cabinet 
5 Oct 2021 

Deputy Mayor with 
responsibility for 
Finance, Governance 
and Performance 

Overview and 
Scrutiny 
Management 
Board 

Rachael Pryor, Head of Inclusive 
City 
Head.virtualhope@bristol.gov.u
k 

Alternative Learning Provision Framework 
To seek approval to recommission a new 
Alternative Learning Provision framework 
contract. 
  
Open 
 
  
 

Cabinet 
5 Oct 2021 

Mayor People Scrutiny 
Commission 

Kurt James, - Neighbourhood 
Co-ordinator 
kurt.james@bristol.gov.uk 

Covid Marshals extension 
To seek approval to fund Covid marshals until 
March 2022. 
  
Open 
 
  
 

Cabinet 
5 Oct 2021 

Deputy Mayor with 
responsibility for 
Communities, 
Equalities and Public 
Health 

Communities 
Scrutiny 
Commission 

P
age 248



Lead Officer Title and summary of Decision  Meeting 
date 

Decision taker Scrutiny Remit 

 - 7 - 
 

Gail Rogers, Head of Service - 
Children's Commissioning 
gail.rogers@bristol.gov.uk 

Short Breaks recommissioning 
To seek Cabinet approval for the recommissioning 
of the Short Break offer and to extend current 
contracts while the recommissioning process is 
conducted. 
  
Open 
 
  
 

Cabinet 
5 Oct 2021 

Cabinet Member with 
responsibility for 
Adult Social Care, 
Mayor 

People Scrutiny 
Commission 

Paul Barker, Programme 
Manager 
Paul.barker@bristol.gov.uk 

Heat Network Expansion - Bedminster & Temple 
update 
To update Cabinet on progress of the Heat 
Networks in Bedminster and Temple and seek 
approval to accept and spend grant awards from 
government. 
  
Open 
 
  
 

Cabinet 
5 Oct 2021 

Cabinet Member with 
responsibility for 
Climate, Ecology, 
Waste and Energy 

Growth and 
Regeneration 
Scrutiny 
Commission 

Pete Woodhouse, Group 
Manager Sustainable Transport 
peter.woodhouse@bristol.gov.
uk 

Bus Deal - Strategic Corridors update 
To seek Cabinet approval for the funding of the 
development, and submission to WECA, of 
Business cases for projects in strategic corridor 
programme. 
  
Open 
 
  

Cabinet 
5 Oct 2021 

Cabinet Member with 
responsibility for 
Transport 

Growth and 
Regeneration 
Scrutiny 
Commission 

P
age 249



Lead Officer Title and summary of Decision  Meeting 
date 

Decision taker Scrutiny Remit 

 - 8 - 
 

 

Helen Pitches, Strategic 
Commissioner for Better Lives 
at Home 
helen.pitches@bristol.gov.uk 

Extension of the Home Improvement Agency 
Contract 
To seek approval for the extension of the Home 
Improvement Agency contract. 
  
Open 
 
  
 

Cabinet 
5 Oct 2021 

Cabinet Member with 
responsibility for 
Adult Social Care 

People Scrutiny 
Commission 

Lucia Dorrington, Deputy 
Director Commissioning 
lucia.dorrington@bristol.gov.uk 

Recommissioning of Care and Support Services 
in Extra Care Housing 
To seek approval to tender for Care and Support 
Services in Extra Care Housing schemes. 
  
Open 
 
  
 

Cabinet 
5 Oct 2021 

Cabinet Member with 
responsibility for 
Adult Social Care 

People Scrutiny 
Commission 

Michael Pilcher, Chief 
Accountant 
michael.pilcher@bristol.gov.uk 

Budget Monitoring Report P5 
To provide update to Cabinet for period 5. 
  
Open 
 
  
 

Cabinet 
5 Oct 2021 

Deputy Mayor with 
responsibility for 
Finance, Governance 
and Performance 

Resources 
Scrutiny 
Commission 

Clare Sims, Safer Communities 
Manager 
clare.sims@bristol.gov.uk 

Modern Slavery Transparency Statement 
To seek Cabinet approval for the the Modern 
Slavery Transparency Statement. 
  

Cabinet 
5 Oct 2021 

Deputy Mayor with 
responsibility for 
Communities, 
Equalities and Public 

Communities 
Scrutiny 
Commission 

P
age 250



Lead Officer Title and summary of Decision  Meeting 
date 

Decision taker Scrutiny Remit 

 - 9 - 
 

Open 
 
  
 

Health 

Christina Gray, Service Director, 
Public Health 
christina.gray@bristol.gov.uk 

Memorandum of Understanding (October 2021 
to March 2022) for the Integrated Care System 
of Bristol, North Somerset and South 
Gloucestershire 
To adopt and sign the Bristol, North Somerset and 
South Gloucestershire (BNSSG) Healthier 
Together Memorandum of Understanding: a 
temporary agreement that sets out transitional 
arrangements, partnership arrangements, and 
the shared principles and values underpinning the 
developing BNSSG Integrated Care System. 
  
Open 
 
  
 

Cabinet 
5 Oct 2021 

Cabinet Member with 
responsibility for 
Adult Social Care 

Health Sub-
Committee 

Clare Sims, Safer Communities 
Manager 
clare.sims@bristol.gov.uk 

Bristol Channel Panel - Annual Assurance 
Statement 
To update Cabinet on compliance with the 
Channel Panel Assurance statement (following 
revised Home Office guidance). 
Non Key 
Open 
 
  
 

Cabinet 
5 Oct 2021 

Deputy Mayor with 
responsibility for 
Communities, 
Equalities and Public 
Health 

Communities 
Scrutiny 
Commission 

P
age 251



Lead Officer Title and summary of Decision  Meeting 
date 

Decision taker Scrutiny Remit 

 - 10 - 
 

Guy Collings, Head of Insight, 
Performance and Intelligence 
Guy.Collings@bristol.gov.uk 

Quarterly Performance Progress Report (Q1 - 
2021/22) 
To update cabinet on the progress made against 
Key Performance Indicators (KPIs). 
Non Key 
Open 
 
  
 

Cabinet 
5 Oct 2021 

Deputy Mayor with 
responsibility for 
Finance, Governance 
and Performance 

Overview and 
Scrutiny 
Management 
Board 

Jane Taylor, Employment and 
Skills Manager 
jane.taylor@bristol.gov.uk 

WE WORK for Everyone Project Contract Award 
To delegate authority to spend on this project as 
outlined in the bid and to award the necessary 
contracts to implementation of the WE WORK for 
Everyone Project in-line with procurement 
routes. 
  
Open 
 
  
 

Cabinet 
2 Nov 2021 

Mayor People Scrutiny 
Commission 

Sonia Davies, Early Intervention 
and Targeted Services (Adults) 
Manager 
sonia.davies@bristol.gov 

Recommissioning of Carers Support Services 
Approve the recommissioning of a new Carers 
Support service contract on behalf of Bristol City 
Council and Bristol, North Somerset & South 
Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group.  
To note the strategic principles for an all-ages 
carers’ strategy has been approved by the Health 
& Wellbeing Board 
  
Open 

Cabinet 
2 Nov 2021 

Cabinet Member with 
responsibility for 
Adult Social Care 

People Scrutiny 
Commission 

P
age 252



Lead Officer Title and summary of Decision  Meeting 
date 

Decision taker Scrutiny Remit 

 - 11 - 
 

 
  
 

Christina Gray, Service Director, 
Public Health 
christina.gray@bristol.gov.uk 

Director of Public Health Annual Report 20-21 
Pause, Breathe, Reflect Lessons from COVID-19 
The Health and Social Care Act 2012, sets out a 
requirement for all Directors of Public Health to 
produce an annual independent report on the 
health of their local population and for their local 
authority to publish it. 
Non Key 
Open 
 
  
 

Cabinet 
2 Nov 2021 

Deputy Mayor with 
responsibility for 
Communities, 
Equalities and Public 
Health 

People Scrutiny 
Commission 

Michael Pilcher, Chief 
Accountant 
michael.pilcher@bristol.gov.uk 

Medium Term Financial Plan/Capital Strategy 
More information to follow 
  
Open 
 
  
 

Cabinet 
2 Nov 2021 

Deputy Mayor with 
responsibility for 
Finance, Governance 
and Performance 

Resources 
Scrutiny 
Commission 

Tim Borrett, Director: Policy, 
Strategy and Partnerships 
tim.borrett@bristol.gov.uk 

Corporate Strategy 2022 - 2027 
1. To provide Cabinet with public consultation 
and Overview and Scrutiny Management Board 
feedback on the council’s draft Corporate 
Strategy 2022 - 2027  
2. To present the final draft Corporate Strategy 
2022 – 2027, updated to take account of post-
consultation development which included 

Cabinet 
2 Nov 2021 

Deputy Mayor with 
responsibility for 
Finance, Governance 
and Performance 

Overview and 
Scrutiny 
Management 
Board 

P
age 253



Lead Officer Title and summary of Decision  Meeting 
date 

Decision taker Scrutiny Remit 

 - 12 - 
 

consideration of both consultation feedback and 
an Equalities Impact Assessment 
3. To ask Cabinet to recommend the Corporate 
Strategy 2022 – 2027 to Full Council for approval 
Non Key 
Open 
 
  
 

Denise Murray, Director - 
Finance & Section 151 Officer 
denise.murray@bristol.gov.uk 

Council Tax Reduction Scheme 
More information to follow 
  
Open 
 
  
 

Cabinet 
2 Nov 2021 

Deputy Mayor with 
responsibility for 
Finance, Governance 
and Performance 

Resources 
Scrutiny 
Commission 

Michael Pilcher, Chief 
Accountant 
michael.pilcher@bristol.gov.uk 

Budget Monitoring Outturn Report P6 
More information to follow 
  
Open 
 
  
 

Cabinet 
2 Nov 2021 

Deputy Mayor with 
responsibility for 
Finance, Governance 
and Performance 

Resources 
Scrutiny 
Commission 

Michael Pilcher, Chief 
Accountant 
michael.pilcher@bristol.gov.uk 

Request to tender Bristol City Council Casualty, 
Property and Additional Covers Insurance 
To seek the approval of Cabinet to invite 
competitive tenders for the Council’s Casualty 
and Property insurance for a maximum period of 
5 years from 1 April 2022. 
  

Cabinet 
2 Nov 2021 

Deputy Mayor with 
responsibility for 
Finance, Governance 
and Performance 

Resources 
Scrutiny 
Commission 

P
age 254



Lead Officer Title and summary of Decision  Meeting 
date 

Decision taker Scrutiny Remit 

 - 13 - 
 

Open 
 
  
 

Paul Sylvester, Rehousing 
Manager 
paul.sylvester@bristol.gov.uk 

Supported Family Framework and Contracts 
Extension 
To seek Cabinet approval to extend the current 
Supported Family Accommodation (SFA), open 
framework agreement and its contracts for 
another 4 years and to procure an additional 100 
units via the framework.  
  
Open 
 
  
 

Cabinet 
2 Nov 2021 

Cabinet Member with 
responsibility for 
Housing Delivery and 
Homes 

Communities 
Scrutiny 
Commission 

Nick Carter, Head of Regulatory 
Services 
nick.carter@bristol.gov.uk 

Gambling Act Policy Review 
To approve the final Gambling Policy to go 
forward to Full Council on 7 December 2021. 
  
Open 
 
  
 

Cabinet 
2 Nov 2021 

Cabinet Member with 
responsibility for 
Climate, Ecology, 
Waste and Energy 

Communities 
Scrutiny 
Commission 

Adam Crowther, Head of 
Strategic City Transport 
adam.crowther@bristol.gov.uk 

Purchase of iPoint Ticket Machines 
To seek approval for a variation to the existing 
metrobus iPoints contract to facilitate the 
procurement of 14 additional iPoint ticket 
machines by Bristol City Council on behalf of 
South Gloucestershire Council to serve the Cribbs 

Cabinet 
2 Nov 2021 

Cabinet Member with 
responsibility for 
Transport 

Growth and 
Regeneration 
Scrutiny 
Commission 

P
age 255



Lead Officer Title and summary of Decision  Meeting 
date 

Decision taker Scrutiny Remit 

 - 14 - 
 

Causeway/Patchway metrobus route extension. 
  
Open 
 
  
 

Steve Ransom, Acting Head of 
Energy 
steve.ransom@bristol.gov.uk 

Carbon Reduction Projects 
To seek approval to accept UK Government grant 
funding applied for under the Sustainable 
Warmth Scheme and note the intention to apply 
for Public Sector Decarbonisation Scheme grant 
funding. 
  
Open 
 
  
 

Cabinet 
2 Nov 2021 

Cabinet Member with 
responsibility for 
Climate, Ecology, 
Waste and Energy 

Overview and 
Scrutiny 
Management 
Board 

Abigail Stratford, Service 
Manager, Major Projects 
abigail.stratford@bristol.gov.uk 

Bedminster Green Framework Area 
To provide an update on the regeneration of 
Bedminster Green and seek approval to allocate, 
draw down and spend funding to co-ordinate and 
deliver strategic highway (including public realm), 
river restoration and flood alleviation works. 
  
Part exempt 
3 
  
 

Cabinet 
2 Nov 2021 

Mayor Growth and 
Regeneration 
Scrutiny 
Commission 

Tim O'Gara, Director - Legal and 
Democratic Services 

Confidential legal report 
  

Cabinet 
2 Nov 2021 

Cabinet Member with 
responsibility for 

Resources 
Scrutiny 

P
age 256



Lead Officer Title and summary of Decision  Meeting 
date 

Decision taker Scrutiny Remit 

 - 15 - 
 

tim.ogara@bristol.gov.uk Fully exempt 
3, 5 
  
 

Transport Commission 

Denise Murray, Director - 
Finance & Section 151 Officer 
denise.murray@bristol.gov.uk 

Council Tax Base 
More information to follow. 
  
Open 
 
  
 

Cabinet 
14 Dec 
2021 

Deputy Mayor with 
responsibility for 
Finance, Governance 
and Performance 

Resources 
Scrutiny 
Commission 

Denise Murray, Director - 
Finance & Section 151 Officer 
denise.murray@bristol.gov.uk 

Collection Fund Surplus/Deficit Report 
More information to follow. 
  
Open 
 
  
 

Cabinet 
14 Dec 
2021 

Deputy Mayor with 
responsibility for 
Finance, Governance 
and Performance 

Resources 
Scrutiny 
Commission 

Michael Pilcher, Chief 
Accountant 
michael.pilcher@bristol.gov.uk 

Budget Monitoring Outturn Report P7 
More information to follow. 
  
Open 
 
  
 

Cabinet 
14 Dec 
2021 

Deputy Mayor with 
responsibility for 
Finance, Governance 
and Performance 

Resources 
Scrutiny 
Commission 

Michael Pilcher, Chief 
Accountant 
michael.pilcher@bristol.gov.uk 

Q2 Corporate Risk Management Report 2021/22 
More information to follow 
Non Key 
Open 
 

Cabinet 
14 Dec 
2021 

Deputy Mayor with 
responsibility for 
Finance, Governance 
and Performance 

Overview and 
Scrutiny 
Management 
Board 

P
age 257



Lead Officer Title and summary of Decision  Meeting 
date 

Decision taker Scrutiny Remit 

 - 16 - 
 

  
 

Denise Murray, Director - 
Finance & Section 151 Officer 
denise.murray@bristol.gov.uk 

Dedicated Schools Grant Budget Proposals 
More information to follow 
  
Open 
 
  
 

Cabinet 
18 Jan 2022 

Cabinet Member with 
responsibility for 
Families, Education 
and Women (Lead 
Member for 
Children's Services) 

People/Resources 
Scrutiny 
Commission 

Denise Murray, Director - 
Finance & Section 151 Officer 
denise.murray@bristol.gov.uk 

2022/23 Budget Report and Treasury 
Management Strategy (Including Public Health) 
More information to follow. 
  
Open 
 
  
 

Cabinet 
18 Jan 2022 

Deputy Mayor with 
responsibility for 
Finance, Governance 
and Performance 

Resources 
Scrutiny 
Commission 

Sarah Spicer, Business 
Innovation Manager 
sarah.spicer@bristol.gov.uk 

Housing Revenue Budget Proposals 2022-2023 
  
Open 
 
  
 

Cabinet 
18 Jan 2022 

Cabinet Member with 
responsibility for 
Housing Delivery and 
Homes 

Communities 
Scrutiny 
Commission 

Michael Pilcher, Chief 
Accountant 
michael.pilcher@bristol.gov.uk 

Budget Monitoring Outturn Report P8 
More information to follow 
  
Open 
 
  
 

Cabinet 
15 Feb 
2022 

Deputy Mayor with 
responsibility for 
Finance, Governance 
and Performance 

Resources 
Scrutiny 
Commission 

P
age 258



Lead Officer Title and summary of Decision  Meeting 
date 

Decision taker Scrutiny Remit 

 - 17 - 
 

Michael Pilcher, Chief 
Accountant 
michael.pilcher@bristol.gov.uk 

Q3 Corporate Risk Management Report 2021/22 
More information to follow. 
Non Key 
Open 
 
  
 

Cabinet 
15 Feb 
2022 

Deputy Mayor with 
responsibility for 
Finance, Governance 
and Performance 

Overview 
Scrutiny and 
Management 
Board 

Michael Pilcher, Chief 
Accountant 
michael.pilcher@bristol.gov.uk 

Budget Monitoring Outturn Report P9 
More information to follow 
  
Open 
 
  
 

Cabinet 
1 Mar 2022 

Deputy Mayor with 
responsibility for 
Finance, Governance 
and Performance 

Resources 
Scrutiny 
Commission 

Jane Taylor, Employment and 
Skills Manager 
jane.taylor@bristol.gov.uk 

Apprenticeship Commissioning 
To approve the new commissioning arrangements 
for apprenticeship training and assessment 
services 
  
Open 
 
  
 

Cabinet 
Before 7 
Jun 2022 

Mayor People Scrutiny 
Commission 

Helen Pitches, Strategic 
Commissioner for Better Lives 
at Home 
helen.pitches@bristol.gov.uk 

Better Lives at Home Strategic Outline Business 
Case 
To note the recommendations in the Strategic 
Outline Business Case setting out options to meet 
the demand for housing with care and support 
needs of the Better lives @ home cohorts 
  

Cabinet 
Before 7 
Jun 2022 

Cabinet Member with 
responsibility for 
Adult Social Care 

People Scrutiny 
Commission 

P
age 259



Lead Officer Title and summary of Decision  Meeting 
date 

Decision taker Scrutiny Remit 

 - 18 - 
 

Open 
 
  
 

James Anderson, Education 
Programme Manager 
james.anderson@bristol.gov.uk 

Education Capital Programme of Works 
To approve the programme of capital works 
  
Open 
 
  
 

Cabinet 
Before 7 
Jun 2022 

Mayor People Scrutiny 
Commission 

Gail Rogers, Head of Service - 
Children's Commissioning 
gail.rogers@bristol.gov.uk 

Youth Zones - Full Business Case 
To seek approval for the business case for the 
Youth Zone in the South of the City including the 
lease of an asset at peppercorn rent for the 
duration of the project. 
  
Open 
 
  
 

Cabinet 
Before 7 
Jun 2022 

Mayor People Scrutiny 
Commission 

Penny Germon, Head of Service 
Neighbourhoods and 
Communities 
penny.germon@bristol.gov.uk, 
Ellie Stevens, Neighbourhood 
Officer 
ellie.stevens@bristol.gov.uk 

Community Resilience Fund 
To approve implementation of a new grant fund 
which will build city resilience by growing the 
power of communities experiencing the greatest 
inequality. 
  
Open 
 
  

Cabinet 
Before 7 
Jun 2022 

Deputy Mayor with 
responsibility for 
Communities, 
Equalities and Public 
Health 

Communities 
Scrutiny 
Commission 

P
age 260



Lead Officer Title and summary of Decision  Meeting 
date 

Decision taker Scrutiny Remit 

 - 19 - 
 

 

Jon Finch, Head of Culture and 
Creative Industries 
Jon.Finch@bristol.gov.uk 

Arts Council England funding 2022/23 
To accept Arts Council England funding for the 
Culture and Creative Industries service for 
2022/23 
  
Open 
 
  
 

Cabinet 
Before 7 
Jun 2022 

Deputy Mayor with 
responsibility for 
Finance, Governance 
and Performance 

Growth and 
Regeneration 
Scrutiny 
Commission 

Jon Finch, Head of Culture and 
Creative Industries 
Jon.Finch@bristol.gov.uk 

Cultural Investment Programme 2023 - 27 
To approve the next 4 year round of the council’s 
Cultural Investment Programme (2023-27). 
  
Open 
 
  
 

Cabinet 
Before 7 
Jun 2022 

Deputy Mayor with 
responsibility for 
Finance, Governance 
and Performance 

Growth and 
Regeneration 
Scrutiny 
Commission 

Sarah Spicer, Business 
Innovation Manager 
sarah.spicer@bristol.gov.uk 

Housing Investment Plan 2022/23 
To seek endorsement of the Housing Investment 
Plan 2022/23 and seek delegated authority to 
appoint contractors to support the Housing 
Investment Plan. 
  
Open 
 
  
 

Cabinet 
Before 7 
Jun 2022 

Cabinet Member with 
responsibility for 
Housing Delivery and 
Homes 

Communities 
Scrutiny 
Commission 

Sarah Spicer, Business 
Innovation Manager 

Housing Revenue Account (HRA) Development 
Plan 2022/23 

Cabinet 
Before 7 

Cabinet Member with 
responsibility for 

Communities 
Scrutiny 

P
age 261



Lead Officer Title and summary of Decision  Meeting 
date 

Decision taker Scrutiny Remit 

 - 20 - 
 

sarah.spicer@bristol.gov.uk To seek endorsement of the HRA Development 
Plan 2022/23 (new build and property 
acquisition) programme and seek delegated 
authority to appoint contractors to support the 
HRA Development Plan. 
  
Open 
 
  
 

Jun 2022 Housing Delivery and 
Homes 

Commission 

Sarah Spicer, Business 
Innovation Manager 
sarah.spicer@bristol.gov.uk 

Housing Revenue Account (HRA) 30 year 
Business Plan 
Cabinet to approve the 30 year Housing Revenue 
Account (HRA) Business Plan, that sets out the  
1. Strategic context and operating environment 
2. Vision, objectives and priorities 
3. Resources (including rent setting approach)  
4. Financial modelling and projection 

  
Open 
 
  
 

Cabinet 
Before 7 
Jun 2022 

Cabinet Member with 
responsibility for 
Housing Delivery and 
Homes 

Communities 
Commission 

Elaine Olphert, Head of Housing 
Delivery 
elaine.olphert@bristol.gov.uk 

Housing Delivery Plan 2021-26 
To approve the Housing Delivery Plan 2021-26 
  
Open 
 
  

Cabinet 
Before 7 
Jun 2022 

Cabinet Member with 
responsibility for 
Housing Delivery and 
Homes 

Growth and 
Regeneration 
Scrutiny 
Commission 

P
age 262



Lead Officer Title and summary of Decision  Meeting 
date 

Decision taker Scrutiny Remit 

 - 21 - 
 

 

John Roy, Group Manager – 
Transport Assets 
john.roy@bristol.gov.uk 

City Regional Sustainable Transport Settlement 
(CRSTS) 2022-2027 
  
Open 
 
  
 

Cabinet 
Before 7 
Jun 2022 

Cabinet Member with 
responsibility for 
Transport 

Growth and 
Regeneration 
Scrutiny 
Commission 

Simon Oliver, Director - Digital 
Transformation 
simon.oliver@bristol.gov.uk 

End User Computer Devices 
1. The ask is for Cabinet to approve the award of 
a 3 year contract with an approved supplier for 
the supply of IT Hardware devices. 
2. Cabinet delegate authority to award the 
contract to Director – Digital Transformation. 
  
Open 
 
  
 

Cabinet 
Before 7 
Jun 2022 

Deputy Mayor with 
responsibility for 
Finance, Governance 
and Performance 

Resources 
Scrutiny 
Commission 

Guy Collings, Head of Insight, 
Performance and Intelligence 
Guy.Collings@bristol.gov.uk 

Q2 Quarterly Performance Progress Report – Q2 
2021/22 
Non Key 
Open 
 
  
 

Cabinet 
Before 7 
Jun 2022 

Deputy Mayor with 
responsibility for 
Finance, Governance 
and Performance 

Overview and 
Scrutiny 
Management 
Board 

Guy Collings, Head of Insight, 
Performance and Intelligence 
Guy.Collings@bristol.gov.uk 

Q4 Quarterly Performance Progress Report – Q4 
2021/22 
Non Key 
Open 

Cabinet 
Before 7 
Jun 2022 

Deputy Mayor with 
responsibility for 
Finance, Governance 
and Performance 

Overview and 
Scrutiny 
Management 
Board 

P
age 263



Lead Officer Title and summary of Decision  Meeting 
date 

Decision taker Scrutiny Remit 

 - 22 - 
 

 
  
 

Guy Collings, Head of Insight, 
Performance and Intelligence 
Guy.Collings@bristol.gov.uk 

Q3 Quarterly Performance Progress Report – Q3 
2021/22 
Non Key 
Open 
 
  
 

Cabinet 
Before 7 
Jun 2022 

Deputy Mayor with 
responsibility for 
Finance, Governance 
and Performance 

Overview and 
Scrutiny 
Management 
Board 

Denise Murray, Director - 
Finance & Section 151 Officer 
denise.murray@bristol.gov.uk 

Q4 Corporate Risk Management Report 2021/22 
Non Key 
Open 
 
  
 

Cabinet 
Before 7 
Jun 2022 

Deputy Mayor with 
responsibility for 
Finance, Governance 
and Performance 

Overview and 
Scrutiny 
Management 
Board 

Denise Murray, Director - 
Finance & Section 151 Officer 
denise.murray@bristol.gov.uk 

P10 Budget Monitoring Report 
  
Open 
 
  
 

Cabinet 
Before 7 
Jun 2022 

Deputy Mayor with 
responsibility for 
Finance, Governance 
and Performance 

Overview and 
Scrutiny 
Management 
Board 

Guy Collings, Head of Insight, 
Performance and Intelligence 
Guy.Collings@bristol.gov.uk 

Business Plan and Performance Framework 
Non Key 
Open 
 
  
 

Cabinet 
Before 7 
Jun 2022 

Deputy Mayor with 
responsibility for 
Finance, Governance 
and Performance 

Overview and 
Scrutiny 
Management 
Board 

Tim Borrett, Director: Policy, 
Strategy and Partnerships 

Consultation and Engagement Strategy 2021-24 
  

Cabinet 
Before 7 

Deputy Mayor with 
responsibility for 

Overview and 
Scrutiny 

P
age 264



Lead Officer Title and summary of Decision  Meeting 
date 

Decision taker Scrutiny Remit 

 - 23 - 
 

tim.borrett@bristol.gov.uk Open 
 
  
 

Jun 2022 Finance, Governance 
and Performance 

Management 
Board 

Yvonne Dawes, Head of 
Statutory Registration 
yvonne.dawes@bristol.gov.uk 

Expansion of Flax Bourton Mortuary 
  
Open 
 
  
 

Cabinet 
Before 7 
Jun 2022 

Deputy Mayor with 
responsibility for 
Finance, Governance 
and Performance 

Resources 
Scrutiny 
Commission 

Sarah Spicer, Business 
Innovation Manager 
sarah.spicer@bristol.gov.uk 

Procurement of Housing IT system 
Approval to procure a new housing management 
system plus delegated authority to approve and 
award contract 
  
Open 
 
  
 

Cabinet 
Before 7 
Jun 2022 

Cabinet Member with 
responsibility for 
Housing Delivery and 
Homes 

Communities 
Scrutiny 
Commission 

Elaine Olphert, Head of Housing 
Delivery 
elaine.olphert@bristol.gov.uk 

Disposal of Land (We Can Make) 
To seek Cabinet approval for the disposal of 
Bristol City Council under-utilised garden micro-
sites for the further roll out of 14 We Can Make 
homes. 
  
Open 
 
  
 

Cabinet 
Before 7 
Jun 2022 

Cabinet Member with 
responsibility for 
Housing Delivery and 
Homes 

Growth and 
Regeneration 
Scrutiny 
Commission 

Tom Gilchrist, Private Housing New Private Rented sector (PRS) Licensing Cabinet Cabinet Member with Communities 

P
age 265



Lead Officer Title and summary of Decision  Meeting 
date 

Decision taker Scrutiny Remit 

 - 24 - 
 

and Accessible Homes Manager 
tom.gilchrist@bristol.gov.uk 

Scheme 
To approve the designation of three wards for a 
private rented sector (PRS) licensing scheme. 
  
Open 
 
  
 

Before 7 
Jun 2022 

responsibility for 
Housing Delivery and 
Homes 

Scrutiny 
Commission 

Denise Murray, Director - 
Finance & Section 151 Officer 
denise.murray@bristol.gov.uk 

Ethical & Equitable Investment Policy 
  
Open 
 
  
 

Cabinet 
Before 7 
Jun 2022 

Deputy Mayor with 
responsibility for 
Finance, Governance 
and Performance 

Resources 
Scrutiny 
Commission 

Abigail Stratford, Service 
Manager, Major Projects 
abigail.stratford@bristol.gov.uk 

Whitehouse Street Regeneration Framework 
To seek approval of the Whitehouse Street 
Regeneration Framework. 
  
Open 
 
  
 

Cabinet 
Before 7 
Jun 2022 

Mayor Growth and 
Regeneration 
Scrutiny 
Commission 

Shaun Taylor, Highways 
Manager 
shaun.taylor@bristol.gov.uk 

Street Lighting LED upgrade and CMS rollout 
To seek approval to initiate the project leading to 
the tendering, installing and permission to spend 
allocated funding for Bristol’s LED (Light Emitting 
Diode) and CMS (Central Management System) 
street lighting contract. 
  
Open 

Cabinet 
Before 7 
Jun 2022 

Cabinet Member with 
responsibility for 
Transport 

Growth and 
Regenerations 
Scrutiny 
Commission 

P
age 266



Lead Officer Title and summary of Decision  Meeting 
date 

Decision taker Scrutiny Remit 

 - 25 - 
 

 
  
 

Adam Crowther, Head of 
Strategic City Transport 
adam.crowther@bristol.gov.uk 

Defra Innovation Resilience Programme Fund 
To develop and submit an outline business case 
which will confirm the full content and costs of 
the project and to develop a collaboration 
agreement.  
  
Open 
 
  
 

Cabinet 
Before 7 
Jun 2022 

Cabinet Member with 
responsibility for 
Climate, Ecology, 
Waste and Energy 

Growth and 
Regeneration 
Scrutiny 
Commission 

Jonathan James, Head of 
Natural and Marine Services 
jonathan.james@bristol.gov.uk 

National Heritage Lottery Fund (HLF) grant 
application for Stoke Park 
To approve a bid to the National Heritage Lottery 
Fund (HLF) for a grant to fund restoration work in 
Stoke Park. 
  
Open 
 
  
 

Cabinet 
Before 7 
Jun 2022 

Deputy Mayor with 
responsibility for 
Communities, 
Equalities and Public 
Health 

Communities 
Scrutiny 
Commission 

Tim O'Gara, Director - Legal and 
Democratic Services 
tim.ogara@bristol.gov.uk 

Bristol Holding Limited Group Company Business 
Plans 2022/23 
To approve the 2022/23 Business Plans for the 
Bristol Holding Limited Group of companies. 
  
Part exempt 
3 

Cabinet 
Before 7 
Jun 2022 

Deputy Mayor with 
responsibility for 
Finance, Governance 
and Performance 

Overview and 
Scrutiny 
Management 
Board 

P
age 267



Lead Officer Title and summary of Decision  Meeting 
date 

Decision taker Scrutiny Remit 

 - 26 - 
 

  
 

P
age 268



 

West of England Combined Authority 
WECA Overview & Scrutiny Committee  
 
Monday, 20 September 2021, 10.00 am 
Council Chamber, Bath Guildhall  
 
 
Present: 
Cllr Winston Duguid, Bath and North East 
Somerset (Chair) 
Cllr Hal MacFie, Bath and North East Somerset 
Council 
Cllr Ed Plowden, Bristol City Council 
Cllr Steve Pearce, Bristol City Council 
 

Cllr Andrew Varney, Bristol City Council 
Cllr James Arrowsmith, South Gloucestershire 
Council 
Cllr John Ashe, South Gloucestershire Council 
Cllr Paul Hughes, South Gloucestershire Council 
(as substitute for Cllr Brian Allinson) 

From North Somerset Council: 
Cllr Mike Bird 
Cllr Huw James 
 
Also in attendance: 
Metro Mayor Dan Norris 
 
Officers In Attendance: 
Patricia Greer, Chief Executive 
Ian Hird, Scrutiny Manager 
 

Tim Milgate, Democratic Services Officer 
Helen Iles, Senior Policy Manager 

Apologies: 
Cllr Brian Allinson, South Gloucestershire Council 
Cllr Geoff Gollop, Bristol City Council 
Cllr Brenda Massey, Bristol City Council 
Cllr Peter Crew, North Somerset Council 

(Cllr Paul Hughes attended as substitute) 
 

 
Minutes 

 
  
1   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND SUBSTITUTIONS  

 
The Chair welcomed everybody to this extraordinary meeting of the West of England 
Combined Authority Overview & Scrutiny Committee.  The Metro Mayor Dan Norris 
was also in attendance. 
 
Apologies for absence were noted and substitute members were welcomed. 
 

2   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 

3   ITEMS FROM THE PUBLIC (QUESTIONS; STATEMENTS; PETITIONS)  
 
One public statement had been received from Mr David Redgewell on the subject of 
climate emergency.  The statement had been circulated in advance and was noted.  
The member of public was not present at the meeting. 
   

Page 269

Agenda Item 12



 
 

 

4   PRINCIPLES FOR A REFRESHED CLIMATE EMERGENCY AMBITION AND 
GREEN RECOVERY FUND PLANS  
 
It was noted that an Extraordinary joint meeting of the West of England Combined 
Authority Committee and West of England Joint Committee would be held on 21 
September 2021. The committees would be considering reports setting out principles 
for a refreshed climate emergency ambition and plans for a Green Recovery Fund. 
The agenda and reports for this meeting had been circulated to the WECA Overview 
& Scrutiny Committee so that Members of that Committee could be briefed on, and 
invited to comment on these reports.  These comments would then be considered by 
the West of England Combined Authority Committee and West of England Joint 
Committee as part of its decision-making process. 
 
Metro Mayor Dan Norris addressed the meeting on the main points of the report and 
to receive questions.  He stated that it was important that the Metro Mayor was held to 
account by the WECA Overview & Scrutiny Committee.  He felt that the public was 
ahead of the politicians in terms of facing the climate emergency and it was now time 
for action.  Locally a target of net zero carbon had been set by 2030, which was 
ambitious as the national target was net zero by 2050.  He was confident however 
that technology would be key to the way forward.   
 
The following points were raised: 
 

• It was noted that late amendments moved at the joint meeting of the West of 
England Combined Authority Committee and West of England Joint Committee 
did not give adequate chance for the Overview & Scrutiny Committee to 
scrutinise; 

• The Metro Mayor was asked whether he would speak to the new Secretary of 
State for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities, Michael Gove, as soon as 
practicable.  The Metro Mayor confirmed he would and recognised the 
challenge set by house building targets; 

• The Metro Mayor was challenged on rural bus services and whether funding 
could be redeployed for this area.  Dan Norris stated that he recognised the 
funding crises in bus travel since the start of the pandemic with passenger 
numbers only 63% of pre-pandemic levels.  The previous rules around 
operators giving notice of service changes etc had not been applied during the 
pandemic.  Regular meetings were being held with service providers. The bus 
network was run on a commercial basis except where the authority could 
support services with the limited funding available to do so.  The Metro Mayor 
stated he would consider all options on public transport in the region, including 
enhanced partnerships and bus franchising but that he needed to be sure 
resourcing was available; due to the resourcing position, an enhanced 
partnership was the realistic way forward at this point rather than franchising. 

• The Mayor felt that the proposed appointment of a Director for the Environment 
would benefit the whole region; 

• Retrofitting existing homes would be one solution to working towards net zero. 
 
The Metro Mayor Dan Norris left the meeting at this point.  The Committee continued 
to discuss the report on the Principles for a Refreshed Climate Emergency Ambition 
and Green Recovery Fund Plans.  The following points were raised: 

Page 270



 
 

 

 
• It was felt that although the paper set out the longer term actions and 

developing action plan, the emergency required immediate action; 
• It was asked whether there was any headroom available for increasing the 

green recovery fund’s £20m.  The Chief Executive confirmed that the £20m 
was being allocated from the Investment Fund.  It was questioned whether any 
pension fund money could be invested into infrastructure improvements; 

• The Climate Board would be responsible for setting actions and tracking the 
progress of the action plan and targets.  It was asked whether it would be more 
appropriate for an independent body to monitor progress each year; 

• The Chief Executive stated that the Government was looking at ways in which 
to invest in infrastructure in areas of the country with fewer people rather than 
as previously in cities and more heavily populated urban regions.  The plan 
was for many different partners as possible (UAs, business, etc) to be around 
the table monitoring the strategy as possible which would be evidence/data 
driven; 

• Patricia Greer confirmed that the Spatial Development Strategy was being 
worked upon and would take around 2 years to completion. This work could be 
used to inform other strategies such as the Joint Local Transport Plan; 

• It was acknowledged that the region’s businesses had a big role to play in 
reaching net zero carbon by 2030 through investing in high skilled employment; 

• The Committee stated that they welcomed the setting up of the new Climate 
Board and a new senior member of staff to drive the work.  Scrutiny members 
asked whether they could have observer status on the Authority’s Board 
meetings.  An update on this last point would be brought to a future meeting.  
The Overview & Scrutiny Committee would receive regular updates on 
progress; 

• A question was raised as to whether local planning authorities could adopt 
higher standards on house building than was required; 

 
Agreed: That the comments raised on the principles for a refreshed climate 
emergency ambition and plans for a Green Recovery Fund report be collated, 
summarised and submitted to the 21 September extraordinary meeting of the West of 
England Combined Authority Committee and West of England Joint Committee (see 
appendix 1). 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 271



 
 

 

 
 
Appendix 1 
 
COMMENTS FROM WEST OF ENGLAND COMBINED AUTHORITY  
OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
  
COMMENTS SUBMITTED TO:  
EXTRAORDINARY JOINT MEETING OF WEST OF ENGLAND COMBINED AUTHORITY 
COMMITTEE AND WEST OF ENGLAND JOINT COMMITTEE –  
21 SEPTEMBER 2021 
  
 
Following our meeting held on 20 September, the Overview and Scrutiny Committee wishes 
to present the following comments: 
 
 
a. Metro Mayor’s attendance at Scrutiny 
 
We welcomed Metro Mayor Dan Norris’ attendance at our meeting and had a useful 
discussion.  We look forward to future positive and ongoing engagement with the Metro 
Mayor. 
 
 
b. Principles for a refreshed climate emergency ambition (item 8) 
 
We thank Helen Iles, Senior Policy Manager for her presentation of this report. 
 
We note and welcome the fact that tackling the climate emergency is a key priority for the 
Metro Mayor and we strongly support the revised principles as set out in the report.  As 
discussed with the Metro Mayor, we also recognise the public appetite for fast, urgent 
action. 
 
We support the proposal to create an interim Environment Director to drive forward the 
refreshed ambition with a view to recruiting to this post on a permanent basis in the medium 
term. 
  
The report seeks to establish a Climate Board for the region - we welcome the broad 
representation proposed in terms of the membership of this Board and the collaborative 
partnership approach that will be taken.  We also wish to strongly request please that a 
scrutiny member is given observer status on this Board, in line with the arrangements being 
made for scrutiny member observers to attend the other Combined Authority Boards.   
 
We particularly welcome the clarity of the target that in order to meet our 2030 net zero 
carbon ambitions, we will need to cut 464kt of CO2 each year (10% of today’s total) - this 
sets the huge scale of the challenge ahead and demonstrates the region’s ambition.  It will 
be essential to continue collaborative work with the unitary authorities to establish clear, 
measurable targets within the Climate and Biodiversity strategy/action plan, which are 
agreed by all authorities and with robust progress checks and reporting in place; there must 
be clear lines of accountability for the delivery of each action. 

Page 272



 
 

 

 
Noting that the new Climate and Biodiversity Strategy and Action Plan will be delivered in 
Spring 2022, we request please that a progress update is specifically brought to Scrutiny in 
January 2022 to allow us an opportunity to comment and input to this critically important 
plan.  We are particularly keen to see momentum build through urgently identifying and 
delivering tangible ‘quick wins’ in parallel with the development of the new strategy and 
action plan. 
 
 
c. Green Recovery Fund (item 9) 
 
We broadly welcome and support this report and the recommendation to earmark (from the 
existing Combined Authority Investment Fund) headroom of £20m for a Green Recovery 
Fund. We see this amount as a start and any avenues of increasing the amount through 
match funding or otherwise should be explored.  We would like to be kept fully informed as 
the detailed plans for the drawdown of this fund to support specific actions are developed.  
We are concerned that the appraisal methods used to guide investment decisions should 
be fit for purpose, and would welcome an independent expert viability assessment.   
 
 
 
 
Councillor Winston Duguid 
Chair-designate 
On behalf of the West of England Combined Authority Overview & Scrutiny Committee. 
 

Page 273


	Agenda
	1 Welcome, Introductions and Safety Information
	4 Minutes of the previous meeting.
	Minutes
	Minutes Public Pack, 20/09/2021 Overview and Scrutiny Management Board
	Minutes


	7 Corporate Strategy
	Appendix A - WORKING DRAFT Corporate Plan 2022 - 2027 at 7 Oct 2021
	Corporate Strategy
	Foreword 
	Our Role - driving a city of hope and aspiration
	Our Challenges 
	Our Corporate Strategy - at a glance
	Our Vision 
	Our Values and Behaviours 
	Our Building Blocks 
	Our Strategic Themes and Priorities
	Sustainable Development Goals
	Theme 1: Children and Young People
	Child Friendly City
	Supported to thrive
	Equity in education
	Intergenerational equality

	Theme 2: Economy and Skills
	Regeneration
	Access to Employment
	Good growth
	Childcare
	Digital inclusion

	Theme 3: Environment and Sustainability
	Carbon Neutral
	Ecological Recovery
	Waste reduction
	Climate Resilience
	Global leadership

	Theme 4: Health, Care and Wellbeing
	Transforming Care
	Mental Health and Wellbeing
	Poverty

	Theme 5: Homes and Communities
	Housing Supply   
	Homelessness
	Community Participation

	Theme 6: Transport and Connectivity
	Connectivity
	Improved bus services
	Safe and active travel
	Infrastructure

	Theme 7: A Development Organisation
	One City
	One Council 
	Employer of choice
	Data Driven
	Good Governance
	Estate Review

	Glossary


	Appendix B - Report of the Member Working Group on the Corporate Strategy 2022 – 2027
	Appendix C Corporate Strategy 2021 Consultation Findings Interim report
	Appendix Di Corporate Strategy 2022-27 v1.1 Post-Consultation Updates
	APPENDIX Dii Substantive Change Log
	Appendix E - Equality Impact Assessment - CS 2022-27

	8 Corporate Performance Report Q1
	Q1 Performance Report
	Q1 Performance Summary
	Appendix A1 - Q1 Progress Report
	Key
	Appendix A2 - Defintions

	9 Corporate Risk Report Q1
	Q1 2021-22 - Corporate Risk Report
	Q1 2021-22_CRR_  Appendix A Risk Summary Report

	10 Work Programme
	11 Mayor's Forward Plan - Standing Item
	12 Minutes from the WECA Overview and Scrutiny Committee - for information (standing item)



Accessibility Report


		Filename: 

		Corporate Plan Oct 2021 WEB D2.pdf




		Report created by: 

		brcxja4

		Organization: 

		




 [Personal and organization information from the Preferences > Identity dialog.]


Summary


The checker found no problems in this document.


		Needs manual check: 2

		Passed manually: 0

		Failed manually: 0

		Skipped: 1

		Passed: 29

		Failed: 0




Detailed Report


		Document



		Rule Name		Status		Description

		Accessibility permission flag		Passed		Accessibility permission flag must be set

		Image-only PDF		Passed		Document is not image-only PDF

		Tagged PDF		Passed		Document is tagged PDF

		Logical Reading Order		Needs manual check		Document structure provides a logical reading order

		Primary language		Passed		Text language is specified

		Title		Passed		Document title is showing in title bar

		Bookmarks		Passed		Bookmarks are present in large documents

		Color contrast		Needs manual check		Document has appropriate color contrast

		Page Content



		Rule Name		Status		Description

		Tagged content		Passed		All page content is tagged

		Tagged annotations		Passed		All annotations are tagged

		Tab order		Passed		Tab order is consistent with structure order

		Character encoding		Passed		Reliable character encoding is provided

		Tagged multimedia		Passed		All multimedia objects are tagged

		Screen flicker		Passed		Page will not cause screen flicker

		Scripts		Passed		No inaccessible scripts

		Timed responses		Passed		Page does not require timed responses

		Navigation links		Passed		Navigation links are not repetitive

		Forms



		Rule Name		Status		Description

		Tagged form fields		Passed		All form fields are tagged

		Field descriptions		Passed		All form fields have description

		Alternate Text



		Rule Name		Status		Description

		Figures alternate text		Passed		Figures require alternate text

		Nested alternate text		Passed		Alternate text that will never be read

		Associated with content		Passed		Alternate text must be associated with some content

		Hides annotation		Passed		Alternate text should not hide annotation

		Other elements alternate text		Passed		Other elements that require alternate text

		Tables



		Rule Name		Status		Description

		Rows		Passed		TR must be a child of Table, THead, TBody, or TFoot

		TH and TD		Passed		TH and TD must be children of TR

		Headers		Passed		Tables should have headers

		Regularity		Passed		Tables must contain the same number of columns in each row and rows in each column

		Summary		Skipped		Tables must have a summary

		Lists



		Rule Name		Status		Description

		List items		Passed		LI must be a child of L

		Lbl and LBody		Passed		Lbl and LBody must be children of LI

		Headings



		Rule Name		Status		Description

		Appropriate nesting		Passed		Appropriate nesting






Back to Top


